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Office of the State Controller

James B. Hunt, Jr. Edward Renfrow
Governor State Controller

The Honorable James B. Hunt, Jr.
Governor of the State of North Carolina, and

Members of the North Carolina General Assembly

It is our pleasure to furnish you with the 1998 Comprehensive Annual Financia Report (CAFR) of the State of North
Carolina in compliance with G.S. 143B-426.39. This report has been prepared by the Office of the State Controller.
Responsibility for both the accuracy of the data and the completeness and fairness of the presentation, including all disclosures,
rests with the State government and this office. To the best of our knowledge and belief, the enclosed data are accurate in all
material respects and are reported in a manner designed to present fairly the financial position and results of operations of the
various funds and account groups of the State of North Carolina. We believe all disclosures necessary to enable you to gain an
understanding of the State's financia activities have been included.

For the convenience of users we have divided this comprehensive annual financia report into three major sections,
described asfollows:

The introductory section includes this transmittal letter and the State's organization chart, including a listing of principal

State officials.

The financial section includes the general purpose financial statements (combined statements, the notes, and the required

supplementary information), the combining and individual fund and account group financial statements, and schedules.

The statistical section includes selected financial, non-financial and demographic information, much of which is

presented on aten-year basis, as well as required supplementary information.

The State of North Carolina entity as reported in the CAFR includes al fund types and

State Reportmg account groups of the departments, agencies, boards, commissions and authorities governed and
Entity and legally controlled by the State's executive, legislative and judicial branches. In addition, the
Its Services reporting entity includes legally separate component units for which the State is financialy

accountable. Most component units are presented discretely in the financial statements. Two
component units are blended into the financial statements because their activities are so
intertwined with the State that they are substantively part of the State. The State's discretely
presented component units are the University of North Carolina system, the State's community
colleges, and various proprietary organizations providing specific services to the public and
private sector. The criteria for inclusion in the reporting entity and its presentation are defined
by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) in its GASB Codification Section
2100. These criteria are described in Note 1 of the accompanying financial statements.

The State and its component units provide a broad range of services to its citizens,
including public education; higher education; health and human services, economic
development; environment and natural resources, public safety, corrections, and regulation;
transportation; agriculture; and general government services. The costs of these services are
reflected in detail and in summary in this report.

3512 Bush Street @ Raleigh, North Carolina 27609-7509 e Telephone (919) 981-5454

State Courier 56-50-10 - FAX (919) 981-5560
An Equal Opportunity/Affirmative Action/Americans With Disabilities Employer
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Environment

Tax Relief

Social Programs

Major Initiatives

During fiscal year 1997-98, the Governor, the General Assembly, and the departments and
agencies of State government worked to address key issues facing the citizens of North Carolina.

The State Board of Education developed the ABCs of Public Education in response to the
School-Based Management and Accountability Program (Senate Bill 1139) enacted by the
General Assembly in June 1996. The ABCs focuses on strong accountability with an emphasis
on high educational standards, teaching the basics, and maximum local control. An
accountability model for elementary and middle schools was implemented in 1996-97. The high
school accountability model was developed during 1996-97, and was implemented for the first
timein 1997-98. The ABCs Accountability Model for K-8 (elementary and middle school) and
the ABCs High School Accountability Model establish growth standards for each school in the
State. Schools that attain specified levels of growth are eligible for incentive awards or other
recognition. Schools where growth and performance fall below specified levels are designated as
low-performing.

The Clean Water Management Trust Fund approves grants across North Carolina. These
projects are empowering local communities to work proactively to protect and restore water
quality in the creeks and rivers of the State. The Clean Water Management Trust Fund is
fulfilling the vision of the North Carolina General Assembly. In response to public concerns
about water quality problems across the state, the Legidature established the Clean Water
Management Trust Fund in 1996 to assist in financing projects to protect or restore water quality
intherivers, creeks, lakes, and estuaries of North Carolina

On November 3, 1998, North Carolina voters approved $800 million of new debt to finance
grants and loans to local government units for water supply systems, wastewater collection
systems, wastewater treatment works, and water conservation and water reuse projects.

Effective January 1, 1999, the State will repeal the inheritance tax and levy an estate tax
equal to the Federal state death tax credit. The net affect of this legislation will be a decrease in
tax revenues of an estimated $310.2 million through fiscal year 2002-03. Effective May 1, 1999,
the State will repeal the sales tax on food. This is estimated to cost the State $790.2 million
through fiscal year 2002-03. The repeal of income tax (result of Bailey Case, see Note 18) on
the pension income of retired government employeesis estimated to cost the State $128.6 million
in fiscal year 1998-99 and thereafter.

The Department of Health and Human Services works in local offices, schools and
hospitals, building a stronger North Carolina. Examples of the Department of Health and Human
Services at work include: social workers finding families for children who need foster care or
adoption; case workers helping people find their way to self-sufficiency; child support agents
tracking down deadbeat parents and making them take responsibility for their children and for
paying child support; rehabilitation specialists helping the disabled learn everyday skills so they
can live life to the fullest; counselors motivating troubled youth and helping them avoid a life of
crime; health professionals bringing services to families without access to health carein rural and
urban communities; advisors helping families understand their options for home-based and
community care for older relatives,; public heath nurses immunizing children to protect them
from disease; teachers educating children who are deaf or blind to prepare them for the working
world; licensing specialists overseeing the safety and proper management of child care centers,
emergency medical services, hospitals, nursing homes or other health facilities.
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Development

Year 2000

Throughout the State and nation, overall crime rates remain high. Younger offenders are
committing more serious crimes. The juvenile population of North Carolina is expected to grow
faster than the general population and additional efforts will be required to enhance prevention
and promote more effective punishment among our adolescent population. Additional emphasis
will be placed on the problem of youth access to drugs, alcohol and tobacco. Crime is on the
increase in rural areas as drug dealers expand their operations from cities to the country.
Prevention and enforcement programs involving more than one State agency can provide help to
local law officersin problem areas. The State is shifting its philosophy of public safety to amore
comprehensive, community-based approach and problem-oriented crime prevention. The
demand from both the public and the private sectors for relevant, accurate and timely criminal
justice information will continue to grow. Through initiatives like the Criminal Justice
Information Network (CJIN), the State has an opportunity to use technology to maximize
existing resources.

On July 23, 1998, Governor Hunt signed the Economic Opportunity Act of 1998. The law
is designed to promote economic devel opment throughout the State. 1t allows various credits and
tax reductions for certain recycling facilities and allows various sales tax and property tax
exemptions for air couriers. The new Economic Opportunity Act also provides for the
designation of economically distressed areas located within municipalities as State Development
Zones. It further authorizes enhanced incentives for businesses that locate in a development zone.
In addition, the Industrial Development Fund has been enhanced to provide additional funds or
to expand the availability of funds that can be used for equipment, capital improvements and
utility distribution lines. The Fund also provides financial assistance to local government units
of the most economically distressed counties in the State. To encourage the development of air
courier hubs in North Carolina, the bill provides a reduction in the state's sales tax and property
tax for interstate air couriers. Beginning with the 2001 property tax year, the bill provides a
property tax exemption for aircraft owned by an air courier and apportioned for property tax
purposes to the courier’s hub in North Carolina.

On November 3, 1998, the North Carolina voters approved $200 million of new debt to
finance grants, loans, or other financing to public or private entities for construction of natural
gasfacilities.

The Year 2000 issue is the result of shortcomings in many electronic data processing
systems and other equipment that make operations beyond the year 1999 troublesome. For many
years, programmers eliminated the first two digits from a year when writing programs.
Unfortunately, many programs (if not corrected) will not be able to distinguish between the Y ear
2000 and the year 1900. This may cause the programs to process data inaccurately or to stop
processing data altogether. All information systems in North Carolina that use dates to generate
data will be affected by the new millennium: for example, kindergarten registration and blood
supply could be affected. In addition, non-information systems such as forms need to be
evaluated because they provide input to software applications. Mail processing equipment may
need to be modified to handle the new millennium. Other areas such as elevators, security
systems, and vaults will be affected by the Y ear 2000.

In early 1997, the Y ear 2000 Project Team (including a statewide Steering Committee and
agency coordinators) was formed to manage the Y ear 2000 project from a statewide perspective.
The Year 2000 Project Team is responsible for prioritizing systems statewide, developing and
maintaining statewide conversion schedules, analyzing third-party product compliance,
maintaining a statewide Year 2000 repository, defining the overall conversion approach and
milestones, reporting the status of statewide conversion projects, providing statewide
communications and coordination, reporting the status of statewide Y ear 2000 funding and use,
reporting the status of statewide quality assurance, developing and maintaining a statewide risk
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management plan, coordinating the Year 2000 budget process, maintaining an evolving cost
estimate, and analyzing the automated tool offerings.

Economic Condition and Outlook

For the seventh straight year, both the national and North Carolina economies grew in 1998. At
the national level, Gross Domestic Product, the broadest measure of economic activity, grew an
estimated 3.2% during the year. Over three million jobs were added, and the national
unemployment rate fell to a twenty-eight year low of 4.5%. The pace of economic activity in
North Carolina exceeded that for the nation. Gross State Product, a measure of economic output
in the State, rose by over 5% in 1998. The State's job market also improved, with over 40,000
net new jobs added to the labor force. The State’'s unemployment rate fell to 3.5%, and in the
State’ s metropolitan areas, unemployment dropped to under 2.5%.

Economic growth in North Carolina was widespread across most economic sectors. One
exception was the textile and apparel sector, where 11,000 jobs were cut in 1998. Inflation and
interest rates were helpful to the economy in 1998. Asthe year ended, the annual inflation rate at
the retail level was running under 2%, less than 1997’s rate. Both long and short-term interest
rates also fell over one percentage point during the year. The improved interest rate situation
was helped by a turnaround in federal fiscal affairs. For the first time in twenty-nine years, the
unified federal budget ran a surplus. Growth in federal revenues (over 7% annually) exceeding
growth in federal spending (3% annually) was the major reason for the surplus. The surplus
reduced the need for borrowing by the federal government and reduced the pressure on interest
rates.

Despite this rosy economic news, clouds formed over the economy in 1998. Financial problems
in several foreign countries, including Japan, contributed to sharp declines in the U.S. stock
market. Thus, as 1998 came to a close, more and more decision-makers were questioning
whether the long economic expansion was about to be overtaken by arecession. There are two
major issues facing today’s economy. One is the financial and economic decline in severa
foreign countries, including Japan, Russia, South Korea, Indonesia, and Brazil. These countries
are in recession and their stock markets have tumbled. The concern is that these economic
problems will spread to the United States and North Carolina.

Although the decline of foreign economies can adversely affect the U.S. through reduced export
sales and failed investments, these impacts can be overstated. U.S. exports to the troubled
foreign economies account for less than 3% of total U.S. income, and U.S. bank investments in
the same countries are also less than 3% of total bank assets. These percentages are even smaller
for North Carolina. Therefore, it is unlikely that the current foreign economic troubles will send
the United States and North Carolina economies into tailspins. The other major economic issue
is the prospect for faster rising labor costs. Due to the tight labor market, l1abor costs have been
rising at faster rates for several years. For example, labor costs rose an estimated 3.5% in 1998,
up from 3.1% in 1997 and 2.8% in 1996. Thus far, improved labor productivity has offset the
additional labor costs. But many economists think this fortunate circumstance will not continue.

If businesses are faced with higher labor costs and are not compensated by improved labor
productivity, then three outcomes are possible. Business can pass on the higher costs in the form
of higher prices, thereby generating higher general inflation. Or, business can reduce labor costs
by dismissing workers. The third possibility is that businesses can absorb the higher labor costs
and reduce profits. All three possibilities are not good for the economy. Each would cause the
economy to grow at a slower rate. The outlook is that the economy will indeed grow more
dowly in 1999. Nationally, Gross Domestic Product will grow 2.5%, and no net new jobs will
be added to the national payrolls. In North Carolina, Gross State Product will increase 3.5%, and
job growth will be 1.5 %, down from 1998’ s 2% growth rate.
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As the economy slows in 1999, businesses making durable goods, like manufacturing and
construction, will be the most adversely affected. For example, job growth in North Carolina’ s
manufacturing sector is expected to be only 0.6% in 1999. The real (inflation-adjusted) value of
residential construction in the State rose 14% in 1998, but is forecasted to rise only 5.5% in
1999. Pushed by faster climbing labor costs, the inflation rate is projected to rise to between 2%
and 2.5% in 1999, up from 1998's rate of 1.6%. Interest rates will either change little or edge up
dightly.

In conclusion, an economic slowdown is forecasted for the nation and for North Carolina in
1999. An economic slowdown is not a recession. A recession means the economy actualy
shrinks, a owdown means the economy continues to grow, abeit at a slower pace. North
Carolina s economy will move forward in 1999, but at a walk, not atrot!

— Economic analysis prepared by Dr. Michael L. Walden, Professor
North Carolina Sate University
November 2, 1998

Financial Information

Management of the government is responsible for establishing and maintaining an internal
control structure designed to ensure that the assets of the State are protected from loss, theft or
misuse and to ensure that adequate accounting data are compiled to allow for the preparation of
financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. The internal
control structure is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that these
objectives are met. The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that: (1) the cost of a
control should not exceed the benefits likely to be derived, and (2) the valuation of costs and
benefits requires estimates and judgments by management.

As arecipient of federa financial assistance, the State also is responsible for ensuring that
an adequate internal control structure is in place to ensure compliance with applicable laws and
regulations related to those programs. This internal control structure is subject to periodic
evaluation by management, internal audit staff, and independent auditors of the government.

In addition, the State maintains budgetary controls. The objective of these budgetary
controls is to ensure compliance with legal provisions embodied in the annual appropriated
budget approved by the General Assembly. Activities of the Genera Fund and most
departmental special revenue funds are included in the annual appropriated budget. The State
Highway Fund and the Highway Trust Fund, the State's major special revenue funds, are
primarily budgeted on a multi-year basis. Capital projects are funded and planned in accordance
with the time it will take to complete the project. The level of budgetary control (that is, the
level at which expenditures cannot legally exceed the appropriated amount) is exercised at both
the departmental and university level by way of quarterly alotments, with alotment control
exercised by the State Controller, and on the program line-item levels requiring certain approvals
by the Director of the Budget. Legidative authorization of departmental expenditures appearsin
the State Appropriation Bill. This "Certified Budget" is the lega expenditure authority;
however, executive changes to the legal budget may be approved by the Office of State Budget
and Management (OSBM). This results in the "Final Budget" presented in the financial
Statements.

Although the State budgets and manages its financial affairs on the cash basis of
accounting, G.S. 143-20.1 requires the Office of the State Controller to prepare a comprehensive
annual financia report (CAFR) in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP). Furthermore, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board and the nation's financial
community have encouraged states to present, in their annual reports, financial statements of the



State of North Carolina

13

Revenues
and Other
Financing
Sources

governmental funds that are prepared on the modified accrual basis of accounting, following
generally accepted accounting principles. Under this basis, which more adequately serves the
financial community's analytical and other needs, revenues are recognized when they become
both measurable and available to finance operations of the fiscal year, or to liquidate liabilities
existing at fiscal year-end. Generally, expenditures are recognized when a liability is incurred.
Except for exhibits and notes clearly labeled otherwise, this CAFR has been prepared in
accordance with GAAP.

Results of Operations

General Governmental Funds
Revenues and other financing sources for general governmental functions (General Fund,
special revenue funds, and capital projects funds) amounted to $23.4 hillion for the fiscal year
ended June 30, 1998, using the modified accrual basis of accounting. The major categories of
revenues and other financing sources are shown in the following table. Amounts are expressed in
millions.

Percent
of
Amount Total
Revenues:
TAXES. it $ 13,288 56.8%
Federal fundsS........coooeeiiiiieee e 5,983 25.6%
LOCAI TUNAS. ... 463 2.0%
Investment €arnings..........cccceeevviiiveieen s 576 2.5%
Fees, licenses and fINeS.........ccovvvveivieeieeiiieiieeenns 826 3.5%
OtNEI i 326 1.4%
Total FEVENUES. ..ot 21,462 91.8%
Other Financing Sources:
Operating transfers in and other SOUrces..................... 1,232 5.3%
Proceeds from bond sale............ccccceviviiiinneninnenn. 700 2.9%
Total other financing SOUICeS.........cccvvvevviiiieieeeniee, 1,932 8.2%
Total Revenues and Other Financing Sources........ $ 23,394 100.0%

Tax Revenues. Tax revenues increased by $1.1 billion in 1998, reflecting a continuing
favorable economic climate in North Carolina. Income tax collections increased by $800.2
million in 1998 to $7.1 billion, a 12.7% increase over 1997. Sales tax collections grew by $138
million in 1998, a 4.4% increase over 1997. Highway taxes were $1.477 billion in 1998, $89.9
million more than in 1997.

Federal Funds. Federal funds revenues grew by $125 million in 1998, up by 2.1% over 1997.
Increases in Federal revenues are due to increased Federal program expenditures for which the
State is reimbursed.
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Investment Earnings. Investment earnings reflect an increase of $121 millionin 1998. Severd
factors contributed to this increase. In fiscal year 1998, the State implemented GASB Statement
No. 31, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Certain Investments and for External
Investment Pools, which resulted in fair value accounting for investments, and an investment
earnings increase of $7 million. Securities lending activity resulted in an increase of $40 million,
while interest earnings on bond proceeds accounted for $51 million of the investment earnings
increase. Genera growth in investment earnings accounts for the remaining increase of $23
million. The growth in 1998 can be directly attributed to the favorable investment climate
through June 30, 1998, and the investment management strategies of the State Treasurer.

Expenditures and other financing uses for general governmental purposes totaled $22.9
billion in 1998, using the modified accrual basis of accounting. The major categories of
expenditures and other financing uses, by function, are shown in the following table. Amounts
are expressed in millions.

Percent
of
Expenditures: Amount Total
Current:
General governMENt...........vvvevereremiiiiiiieea $ 1,116 4.9%
Education..........cccceeeiiiiiiiii 5,416 23.7%
Health and human Services..............ccccevciieiiiinenns 7,300 31.9%
Economic development..........ccoooeveieieieieieieie e 322 1.4%
Environment and natural resources.................ccceeeuue 333 1.5%
Public safety, corrections, and regulation 1,579 6.9%
Transportation...........cccceevvviviiviiiiiiiienennnn. 2,384 10.4%
Agriculture................. 69 0.3%
Retiree tax judgments 400 1.7%
Capital outlay... 204 0.9%
Debt service......... 170 0.7%
Total eXpPenditures...........cocvereirieerieeieese e 19,293 84.3%
Other Financing Uses:
Operating transfers OUt............eevvvveieieiiieieieieiiiiiieeenens 1,218 5.3%
Operating transfers to component units....................... 2,374 10.4%
Total other finanCing USES..........coovvveiiiieenniieceien 3,592 15.7%
Total Expenditures and Other Financing Uses........ $ 22,885 100.0%

Significant changes in expenditures. The trend of increases in expenditures, an increase of
$1.6 hillion for 1998, was directly related to the continued emphasis on education, heath and
human services, and transportation. A large portion of the increase in governmental
expenditures, retiree tax judgments, is the result of the North Carolina Supreme Court ruling in
the Bailey case (Note 18). On June 9, 1998, representatives of the State and the various retirees
involved in the Bailey and Patton cases announced a settlement, which was later approved by the
court, in the amount of $799 million. Of this amount, $400 million will be disbursed in refunds
in fiscal year 1998-99, and $399 million will be paid in refunds during fiscal year 1999-2000.
Educational expenditures increased by $640 million largely because of growth in dollars spent on
State administered programs and the increasing costs associated with providing public education.
Health and human services increased by $477 million in 1998 ($143 million when adjusted for
reorganization), with this increase largely attributable to the reorganization of the State’s public
health resources. An offsetting decrease in expenditures of $335 million occurred in
expenditures for environment and natural resources. There was a decrease in spending for 1998
for public safety, corrections, and regulation of $35 million. This decrease compared to 1997 is
the result of decreased emergency assistance payments (hurricane relief) through June 30, 1998.
Transportation expenditures increased in fiscal year 1998 by $179 million. Debt service will
continue to climb, a $39 million increase from 1997 to 1998, as the State continues to issue
general obligation debt to fund capital projects for education, highways and utilities.

Additional information, in greater detail and for the past ten years, may be examined in the
statistical section.
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The fund balance of the General Fund declined by $39 million in 1998. Although the
growth in tax and other revenues once again exceeded expectations this year, which directly
contributed to the strong condition of the General Fund at year end, expenditures and transfers
out exceeded revenues and transfers in by $33.8 million. At June 30, 1998 the fund balance of
the General Fund on the modified accrua basis was $1.665 billion, in comparison to a $1.704
billion balance at the end of 1997.

The following chart illustrates the fund balances on the modified accrual (GAAP) basis of
the General Fund for the last ten fiscal years.

FUND BALANCES OF THE GENERAL FUND (GAAP basis)
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[Fiscal Years 1994 to 1998 reflect implementation of GASB Statement No. 22, dealing with accrual of revenues. ]

During the 1991 session, the General Assembly established a Savings Reserve Account as a
restricted reserved portion of fund balance in the General Fund, becoming effective for the year
ended June 30, 1992. Under this legislation, one-fourth of any unreserved credit balance
(defined by the General Statutes as "...the credit balance, as determined on a cash basis, not
already reserved to the Savings Reserve Account.") remaining in the General Fund at the end of
each fiscal year will be transferred to the Savings Reserve until the account contains funds equal
to 5% of the amount appropriated to the General Fund operating budget for the preceding year.
On June 30, 1998, $21.6 million was transferred into the Savings Reserve Account, bringing the
total reserve to the 5% cap of $522.5 million.

Summary of Savings Reserve Account (in millions) : Increase/
Date Description (Decrease) Balance
Reserve - Budget Stabilization
(Rainy Day FUN) .......c.coviiiiiiiiciccceeeeeeeeeene $ 0.4 $ 04
June 1992 Statutory Reservation - G. S. 143-15.3.......ccccoevvveverevnnnee. 41.2 41.6

June 1993 Statutory Reservation - G. S. 143-15.3 ........ccccceveieicnnnn. 134.3 175.9
July 1993 Withdrawal from ReSEIVe..........cooiiviiiiiiieieeeeeeeeee (121.0) 54.9
June 1994 Statutory Reservation - G. S. 143-15.3 ........ccccceveienennn. 155.7 210.6
January 1995 Budget Stabilization Appropriation...........ccccceceeveeieeiennen. 66.7 277.3
June 1995 Statutory Reservation - G. S. 143-15.3 ........cccccvevveiieicnnn. 146.3 423.6
June 1996 Statutory Reservation - G. S. 143-15.3.........ccceevrcrnienns 77.3 500.9
June 1997 Statutory Reservation - G. S. 143-15.3 ........ccccoevveieinennnn. — 500.9
June 1998 Statutory Reservation - G. S. 143-15.3.........cccceevrcvrienns 21.6 $ 5225

The 1993 General Assembly, in an effort to provide for the State's capital needs,
established the Repairs and Renovations Reserve Account (G.S. 143-15.3A). Repairs and
Renovations Reserve Account is defined to consist of 3.0% of the replacement value of all State
buildings supported by the General Fund, at the end of each fiscal year. The fundsin the Repairs
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and Renovations Reserve Account are to be used only for the repair and renovation of State
buildings and related infrastructure that are supported by the General Fund. For fiscal year 1997-
98, the General Assembly placed $145 million into this reserve. The balance in the Repairs and
Renovations Reserve at June 30, 1998 was $174.2 million.

For fiscal year 1995-96, the General Assembly established the Clean Water Management
Trust Fund to finance projects to clean up or prevent surface water pollution (G.S. 113-145.3).
The amount reserved in the General Fund each year is defined as 6.5% of any unreserved credit
balance remaining in the General Fund at the end of the fiscal year or $30 million, whichever is
grester. For the 1997-98 fiscal year, $47.4 million was placed in this reserve.

For fiscal year 1996-97, the General Assembly established the Railroad Reserve Account.
In order to help promote trade, industry, and transportation within the State of North Carolina
and to advance the economic interests of the State and its citizens, the General Assembly
determined it to be advantageous for the State to acquire the outstanding shares of the North
Carolina Railroad Company not held by the State. At June 30, 1997, the amount of $61 million
of the unreserved General Fund balance was placed in the Railroad Reserve Account. On April
1, 1998 the Genera Fund loaned the North Carolina Railroad Company $61 million for the
retirement of non-State owned common stock shares of the Railroad. The $61 million will
remain in reserve until the related debt is satisfied. At June 30, 1998, the balance in the reserve
was $61 million.

For the fiscal year 1997-98, the General Assembly reserved $55 million of unexpended
General Fund appropriations to be used by the Department of Public Instruction (DPI) to fund
public school employee performance bonuses, longevity payments, school bus purchases, and the
purchase of additional school technology.

Disproportionate share payments are Medicaid payments made to hospitals which serve a
disproportionate share of indigent patients. This account was established to reserve for future
appropriation any excess collection of disproportionate share revenues above those budgeted as
departmental receipts or non-tax revenues. There was $35.4 million in this reserve at June 30,
1998.

For the fiscal year 1997-98, the General Assembly established the Work First Reserve
Fund. At the end of each fiscal year, the State Controller shall reserve State funds in an amount
equaling one-fourth of any Work First Program funds from General Fund appropriations
remaining unexpended at the end of the fiscal year, up to a maximum balance in the account of
$50 million. The General Assembly may appropriate additional funds into this reserve. The
balance in this reserve at June 30, 1998 was $19.5 million.

Other Funds

Operating revenues and operating expenses for the State's enterprise funds were $23.7
million and $26.8 million, respectively, in 1998. Operating loss was $3.1 million.

Combined operating results for the State's internal service funds exhibited continued
strength in 1998. Operating revenues and expenses for these cost-reimbursement funds totaled
$1.004 billion and $998 million, respectively, in 1998. Principal internal service fund operations
include the State Health Plan, the Disability Income Plan, the Death Benefit Plan, Prison



State of North Carolina

17

Pension
Trust
Funds

Debt
Administration

Cash
Management

Risk

Management

Independent
Audit

Certificate of
Achievement

Enterprises, the State Property Fire Insurance, Motor Fleet Management, Centralized Computing
Services, and State Telecommunications.

The operations of the Teachers and State Employees Retirement System continued its
steady growth in 1998. The system'’s contributions increased by .6%. The system experienced a
10.4% increase in benefit payments to participants. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 1998, the
State continued to fund the actuarial required contribution. The State also participates in the
Consolidated Judicial Retirement System, the Legidative Retirement System, the Firemen's and
Rescue Squad Workers Pension Fund and the North Carolina National Guard Pension Fund.
The Loca Governmental Employees Retirement System is administered by the State but the
State is not a participant. Each of these systems continued to show a positive trend in funding.

At June 30, 1998, the State had a number of debt issues outstanding. These issues included
$2.1 hillion in general obligation bonds, $1.3 hillion in revenue bonds in the component unit
proprietary funds and $839 million in revenue bonds in the university funds. North Carolina
continues to have AAA bond ratings issued by Standard and Poor's Corporation and Moody's
Investors Service, the highest ratings attainable. These favorable ratings have enabled the State
to sell its bonds at interest rates considerably below the Bond Buyer's Index, thereby providing
substantial savings to North Carolina taxpayers. North Carolina is one of only a very small
number of states currently having the AAA ratings. In addition, approximately 25 percent of all
AAA ratings for state and local governments nationwide are located in North Carolina.

It is the policy of the State that all agencies, ingtitutions, departments, bureaus, boards,
commissions and officers of the State shall devise techniques and procedures for the receipt,
deposit and disbursement of monies coming into their control and custody which are designed to
maximize interest-bearing investment of cash, and to minimize idle and nonproductive cash
balances. The State Controller, with the advice and assistance of the State Treasurer, the State
Budget Officer, and the State Auditor, develops, implements, and amends the Satewide Cash
Management Policy. All cash deposited with the State Treasurer by State entities is managed in
pooled investment accounts to maximize interest earnings. During fiscal year 1998,
uncommitted State funds were invested in short-term and medium-term U.S. Government notes
and bonds, as well as other deposits, which had a composite average yield of 6.394%.

The State has a limited risk management program for fire and other property losses. As
part of this comprehensive plan, resources are being accumulated in an internal service fund to
meet potential losses. See Note 12 of the Notes to the Financial Statements for a full description
of the State's risk management program.

Other Information
In compliance with State statute, an annual financial audit of the State entity is completed
each year by the North Carolina Office of the State Auditor. The Auditor's examination was
conducted in accordance with generally accepted government auditing standards and his opinion
has been included in this report. In addition, the State coordinates the "Single Audit" effort of all
federal funds through the State Auditor.

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA)
awarded a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the State of North
Carolinafor its comprehensive annua financial report (CAFR) for the fiscal year ended June 30,
1997. The Certificate of Achievement is a prestigious national award recognizing conformance
with the highest standards for preparation of state and local government financial reports.
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In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a government unit must publish an
easily readable and efficiently organized comprehensive annual financial report, whose contents
conform to program standards. The CAFR must satisfy both generally accepted accounting
principles and applicable legal requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement isvalid for a period of one year only. We believe our current
report continues to conform to the Certificate of Achievement program requirements, and we are
submitting it to GFOA.

In conclusion, we believe this report provides useful datato all parties using it in evaluating
the financial activity of the State of North Carolina. We in the Office of the State Controller
express our appreciation to the financial officers throughout State government and to the Office
of the State Auditor for their dedicated efforts in assisting us in the preparation of this report.
Any questions concerning the information contained in this Comprehensive Annua Financial
Report should be directed to the Office of the State Controller at (919)981-5454.

Respectfully submitted,

Lt

Edward Renfrow
State Controller

December 4, 1998
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STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA

®ffice of the State Auditor

300 N. SALISBURY STREET
RALEIGH, N. C. 27603-5903
RALPH CAMPBELL. JR. TELEPHONE: (919) 733-3217
FAX: (919)733-8443

STATE AUDITOR

Independent Auditor’s Report

The Honorable James B. Hunt, Jr., Governor
The General Assembly of North Carolina
The Citizens of North Carolina

We have audited the accompanying general purpose financial statements of the State of North
Carolina as of and for the year ended June 30, 1998. These general purpose financial statements
are the responsibility of the State’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these general purpose financial statements based on our audit. We did not audit the financial
statements of the 401-K Supplemental Retirement Income Plan, which represent 36 percent and
39 percent, respectively, of the assets and revenues of the expendable trust funds; the financial
statements of the North Carolina Housing Finance Agency, which represent 45 percent and 34
percent, respectively, of the assets and revenues of the proprietary component units; nor the
financial statements of the State Education Assistance Authority, which represent 36 percent and
26 percent, respectively, of the assets and revenues of the proprietary component units. Those
financial statements were audited by other auditors whose reports thereon have been furnished to
us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for those entities, is based on the
reports of the other auditors.

We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by
the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. The financial statements of the 401-K Supplemental Retirement Income
Plan were not audited in accordance with Government Auditing Standards. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audit and the reports of other auditors provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of other auditors, the general purpose financial
statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
State of North Carolina as of June 30, 1998, and the results of its operations and the cash flows
of its proprietary fund types and nonexpendable trust funds for the year then ended in conformity
with generally accepted accounting principles.

&y
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As discussed in Note 1W to the financial statements, the State of North Carolina implemented
Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement 31, Accounting and Financial Reporting
for Certain Investments and for External Investment Pools; and Statement 32, Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Internal Revenue Code Section 457 Deferred Compensation Plans
during the year ended June 30, 1998. As discussed in Note 1F to the financial statements, the
State of North Carolina changed its method of accounting for securities lending transactions
during the year ended June 30, 1998.

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we will also issue our report dated
December 4, 1998, except for the first paragraph, as to which the date is April 20, 1999, on our
consideration of the State of North Carolina’s internal control over financial reporting and our
tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grants. This
report will be published at a later date in the State of North Carolina’s Single Audit Report.

The required supplementary information on year 2000 issues listed in the table of contents is not
a required part of the general purpose financial statements but is supplementary information
required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, and we did not audit and do not
express an opinion on such information. Further, we were unable to apply to the information
certain procedures prescribed by professional standards because we could not evaluate the
information using the criteria in Governmental Accounting Standards Board Technical Bulletin
98-1, Disclosures About Year 2000 Issues, as amended. In addition, we do not provide assurance
that the State is or will become year 2000 compliant, that the State’s year 2000 remediation
efforts will be successful in whole or in part, or that parties with which the State does business
are or will become year 2000 compliant.

The combining and individual fund and account group financial statements and schedules listed
in the table of contents are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required
part of the general purpose financial statements of the State. Such information has been
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the general purpose financial
statements and, in our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of other auditors, is fairly
presented in all material respects in relation to the general purpose financial statements taken as a
whole.

Aol Lol .

Ralph Campbell, Jr.
State Auditor

December 4, 1998, except for Note 20,
as to which the date is April 20, 1999
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ALL FUND TYPES, ACCOUNT GROUPS, AND DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNITS
COMBINED BALANCE SHEET

June 30, 1998

(Dollars in Thousands)
Proprietary

Governmental Fund Types Fund Types

Special Capital Internal
General Revenue Projects Enterprise Service

ASSETS AND OTHER DEBITS
Cash and cash equivalents (NOte 4)...........c.cccocvevee.e. $ 2,504,859 $ 2,409,353 $ 282,895 $ 29,123 $ 420,441
Investments (NOte 4)..........cccceveerveune.e. 3,019,561 1,044,896 — 41,632 671,024
Deposit with Federal government (Note 4).................. — — — — —

Recelvables, net:

Taxes reCeivabIe..........ccc.ceveveveieveeeeeeeeeee e 675,428 103,133 — — —
Accounts receivable.............. 101,960 11,385 203 1,622 19,551
Intergovernmental receivables. .. 440,646 92,766 176 — 547
INtErest rECRIVADIE. ........c.ocveveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeereeeereeeens 21,657 8,800 — 116 1,942
Premiums receivable................cccoveveeeeeveeereeeeieenas — — — 812 497
Contributions receivable. 14,519 — — — 5,044
Other receivables.................. — 6,962 — — —
Due from other funds (Note 8)......... 12,045 35,865 3,250 — 23,556
Due from component units (Note 8)....... 20,179 — — — 1,266
Due from primary government (Note 8).. — — — — —
Advances to component units (Note 8) ........................ 94,054 — — — —
NOLES FECEIVADIE. ........vevieeveeeeeeiceeeeeeeeeee e 497 112,371 — — —
Inventories......... 48,997 81,887 — 386 13,784
Food stamps.. 93,695 — — — —
Prepaid items............. 67 1,290 — 1,287 482
Fixed assets (Note 5)... — — 23,225 165,678

Sureties........oovveiiiiiiiiincii — 32,802 — — —
Amount available in other funds...............ccccovvieininns — — — — —
Amount to be provided for retirement

of general long-term obligations................cccceeevene — — — — —

Total Assets and Other Debits............ccccevviriciiinnnns $ 7,048,164 $ 3,941,510 $ 286,524 $ 98,203  $1,323,812
LIABILITIES, FUND EQUITY AND OTHER CREDITS

Liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities.................... $ 433,120 $ 233,036 $ 19,949 $ 267 $ 13,603
Tax refunds payable..........ccccoeerverrennn. 708,708 — — — —
Obligations under securities lending...... 2,958,149 1,022,734 — 17,443 299,771

Retiree tax judgements payable (Note 7)........ 400,000 — — — —
Intangibles tax judgements payable (Note 7)... — — — — —
Due to other funds (NOte 8)......c.ceevvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieiieeeins 23,939 41,758 70 9 2,900
Due to component units (Note 8)........ccccvveveviiierennnnnn. 4,278 46,984 221 — —

Due to primary government (Note 8)
Advance from primary government (Note 8)................ — — — — —
Obligations under reverse repurchase

AGrEEMENTS. ... ettt eseenenes — — — — —
Contracts payable...... — — — — —
Notes payable (Note 7)........... — — — 130 —
Claims and benefits payable......... 444171 55 — 9,024 346,622

Capital leases payable (Note 6)...
Bonds payable (NOE 7).......ccccevveerereeeieereereereiereerennas — — — — —
INtErest PaYabIE.........cccceviieecerieiere e — — — — —

Deposits payable........ — 93,837 7,700 — 63
Distributions payabile..... — — — — —
Accrued vacation leave. — — — 300 2,876
Deferred revenue....... . 411,149 18,533 — 2,318 3,544
Total LiabilitieS.......coveveriiiicrenieeee e 5,383,514 1,456,937 27,940 29,491 669,379
Fund Equity and Other Credits:
Contributed capital.............vveiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e — — — 36,365 58,850
Retained earnings........ccccccevvvviiiiiiiiiiicceenes — — — 32,347 595,583
Investment IN fIXed aSSELS......ccurrererieriereseeienie e — — — — —
Fund balances:

Reserved/restricted (NOte 15).........cccccevviiiieiiieiiiinnee 1,219,621 940,304 88,871 — —

Unreserved/unrestricted............... 445,029 1,544,269 169,713 — —
Total Fund Equity and Other Credits... 1,664,650 2,484,573 258,584 68,712 654,433
Total Liabllities, Fund Equity

aNd ONET CreAIS. ......cevereerieerenre et $ /,048,164 $ 3,941,510 $ 2865524 $ 98,203  $1,323,812

The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Exhibit A-1
Fiduciary TOTAL TOTAL
Fund Types Account Groups PRIMARY Component Units REPORTING
General General GOVERNMENT ENTITY
Trust and Fixed Long-Term (Memorandum College and (Memorandum
Agency Assets Obligations only) Proprietary University only)
$ 1,224,695 $ — $ — $ 6,871,366 $ 205,518 $ 1,551,580 $ 8,628,464
55,687,867 — — 60,464,980 762,590 2,561,331 63,788,901
1,285,741 — — 1,285,741 — — 1,285,741
203,260 — — 981,821 — — 981,821
15,155 — — 149,876 17,979 204,093 371,948
7,792 — — 541,927 8,135 118,841 668,903
8,147 — — 40,662 20,946 11,547 73,155
— — — 1,309 — — 1,309
127,847 — — 147,410 — — 147,410
— — — 6,962 — — 6,962
5,349 — — 80,065 — 66,637 146,702
— — — 21,445 — 1,753 23,198
— — — — 13,494 51,288 64,782
25,000 — — 119,054 — — 119,054
337,296 — — 450,164 1,300,877 84,127 1,835,168
1,433 — — 146,487 802 52,500 199,789
— — — 93,695 — — 93,695
— — — 3,126 5,552 7,744 16,422
— 3,178,549 — 3,367,452 188,374 5,772,790 9,328,616
508,872 — — 541,674 — — 541,674
— — 103 103 — — 103
— — 3,058,990 3,058,990 — — 3,058,990
$ 59,438,454 $ 3,178,549 $ 3,059,093 $ 78,374,309 $ 2,524,267 $ 10,484,231 $ 91,382,807
$ 538,041 $ — $ — $ 1,238,016 $ 28,037 $ 188,667 $ 1,454,720
— — — 708,708 — — 708,708
4,104,051 — — 8,402,148 170,406 726,748 9,299,302
— — 399,000 799,000 — — 799,000
— — 333,000 333,000 — — 333,000
11,389 — — 80,065 — 66,637 146,702
13,299 — — 64,782 113 1,640 66,535
— — — — 16,843 3,686 20,529
— — — — 58,054 — 58,054
— — — — — 161,152 161,152
— — — — 7,395 — 7,395
— — 4,166 4,296 92,022 43,520 139,838
163,592 — 7,401 970,865 16 39,014 1,009,895
— — 190 190 3,277 496 3,963
— — 2,123,944 2,123,944 1,328,636 838,993 4,291,573
— — — — 19,938 12,409 32,347
733,473 — — 835,073 62 396,447 1,231,582
1,454 — — 1,454 — — 1,454
— — 191,392 194,568 1,500 129,422 325,490
66,865 — — 502,409 7,903 25,962 536,274
5,632,164 — 3,059,093 16,258,518 1,734,202 2,634,793 20,627,513
— — — 95,215 203,496 — 298,711
— — — 627,930 586,569 — 1,214,499
— 3,178,549 — 3,178,549 — 4,977,606 8,156,155
52,164,871 — — 54,413,667 — 1,560,829 55,974,496
1,641,419 — — 3,800,430 — 1,311,003 5,111,433
53,806,290 3,178,549 — 62,115,791 790,065 7,849,438 70,755,294
$ 59,438,454 $ 3,1/8,549 $ 3,059,093 $ /8,374,309 $  2,524,26/ $ 10,484,231 $  91,382,80/
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ALL GOVERNMENTAL FUND TYPES AND EXPENDABLE TRUST FUNDS
COMBINED STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1998 Exhibit A-2

(Dollars in Thousands)

Fiduciary
Governmental Fund Types Fund Type TOTALS
Special Capital Expendable (Memorandum
General Revenue Projects Trust only)
Revenues:
TAXES ettt s $11,679,679 $ 1,607,930 $ — $ 285,772 $ 13,573,381
Federal funds.........ccocviienniiiii 5,174,406 801,975 6,622 9,342 5,992,345
Local funds.........ooceeveiiiieiiniiiee e 436,347 26,515 17 273 463,152
Investment earnings..........cccccvvvveeeeeeieecinvnennn 447,669 128,232 — 409,444 985,345
Interest earnings on loans..............ccccvvvvveen... — 5,676 — 6,640 12,316
Sales and ServiCes........cccovvvveiiiieeeiniiee e 67,533 16,037 517 29,199 113,286
Sale, rental, and lease of property................ 6,066 20,015 240 502 26,823
Fees, licenses, and fines..........ccccccvvvvieennnen. 244,674 581,817 — 8,871 835,362
Contributions, gifts, and grants...................... 13,206 29,194 18,789 193,520 254,709
Funds escheated.............ccoceveviiiiiiniiiiennnen. — — — 18,866 18,866
MiISCEllAaNEOUS..........eeeeiiiieeiiiec e 137,269 11,426 99 413 149,207
Total revVeNUES........ccoocviiiiiieie e 18,206,849 3,228,817 26,284 962,842 22,424,792
Expenditures:
Current:
General government..........ccccoooecvieeeeneeenne 1,079,048 36,715 — 12,686 1,128,449
EdUCAtiON......eeiieeiiee e 5,017,690 398,796 — 19,287 5,435,773
Health and human services..........cccccceuue... 7,255,348 44,914 — 1,923 7,302,185
Economic development..............coccuuveeeee. 122,032 199,581 — — 321,613
Environment and
natural reSOUICES........ooevvveiieiiieeeeeieeeen, 206,945 125,858 — 8,986 341,789
Public safety, corrections, and regulation.. 1,403,276 175,709 — 29,451 1,608,436
Transportation.............eeveeeiiiiiiieeniees s — 2,384,455 — — 2,384,455
AGICUUIE. ... 68,289 284 — 4,901 73,474
Claims and benefits.........ccoooevvveeiiiieeriennnns — — — 473,353 473,353
Retiree tax judgements............occcvveeeeeenn. 400,000 — — — 400,000
Capital outlay..........ceeeeieiiiiiiiiaeeeiieee e — — 203,605 — 203,605
Debt service:
Bond principal retirement.......................... 91,585 — — — 91,585
Bond INtEreSt.........ccoeeeveiiiiiiiieiiieeeiv e, 73,229 5,225 — — 78,454
Total expenditures. .........cccoevreeeeriiieeenneeeenns 15,717,442 3,371,537 203,605 550,587 19,843,171
Excess revenues over (under)
eXPENItUIES. ....oeeivirieeiee e 2,489,407 (142,720) (177,321) 412,255 2,581,621
Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Operating transfers in..........cccoccevee e veiiinenen. 291,221 756,309 168,019 20,581 1,236,130
Operating transfers
from component Units........ccccceeevveiiiineneen.n. 14,692 724 1,207 — 16,623
Operating transfers out.............cccoevcvvvveeneenn. (470,456) (745,267) (2,030) (15,739) (1,233,492)
Operating transfers
to component UnNitS.........ccccveeveeeeeiiivnenennnn. (2,358,657) (15,190) (350) (13,299) (2,387,496)
Proceeds from bond sale............ccccccvveennnnnn. — 700,000 — — 700,000
Total other financing sources (uses)............. (2,523,200) 696,576 166,846 (8,457) (1,668,235)
Excess revenues and other sources over
(under) expenditures and other uses......... (33,793) 553,856 (10,475) 403,798 913,386
Fund balances — July 1 (Note 16)................ 1,707,418 1,936,458 280,444 3,349,203 7,273,523
Restatements (Note 16)..........cccceveeeeeeiiiinnns 384 (210) — (2) 173
Residual equity transfers in (Note 17)........... 55 37 — — 92
Residual equity transfers out (Note 17)......... (9,769) (9,943) (11,385) (151) (31,248)
Increase (decrease) in reserve for
related asSets.........oocvviiiiiiiiiiiiieeee e 355 4,375 — 100 4,830
Fund balances — June 30..........ccccccvveernnnen. $ 1,664,650 $ 2,484,573 $258,584 $3,752,949 $ 8,160,756

The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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GENERAL FUND AND SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS
COMBINED STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
UNRESERVED FUND BALANCES— BUDGET AND ACTUAL (BUDGETARY BASIS— NON-GAAP)
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1998 Exhibit A-3
(Dollars in Thousands)
General Fund Special Revenue Funds
Variance- Variance-
Final Favorable Final Favorable
Budget Actual (Unfavorable) Budget Actual (Unfavorable)
Revenues:
Taxes:
Individual income...........cccccoooeieiiiiiiienee. $ 5546500 $ 6,028,870 $ 482,370 $ — $ — 3 —
Corporate iNCOME.......c.ccceeeevveviireeeieiieeeennn 679,600 696,339 16,739 — — —
Salesand USe............coeeeeeeeeeicc, 3,249,100 3,255,372 6,272 — — —
Franchise 409,900 407,257 (2,643) — — —
Insurance 269,700 283,763 14,063 — — —
Beverage 152,700 153,724 1,024 — — —
Intangibles... — 320 320 — — —
Other........ccco 253,800 266,802 13,002 — — —
Non-Tax:
Fees, licenses and fines...........ccccceeeeeeeeeens 116,800 112,790 (4,010) — — —
Investment income 237,400 248,131 10,731 — — —
Other............... 95,500 91,161 (4,339) — — —
Transfers iNu.....co 182,600 182,600 — — — —
Departmental:
Federal funds........cooovvveiiiii, 5,301,525 4,817,261 (484,264) 293,907 227,940 (65,967)
Local fUNDS.....c.eveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 710,088 592,637 (117,451) 13,210 11,919 (1,291)
Inter-agency grants and allocations........... 34,354 4,516 (29,838) 23,782 17,669 (6,113)
Intra-governmental transactions................. 1,906,252 1,739,009 (167,243) 425,365 406,873 (18,492)
Sales and services..............cceeeeeen. 64,421 66,499 2,078 11,786 12,785 999
Sale, rental and lease of property 4,425 4,321 (104) 2,161 3,659 1,498
Fees, licenses and fines..........cccccvvvvvvveenns 101,748 102,310 562 89,919 97,187 7,268
Contributions, gifts and grants 42,357 32,423 (9,934) 1,527 1,469 (58)
Miscellaneous...........ccccvvvvvvvnnnns 73,517 52,972 (20,545) 14,924 10,883 (4,041)
UNIVEISITIES....ccieeeeee et 472,182 457,332 (14,850) 87,449 87,801 352
Total REVENUES.......ccevvveieiieieiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee, 19,904,469 19,596,409 (308,060) 964,030 878,185 (85,845)
Expenditures:
Current:
General government........ccccevecvveeeeeeienenn. 552,558 534,563 17,995 154,603 77,972 76,631
Education..........ccccuvvvviiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeee, 6,341,188 6,208,442 132,746 — — —
Health and human services 8,631,327 8,158,386 472,941 74,134 63,530 10,604
Environment and natural
FESOUICES. . .ccvuneeiiieeeeiiee e e e e e eens 281,513 252,300 29,213 157,645 133,396 24,249
Economic development...........ccccceeeeeinnen. 197,850 164,695 33,155 280,942 215,246 65,696
Public safety, corrections, and regulation... 1,760,590 1,490,821 269,769 260,153 233,123 27,030
Transportation 10,610 10,610 — — — —
Agriculture 75,791 70,706 5,085 — — —
Capital outlay........ccovvveeiiiiiiiee e, 327,252 327,252 — — — —
DEDt SEIVICE....cuvveiii i 166,035 164,814 1,221 — — —
Universities.............. 1,951,989 1,922,830 29,159 124,492 88,975 35,5617
Total Expenditures 20,296,703 19,305,419 991,284 1,051,969 812,242 239,727
Excess revenues over (under)
eXPenditures.......ccccovvvvveveeeiiiiieee e (392,234) 290,990 683,224 (87,939) 65,943 153,882
Transfers from reserves (Note 2C)........cc..ccu..e. 174,545 174,545 — — — —
Transfers to reserves (Note 2C).........cccceeueeee. — (268,995) (268,995) — — —
Unreserved fund balances (budgetary
basis) at July 1, 1997.......coovviiiveiiiiiienenn, 318,690 318,690 — 192,498 192,498 —
Unreserved fund balances (budgetary
basis) at June 30, 1998 (Note 2B).............. $ 101,001 $ 515230 $ 414229 $104559 $ 258,441 $ 153,882

The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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ALL PROPRIETARY FUND TYPES, SIMILAR TRUST FUNDS, AND

DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNITS

COMBINED STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND EQUITY
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1998

(Dollars in Thousands) TOTAL
Fiduciary PRIMARY
Proprietary Fund Types Fund Types GOVERNMENT
Internal Nonexpendable (Memorandum
Enterprise Service Trust only)
Operating Revenues:
SAIES AN SEIVICES. ...eeeee et e et eeee e $ 1,256 $ 268,310 $ 423 $ 269,989
Federal funds...........coovieiiiiieeee e — — 25,273 25,273
INVESTMENt EArNINGS.....coi it 5,687 85,328 13,661 104,676
Interest earnings on loans — — 7,271 7,271
Rental and lease earnings. .........cccccovveivieiieeeeee e 3,566 11 — 3,577
Fees, licenses and fiN€S.........cooovvveiiiiiiiiiiie e, 6,474 1,043 1,314 8,831
(@] 011101011 [0] § 1T — 65,459 4 65,463
INSUrANCe PremMiUMIS. ......ueeiieeeeaiiiiieeeeae e e s eeae e e e enneees 6,713 581,613 — 588,326
MISCEIIANEOUS........eeiiieeeeee e 22 2,505 219 2,746
Total operating reVENUES.........ccceeiiiiiirieeeaaeeaiiiieeeeae e 23,718 1,004,269 48,165 1,076,152
Operating Expenses:
Personal SEIVICES. .......oouueiiiiiieeee e 5,547 50,622 14 56,183
Supplies and materials...........oooouviiiiiieiiniiiee e 534 13,548 5 14,087
Services 4,175 81,337 9 85,521
INEEIEST. ...ttt 847 15,693 2,887 19,427
Cost 0of gOOdS SOId.......ceeeiieiieeei e 465 38,983 — 39,448
Depreciation/amortization...........ccccooeccveeiereeeniiciiiieeeeenn 1,458 29,131 — 30,589
Grants to local governments.........cccoooevveeieeeeeiniciiieeenn. — — 2,788 2,788
Claims and beNEfitS.......coocueiiiieeiiiie e 10,152 731,608 — 741,760
Insurance and boNding...........ooocuvieiiiieiiniiiiiee e 2,579 10,916 — 13,495
Oher .. 1,063 26,024 445 27,532
Total operating eXPENSES.......coviuviiiieeeaeiiieee e 26,820 997,862 6,148 1,030,830
Operating iNCome (I0SS)........uuevveiiiiiiiiieieee e (3,102) 6,407 42,017 45,322
Net Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)............ 334 106 — 440
Income (loss) before operating transfers..............ccc..c.... (2,768) 6,513 42,017 45,762
Operating Transfers:
TrANSTEIS INueeeiiiii e e 290 2,822 14,499 17,611
Transfers from component Units............ccccoeeviiiiiiienneenn. — — — —
Transfers from primary government — — — —
Transfers OUt..........occveeeeiieiiiiiiieeeen, (227) (16,941) (3,181) (20,249)
Transfers to primary government......... — — — —
Total operating transfers in (OUL).........cccceeveeeiiiniiiieeeen.n. 163 (14,119) 11,318 (2,638)
NEet INCOME (I0SS)..ceiieiiiiiiiiiiiie et (2,605) (7,606) 53,335 43,124
Excess of revenues over
(under) expenditures from
governmental OPerations...........coouivveerereeeriiciiiieeeeeenns — — — —
Fund equity — July 1 (NOte 16).......ccccueriivriaiiieniieeieeen 64,968 661,422 358,737 1,085,127
Restatements (NOte 16).......cccuuveeiieeeiiiiiiiiiiee e — 573 (20) 553
Increase (decrease) in contributed capital...................... 6,349 44 — 6,393
Fund equity — June 30........cccceeviiiiiiiniienreenec e $ 68,712 $ 654,433 $ 412,052 $ 1,135,197

The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Exhibit A-4

TOTAL
Component REPORTING
Units ENTITY
Proprietary (Memorandum
Fund Types only)
$ 57,416 $ 327,405
— 25,273
44,943 149,619
98,293 105,564
5,556 9,133
183 9,014
— 65,463
— 588,326
6,245 8,991
212,636 1,288,788
40,083 96,266
11,688 25,775
30,273 115,794
85,164 104,591
— 39,448
18,170 48,759
— 2,788
631 742,391
1,529 15,024
13,171 40,703
200,709 1,231,539
11,927 57,249
(66,270) (65,830)
(54,343) (8,581)
— 17,611
9,531 9,531
113,621 113,621
— (20,249)
(51) (51)
123,101 120,463
68,758 111,882
(1,086) (1,086)
707,920 1,793,047
(7,452) (6,899)
21,925 28,318
$ 790,065 $ 1,925,262
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ALL PROPRIETARY FUND TYPES, NONEXPENDABLE TRUST FUNDS, AND
DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNITS

COMBINED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1998

(Dollars in Thousands)

Cash Provided From (Used For)
Operations:
Operating iNCOME (I0SS)......vvieiiiieiiiie e
Adjustments to reconcile operating income
to net cash flows from operating activities:

Depreciation/amortization...............covrveieeeniiiieeee e
INVESIMENt BAIMINGS......viecveiiiieii et
Securities lending fees.................
Construction projects expensed................
Mortgage/loan/note principal repayments..
LOAN SAIES.....cciiiiiiii e
Mortgages/loans/notes iSSUEd............ueeveiiiiieieeiiiiieee e
Mortgage/loan/note cancellation and writeoffs....................
Allowances and uncollectible accounts..............cccooceeenee.
Restatements and adjustments to cash...........ccccoecveeeeene
Development Stage eXPeNSE.........ccoovverreerienieenieenieenieeneens
Nonoperating miscellaneous income/expense....
INtErest EXPENSE.......uuririiiiiiiiieiiieeeeeeee e

(Increases) decreases in assets:
Receivables...........cooiiiiiii
Due from other funds.........ccccccoiiiiiiiiiiii e,
Due from component UNItS..........occuveeereiiiiiiiiee e
Due from primary government..........cceeeeeiivreeeeiniineeeesnines
Inventories........ccocoeviiieeiiincns
Prepaid items

Increases (decreases) in liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities.............cc.ccceeenne.
Due to other funds..........cccociiiiiiiiii
Due to COMPONENE UNIES.....cuverviiiiieiieiiie e
Due to primary goVernMEeNt..........ccouevverreireerieeneeseennennns
Claims and benefits payable..
Contracts payable..
Deposits payable..........
Accrued vacation leave...........ccccocceiiiiiiiniiceii e
Deferred revenUe...........ccco i

Total cash provided from (used for) operations................c......

Cash Provided From (Used For)

Noncapital Financing Activities:
Proceeds from sale of bonds/notes............ccoooiiieiiiiiiiinennins
Repayment of bond/note principal............ccccceeiiiiiiiinniiiieees
Interest payments on bonds and notes...........cccoceeeeenniiiieenn.
BONd iISSUANCE COSL.......eeiiiiiiiiiiiiie ettt

Grants, aid and subsidies...
Operating transfers in..........ccccoccoeeeiinines
Operating transfers from component units......
Operating transfers from primary government..............cccceeenee
Operating transfers OUL.............evieiiiiiiiee e
Operating transfers to primary government............cccoeeeevieneen.
Advance from primary government...........cccccceeevveeeeeennineeeeenne
Nonoperating cash donations............c..eceeiriiiiee i
Increase in contributed capital............ccoceeeiiiiiiiii i,
Decrease in contributed capital....
Long term contract PAYMENLS .......ccceeverrierireenieenrenreeiee e
Total cash provided from (used for)

noncapital financing activities...........cccoceiiiiiiiee s

TOTAL
Fiduciary PRIMARY
Proprietary Fund Types Fund Types GOVERNMENT
Internal Nonexpendable (Memorandum
Enterprise Service Trust Funds only)

(3,102) $ 6,407 $ 42,017 45,322
1,458 29,131 — 30,589
(5,687) (85,328) (13,661) (104,676)
847 15,692 2,887 19,426
— — 15,421 15,421
— — (39,064) (39,064)
35 609 67 711
(62) 167 — 105
5,468 (4,028) (34) 1,406
— (4,454) — (4,454)
— (32) — (32)
15 (1,747) — (1,732)
353 (279) — 74
48 2,838 (262) 2,624

(€))] 152 — 151

— (2,197) — (2,197)
1,158 21,017 — 22,175
— 2 —_ 2
35 197 — 232
274 482 — 756
839 (21,371) 7,371 (13,161)
290 2,822 14,499 17,611
(12) (16,940) (3,181) (20,133)
172 — — 172
4,614 — — 4,614
5,064 (14,118) 11,318 2,264

The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Exhibit A-5

TOTAL
Component REPORTING
Units ENTITY
Proprietary (Memorandum
Fund Types only)

$ 11,927 $ 57,249
18,170 48,759
(44,943) (149,619)
5,657 25,083

5 5
111,852 127,273
1,140 1,140
(308,890) (347,954)
6,984 6,984
1,944 1,944
(5,873) (5,162)
(2,969) (2,969)
1,105 1,210
55,835 55,835
(8,732) (7,326)
— (4,454)

— (32)

108 108

(48) (1,780)

(323) (249)
2,010 4,634

— 151

(58) (2,255)

(10) (10)

— 22,175
4,652 4,652
(259) (257)

166 398
(360) 396
(150,910) (164,071)
327,400 327,400
(103,040) (103,040)
(61,159) (61,159)
(2,787) (2,787)
3,398 3,398
(70,114) (70,114)
— 17,611
9,531 9,631
113,621 113,621
— (20,133)

(1) (51)
2,427 2,427
3,699 3,871
500 5114
(3,898) (3,898)
(4,115) (4,115)
215,412 217,676

Continued



38 State of North Carolina

ALL PROPRIETARY FUND TYPES, NONEXPENDABLE TRUST FUNDS, AND
DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNITS

COMBINED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1998

(Dollars in Thousands)

TOTAL
Fiduciary PRIMARY
Proprietary Fund Types Fund Types GOVERNMENT
Internal Nonexpendable (Memorandum
Enterprise Service Trust Funds only)
Cash Provided From (Used For)
Capital Financing Activities:

Acquisition Of fixed aSSetS.........cccoveriiiiiiiieiiier e (91) (38,748) — (38,839)
Proceeds from the sale of fixed assets...........ccccoecvevriiiencncens 19 2,817 — 2,836
Proceeds from sale of bonds/notes............ccoccvveriieiiiiiiniicens — — — —
Repayment of bond/note principal...........cccccoeiiiiiiiinieeiiees (40) — — (40)
Interest payments on bonds, notes and capital leases............. (11) — — (11)
BONd ISSUANCE COSL........vveiiiiieiiiieiiiee e — — — —
Operating transfers out.... (115) — — (115)

Capital grants.........ccecveeviveeinieeenne. — — — —
Principal payment on capital Ieases...........ccccoovveenieiiieenineens — — — —
Dredging COSES......uuuiiieieiiiiiie e cier e e e s e e e e e e ennaneeees — — — —

Total cash provided from (used for)..........ccoovieviiiiniiiiiieenen,
capital financing actiVities..........coooviirieiiriic e (238) (35,931) — (36,169)

Cash Provided From (Used For)
Investment Activities:
Proceeds from the sale/maturities of non-State

Treasurer iNVESIMENTS.........ccccoviiiiiiie e 542 — 137 679
Redemptions from the State Treasurer

Long-Term Investment POOL............cccceiiiiiiiiiiieiiiiiece e — 2,000 3,251 5,251
Purchase of non-State Treasurer investments............cccccceeuee (811) — (126) (937)
Purchase into State Treasurer

Long-Term Investment POOL............cccceiiiiiiiiiiieiiiiieee e (7,500) (8,600) (1,470) (17,570)
INVESTMENE EAININGS. ..ottt 1,447 25,229 4,744 31,420
Total cash provided from (used for)

investment actiVitieS............coooi i (6,322) 18,629 6,536 18,843
Net increase (decrease) in cash

and cash equivalents. ... (657) (52,791) 25,225 (28,223)

Deficit from governmental operations....

Cash and cash equivalents at July 1..... 29,780 473,232 82,508 585,520
Cash and cash equivalents at June 30..........cccceevveveerireneenenns $ 29,123 $ 420,441 $ 107,733 $ 557,297
Noncash Investing, Capital,
and Financing Activities:
Noncash distributions from the State Treasurer
Long-Term Investment POOL............cccccevvvveiiiee e, $ 3,401 $ 44,636 $ 5,869 $ 53,906
Increase in contributed capital...... 1,826 52 — 1,878
Decrease in contributed capital (91) (8) — (99)
Assets acquired through the assumption of a
HADIILY ... 17,443 299,771 74,069 391,283
Interest expense on advance from primary
JOVEIMIMENT. ...ttt — — — —
Cash and cash equivalents in the Fiduciary Fund Types on the Combined Balance Sheet include:
Expendable Trust Funds............ e B 409,311
Nonexpendable Trust Funds...... 107,733
Pension Trust Funds..... ettt 99,517
Investment Trust Fund... B TP R PP PR UTPTPRPN 3,959
AGENCY FUNAS......oiiiiiiie it 604,175
TOAL et $ 1,224,695

I ne accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part ot tnis statement.
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Exhibit A-5

TOTAL
Component REPORTING
Units ENTITY
Proprietary (Memorandum
Fund Types only)

(45,206) (84,045)
4,220 7,056
63,360 63,360
(4,483) (4,523)
(3,483) (3,494)
(1,898) (1,898)

— (115)

21,872 21,872
(3,730) (3,730)

(337) (337)

30,315 (5,854)
507,616 508,295

— 5,251
(621,622) (622,559)
(442) (18,012)

34,239 65,659
(80,209) (61,366)
14,608 (13,615)
1,086 1,086
189,824 775,344

$ 205,518 $ 762,815
$ 7,181 $ 61,087
— 1,878

— (99)

61,210 452,493
4,966 4,966
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PENSION TRUST FUNDS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF PLAN NET ASSETS
DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS

June 30, 1998 Exhibit A-6
(Dollars in Thousands)
Firemen's
and North

Teachers' Rescue Carolina Local

and State Consolidated Squad National ~Governmental

Employees’ Judicial Legislative  Workers' Guard Employees’

Retirement Retirement Retirement Pension Pension Retirement

System System System Fund Fund System Totals

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents............... $ 87,891 $ 561 $ 190 $ 268 $ 198 $ 10,409 $ 99,517
Receivables:

Accounts receivable...................... 212 — — — — 202 414

Interest receivable...............c......... 470 3 1 3 1 303 781

Contributions receivable................ 92,389 916 87 — — 24,573 117,965
Investments, at fair value:

State Treasurer investment pool... 41,849,894 310,446 24,034 229,701 42,103 10,389,827 52,846,005
Total ASSEetS....cccoeeeeeeieieieeeeeeeeee, 42,030,856 311,926 24,312 229,972 42,302 10,425,314 53,064,682
LIABILITIES
Obligations under

securities lending............cc.cccuven 2,850,420 21,233 1,799 15,704 3,073 711,399 3,603,628
Due to other funds.........c.ccceeviineeenns — — — 1 — — 1
Benefits payable..........ccccvvvveeiiiiinns 126,275 — — — 1 98 126,374
Total Liabilities.........ccocveeeeeeiicinnnnn. 2,976,695 21,233 1,799 15,705 3,074 711,497 3,730,003
Fund Balance
Reserved for employees'

pension benefits (Note 15)............ $39,054,161 $ 290,693 $ 22,513 $ 214,267 $39,228 $ 9,713,817 $49,334,679

A schedule of funding progress for each plan is presented on page 110 .

The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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PENSION TRUST FUNDS
COMBINING STATEMENT OF CHANGESIN PLAN NET ASSETS
DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1998 Exhibit A-7
(Dollars in Thousands)
Firemen's
and North
Teachers' Rescue Carolina Local
and State Consolidated Squad National Governmental
Employees’ Judicial Legislative  Workers' Guard Employees'
Retirement Retirement Retirement Pension Pension Retirement
System System System Fund Fund System Totals
Additions:
Contributions:
Employer.....cooocveeeiiiiiiiiiieees $ 616,736 $ 8,487 $ 801 $ — $ — $ 149826 $ 775,850
Plan members..........ccccoeveeeeenn. 488,212 2,466 257 2,781 — 180,474 674,190
Other contributions..................... — — — 11,735 2,533 — 14,268
Total contributions........................ 1,104,948 10,953 1,058 14,516 2,533 330,300 1,464,308
Investment Income:
Investment earnings................... 6,512,033 48,109 3,662 35,162 6,355 1,607,972 8,213,293
Less investment expenses (161,473) (1,207) (100) (853) (167) (41,641) (205,441)
Net investment income.............. 6,350,560 46,902 3,562 34,309 6,188 1,566,331 8,007,852
Fees, licenses and fines.............. — — — — — 4,590 4,590
Miscellaneous additions............... 1,379 — — 2 — 18 1,399
Total additions 7,456,887 57,855 4,620 48,827 8,721 1,901,239 9,478,149
Deductions:
Administrative expense................ 4,531 40 4 354 19 1,617 6,565
BenefitS. ..o 1,369,233 11,260 945 12,262 1,703 265,793 1,661,196
Refund of contributions................ 73,855 106 17 322 — 50,698 124,998
Total deductions.............cccvvveeen... 1,447,619 11,406 966 12,938 1,722 318,108 1,792,759
Net increase (decrease) 6,009,268 46,449 3,654 35,889 6,999 1,583,131 7,685,390
Fund balance reserved for
employees' pension benefits
Beginning of the year (Note 16)... 33,044,893 244,244 18,859 178,378 32,229 8,130,686 41,649,289
End of year.........occooeiiiiiiniieen, $39,054,161 $ 290,693 $ 22513 $ 214,267 $ 39,228 $ 9,713,817 $49,334,679

The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.



42 State of North Carolina

INVESTMENT TRUST FUND
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS

June 30, 1998

Exhibit A-8

(Dollars in Thousands)

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents............ccccccooiiiiiiicnninnnn.
INVESIMENLS.....couniii e
Receivables:

Interest receivable.........cccoeevieiiiiiiiiiiee,

TOtAl ASSELES....ccveiieie et

LIABILITIES
Obligations under
securities [ending.........ceeevvvicieeieee e

Distributions payable............cccoocviiviiiiniiieee e
Total LiabilitieS........cvveeiiieee e

NET ASSETS
Held in trust for
POOI PArtICIPANTS. ...

The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.

Investment
Trust
Fund

3,959
509,527

4,063

517,549

209,485
1,454

210,939

306,610
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INVESTMENT TRUST FUND

STATEMENT OF CHANGESIN NET ASSETS

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1998 Exhibit A-9

(Dollars in Thousands)

Investment
Trust
Fund
Net increase in net assets resulting from operations:
Revenues:

INVESEMENT INCOME.......viiiiiee ettt $ 27,083
Expenses:

INVEStMENT EXPENSES. ....cooi i 9,590
Net increase in net assets resulting from operations.............. 17,493
Distributions to participants:

Distributions paid and payable............ccccciiiiiiiiiiiiiniiieee, (17,493)
Share transactions:

Reinvestment of distributions.............cccois 17,424
Net share purchases/(redemptions).........ccccceeeeiiniiiiiiieeeeeeenn. 3,806
Total increase in Net aSSetS.........uvuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeee e 21,230
Net assets:

Beginning of the year (NOte 16).........cccoviiiiiiiieiiiiiiiiieeeeeeee 285,380
ENd Of the YA ....cciiiiiii et $ 306,610

The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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COMPONENT UNITS— COLLEGE AND UNIVERSITY FUNDS

COMBINED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FUND EQUITY

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1998

Exhibit A-10

(Dollars in Thousands)

Revenues and Other Additions:

TUITION ANA FEES. ..ottt et
Federal appropriationS............cceiiiiiieieeee e ccciiieee e e e e e
County apProPriatioNS........uveerieeiiiiiiiiereeeeeeiiirrer e e e e e e ssiirereeaeeesiaens
Federal contracts and grantS...........cccvveeiieeiiiiiiiieeiee e esciieeeee e
State contracts and grantS.........ccueiveevieeeiiesiie e
Local contracts and grants..........ccceeeeeeuiieeieeeeesiiiiieiee e
Private gifts, contracts and grants...........ccccoccvvevieeeiiiiiiiieeee e,
ENdOWMENT INCOME......ci ittt
SalES AN SEIVICES.....ueiiieiiiiee et
INVESTMENT BAMMINGS....eeiivieiiie ittt ettt siee e
Expended for plant facilities..........ccccvveeiviiiiiiiiie e,
Retirement of indebtedness...........ccccviiiiiiiiiee i
Proceeds of refunding debt...........c..ccooviiiiiiiii e,
Income from hospital operations...........ccccccceeevviiciiiiiee e,
Other revenues and additions...........ccccovvvieiiiiiiie e
Total Revenues and Other AdditioNS..........ccccovvieeeiiiiee e,

Expenditures and Other Deductions:

Educational and general..........cccccccoevuiiiiiie e
AUXIlIary ENEEIPriSES....cccviiiiiie ettt
INEINAl SEIVICE......iiiii it
Independent OPEratioNS............ciieeiiiiiiiiiiie e e e e e e e e e
Professional clinical SErviCes..........ccooviiiiiiiii i
INDireCt COSt FECOVEIEU. ... vvvieiiiiie et
Refunded tO grantors...........ccvvviiiiee i

Administrative and collection costs,

loan cancellation and bad debts...........c.ccoeeviiiiiiiin
Expended for plant facilities..........ccccvveeiiiiiiiiiiie e,
Retirement of indebtedness...........cccoviiiii i
Payment t0 @SCIrOW @gENT........ccivieiieeiiierieesiiie e e sireesieeesieeesieee e
Interest on INdebtedNEesS..........ocveviiiiiii i
Disposal of plant facilities..........c.ccccoevviiiiiie e
Loss on refunding of debt..........cccvvveiiiiiiiii s
HoSpItal OPEratioNS.........ccoiiiiiiiiie et
Other expenditures and deductions.............cccoccvvieiieeeeiiiciiiieeeeeee
Total Expenditures and Other Deductions............ccccceeevviciviieeneenn.

Transfers-Additions (Deductions):

Operating transfers from primary government

Operating transfers to primary government

Operating transfers to component UNits...........ccceeeveviiiieieeeeeeeinnns
N trANSTEIS. ..ot
Net increase in fund eqUItY.........cceeveeeeeiiiiiiiiee e
Fund equity — July 1 (NOtE 16).....ccccurviiieeeeiiiiiiiiiee e e
Restatements (NOtE 16)........ccuvriiiieeeiiiiiiiiiiee e e e
Residual equity transfers in (NOte 17)........ccccvveeeeeiiiiiiiieieee e
Residual equity transfers out (NOte 17)........ccccevvviivivieneeeniiinnneenen.

FUuNd eqUIty — JUNE 30...ccc ittt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e enees

The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.

404,072
21,937
112,378
600,400
78,231
45,108
298,905
21,052
821,839
175,092
460,016
26,250
75,113
470,579
46,256

3,657,228

3,390,568
474,293
33,991
12,060
208,085
86,050
866

2,457
407,768
25,848
75,125
36,298
60,721
4,822
405,958
4,785

5,229,695

2,273,875
(16,572)
(9,531)

2,247,772

675,305
7,178,460
(4,273)
739

(793)

$ 7,849,438
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COMPONENT UNITS— COLLEGE AND UNIVERSITY FUNDS

COMBINED STATEMENT OF CURRENT FUNDS

REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND TRANSFERS

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1998 Exhibit A-11

(Dollars in Thousands)

Revenues:
TUITION @N TS ..o eeeee et $ 402,155
Federal appropriationsS. . ........cu ittt e e e e e e e ee s 21,937
[©20]0] 18 YA=1 o] o] (o] o= 1 o] o T PRSPPI 90,734
Federal contracts and grantS........oooiuieeiieiiee it e e e e 515,884
State CONracts and GraANTS.........ooiii e e e e e e s e e e e e e s e anneeee 70,127
Local CONracts @and GrantS..........cooieoiiiiuiiiiiee e e et e e e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e annees 5,857
Private gifts, contracts and grants. ... 211,107
ENOOWMENT INCOME.....e et e et e e et e e e e e e et e e saa e e eeaaas 21,867
SAIES AN SEIVICES. ... ittt e et e e e e e e e et e e e st e e saa e e saaaessab e eenas 821,916
INVESTMENT CAIMINGS. .. i ittt e e e e et e e e e e e s anae e e e e e e e eannneeeeeas 66,171
(@)1 g TST (SN LU (SIS 34,078
TOtal CUIMENE REVENUES........oiiiiiiiieiiiiie ettt ettt et e e e s e e 2,261,833
Expenditures:
Educational and general:
INSEIUCTION. ..ttt ettt et eae e e 1,515,443
Organized reSEAICH. ........oiiiiiieie e a e 368,829
PUDIIC SEIVICE. ...ttt et 237,278
P Yoz To (=10 o[0T o] o Lo P PROUPURURRRRN 238,274
STUAENT SEIVICES. ...ttt ittt e et 123,924
INSHLULIONAL SUPPOIT. .. .etiiieee et e e e e e s e e e e e e s ebbraeeaaee s 363,297
Physical plant OperationNS...........coiiuiiiiiiee e 268,533
Student fINANCIAI AId..........eeviiiiiie i 274,989
Total educational and general...........ccceooiiiiiiiiiiei e 3,390,567
AUXIIANY ENEEIPIISES. ....ieiiiiiiee ettt e e e e s s e e e e e s sstbaaaaaeeesannes 474,293
INEEINAL SEIVICE. ...ttt et e e s 33,991
INdEPENdENt OPEIALIONS. .......uuiiiiiiee e iiiiiiiee e e e e e e e e e e e e e s rbbrreeeeeeseaanenes 12,060
Professional CliNiCal SEIVICES. .........uiiiiiiiiiei e 208,085
Total EXPENAITUIES. ... ...ttt e et e e e e e e e nebeeeeaaeeeanees 4,118,996
Transfers and Additions (Deductions):
Excess of restricted receipts over transfers to revenues...........ccccceeeeeiiiiiiieeneenn. 15,868
REFUN 10 GIraNtOrS. ... ceiiiei it e e e e e e e as (856)
MaNdatory trANSTEIS. ... ... e e et e e e e e (61,173)
NON-MaNdatory tranSTEIS. ..... ..o (13,970)
Interinstitutional tranSTEIS. ... . (4,323)
Operating transfers from primary government............oooovueeieeeeiniiiiiiieee e 1,998,719
Operating transfers to primary goVernMENt...........uueiiiieai i esiiieee e e (1,336)
Operating transfers to COMPONENt UNILS...........eeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiee e (9,531)
Net increase in funNd @QUILY............ooiii i e e $ 66,235

The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying financial statements of the State of
North Carolina financial reporting entity have been prepared in
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles, as
prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB), which consiss of GASB Statements and
Interpretations, as well as American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (AICPA) and Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB) pronouncements specifically made
applicable to state and local governmental entities by GASB
Statements and Interpretations. In accordance with GASB
Statement No. 20, Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Proprietary Funds and Other Governmental Entities That Use
Proprietary Fund Accounting, the State does not apply FASB
pronouncements issued after November 30, 1989 for
proprietary activities, unless the GASB amends its
pronouncements to specifically adopt FASB pronouncements
issued after that date. The financial statements of the college
and university funds have been prepared in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles for colleges and
universities as prescribed by GASB Statement No. 15,
Governmental College and University Accounting and
Financial Reporting Models. The financial statements of the
North Carolina Railroad Company (Railroad), a for-profit
corporation (discretely presented proprietary component unit),
have been prepared based on FASB pronouncements. The
Railroad' s financial statements have been incorporated into the
State's reporting entity based on the definition and display
provisions of GASB Statement No. 14, The Financial
Reporting Entity.

The financial statements are presented as of and for the
fiscal year ended June 30, 1998, except for the USS North
Carolina Battleship Commission whose statements are as of
and for the fisca year ended September 30, 1997, and the
North Carolina Deferred Compensation Plan, the 401(k)
Supplemental Retirement Income Plan, and the North Carolina
Railroad Company whose statements are as of and for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 1997. Occupationa licensing boards
have financia statements with various fiscal year ending dates.

B. Financial Reporting Entity

The financial reporting entity includes (1) the primary
government, (2) organizations for which the primary
government is financially accountable, and (3) organizations
for which the nature and significance of their relationships with
the primary government are such that exclusion would cause
the primary government's financia statements to be misleading
or incompl ete.

The State of North Carolina, as primary government,
consists of al organizations that make up its legal entity. All
funds, organizations, agencies, boards, commissions, and
authorities that are not legally separate are, for financial
reporting purposes, part of the primary government. The
primary government has a separately elected governing body
(the General Assembly) and the primary government must be
both legally separate and fiscally independent. Component
units are legally separate entities for which the State is
financially accountable. Accountability is defined asthe State's
substantive appointment of a majority of the component unit's
governing board. Furthermore, the State must be able to
impose its will upon the component unit or there must be a
possibility that the component unit may provide specific
benefits to, or impose specific financial burdens on, the State.
The State has applied the criteria outlined in GASB Statement
No. 14, The Financial Reporting Entity, in determining
financia accountability.

As required by generally accepted accounting principles,
these financial statements present the State (the primary
government) and its component units. The component units
are included in the financial reporting entity because of the
significance of their operational or financia relationships with
the State, as described below.

Blended Component Units
Comprehensive Major Medical Plan

The Comprehensive Mgor Medica Plan (Plan) is a
component unit that provides medical benefits to employees
and retirees of the State, most of its component units, and local
boards of education that are not part of the reporting entity.
The Plan has corporate powers and is governed by a board
whose members are appointed by either the Governor or the
General Assembly. Provisions and contribution rates are
approved by the General Assembly, with the State making
significant contributions as an employer and through its
funding of local boards of education. The Plan has been
included in the financia statements using the blending method
(internal service fund) because it almost exclusively benefits
the primary government. Even though a substantial number of
covered participants are not employees of the primary
government, the Plan essentidly serves only the primary
government by managing the risk associated with providing
health insurance to eligible employees. The other employersin
the Plan do not have risk since the primary government is
responsible for funding the premiums of all covered
employees.

Disability Income Plan of North Carolina
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The Disability Income Plan of North Carolina (Plan) is a
component unit that provides disability benefits to employees
of the State, most of its component units, and local boards of
education that are not part of the reporting entity. The Plan has
corporate powers and is governed by a fourteen-member board.
Ten members are appointed by the Governor, two are
appointed by the General Assembly, and two are elected State
officials. Provisions and contribution rates are approved by the
Genera Assembly, with the State making significant
contributions as an employer and through its funding of local
boards of education. The Plan has been included in the
financial statements using the blending method (interna
service fund) because it amost exclusively benefits the primary
government. Even though a substantial number of covered
participants are not employees of the primary government, the
Plan essentially serves only the primary government by
managing the risk associated with providing disability
insurance to eligible employees. The other employers in the
Plan do not have risk since the primary government is
responsible for funding the premiums of al covered
employees.

Discretely Presented Component Units

The component units columns in the combined financial
statements include the financial data of the following organi-
zations. They are reported as either college and university
funds or proprietary funds.

College and University Funds
University of North Carolina System

The Board of Governors of the consolidated University of
North Carolina (UNC) system is a legaly separate body,
composed of thirty-two members elected by the Genera
Assembly. The Board of Governors establishes system-wide
administrative policies while budgetary decisions are exercised
a the State level. Within the consolidated system there is
UNC-General Administration, which is the administrative arm
of the Board of Governors, the sixteen constituent universities,
and UNC Hospitals. Each of the sixteen universities, in turn, is
governed by its own separate board of trustees that is
responsible for the operations of that campus only. UNC
Hospitals is governed by a separate board of directors.
Funding for each of the ingtitutions of the UNC system is
accomplished by State appropriations, tuition and fees, sales
and services, federa grants, and private donations and grants.

The following constituent institutions comprise the UNC
system for financial reporting purposes:

Appalachian State University
East Carolina University
Elizabeth City State University
Fayetteville State University

North Carolina Agricultural and Technical State University
North Carolina Central University

North Carolina School of the Arts

North Carolina State University

University of North Carolina at Asheville
University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill
University of North Carolina at Charlotte
University of North Carolina at Greensboro
University of North Carolina at Pembroke
University of North Carolina at Wilmington
Western Carolina University
Winston-Salem State University

UNC Hospitals

Community Colleges

There are currently fifty-eight community colleges
located throughout the State of North Carolina. Each is a
separate component unit of the reporting entity and is legally
separate. The State does not appoint a voting majority of each
community college board of trustees. The State Board of
Community Colleges (the Board) approves the budgeting of
state and federal funds, the associated budget revisions, and the
selection of the chief administrative officer of each individua
community college. The Board is comprised of state officials
or their appointees. Each community college is similar in
nature and function to all of the others, and the operations of
no community college is considered major in relation to the
operations of all community colleges in the system. Therefore,
aggregated financial information is presented in this CAFR for
all community colleges.. The following are the State’s fifty-

eight community colleges:

Alamance Comm. College
Asheville-Buncombe

Technical Comm. College
Bladen Community College
Brunswick Comm. College
Cape Fear Comm. College
Catawba Valley Comm. College
Central Carolina Comm. College
Coastal Carolina Comm. College
Craven Comm. College
Davidson County Comm. College
Edgecombe Comm. College
Gaston College
Halifax Comm. College
Isothermal Comm. College
Johnston Comm. College
Martin Comm. College
McDowell Technical Comm. College
Montgomery Comm. College
Pamlico Comm. College
Pitt Comm. College
Richmond Comm. College

Anson Comm. College
Beaufort County Comm. College
Blue Ridge Comm. College
Caldwell Comm. College

and Technical Institute
Carteret Comm. College
Central Piedmont Comm. College
Cleveland Comm. College
College of The Albemarle
Durham Technical Comm. College
Fayetteville Technical Comm. College
Forsyth Technical Comm. College
Guilford Technical Comm. College
Haywood Comm. College
James Sprunt Comm. College
Lenoir Comm. College
Mayland Comm. College
Mitchell Comm. College
Nash Comm. College
Piedmont Comm. College
Randolph Comm. College
Roanoke-Chowan Comm. College
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Robeson Comm. College
Rowan-Cabarrus Comm. College
Sandhills Comm. College
Southwestern Comm. College
Surry Comm. College
Vance-Granville Comm. College
Wayne Comm. College

Wilkes Comm. College

Rockingham Comm. College
Sampson Comm. College
Southeastern Comm. College
Stanly Comm. College

Tri-County Comm. College

Wake Technical Comm. College
Western Piedmont Comm. College
Wilson Technical Comm. College

Proprietary Funds
North Carolina Housing Finance Agency

The North Carolina Housing Finance Agency is a legally
separate organization established to administer programs to
finance construction of low and moderate income housing.
The Agency has a thirteen-member board of directors, with
twelve appointed by either the Governor or the Genera
Assembly. The thirteenth member is elected by the other
twelve. The State can significantly influence the programs,
projects, activities, and level of services of the Agency.

State Education Assistance Authority

The State Education Assistance Authority is a legally
separate authority created to provide a system of financia
assistance, consisting of grants, loans, work-study or other
employment, and other aids, to qualified students to obtain an
education beyond the high school level by attending public or
private educationa institutions. The Authority is governed by
a seven-member board of directors, al of whom are appointed
by the Governor. The State provides significant operating
subsidies to the Authority; therefore, a financial benefit/burden
relationship exists between the State and the Authority.

North Carolina State Ports Authority

The North Carolina State Ports Authority is a legally
separate authority established to operate the State's port
facilities in Wilmington and Morehead City. It is governed by
an eleven-member board, al of whom are appointed by either
the Governor or the Genera Assembly. A financia bene-
fit/burden relationship exists between the State and the Author-

ity.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Centennial Authority

The Centennial Authority is a legally separate authority
created to study, design, plan, construct, own, promote, finance
and operate a regional facility in Wake County, North
Cardlina.  The regiona facility, will consist of an arena,
colissum or other buildings or both, where sports, fitness,
health, recreational, entertainment or cultural activities can be
conducted. The Authority is governed by a thirteen-member
board comprised of eight members appointed by the General
Assembly; two members appointed by the Wake County Board
of Commissioners; two members appointed by the Raleigh City
Council; and one member appointed jointly by the mayors of
al the cities of Wake County. A financia benefit/burden
relationship exists between the State and the Authority.

North Carolina Railroad Company

The North Carolina Railroad Company is a legaly
separate, for-profit corporation owned by the State for the
purpose of promoting trade, industry, and transportation within
the State of North Carolina and advancing the economic
interests of the State. The Railroad is governed by a 14
member board, al of whom are elected by shares held by the
State. A financia benefit/burden relationship exists between
the State and the Railroad.

North Carolina Global TransPark Authority

The North Carolina Global TransPark Authority
(formerly North Carolina Air Cargo Airport Authority) is a
legaly separate authority created to administer the
development of the North Carolina Global TransPark. Of the
twenty-member governing board, nineteen are voting members.
Seven of the voting members are appointed by the Governor
and six are appointed by the General Assembly. The State has
obligated itself to provide significant funding to the Authority
for years to come; therefore, a financial benefit/ burden rela-
tionship exists between the State and the Authority.
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North Carolina Low L evel Radioactive Waste
Management Authority

The North Carolina Low Level Radioactive Waste
Management Authority is alegally separate authority created to
locate, construct and operate a regional site for the disposal of
low level radioactive waste. The Authority is governed by a
fifteen-member board, all of whom are appointed by either the
Governor or the General Assembly. The State has the ability
to influence the budget, programs, and activities of the
Authority.

MCNC

MCNC (formerly the Microelectronics Center of North
Carolina) is a legally separate nonprofit corporation created to
foster advanced programs in microelectronics and super-
computing, in support of economic development and of North
Carolina universities and research ingtitutes. Of the sixteen-
member governing board, eleven are voting members. Seven
of the voting board members are appointed by the Governor
and four serve as a result of their positions with the UNC
system, a component unit of the State. The State has provided
significant funding to the organization since its inception;
therefore, afinancia benefit/burden relationship exists between
the State and the organization.

North Carolina Biotechnology Center

The North Carolina Biotechnology Center is a legally
separate nonprofit corporation created to further economic
development through the support of biotechnology research.
The Center is governed by a thirty-five-member board. Fifteen
of the board members are appointed by the Governor or
General Assembly and four serve as a result of their positions
with the UNC system, a component unit of the State. The State
has provided significant funding to the Center since its
inception; therefore, a financial benefit/burden relationship
exists between the State and the Center.

North Carolina Rural Economic Development Center, Inc.

The North Carolina Rural Economic Development Center
isalegally separate organization established to build economic
strength in the State’s 85 rural counties, with a special focus on
creation of economic opportunities for citizens with low to
moderate incomes. The Center has a 48 member board of
directors, with three appointed by the Governor, three by the
Lieutenant Governor, and three by the Speaker of the House.
The other members are elected by the appointed members of
the board of directors. The State provides significant program
and operating support to the Center creating a benefit/burden
relationship.

Other Proprietary Component Units:

North Carolina Agricultural Finance Authority

The North Carolina Agricultural Finance Authority is a
legally separate authority created to administer the financing of
low-interest loans to farmers. The Authority is governed by a
ten-member board, one of whom is a state official and nine of
whom are appointed by either the Governor or the Genera
Assembly. A financial benefit/burden relationship exists
between the State and the A uthority.

North Carolina Partnership for Children, Inc.

The North Carolina Partnership for Children, Inc., is a
legally separate organization established to develop a
comprehensive long-range strategic plan for early childhood
development. A thirty-threeemember board governs the
Partnership. Certain elected state officials appoint twenty-nine
of the members, while four members serve ex officio by virtue
of their state positions. The State provides significant
operating subsidies to the Partnership creating a benefit/burden
relationship.

North Carolina Ports Railway Commission

The North Carolina Ports Railway Commission is a
legally separate organization established to operate, maintain
and control al raillway equipment and railway operations
transferred to it by the North Carolina State Ports Authority in
January 1981. The Commission is governed by a five-member
board, all of whom are appointed by the Governor. A financial
benefit/burden relationship exists between the State and the
Commission.

North Carolina Regional Economic Development
Commissions:

Northeastern North Carolina Regional Economic
Development Commission

The Northeastern North Carolina Regional Economic
Development Commission is a legally separate organization
created to facilitate economic development and tourism in
northeastern North Carolina. The Commission consists of 17
members, including the Secretary of Commerce and the
Secretary of the Department of Environment and Natural
Resources (or their designees), five members appointed by the
Governor, five by the Speaker of the House, and five by the
President Pro Tempore of the Senate. The State provides
significant program and operating support to the Commission,
creating a benefit/burden relationship.
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Southeastern North Carolina Regional Economic
Development Commission

The Southeastern North Carolina Regional Economic
Development Commission is a legally separate organization
created to build economic strength in southeastern North
Carolina. The Commission consists of 15 members, with three
appointed by the Governor, two by the Lieutenant Governor,
five by the Speaker of the House, and five by the President Pro
Tempore of the Senate. The State provides significant program
and operating support to the Commission, creating a
benefit/burden relationship.

Western North Carolina Regional Economic Development
Commission

The Western North Carolina Regional Economic
Development Commission is a legally separate organization
created to improve economic opportunity in western North
Carolina with sensitivity to the resources of that region. The
Commission consists of 15 members, with five appointed by
the N.C. House of Representatives, five by the N.C. Senate,
three by the Governor, and two by the Lieutenant Governor.
The State provides significant program and operating support
to the Commission, creating a benefit/burden relationship.

North Carolina Rural Rehabilitation Cor poration

The North Carolina Rural Rehabilitation Corporation is a
legally separate nonprofit corporation created to assist
individuals and families in rural areas of the state. The
Corporation is governed by a nine-member board, all of whom
are appointed by the Governor or serve by virtue of their
positions as state officials. The State has the ability to
influence the budget, programs, and activities of the
Corporation.

Complete financial statements for the following
component units can be obtained from the Office of the State
Auditor, 300 N. Salisbury Street, Raleigh, N.C. 27603-5903.

University of North Carolina System

Community colleges

North Carolina State Ports Authority

North Carolina Global TransPark Authority

North Carolina Low Level Radioactive Waste Management Authority
North Carolina Partnership for Children, Inc.

North Carolina Ports Railway Commission

Complete financiad statements of the remaining
component units, examined by independent auditors, can be
obtained from the respective administrative offices of those
units, listed below:

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

N.C. Housing Finance Agency
P.O. Box 28066
Raleigh, NC 27611-8066

Centennial Authority
1520 Blue Ridge Road, Suite 201
Raleigh, North Carolina 27607

MCNC
P.O. Box 12889
Research Triangle Park, NC 27709-2889

State Education Assistance Authority
P.O. Box 2688
Chapel Hill, NC 27515-2688

N.C. Biotechnology Center North Carolina Railroad Company
P.O. Box 13547 3200 Atlantic Avenue, Suite 110
Research Triangle Park, NC 27709-3547 Raleigh, NC 27604-1640

N.C. Rural Economic
Development Center, Inc.
4021 Carya Drive
Raleigh, NC 27610

Western N.C. Regional Economic
Development Commission

P.O. Box 1258

Arden, NC 28704

Northeastern N.C. Regional Economic
Development Commission

P.O. Box 29

Edenton, NC 27932

Southeastern N.C. Regional Economic
Development Commission

P.O. Box 2556

Elizabethtown, NC 28337

The North Carolina Agricultural Finance Authority and
the North Carolina Rural Rehabilitation Corporation do not
issue separate financial statements.

C. Fund Accounting

The financia activities of the State and its component
units are organized on a basis of individual funds and account
groups, each of which is a separate accounting entity
segregated for the purpose of carrying on specific activities or
attaining certain objectives in accordance with specific
regulations, restrictions, or limitations. The financial activities
of the State and its component units accounted for in the
accompanying financial statements have been classified into
the following fund categories and account groups:

1. Primary Government (the State)

Governmental Funds

Governmental funds are those through which most gov-
ernmental functions of the State are financed. The acquisition,
use, and balances of the primary government's expendable
financial resources and the related liabilities (except those
accounted for in proprietary funds) are accounted for through
governmental funds. The measurement focus is upon
determination of financial position and changes in financial
position (sources, uses, and balances of financia resources)
rather than upon net income determination. The following are
the State's governmental funds.
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General Fund.

All financial resources received and used for services
traditionally provided by a state government and not required
to be accounted for in other funds are accounted for in the
General Fund. These services include general government;
education (other than universities and community colleges);
headth and human services; economic development;
environment and natural resources; public safety, corrections,
and regulation; and agriculture.

Special Revenue Funds.

Transactions related to resources obtained from specific
revenue sources (other than for expendable trusts or major
capital projects) that are legally restricted to expenditures for
specific purposes are accounted for in special revenue funds.
The special revenue funds reported in this CAFR have been
grouped under the following governmental functional cate-
gories. transportation; general government; education (other
than universities and community colleges); health and human
services, economic development; environment and natural
resources, public safety, corrections, and regulation; and
agriculture.

Capital Projects Funds.

Transactions related to resources obtained and used for
the acquisition, construction, or improvement of major gov-
ernmental general fixed assets are accounted for in the capital
projects funds. Such resources are derived principally from
operating transfers from the Genera Fund and from bond
funds. Highway infrastructure construction projects are
accounted for in the State Highway Fund and the Highway
Trust Fund. These projects are not included in the capital
projects funds.

Proprietary Funds

Proprietary funds are used to account for the State's
ongoing activities which are similar to those often found in the
private sector. The measurement focus is upon determination
of net income, financial position, and changes in cash flows.
The generally accepted accounting principles used are those
applicable to similar businesses in the private sector; thus,
these funds are reported on the accrual basis of accounting.
The following are the State's proprietary funds.

Enterprise Funds.

Enterprise funds account for operations of the State that
are financed and operated in a manner similar to private
business enterprises. The costs (expenses, including
depreciation) of providing goods or services to the general
public on a continuing basis are financed or recovered pri-
marily through user charges. The acquisition, maintenance,
and improvement of physical plant facilities required to pro-
vide these goods and services are financed from existing cash
resources, the issuance of bonds, federal grants, and other State
funds.

Internal Service Funds.

Internal service funds account for the operations of State
agencies that provide services to other State agencies, depart-
ments, or other governmental units on a cost reimbursement
basis.

Fiduciary Funds

Fiduciary funds are used to account for assets held by the
State in a trustee capacity or as an agent for individuals, private
organizations, other governmental units, and/or other funds.
The following are the primary government's fiduciary funds.

Trust Funds.

- Expendable Trust. Expendable trust funds account for
assets held by the State in a trustee capacity where the
principal and income may be expended in the course of the
funds' designated operations.

- Nonexpendable Trust. Nonexpendable trust funds
account for assets held by the State in a trustee capacity
where only income derived from the principal may be
expended in the course of the funds designated operations.
The principal must be preserved intact.

. Pension Trust. Pension trust funds account for transac-
tions, assets, liabilities, and net assets available for plan
benefits of the various State and local governmental public
employee retirement systems which the State administers.

- Investment Trust. The investment trust fund accounts for
the externa portion of the Investment Pool sponsored by
the State Treasurer.

Agency Funds.

Agency funds account for the various taxes, deposits,
deductions, and property collected by the State, acting in the
capacity of an agent, for distribution to other governmental
units or designated beneficiaries.

Account Groups

Account groups are used to establish accounting control
and accountability for the State's general fixed assets and
genera long-term obligations and do not involve measurement
of operations.

General Fixed Assets Account Group.

This account group is established to account for fixed
assets acquired for general government purposes, except those
accounted for in proprietary funds or college and university
funds. General fixed assets do not represent financia
resources available for appropriation and expenditure.

General Long-Term Obligations Account Group.
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This account group is established to account for the un-
matured principal of the State's general long-term debt and
other long-term obligations of governmental funds. The
unmatured principal of general long-term debt and other long-
term obligations does not require current appropriation and
expenditure of governmental fund financia resources.

2. Component Units

Proprietary Funds

Proprietary funds are used to account for the various
component units ongoing activities which are similar to those
often found in the private sector, as well as those within the
primary government described above.

College and University Funds

College and university funds account for the operations of
the UNC system and community colleges in accordance with
existing authoritative accounting and reporting principles
applicable to colleges and universities. Presentation of the
underlying fund groups of the individual universities and
community colleges is available from each respective ingtitu-
tion's separately issued financial statements.

D. Basis of Accounting

The basis of accounting determines when revenues and
expenditures or expenses are recognized in the accounts and
reported in the financial statements, regardless of the measure-
ment focus applied.

The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied
to a fund is determined by its measurement focus. All
governmental funds and expendable trust funds are accounted
for using a current financial resources measurement focus.
With this measurement focus, only current assets and current
liabilities are generally included on the balance sheet. Oper-
ating statements of these funds present increases (revenues and
other financing sources) and decreases (expenditures and other
financing uses) in net current assets.

All proprietary funds, nonexpendable trust, and pension
trust funds are accounted for on a flow of economic resources
measurement focus. With this measurement focus, all assets
and all liabilities associated with the operation of proprietary
funds are included on the balance sheet. Fund equity (i.e., net
total assets) is segregated into contributed capital and retained
earnings. Proprietary funds and similar trust funds' operating
statements present increases (revenues) and decreases
(expenses) in net total assets.

1. Governmental Funds, Expendable Trust
Funds and Agency Funds

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

The accounts of the general, special revenue, capital
projects, expendable trust, and agency funds are reported using
the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under the modified
accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized in the
accounting period in which they become both measurable and
available to finance operations of the fiscal year or liquidate
liabilities existing at fiscal year-end. The State considers
amounts to be available if due within 31 days of the close of
the fiscal year. Expenditures and other uses of financia
resources are recognized when the related liability is incurred,
except for items that are not planned to be liquidated with
expendable available resources, such as the long-term portion
of the liability for compensated absences and capital lease
obligations.

Other modifications to the accrual basis of accounting in-
clude the following:
- inventories generdly are considered expenditures at
acquisition;
- prepayments usually are not capitalized; and
- principal and interest on long-term debt are recorded when
due.

2. Proprietary Funds, Nonexpendable Trust

Funds and Pension Trust Funds

The accounts of the enterprise, internal service, nonex-
pendable trust, pension trust funds, and proprietary component
units are reported using the accrual basis of accounting. Under
the accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when
earned and expenses are recognized when incurred.

3. College and University Funds
The accounts of the college and university funds are

reported using the accrua basis of accounting with the
following exceptions:

- Depreciation expense related to plant fund assets is not
recorded; and

- Revenues and expenditures of an academic term encom-
passing more than one fiscal year are reported solely in the
fiscal year in which the program is predominantly conducted.

E. Cash and Cash Equivalents

This classification appears on the accompanying
combined balance sheet, combining statement of pension plan
net assets, investment trust fund statement of net assets, and
combined statement of cash flows. It includes deposits held by
the State Treasurer in certain short-term investment portfolios
more fully discussed in Note 4, investment of bond proceeds,
demand deposits with private financial institutions, and cash on
hand. The short-term investment portfolios maintained by the
State Treasurer have the general characteristics of a demand
deposit account in that participants may deposit additional cash
a any time and also may withdraw cash at any time without
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prior notice or penalty. Bond proceeds are invested in highly
liquid securities with an original maturity of 3 months or less.

F. Investments

This classification includes deposits held by the State
Treasurer in certain long-term investment portfolios more fully
discussed in Note 4 as well as investments held separately by
the State and its component units. It also includes each
participating fund and component unit’'s share of the cash
collateral received and invested by the State Treasurer under
securities lending agreements. During the year the State
reassessed which funds and component units bear the risk of
loss on the collateral assets. This significantly affected the
assets and liabilities reported by the individual funds and
component units. Investments are generally valued at fair
value. Additional investment valuation information is provided
in Note 4.

The classification does not include any of the reporting
entity's accounts that would be defined as cash equivalents
based on GASB Statement No. 9, Reporting Cash Flows of
Proprietary and Nonexpendable Trust Funds and
Governmental Entities That Use Proprietary Fund Accounting.

G. Deposit with Federal Government

This classification consists of unemployment compensa-
tion trust funds (expendable trust fund) held on deposit in the
Federal Reserve Bank of the United States Treasury.

H. Receivables and Duefrom Other Funds

Receivables in governmental and fiduciary funds consist
primarily of tax, interest, and federal revenues. Receivablesin
proprietary and college and university funds occur in the
normal course of business. The “Due from other funds’
classification represents interfund receivables consisting of
transactions between fund types within the State (primary
government). Operating transfers, quasi-external transactions,
and reimbursements are classified in this account.  All
receivables are shown net of allowances for doubtful accounts.

|. Advances to Other Funds

Noncurrent portions of long-term interfund loan receiv-
ables are reported as advances and are offset by a fund balance
reserve account which indicates that they do not constitute
expendable available financial resources and therefore are not
available for appropriation.

J. Inventories

The inventories of the State and proprietary component
units are valued on the first-in, first-out, last invoice cost, or
average cost basis. These inventories consist of general
supplies and materials. Institutions of the UNC system and
community colleges also use these valuations along with the
retail inventory method for some bookstore operations. The
State Highway Fund (specia revenue fund) accounts for its
maintenance and construction inventories using the average
cost basis. Inventories of all proprietary funds are valued by
the first-in, first-out method or average cost basis.

Except for the State Highway Fund's maintenance and
congtruction inventories, the cost of inventory items in the
State's governmental funds is recorded as an expenditure when
purchased. Reported inventories are equally offset by a fund
balance reserve that indicates they do not constitute "available
spendable resources’ even though they are a part of net current
assets.  All other inventories of the State and its component
units are recognized as expenses or expenditures when
consumed.

K. Food Stamps

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 24, Accounting
and Financial Reporting for Certain Grants and Other
Financial Assistance, the State recognizes distributions of food
stamp benefits as revenue and expenditures in the general fund,
whether the benefits are distributed directly or through agents
and whether the benefits are in paper or electronic form.
Expenditures are recognized when the benefits are distributed
to the individual recipients by the State or its agents; revenue is
recognized at the same time. The State reports food stamp
balances held by the State or by its agents at the balance sheet
date as an asset offset by deferred revenue. Revenue,
expenditures, and balances of food stamps are measured based
on face value.

L. Fixed Assets

General fixed assets are not capitalized in the funds used
to acquire or construct them. Instead, capital acquisitions and
congtruction are reflected as expenditures in governmental
funds, and the related assets are reported in the general fixed
assets account group. For financial reporting purposes, de-
preciation is not recorded on general fixed assets. Fixed assets
of al proprietary funds are capitalized in the fund in which
they are utilized and are depreciated either on the straight-line
basis or on the units of output basis over their useful lives.
Fixed assets of the UNC system and community colleges are
capitalized in college and university funds. Depreciation is not
reported on these assets.

Fixed assets are stated at historical cost, or in some in-
stances, estimated historical cost. Donated fixed assets are
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stated at fair market value at the time of donation. The State
(except for the USS N.C. Battleship Commission), some
proprietary component units, and the college and university
component units capitalize all fixed assets that have a value or
cost greater than or equal to $5,000 at the date of acquisition
and have an expected useful life of two or more years.
Certain proprietary component units (N.C. Housing Finance
Agency, N.C. State Ports Authority, N.C. Railroad Company,
N.C. Glaobal TransPark Authority, N.C. Biotechnology Center,
N.C. Partnership for Children, Northeastern N.C. Regional
Economic Development Commission, Southeastern N.C.
Regional Economic Development Commission, Western N.C.
Regional Economic Development Commission, N.C. Rural
Economic Development Center) and the USS N.C. Battleship
Commission (an enterprise fund) maintain a minimum
threshold of $500. Occupational licensing boards use various
threshol ds to capitalize fixed assets.

The value of assets constructed by the State and its
component units for their own use includes all material direct
and indirect construction costs that are increased as a result of
the construction. In proprietary funds and component units,
interest costs incurred (if material) are capitalized during the
period of construction.

Public domain (“infrastructure") general fixed assets
consisting of highways, bridges, highway lands, and rights-of-
way are hot capitalized.

The depreciation methods and estimated lives used by
proprietary funds are:

Estimated
Method Useful Life
Buildings .........ccocvvveeeenne Straight-line 7-50 years
Other structures

and improvements ..... Straight-line 10-50 years

Machinery and ............... Straight-line 3-15 years
equipment Units of output

for motor vehicles 90,000 miles/

vehicle

M. Tax Refund Liabilities

Tax refund liabilities consist primarily of accrued income
and sales and use tax refunds due to taxpayers. During the
caendar year, the State collects employee withholdings and
taxpayers payments for income taxes. At June 30, the State
estimates the amount it owes taxpayers for income tax
overpayments during the preceding six months. Sales and use
tax refund liabilities are also estimated at June 30. These
liabilities are recorded as “ Tax refunds payable”.

N. Obligations Under Securities Lending

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 28, liabilities
resulting from securities lending transactions are reported on
the combined balance sheet.

O. Retiree and Intangibles Tax Judgements
Payable

Retiree tax judgement liabilities consist of amounts due to
retired federal and State employees as a result of court rulings
against the State in the Bailey and Patton cases. Intangibles
tax judgement liabilities are the result of court rulings against
the State in the Smith and Patton cases.

P. Lease Obligations

Assets acquired under capital leases are generally valued
at the present value of the lease payments. Capital leases of
governmental funds are reported in the general long-term
obligations account group and the related assets are reported in
the general fixed assets account group. Capital leases for
proprietary funds and college and university funds are reported
in those funds, along with the related assets.

GASB Codification Section L20 and the Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 13, Accounting for
Leases, issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB), establish requirements for lease obligations. Leases
meeting the standards of FASB 13 have been capitalized and
are reported as capital leases payable. Other leases are
accounted for as operating leases and are not recorded on the
balance sheet. Operating lease payments are recorded as
expenditures or expenses of the related funds when paid or
incurred. Refer to Note 6 for specific disclosures on lease
obligations.

All leases of the State contain appropriation clauses indi-
cating that continuation of the lease is subject to continued
funding by the Legidlature. For reporting purposes, leases are
fully disclosed since cancellation due to lack of appropriation
is deemed unlikely.

Q. Compensated Absences

The State and its component units have adopted the
accounting and reporting principles outlined in GASB
Codification Section C60 regarding employee vacation leave.
Since unpaid vacation leave will not be liquidated with
expendable available financia resources, the State's liability
for long-term accumulated unpaid vacation leave is reported in
the accompanying general long-term obligations account group
for al governmental funds. There is no liability in the
accompanying financial statements for unpaid accumulated
sick leave because the State has no obligation to pay sick leave
upon employee termination or retirement.
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In the proprietary funds and college and university funds,
the liability for accumulated unpaid vacation leave is reported
as a current liability. For the same reasons as cited for
governmental funds, no liability for unpaid accumulated sick
leave is recorded.

In governmental funds, the expenditure for compensated
absences (vacation and sick leave) is recorded when the leave
istaken. In proprietary funds the expense for vacation leave is
recorded when the leave is earned. In college and university
funds a year-end adjustment is recorded to reflect the current
year's vacation leave expense. The expense for sick leave is
recorded when the leave is taken in both proprietary and
college and university funds.

The State's policy on compensated absences is generally
adhered to by its agencies, departments, and most of its
component units.  Full-time permanent, probationary and
trainee employees earn vacation leave ranging from 0.98 to
2.15 days per month, depending upon years of service. Part-
time employees earn the same range of leave on a pro-rata
amount based on the number of hours aweek they work. There
is no requirement that vacation leave be taken, but the
maximum permissible accumulation is 30 days. Any vacation
accumulated beyond 30 days is converted to sick leave at year
end. At termination, employees are paid for any accumulated
vacation leave. Full-time permanent, probationary and trainee
employees earn sick leave at the rate of one day per month with
an unlimited accumulation. Part-time employees earn a
percentage of the total of 8 hours per month based on the
number of hours aweek they work. Employees are not paid for
accumulated sick leave upon termination; however, additional
service credit for retirement pension benefits is given for
accumul ated sick leave upon retirement.

R. Long-Term Liabilities

Long-term liabilities expected to be financed from gov-
ernmental funds are accounted for in the general long-term
obligations account group. Expenditures for principal and
interest payments are recognized in the respective fund type
when due. Long-term liabilities expected to be financed from
the proprietary funds and the college and university funds, as
well asthe related interest payments, are accounted for in those
funds.

Capital appreciation bonds are those bonds that are issued
at stated interest rates (which may be zero) significantly below
their effective interest rate, resulting in a substantial discount
(deep discount). The implicit interest (i.e., discount) is not
paid until the bonds mature. Therefore, the net value of the
bonds accrete (i.e., the discount is reduced) over the life of the
bonds. This deep-discount debt is reported in the general long-
term obligations account group at its net or accreted value
rather than at face value.

S. Sureties

Sureties include various assets, including securities from
insurance companies doing business within North Carolina,
that have been placed in safekeeping with the State Treasurer,
asrequired by applicable general statutes.

T. Fund Equity

Contributed capital is recorded in all proprietary funds
that have received capital grants or contributions from other
sources. Fund balance reserved (in governmental and trust
funds) and fund balance restricted (in college and university
funds) represent that portion of fund balances (1) not available
for appropriation or expenditure and/or (2) that islegally segre-
gated by outside third parties for a specific future use. Refer to
Note 15 for disclosure on reserves. Designations of unreserved
fund balance represent tentative management plans that are
subject to change.

U. Revenues

Taxes.

Taxes, net of estimated refunds, are recognized as
revenue when they become both measurable and available to
finance expenditures of the fiscal period.

Federal Grant Revenues.

Federal grants are recorded as receivables and as reve-
nues when the related expenditures are incurred. Grants
received before the revenue recognition criteria have been met
arereported as deferred revenue.

V. Interfund Transactions

During the course of normal operations there are nu-
merous transactions between and within fund types of the State
and its component units, including expenditures and transfers
of resources to provide services, construct assets, and service
debt. The accompanying financial statements generally reflect
such transactions as operating transfers, except for retirement
contributions made by the State and its component units, which
are accounted for as revenues in the pension trust funds and
expenditures/expenses in the contributing funds. In addition,
proprietary funds (primarily internal service funds) record
charges for services to all other funds as operating revenue.
All funds record their payments to proprietary funds as
expenditures/operating expenses. The balances at year-end
resulting from these transactions are interfund receivables or
payables and are classified as "Due to," "Due from," "Advance
to," or "Advance from" on the Combined Balance Sheet. The
composition of the State and its component units' interfund
receivables and payables is presented in Note 8.
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W. Implementation of GASB Pronouncements

The State implemented GASB Statement No. 31,
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Certain Investments
and for External Investment Pools, and GASB Statement No.
32, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Internal Revenue
Code Section 457 Deferred Compensation Plans, for the fiscal
year ended June 30, 1998. The implementation of GASB
Statement No. 31 resulted in reporting certain investments at
fair value rather than cost and reporting the external portion of
the State's external investment pool in a new fund-type, an
investment trust fund (previously reported as an agency fund).

The implementation of GASB Statement No. 32 resulted
in reporting the State's Deferred Compensation Plan in an

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

expendable trust fund (previously reported as an agency fund).
The Plan assets are now held in trust for the exclusive benefit
of participants and their beneficiaries.

X. Totals- Memorandum Only

The "Totals - Memorandum Only" columns on the gen-
eral purpose financial statements are presented only to facili-
tate financial analysis. Data in these columns do not present
financial position, results of operations, or cash flows in con-
formity with GAAP. Neither is the data comparable to a con-
solidation. Interfund eliminations have not been made in the
aggregation of this data.
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NOTE 2:

BUDGETARY ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING

A. Budgetary Process

The State of North Carolina operates on a biennial
budget cycle with separate annua departmental certified
budgets adopted by the General Assembly on the cash basis
of accounting for the General Fund, the State Highway Fund,
the Highway Trust Fund, certain special revenue funds, and
capital projects funds. However, budgets adopted by the
General Assembly based on annual State tax and non-tax
revenues for the State Highway Fund and the Highway Trust
Fund are combined with federal and local participation
revenues and are primarily budgeted and accounted for on a
multi-year project basis. Capital projects funds are budgeted
on aproject basis. Since these funds have multi-year project
budgets, they are not included in the budgetary comparison
statement.

The accompanying budgetary comparison statement
discloses the annual "appropriated budget" for the General
Fund and budgeted special revenue funds. Actua amounts
in the statement are presented on the budgetary basis. Since
the budgetary basis differs from generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP), a reconciliation between the
budgetary basis and the GAAP basis is presented in Note 2
B.

The legal level of budgetary control is essentially at the
object level. However, departments and institutions may
make changes at their discretion within the budget of each
purpose between and among objects for supplies and
materials, current obligations and services, fixed charges and
other expenses, and capital outlay. Also, Chapter 116,
Article 1, Part 2A of the Genera Statutes authorized the
sixteen universities within the University of North Carolina
system to apply for specia responsibility status, which sets
the legal level of budgetary control at the institution’s budget
code level. A budget code is aconvention used in the State’s
accounting system to distinguish the type of fund and the
responsible department or institution. Budget codes are also
used to segregate certain purposes within departments or
institutions.  Ingtitutions with special responsibility status
must still have certain budget revisions, primarily those
associated with unanticipated revenues, approved by the
Office of State Budget and Management (OSBM).
Additionally, universities must maintain programs and
services in accordance with the guidelines established by the
Board of Governors of the consolidated University of North
Cardlina system. All sixteen universities have applied for
and received special responsibility status.

Generally, unexpended appropriations at the end of the
fiscal year lapse and are reappropriated in the next fiscal
year. However, in certain circumstances the OSBM will
allow a department to carry forward appropriations for
specifically identified expenditures that will be paid in the
next fiscal year. This is accomplished by the department
writing a check to itsdf and recording a budgetary
expenditure. The check is deposited in the next fiscal year as
abudgetary receipt.

Further detailed appropriation and departmental budget
information is available for public inspection in the
separately  published "Budgetary Compliance Report”
prepared by the Office of the State Controller, 3512 Bush
Street, Raleigh, NC 27609-7509 and through the Office of
State Budget and Management, 116 West Jones Street,
Raleigh, NC 27603-8005.

B. Reconciliation of Budget/GAAP
Reporting Differences

The General Fund and Special Revenue Funds,
Combined Satement of Revenues, Expenditures and
Changes in Unreserved Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
(Budgetary Basis — Non-GAAP) - Exhibit A-3, presents
comparisons of the legaly adopted budget (which is more
fully described in section A, above) with actual data on a
budgetary basis. Accounting principles applied to develop
data on a budgetary basis differ significantly from those prin-
ciples used to present financial statementsin conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). The fol-
lowing describes the major differences between budgetary
financial data and GAAP financial data.

Entity differences. The State Highway Fund and the
Highway Trust Fund, as discussed in section A, have multi-
year budgets and therefore are not included in the budgetary
statements. They are presented in the specia revenue funds
for GAAP purposes. Certain funds not included in the
annual budgetary statements but which have the characteris-
tics of governmental funds are presented in either the
General Fund or the speciad revenue funds for GAAP
purposes.

Basis differences. Budgetary funds are accounted for on
the cash basis of accounting, while under GAAP the govern-
mental funds use the modified accrual basis. Accrued reve-
nues and expenditures are recognized in the GAAP financial
Statements.
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Timing differences. A dignificant variance between
budgetary practices and GAAP is the authorized
carryforward of appropriated funds, which is described in
section A.

The following table presents a reconciliation of resulting
entity, basis, and timing differences in the fund balances
(budgetary basis) at June 30, 1998 to the fund balances on a
modified accrua basis (GAAP). Amounts are expressed in
thousands.

Special
General Revenue
Fund Funds
Unreserved fund balance
(Exh. A-3, budgetary basis),
June 30, 1998........ccccvvveviriereenne $ 515,230 $ 258,441
Reserved fund balance
(budgetary basis),
SAVINGS....eiiieiiieiie e 522,521 —
Repairs and renovation........... 174,190 —
Retirees' health premium......... 231,682 —
WOrK First......cooceeiieeniieiiees 19,541 —
NC Railroad acquisition........... 61,000 —
Disproportionate share............ 35,447 —
Clean Water Management
Trust Fund.........cocceeiennne. 47,398 —
DPI allocation..........c.coccvveenne. 55,028 —
Fund balance (budgetary basis)...... $ 1,662,037 $ 258,441
Entity Differences:
Primary government:
State Highway Fund.................. — 126,236
Highway Trust Fund.................. — 911,496
Other.....cooiiiieeee e 228,801 1,231,582
Component UNit........ccoeeeveeernnnes — (48,191)
Basis Differences:
Accrued revenues...........ccceeeveene 436,444 8,433
Accrued expenditures
Retiree tax judgements.............. (400,000) —
Other accrued expenditures...... (605,886) (14,877)
Other Adjustments:
Advances to component units
(net of budgetary reserves)..... 33,054 —
Notes receivable............cccceeveene 497 6,003
INVENtONes. .......covveerieiic e 48,997 5,388
Investments.........ccocceveviieecnnnns 43 —
Prepaid items — 62

Timing Differences:
Authorized carryforward of
appropriated funds................... 260,663 —
Fund balance (Exh. A-2, GAAP basis)
June 30, 1998........coeveriieins

$1,664,650 _ $2,484 573

C. Budgetary Reserves

The North Carolina General Assembly has established
several accounts in the Genera Fund as reserved fund
balances for budgetary purposes. Funds that are transferred

BUDGETARY ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING (continued)

to these accounts from the unreserved credit balance of the
General Fund can be used only for their intended purposes
and are not available for appropriation, except for the
Savings Reserve Account which is not legally restricted for a
specific future use.

Savings Reserve Account (G.S. 143-15.2 through 143-
15.3B). One-fourth of any unreserved credit balance
(budgetary basis) remaining in the General Fund at the end
of each fiscal year will be transferred to the Savings Reserve
account until the account contains funds equal to 5% of the
amount appropriated the preceding year for the General Fund
operating budget. On June 30, 1998, $21.6 million was
transferred into the Savings Reserve Account, bringing the
total reserve to the 5% cap of $522.5 million. Since this
account is not legally restricted for a specific future use, it is
reported as unreserved fund balance for GAAP purposes.

Retirees Health Premiums Reserve. This reserve
account was established to receive and temporarily retain
employer contributions for retirees health insurance
premiums made by all State agencies and universities and by
local governments that have employees who are members of
the State Health Plan. The June 30, 1998 balance was
$231.7 million, which differs from the reserve amount in
Note 15 due to the recognition of accrued revenues in the
GAAP basis statements.

Repairs and Renovations Reserve Account (G.S. 143-
15.2 through 143-15.3B). Thisreserve account provides for
aportion of the State's continuing capital needs. The reserve
balance is based on 3% of the estimated replacement value
of all State buildings supported from the General Fund. The
funds in this account shall be used only for the repair and
renovation of State facilities and related infrastructure that
are supported from the General Fund. For fiscal year 1997-
98, the General Assembly placed $145 million into this
reserve. The balance in the Repairs and Renovations
Reserve at June 30, 1998 was $174.2 million.

Clean Water Management Trust Fund (G.S. 143-15.2
through 143-15.3B). This reserve account provides for the
Clean Water Management Trust Fund to finance projects to
clean up or prevent surface water pollution as approved by
the Clean Water Management Commission. The amount
reserved in the General Fund each year is defined as 6.5% of
any unreserved credit balance remaining in the General Fund
at the end of the fiscal year, or $30.0 million dollars,
whichever is greater. For the 1997-98 fiscal year, $47.4
million was placed in this reserve.

North Carolina Railroad Acquisition Reserve (1997
General Assembly, Senate Bill 352, Section 32.30). For
fiscal year 1996-97, the Genera Assembly established the
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Railroad Reserve Account. In order to help promote trade,
industry, and transportation within the State of North
Carolina and to advance the economic interests of the State
and its citizens, the General Assembly found it advantageous
for the State to acquire the outstanding shares of the North
Carolina Railroad Company not held by the State. On April
1, 1998 the General Fund loaned the North Carolina
Railroad Company $61 million for the retirement of non-
State owned common stock shares of the Railroad. The $61
million will remain in reserve until the related debt is
satisfied. At June 30, 1998, the balance in the reserve was
$61 million.

Department of Public Instruction (DPI) Allocation
(Session Law 1998-23, Section 5). For the fiscal year 1997-
98, the Genera Assembly reserved $55 million of
unexpended General Fund appropriations to be used to fund
public school employee performance bonuses, longevity
payments, school bus purchases, and purchase of additional
school technology.

Disproportionate Share Reserve Account (1997
General Assembly, Senate Bill 352, Section 11).
Disproportionate share payments are Medicaid payments
made to hospitals which serve a disproportionate share of
indigent patients. This account was established to reserve
for future appropriation any excess collection of
disproportionate share revenues above those budgeted as
departmental receipts or non-tax revenues. There was $35.4
million in this reserve at June 30, 1998.

Work First (G.S. 143-15.3C). For the fiscal year 1997-
98, the General Assembly established the Work First
Reserve Fund. At the end of each fiscal year, the State
Controller shall reserve State funds in an amount equalling
one-fourth of any Work First Program funds from Genera
Fund appropriations remaining unexpended at the end of the
fiscal year, up to a maximum balance in the account of $50
million. The General Assembly may appropriate additional
funds into this reserve. The balance in this reserve at June
30, 1998 was $19.5 million.

The following schedule summarizes current year changes in the budgetary reserve accounts. Amounts are expressed in

thousands.
Increases (Decreases)
Transfers Appropriated Transfers to Transfers to
from Expenditure to General Fund Non-
Balance General Fund  General Fund Unreserved General Fund Balance
General Fund June 30, Unreserved Reserved Unbudgeted Fund Budgetary Unbudgeted June 30,
Reserved Fund Balance 1997 Fund Balance  Fund Balance Revenues Balance Funds Expenditures 1998
SAVINGS...coeeeeerereieee e $ 500,952 $ 21,569 $ — % — % — % — $ — $ 522,521
Retirees' health premium....... 190,640 — — 171,936 — — (130,894) 231,682
Repairs and renovations........ 221,274 145,000 — — (174,261) (17,823) — 174,190
NC Railroad acquisition......... 61,000 — — — — — — 61,000
Intangibles tax refunds........... 156,000 — — — — (156,000) — —
Clean water management...... 49,355 47,398 — — — (49,355) — 47,398
DPI allocation.............cccoeeunene — 55,028 — — — — — 55,028
Disproportionate share........... — — — 35,447 — — — 35,447
WOrK FirSt.....covveviriiiiienens — — 19,541 — — — — 19,541
Library grant..........cccooevevneene 284 — — — (284) — — —
Chemical alcohol testing........ 353 — — — — (353) — —
Total e $1,179,858 $ 268,995 $ 19,541  $ 207,383 $ (174,545) $ (223,531) $ (130,894) $ 1,146,807
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NOTE 3:

STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY

Retained Earnings/ Fund Balance Deficit

At June 30, 1998, the North Carolina Low Level
Radioactive Waste Management Authority (component unit
proprietary fund) had a $49.564 million retained earnings
deficit. The financia statements of the Authority have been
prepared following the accounting principles which apply to
developmental stage enterprises. The retained earnings
deficit reflects losses sustained in the developmental stage,
with recovery of these to occur from future operating
revenues. Funds to finance developmental stage costs of the
Authority have been advanced from the General Fund and
will be repaid in the future if the Authority becomes
operational.

At June 30, 1998, the following enterprise funds
reported retained earnings deficits:  Agricultural Farmers
Market, $3.20 million; Indian Cultural Tourist Center, $92
thousand; and Workers' Compensation, $3.024 million.

At June 30, 1998, the following internal service funds
reported retained earnings deficitss ~ Cherry Hospital
Auxiliary Services, $1.858 million, John Umstead Hospital
Auxiliary Services, $2.025 million and the Disability Income
Plan of N.C., $46.695 million.
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NOTE 4. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS

A. Deposits and Investments with State
Treasurer

Unless specifically exempt, every agency of the State
and certain component units are required by General Statute
147-77 to deposit moneys received with the State Treasurer
or with a depository ingtitution in the name of the State
Treasurer. Certain local governmental units that are not part
of the reporting entity are also allowed to deposit money
with the State Treasurer. Expenditures for the primary
government and certain component units are made by
warrants issued by the agencies and drawn on the State
Treasurer. The State Treasurer processes these warrants
each day when presented by the Federal Reserve Bank or the
local clearing banks. General Statute 147-69.1 authorizes
the State Treasurer to invest all deposits in obligations of or
fully guaranteed by the United States; obligations of certain
federal agencies; repurchase agreements; obligations of the
State of North Caroling; shares, deposits, savings certificates,
and certificates of deposit of specified institutions; prime
quality commercial paper; specified bills of exchange or time
drafts;, asset-backed securities; and corporate bonds and
notes with specified ratings.

General Statute 147-69.2 authorizes the State Treasurer
to invest the deposits of certain special funds, including the
pension trust funds, the State Hedth Plan, the Disability
Income Plan of N.C., the Escheats Fund, the Public School
Insurance Fund, the State Education Assistance Authority,
and trust funds of the University of North Carolina system, in
the investments authorized in Genera Statute 147-69.1;
general obligations of other states; general obligations of
North Carolina local governments; certain venture capital
limited partnerships; and the obligations or securities of the
North Carolina Enterprise Corporation. The deposits of the
pension trust funds may be invested in all of the above plus
certain insurance contracts; individual and group trusts;
certain real estate investment funds; and certain stocks and
mutual funds.

External I nvestment Pool

To ensure that these and other legal and regulatory
limitations are met, al cash deposited with the State
Treasurer, except for bond proceeds, are maintained in the
Investment Pool. This pool, a governmental external
investment pool, consists of the following individual
investment portfolios:

Short-term Investment — This portfolio may hold any of
the investments authorized by General Statute 147-69.1.

The Short-term Investment portfolio is the primary cash
management account for the State and is managed in
such a manner as to be readily convertible into cash.
The primary participants of this portfolio are the
General Fund and the Highway Funds. Other
participants include the remaining funds listed below
and various boards, commissions, community colleges,
and school administrative units that make voluntary
deposits with the State Treasurer.

Liquid Asset — This portfolio may hold the same
investments as the Short-term Investment portfolio and
is maintained for certain local governmental entities
legally authorized to deposit moneys with the State
Treasurer and certain deposits of the Employment
Security Commission. The local government entities
include public authorities, local governments, and ABC
Boards that make voluntary deposits with the State
Treasurer.

Long-term Investment — This portfolio may hold the
fixed-income investments authorized by Generd
Statutes 147-69.1 and 147-69.2. Since the deposits in
this fund are typicaly not needed for day-to-day
operations, the investment vehicles used generally have
a longer term and higher return than those held in the
Short-term  Investment  portfolio. The primary
participants of the portfolio are the Pension Trust Funds
and various specia trust funds.

Equity Investment — This portfolio holds equities and
equity-based mutual funds and trusts. The State's
pension trust funds are the sole participants in the
portfolio.

Real Estate Investment — This portfolio holds
investments in real estate-based trust funds and group
annuity contracts. The State's pension trust funds are the
sole participants in the portfolio.

Venture Capital Investment — This portfolio holds
investments in venture capital limited partnerships and
the obligations or securities of the North Carolina
Enterprise Corporation. The State's pension trust funds
are the sole participantsin the portfolio.

All of the above investment portfolios operate like
individual investment pools, except that an investment
portfolio may hold shares in other investment portfolios at
the discretion of the State Treasurer and subject to the legal
limitations discussed above. To this extent, the deposits are
commingled; and therefore, the State Treasurer considers all
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investment portfolios to be part of a single pool, the
Investment Pool. The Investment Pool contains deposits
from funds and component units of the reporting entity
(internal portion) as well as deposits from certain legally
separate organizations outside the reporting entity (external
portion). This pool is not registered with the SEC and is not
subject to any formal oversight other than that of the
legislative body.

At year end, the financial statements for the Investment
Pool maintained by the State Treasurer were as follows
(dollarsin thousands):

Statement of Net Assets
June 30, 1998

Assets:
Cashin banK.........coooveviiiiiiiiieee e $ 109,558
Accrued investment income 503,710
INVEStMENtS......ovveiviriiniiae 67,608,716
TOtAl @SSELS...ceiiueiieiiie ettt 68,221,984
Liabilities:
Undistributed iNCOME..........ccoiiiiiiiieiiie e 42,120
Obligations under securities lending............cccccoevveenen. 9,323,352
Total liabilities.........ccoieiiiiieiie e 9.365.472
Net Assets:
Internal:
Primary government..........cccoocveiieiiei e 56,794,258
Component units 1,755,644
External.........c.......... 306,610
Total NEt @SSELS.......vviiiiieiieieiiee e $ 58,856,512

Statement of Operations and Chanaes in Net Assets
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1998

Increase in net assets from operations:

Revenues:

INVESTMENT INCOME......coiiiiiiiieiiie e $ 9,101,619

Expenses:

Securities lending rebates and custodian fees.............. 424,476

Investment management 44,386
TOtal EXPENSES....civiiiiiiiiiiie ittt 468,862

Net increase in net assets resulting from operations..... 8,632,757

Distributions to participants:

Distributions paid and payable..............ccccoocviiiiiicninnne (8,632,757)

Share transactions:

Reinvestment of diStributions.............ccccocviviiiiiiiiinns 8,629,425

Net share purChases..........cccoceeiieeiiieeiie e 56,272

Total increase in Net aSSetS........cccovveereeeiieeiiee e 8,685,697

Net assets:

Beginning Of YEar........cccovviiiiiiiieiie e 50,170,815

ENd Of YEAI....ciiiiiiiic i $ 58,856,512

The external portion of the Investment Pool is
presented in the State’s financial statements as an investment
trust fund. Each fund and component unit's share of the
internal equity in the Investment Pool is reported in the
State’s financial statements as an asset of those funds or

DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (continued)

component units. Equity in the Short-term Investment
portfolio and the Liquid Asset portfolio is reported as cash
and cash equivalents while equity in the Long-term
Investment, Equity Investment, Real Estate Investment, and
Venture Capital Investment portfolios is reported as
investments. The internal equity of the investment pool
differs from the amount of assets reported by the funds and
component units due to the typica banker/customer
outstanding and in-transit items. Additionally, each fund or
component unit’s share of the assets and liabilities arising
from securities lending transactions are reported in the funds
and component units.

Investments in nonparticipating contracts, such as
nonnegotiable certificates of deposit, are reported at cost.
Other investments held in the Short-term Investment and
Liquid Asset portfolios are reported at amortized cost, which
approximates fair value. All other investments are reported
at fair value. Fair values are determined monthly for the
Long-term Investment and Equity Investment portfolios and
quarterly for the Real Estate Investment and Venture Capital
portfolios. The fair value of fixed income securities is based
on future principal and interest payments discounted using
current yields for similar instruments. Investments in real
estate funds, venture capital limited partnerships, and equity
investment funds are valued using market prices provided by
the investment managers. Participants shares sold and
redeemed are determined in the same manner as is used to
report investments, and the State Treasurer does not provide
or obtain legally binding guarantees to support share values.

Net investment income earned by the Investment Pool
is generally distributed on a pro rata basis. However, in
accordance with lega requirements, the general fund
receives al investment income earned by funds created for
purposes of meeting appropriations. For the fiscal year
ended June 30, 1998, $86,185,022 of investment income
associated with other funds was distributed to the genera
fund.

Bond Proceeds | nvestment Accounts

The State Treasurer has established separate
investment accounts for each State bond issue to comply
with IRS regulations on bond arbitrage. A private
investment company under contract with the State Treasurer
manages these separate accounts. The investments are
valued at amortized cost, which approximates fair value. In
the financial statements, each fund’s equity in these accounts
is reported as cash and cash equivalents.

Demand and Time Deposits
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Agency deposits to the investment pool may be madein
any bank, savings and loan association or trust company in
the State approved by the State Treasurer. Depositories are
required, in accordance with the rules in the North Carolina
Administrative Code (Chapter 20 NCAC 7), to collateralize
all balances of the State Treasurer which are not insured.
Basicaly, these rules require that the bank maintain, as
collateral in an escrow account established by the State
Treasurer with a third-party bank, securities of a type
enumerated in the rules, in an amount whose market value is
not less than the amount of the time deposits and the average
balance of demand deposits for the preceding quarter less the
allowable deposit insurance on the deposits. Generally, rules
require the securities to be governmental in origin (e.g., U.S.
Treasury and U.S. agency obligations, or state and local
government obligations) or the highest grade commercial
paper and bankers acceptances. Financia institutions
generally may elect to collateralize deposits separately
(dedicated method) or to include the deposits of North
Carolina local government units in the same collateral pool
with the State and certain component units (pooling method).
Financial institutions report quarterly on bank balances and
amounts deposited in escrow as collateralization of deposits.
The State Treasurer maintains no records of financid
institution balances of local governments collateralized in the
pool with State Treasurer deposits. Since the amounts of
local government deposits in the pooling method banks are
not known, the risk of being under-collateralized at any
given timeisincreased. Therefore, the ingtitution's financial
condition may cause the State Treasurer to require a
particular institution to utilize the dedicated method
exclusively for the protection of each public depositor.

At June 30, 1998, the deposits maintained by the State
Treasurer consisted of (dollars in thousands):

Carrying Value _Bank Balance

Demand..........cccocvveeeeiiiiiiieeeeeee, $ 109558 & 106.098
TIME i 379,396 379,396
0] 7= $ 4339054 $ 485404

At year end, 94.5 percent of the balances in financia ingtitu-
tions were deposited under the pooling method. Because the
financial institutions complied with the collateralization
policies and procedures by utilizing either the dedicated
method or the pooling method described above, the State
Treasurer considers al of its deposits to be either insured or
covered by collateral held by the escrow agent.

I nvestments

Investments held by the investment pool and the bond
proceeds investment accounts are categorized into three
categories of credit risk to give an indication of the level of
credit risk assumed by the entity at year-end. Category 1
includes investments that are insured or registered or for
which the securities are held by the owner or its agent in the
owner's name. Category 2 includes uninsured and unregis-
tered investments for which the securities are held by the
financial institution's trust department or agent in the owner's
name. Category 3 includes uninsured and unregistered
investments for which the securities are held by the broker or
dealer, or by a financia institution's trust department or
agent, but not in the owner's name. At year end, the balances
of the Investment Pool maintained by the State Treasurer
were as follows (dollars in thousands):




66 State of North Carolina

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 4.

DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (continued)
Category Carrying
Investment Pool 1 3 Amount
Investments Categorized:
U.S. government and agency securities:
NOt ON 108N.....cccviiiiiiieeec e $ 12,928,294 $ 46,844 $ 12,975,138
On loan for securities collateral.................. 520,172 — 520,172
Corporate bonds and notes:
NOt ON 10@N.....ccviiiiiiiciieeece e 9,471,470 4,629,272 14,100,742
On loan for securities collateral.................. 19,579 — 19,579
Repurchase agreements 70,000 4,512,070 4,582,070
Commercial PAPEr........c.ccovvveeriiiiiieeeiieeeae — 135,167 135,167
International bonds............occoiiiiiiiiiienins 514,478 — 514,478
Domestic equities 1,182 — 1,182
Total Investments Categorized............... $ 23525175 $ 09323353 32.848.528
Investments Not Categorized: Certificates of deposit...........ccccociiiiieennnen. 379,396
Equity-based common trusts............cccceeenee. 24,675,075
Venture capital investments...............ccceeeeen. 36,452
Real estate trust funds............cccoeeiniinnnne 528,829
Investments held by broker/dealers under
securities loans with cash collateral:
U.S. government and agency securities.. 8,906,240
Corporate bonds and notes..................... 234,196
Total Investment POOl.........cccccoeviiinnnnn $ 67,608,716

The above certificates of deposit are a component of the deposit totals reported in the State Treasurer's demand and time
deposit section of thisnote. At year end, the major investment classifications of the Investment Pool had the following attributes

(dollarsin thousands):

ificati

U.S. government and agency securities:

U.S. Treasury notes and bonds
GNMA securities.........cccocvvrennnen.
FNMA and FHLMC securities
Corporate bonds and notes............
Repurchase agreements................
Equity-based common trusts..........

Carrying Principal Range of Range of
Amount Amount Interest Rates Maturities
.......... $16,517,355 $15,163,586 5.0t0 9.125% 1 day to 29 years
......... 4,432,460 4,326,337 6.5 t0 9.0% 19 years to 30 years
1,451,735 1,454,000 zero to 8.37% 1 day to 26 years
14,354,517 13,844,241 5.625% to 14.5% 15 days to 37 years
......... 4,582,070 4,582,070 5.56% to 6.58% 1to 6 days
........ 24,675,075 Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable

The equity-based common trusts are investments in trust funds managed by third party money managers. The trust funds
invest in common stocks and other equity-type securities. For these investments, the State Treasurer does not own individual
securities but rather has a percentage ownership in the trust.

The U.S. government and agency securities include mortgage-backed securities issued by an agency of the United States
government, the Government National Mortgage Association (GNMA) and government sponsored enterprises such as Federal
Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (FHLMC) and the Federal National Mortgage Association (FNMA). The State Treasurer
invests in these securities to maximize yield while maintaining a high degree of safety. The securities are based on cash flows
from payments on underlying mortgages. Therefore, the investment values are sensitive to mortgage prepayments that tend to
occur during periods of declining interest rates. In addition, certain portfolios within the Investment Pool utilize third party
professional managers that have the authority to invest in collateralized mortgage obligations, financial futures, forwards, option

swings, and other derivative instruments.

At year end, the balances of the bond proceeds investments were as follows (dollars in thousands):
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Bond Proceeds
Investments Categorized:
U.S. government and agency securities

Repurchase agreements..........c.cccocveeeenneens
Commercial PAPET.......c.ccoviveeriiiiiiee e
Total Investments..........ccccveeeiniiiiienennne

Securities L ending

Based on the authority provided in G.S. 147-69.3(e),
the State Treasurer lends securities from its investment pool
to broker-dealers and other entities (borrowers) for collateral
that will be returned for the same securities in the future.
The Treasurer’s securities custodian manages the securities
lending program. During the year the custodian lent U.S.
government securities, corporate bonds and notes for
collateral. The custodian is permitted to receive cash, U.S.
government securities, or irrevocable letters of credit as
collateral for the securities lent. The collatera is initialy
pledged at 102 percent of the market value of the securities
lent, and additional collateral is required if its value fals to
less than 100 percent of the market value of the securities
lent. There are no restrictions on the amount of loans that
can be made. Substantially all security loans can be
terminated on demand by either the State Treasurer or the
borrower. Securities lent at year-end for cash collateral are
presented as unclassified in the preceding schedule of
custodial credit risk; securities lent for securities collateral
are classified according to the category for the collateral.
The State Treasurer cannot pledge or sell the collateral
securities received unless the borrower defaults.

The cash collateral received is invested by the
custodian agent and held in a separate account in the name of
the State Treasurer. The average maturities of the cash
collateral investments do not differ materialy from the
average maturities of the securities lent. While cash can be
invested in securities ranging from overnight to two years,
the custodian agent is not permitted to make investments
where the weighted average maturity of al investments
exceeds 90 days. At June 30, 1998, the weighted average
maturity of unmatched investments was approximately two
weeks.

At year-end, the State Treasurer has no credit risk
exposure to borrowers because the amounts the Treasurer
owes the borrowers exceed the amounts the borrowers owe
the State. The securities custodian is contractually obligated
to indemnify the Treasurer for certain conditions, the two
most important are default on the part of the borrowers and
failure to maintain the daily mark-to-market on the loans.

Category Carrying

1 Amount
$ 1,900 $ 1,900
685,916 685,916
179,608 179,608

£___B867424 3 867424

B. Deposits Outside the State Treasurer

In addition to the pooled deposits maintained by the
State Treasurer, other deposits are maintained outside the
State Treasurer by the primary government and by certain
component units. As a genera rule, these deposits are not
covered by the rules in Chapter 20 NCAC 7 requiring
collateralization of uninsured deposits.

At June 30, 1998, the deposits maintained outside the
State Treasurer by the primary government consisted of
(dollars in thousands):

Carrying Value _Bank Balance

Demand.......ccccocieviiniienicieee $ 13,328 $ 17,268
TIME. . 698,867 712,375
Total DeROSItS.....ccccceevcivieieeeeeenns $ 712195 & 729 643

Of these bank balances, $313.306 million was covered
by federa depository insurance, $375.566 million by
collateral held by the escrow agent in the depositor's name,
and $40.771 million was uninsured and uncollateralized. In
addition, the North Carolina Employment Security
Commission had $1.286 billion on deposit with the U.S.
Treasurer at June 30, 1998.
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At June 30, 1998, the deposits maintained by the
component units consisted of (dollarsin thousands):

Carrying Value Bank Balance

Demand.........ccoocveeeiiiiiiiiiieee e, $ 14,600 $ 19,634
TIME.eeiieecee et 82,900 93,894
Total DeDOoSItS.......cceeeeevivieeeeirenne $ 97500 & 113 528

Of these bank balances, $15.443 million was covered
by federa depository insurance, $25.656 million by
collateral held by the escrow agent in the depositor's name,
$27.647 million was covered under the State Treasurer's
collateral pool, $3.606 million was covered by collateral
held in the pledging bank's trust department in the depositor's
name and $41.176 million was uninsured and
uncollateralized.

C. Investments Outside the State Treasur er

Investments in participating investment contracts,
external investment pools, open-end mutua funds, debt
securities, equity securities, and all investments of the
Deferred Compensation Plan are reported at fair value.
Investments in certificates of deposit, investment
agreements, bank investment contracts, real estate, real estate
investment trusts, and limited partnerships are reported at
cost. Detailed disclosures about investments held outside the
State Treasurer are presented below.

Primary Gover nment

All organizations within the primary government are
required to follow certain investment guidelines as outlined
by the General Statutes. Of these organizations, the various
clerks of superior court, the N.C. Deferred Compensation
Plan (457), and the 401(k) Supplemental Retirement Income
Plan comprise 98% of the total investments maintained by
primary government at June 30, 1998. The investments by

DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (continued)

these funds adhere to the following General Statutes
guidelines.

General Statute 7A-112(a) authorizes the Clerk of the
Superior Court to invest in the following: (a) Obligations of
or fully guaranteed by the United States as to both principal
and interest; (b) Obligations of the State of North Caroling;
(c) General obligations of cities, counties, and special
districts in North Caroling; (d) Shares of or deposits in
specified savings and loan associations;, (€) Savings
certificates issued by specified savings and |oan associations;
() Certificates of deposit issued by specified banks.

General Statute 143B-426.25(j) allows the Deferred
Compensation Plan Board to acquire investment vehicles
from any company authorized to conduct such business in
this State or may establish, alter, amend and modify, to the
extent it deems necessary or desirable, atrust for the purpose
of facilitating the administration, investment and
maintenance of assets acquired by the investment of deferred
funds. Any assets of such investment vehicles or trusts shall
remain solely the property and rights of the State subject
only to the claims of the State’ s general creditors.

General Statute 135-90 places no specific investment
restrictions on the 401(k) Supplemental Retirement Income
Plan. However, in the absence of specific legidation, the
form of governance over the investments would be the
prudent-person or prudent-expert rule. These rules are broad
statements of intent, generally requiring investment selection
and management to be made with prudent, discreet, and
intelligent judgment and care.

At year end the investment balances maintained outside
the State Treasurer for the primary government were as
follows (dollars in thousands):

Category Carrying
1 2 3 Amount
Investments Categorized:

U.S. Government SECUNtIeS........cccvvvvrveeerens $ 6,458 $ 556 $ 441 $ 7,455
State and municipal securities...................... 646 — — 646
Corporate bonds..........ccccoviieniiiiiiiicnieee — — 20 20
Corporate common StocK...........ccevcvveeeeene 43 — 622 665
Repurchase agreements...........c.ccocvvevieenne — — 2,100 2,100
Total Investments Cateqgorized............ $ 7147 03 556 3 3.183 10,886
Investments Not Categorized: Certificates of depoSItS..........ccovvviiiiiiiiiiieee e 77,519
Bank investment contracts 301,182
Money market funds...........ccoovviiiieeiiieee e 4,660
MUtUAl FUNAS.....coiiiiieicceec e 1,196,267
ANNUILY CONTACTS......uviiiiiiiiiiiii e 231,241

Total Investments

1,821,755

............................................................ 3$ .
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The above certificates of deposit and bank investment
contracts are a component of the deposit totals reported in
the Deposits Outside the State Treasurer section of this note.

Component Units

The component units of the State (except for the North
Carolina Railroad) are required to follow certain investment
guidelines as outlined by the Genera Statutes. The
component units include the University of North Carolina
system, the community colleges and proprietary component
units, such as the North Carolina Biotechnology Center, the
North Carolina State Ports Authority, the Rural Economic
Development Center, the Centennial Authority, and the
North Carolina Housing Finance Agency. The investments
by these units comprise 98% of the total investments
maintained by the component units at June 30, 1998. The
investments by the component units adhere to the following
General Statutes guidelines.

General Statute 115D-58.6 authorizes the community
colleges to invest in the following: (a) Obligations of or
fully guaranteed by the United States; (b) Obligations of the
State of North Caroling; (¢) Bonds and notes of any North
Carolina local government or public authority; (d)
Obligations of certain non-guaranteed federal agencies; (€)
Prime quality commercial paper bearing specified ratings
and bankers acceptances; (f) The North Carolina Cash
Management Trust, an SEC registered mutual fund; (g)
Commingled investment pool established and administered
by the State Treasurer; (h) Repurchase agreements; (i)
Evidences of ownership of, or fractional undivided interests
in, future interest and principal payments on either direct
obligations of or fully guaranteed by the United States
government, which are held by a specified bank or trust
company or any state in the capacity. Genera Statute 159-
30 authorizes the Centennial Authority to invest in these
same types of investments.

Genera Statute 122A-11 authorizes the North Carolina
Housing Finance Agency to invest in the following: (@)
Shares of or deposits in banks or trust companies outside as
well as in this State, provided any such moneys on deposit
outside this State are collateralized to the same extent and

manner as if deposited in this State; (b) Evidences of
ownership of, or fractional undivided interests in, future
interest and principal payments on either direct obligations
of or fully guaranteed by the United States government,
which are held by a specified bank or trust company or any
state in the capacity of custodian; (c) Obligations which are
collateralized by mortgage pass-through  securities
guaranteed by the Government Nationa Mortgage
Association, the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation,
or the Federal National Mortgage Association; (d) Trust
certificate or similar instrument evidencing an equity
investment in a trust or similar arrangement, which is formed
for the purpose of issuing obligations which are
collateralized by mortgage pass-through or participation
certificates guaranteed by the Government National
Mortgage Association, the Federal Home Loan Mortgage
Corporation, or the Federal National Mortgage Association;
(e) Repurchase agreements.

The General Statutes place no specific investment
restrictions on the University of North Carolina system, the
Rural Economic Development Center, the North Carolina
Biotechnology Center, or the North Carolina State Ports
Authority. However, in the absence of specific legidation,
the form of governance over these investments would be the
prudent-person or prudent-expert rule. These rules are broad
statements of intent, generally requiring investment selection
and management to be made with prudent, discreet, and
intelligent judgment and care. The University of North
Carolina at Chapel Hill operates an Investment Fund, which
is a governmental external investment pool. The University
operates the Investment Fund for charitable, nonprofit
foundations, associations, trusts, endowments and funds that
are organized and operated primarily to support the
University. Separate financia statements for the Investment
Fund may be obtained from the University.

At year end, investment balances maintained outside the
State Treasurer for the component units were as follows
(dollarsin thousands):
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Investments Categorized:

U.S. Government securities..........
Collateralized mortgage obligations
State and municipal securities......
Corporate bonds..........ccccevveernne
Corporate common stock.............

Repurchase agreements.........
Commercial paper..........cccoeeeveeen.

International corporate bonds.......
International government bonds...
International equity securities.......

Total Investments Categorized............ $

Investments Not Categorized:

DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (continued)

investment

Category Carrying
1 2 3 Amount

................ $ 122,591 $ 69,895 $ 15,379 $ 207,865
42,253 3,073 — 45,326
...... 7,040 1,386 — 8,426
................ 37,303 18,283 1,620 57,206
................ 243,783 152,980 4,400 401,163
...... 165,596 — 7,364 172,960
...... 21,961 — — 21,961
............ — 70 — 70
............ — 310 — 310
................ 101,337 4,546 — 105,883
741.864 $ 250,543 $ 28.763 1,021,170
Certificates of depOSItS........cooviiiieriiiiieee e 26,055
Investment agreements......... 23,722
Bank investment contracts.... 3
Money market funds...........ccccceevvieenns 126,879
Mutual funds........cooeeeeeiiiieiiiieesiees 278,662
Real estate.........ccccevveeeiveeennnenn. 39,765
Real estate investment trust..... 15,993
Limited partnerships.........cccceeveeeeneeenie e 76,094

Investments held by broker-dealers under

reverse repurchase agreements:

U.S. Government SECUNLIES.........ccccveevivieeiiiieeeciiee s 170,318
N.C. Cash Management Trust 675
Other investments............ccceeveeee. 83,633
Total INVESTMENTS....ccciiieeiie e $ 1.862.969

The above certificates of deposit,
agreements and bank investment contracts are a component
of the deposit totals reported in the Deposits Outside the
State Treasurer (component units) section of this note.

Derivatives are not widely used by the various
component units investing outside the State Treasurer. Of
the above balances, only the Collateralized Mortgage
Obligations (CMOs) and the limited partnership investments
were considered material derivative positions during the
year.

Collateralized Mortgage Obligations - The University
of North Carolina at Chapel Hill and UNC Hospitals invest
in collateralized mortgage obligations (CMOs) issued by
FNMA, FHLMC and by certain trusts and private
corporations. The CMOs represent a trust formed from a
pool of mortgage loans issued by GNMA, FNMA, FHLMC,
and the Mississippi Home Corporation. In a CMO, cash
flows from principal and interest payments from one or more
mortgage pass-through securities or a pool of mortgages may
be redlocated to multiple classes with different priority
clams and payment streams (commonly referred to as
tranches.) A holder of the security thus chooses the class of
security that best meets risk and return objectives. CMOs
are subject to significant market risk due to fluctuations in
interest rates, prepayment rates, and various liquidity factors

related to their specific markets. The University and UNC
Hospitals invest in these securities to increase the yield and
return on their investment portfolios given the available
aternative investment opportunities. At year-end, these
CMOs had AAA ratings by Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s
Investors Service.

Limited Partnerships - The limited partnership
positions are held by the University system (University).
The University uses various external money managers to
identify specific investment funds and limited partnerships
that meet asset alocation and investment management
objectives. The University invests in these funds and
partnerships to increase the yield and return on its investment
portfolio given the available aternative investment
opportunities and to diversify its asset holdings. These
investments generally include equity and bond funds.
Certain of these investments expose the University to
significant amounts of market risk by trading or holding
derivative securities and by leveraging the securities in the
fund. The book value of these investments reflects their
cost. The University limits the amount of funds managed by
any single asset manager and also limits the amount of funds
to beinvested in particular security classes.

Reverse Repurchase Agreements - The University of
North Carolina at Chapel Hill enters into fixed coupon
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reverse repurchase agreements, that is, the sale of securities
with a simultaneous agreement to repurchase them in the
future at the same price plus a contract rate of interest. The
market value of the securities underlying reverse repurchase
agreements normally exceeds the cash received, providing
dealers a margin against a decline in market value of the
securities. If the dealers default on their obligations to resell
these securities to the university or provide securities or cash
of equal value, the university would suffer an economic loss
equal to the difference between the market value plus
accrued interest of the underlying securities and the
agreement obligation, including accrued interest. This credit
exposure at year-end was $9.7 million. All saes under
reverse repurchase agreements are for fixed terms. The
university’s policy for investing the proceeds of reverse
repurchase agreements is that the term to maturity of the
investment be the same as the term of the reverse repurchase
agreement. Such matching existed at year-end.
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NOTE 5: FIXED ASSETS

Primary Government:
A summary of changesin general fixed assets for the year ended June 30, 1998 is presented below (dollars in thousands).

Balance Prior Transfers Balance
July 1, Year Between Between June 30,
1997 Adjustments Assets Funds Additions Deletions 1998
Land....ccooceeeeiiiieee e, $ 236,761 $ 430 $ (70) $ — $ 24895 $ 3597 $ 258,419
Buildings......ccooveeeiiiiiieee s 1,354,835 (683) 22,305 93 10,269 317 1,386,502
Other structures and
improvements.........cccceeeveeen. 138,240 (1,293) 2,526 — 1,990 421 141,042
Machinery and equipment 877,553 1,128 24 53 132,951 43,664 968,045
Art, literature and artifacts........ 38,679 219 7 — 834 831 38,908
Construction in progress........... 283,529 (878) (24,792) — 127,774 — 385,633
Total — General Fixed Assets... $2,929,597 $ (1,077) $ —  $ 146 $ 298,713 $ 48,830 $ 3,178,549

A summary of proprietary funds fixed assets by classification for the primary government, at June 30, 1998, is presented below
(dollars in thousands).

Internal

Enterprise Service
Land......ccooveiiiiie e $ 2855 $ 3,536
Buildings 25,569 36,446
Other structures and improvements... 7,068 12,223
Machinery and equipment.................. 2,452 245,341
Construction in progress............c.ee..... 774 5,038
38,718 302,584
Less: Accumulated depreciation...... (15,493) (136,906)
Total Fixed ASSEtS........ccevververiennnnnn $ 23225 $ 165,678

Component Units:
A summary of fixed assets by classification for the component units, at June 30, 1998, is presented below (dollars in thousands).

Proprietary Funds

N.C. N.C. Other
State Ports Biotechnology = Component
Authority MCNC Center Units Total
Land......oooiieiiiiieee e $ 12561 $ — 3 —  $ 3220 $ 15781
BUIldiNGS......oveveiiiieiee 103,129 47,272 7,271 2,012 159,684
Other structures and improvements... 28,394 16,912 — 8,129 53,435
Machinery and equipment.................. 47,354 — 1,591 5,287 54,232
Construction in progress.........cccceeeenee 13,395 — — 40,412 53,807
204,833 64,184 8,862 59,060 336,939
Less:
Accumulated depreciation.............. (87,858) (54,250) (2,894) (3,563) (148,565)
Total Fixed ASSetS........cccccvverienernnnn $ 116975 $ 9,934 % 5968 $ 55497 $ 188,374

College and University Funds

Community
University Colleges Total
Land.......... $ 64766 $ 51889 $ 116,655
Buildings 2,611,605 699,403 3,311,008
Other structures and improvements... 203,484 33,136 236,620
Machinery and equipment.................. 645,837 115,372 761,209
Art, literature and artifacts.................. 609,002 65,575 674,577
Construction in progress............ceee..... 502,563 170,158 672,721

Total Fixed AsSets............cceeeeveicnnnnns

$ 4,637,257

$1135533 $ 5772790
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NOTE 6:

LEASE OBLIGATIONS—OPERATING AND CAPITAL

The State and its component units have entered into
various operating and capital leases for office space and for
office, communications, computer and other equipment. Any
operating leases with scheduled rent increases are considered
immaterial to the future minimum lease payments and current
rental expenditures. Operating lease payments are recorded as
expenditures or expenses of the related funds when paid or
incurred. For the year ended June 30, 1998, total operating

Operating | eases

lease expenditures were $30,782,498 for Primary Government,
$14,505,472 for Universities, $2,338,994 for Community
Colleges, and $566,727 for other component units. Future
minimum lease commitments for noncancelable operating
leases and capital leases as of June 30, 1998 are (dollars in
thousands):

Capital | eases

Primary
_Government Component Units
Total
General Community  Colleges and
Primary Component Long-Term  University  Colleges University
Eiscal Year i _Obligations ___Funds Eunds Eunds MCNC
1999.....cccveenen $ 26,983 $ 12,600 $ 204 % 36 % 188 $ 224 % 4,063
2000..........c..... 20,199 8,781 — 26 182 208 —
2001................ 14,587 6,113 — 18 109 127 —
2002......cccueenee 9,887 3,058 — — 8 8 —
2003......cccueenee 5,426 1,910 — — — — —
Thereafter........cccoevieens 12.188 3.414 — — — — —
Total Future Minimum
Lease Payments......... $ 89270 $ 35876 204 80 487 567 4,063
Less Amounts Representing Interest 14 16 55 71 786
Present Value of Future Minimum Lease Payments 3 190 3 64 $ 432 3 496 $ 3.277

Falls Lake Operating Lease. The State has leased from the federal government approximately 40,000 acres of land and water
areas at Falls Lake, located in Wake and Durham counties. The agreement allows the State to operate the areas for recreational
purposes, and in return the State agreed to pay for one half of the development costs. Payments, which have not yet begun, are to
take place over 50 years with an option to prepay. Current cost estimates indicate that the State has a total obligation of $57.8
million, including $31.4 million in interest and $26.4 million in principal. Annua payments are estimated to be $1.156 million
beginning in fiscal 1998-99. Since the costs and payment period are yet to be finalized, this commitment has not been included in

the above table.
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NOTE 7: LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS

A. Changesin Long-Term Liabilities

During the year ended June 30, 1998, the following changes occurred in liabilities reported in the general long-term obliga
tions account group (dollars in thousands):

Balance Balance
June 30, June 30,
Rates 1997 Accretion __Increases Decreases 1998

General Obligation Bonds :
Public School Facility, Series C, 6-1-76..........ccccevvverververnnns 4.0-60 $ 4,000 $ — $ — $ 2,000 $ 2,000
Clean Water, Series C, 6-1-76........cccoeereerieenienieeiee e 4.0-6.0 2,000 — — 1,000 1,000
Public Improvement, 11-1-78........cccocieieriiieiienee e 4.8-5.0 3,000 — — 3,000 —
Public Improvement, 1979, 11-1-79......ccccecvviriineneeienieeen 5.5-7.5 10,000 — — 5,000 5,000
Capital Improvement, Series 1989, 5-1-89.........ccccccvveruveenns 6.5-6.9 15,207 1,052 — 1,910 14,349
Capital Improvement, Series A, 3-1-91.......cccccceeviirieineennnne 5.75-6.0 41,400 — — 8,300 33,100
Capital Improvement, Series 1991, 10-1-91.........cccceeveernenne 5.3-5.6 31,100 — — 6,200 24,900
Prison and Youth Services Facilities, Series A, 3-1-92.......... 5.9-6.2 41,900 — — 6,700 35,200
Prison and Youth Services Facilities, Series B, 10-1-93.. 2.5-45 78,700 — — 2,200 76,500
Public Improvement Refunding, Series 1993, 10-1-93..........  2.4-5.5 58,060 — — 18,475 39,585
Clean Water Refunding, Series 1993, 10-1-93..........cccceevnes 3.0-5.0 14,860 — — 4,235 10,625
Prison & Youth Services Facilities Refunding,

Series C, 10-15-93... ..ottt 4.2-4.8 65,250 — — 565 64,685
Capital Improvement Bonds, Series 1994A, 2-1-94............... 4.6-4.75 379,000 — — 7,000 372,000
Clean Water, Series 1994A, 10-1-94.........cccoceninvivenenieennens 5.7-5.8 38,000 — — 2,000 36,000
Clean Water, Series 1994B, 11-1-94........cccccceviieneenineeneennns 4.7-5.0 12,000 — — 4,000 8,000
Clean Water, Series 1995A, 6-1-95.........ccccovviriieneeriieniennnns 5.0-5.25 60,000 — — 3,000 57,000
Clean Water, Series 1995B, 7/1/95..........cccccenineeieninieniens 4.25-4.3 15,000 — — 5,000 10,000
Capital Improvement Bonds, Series 1997, 1-1-97................ 4.8-5.1 195,000 — — 3,000 192,000
Public School Building, Series 1997A, 3-1-97..... . 5.1-5.2 450,000 — — 8,000 442,000
Public School Building, Series 1998A, 4-1-98. .. 4.75-5.0 — — 450,000 — 450,000
Highway, Series 1997A, 11-1-97................. . 4550 — — 250,000 — 250,000
Total Bonds Payable............cccooiiiiiiiiiiiciieiee e 1514477 1.052 700.000 91.585 2123944
Other Long-Term Obligations :

Retiree tax judgements payable..........cccccccevvirevieeiiieennnnen. — — 399,000 — 399,000
Intangibles tax judgements payable.............cccceivriiiiiiininnns — — 333,000 — 333,000
Claims Payable.........ccoveiiieiie e 20 — — 20 —
NOtES PAYADIE.......oeiiiiieieeeee e 5.7 6,083 — — 1,917 4,166
Deferred death benefit payable.............. 100 — — — 100
Obligations for workers compensation.............cccocueeieeieeennen. 6,423 — 1,152 274 7,301
Capital leases payable.........ccccvviiiiii i 318 — — 128 190
Accrued vacation 1@ave............coceeeeieiiieiiie e 165,820 — 29,355 3,783 191,392
Total General Long-Term Obligations...........cccccevevvverieenieennns $ 1693241 $ 1052 $1.462507 $ 97,707 $ 3.059.093

B. Retiree and Intangibles Tax Judgements Payable

The North Carolina Supreme Court ruled in favor of the State retirees in the Bailey case on Friday, May 8, 1998. On June 9,
1998 representatives of the State and the various retirees involved in the Bailey and Patton (federal retirees) cases announced a
settlement in the amount of $799 million. Of this amount, a $400 million expenditure and liability is reflected in the General Fund
for refunds to be paid in fiscal year 1998-99, and a liability of $399 million is reflected in the General Long-term Obligations
Account Group for refunds to be paid during fiscal year 1999-2000.

The North Carolina Supreme Court ruled in favor of the taxpayers in the Smith and Patton cases on December 4, 1998. A
timetable for payment has not been established. The total estimated liability of $333 million is reported in the General Long-term
Obligations Account Group.
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C. Bonds and Notes Payable

Bonds and notes payable at June 30, 1998 are (dollars in
thousands):

Interest Final
Rates Maturity Total
Primary Government:
General lona-term obligations:
Bonds pavable....... 24-75 6/1/17 $2,123,944
General long-term obligations:
Notes pavable........ 5.7 7117/99 4,166
Enterprise Funds
Notes pavable........ Variable 12/31/01 130
Component Units:
University Funds:
Bonds pavable..... 2.88 - 9.05 2/14/29 838,993
Other Component Units:
Housing Finance:
Bonds pavable... 3.7-8.25 1/1/30 957,696
Other:
Bonds pavable... 3.5-6.35 71127 370,940
College and University Funds:
Notes pavable...... 0.00-7.4 5/1/22 43,520
Other Component Units:
Notes pavable...... 1.0-8.88 4/20/08 92,022

The full faith, credit, and taxing power of the State has been
pledged only for the payment of the principa of and the
interest on the genera obligation serial bonds and capital
appreciation bonds. Other long-term debts of the State and its
component units are payable solely from certain resources of
the funds to which they relate.

D. Bonds Authorized but Unissued

In November 1996, the voters of North Carolina
approved bonds in the amount of $1.8 billion for school
construction and $950 million for highway construction. On
November 1, 1997, $250 million of Highway Bonds, Series
1997A, with a settlement date of May 1, 2013, were sold. On
April 1, 1998, $450 million of Public School Building Bonds,
Series 1998A, with a settlement date of April 1, 2016, were
sold. The amount of authorized but unissued bonds was $1.6
billion as of June 30, 1998.

The limitations on the increase of State debt are contained
in the State Constitution, Article 5, Section 3. This section
restricts the General Assembly from contracting debts secured
by a pledge of the faith and credit of the State, unless approved
by amgjority of the qualified voters of the State except for:

1. Tofund or refund avalid existing debt;

2. To supply an unforeseen deficiency in the revenue;

3. To borrow in anticipation of the collection of taxes due
and payable within the current fiscal year to an amount not
exceeding 50 percent of such taxes;

4. To suppressriotsor insurrections, or to repel invasions,

5. To meet emergencies immediately threatening the public
health or safety, as conclusively determined in writing by
the Governor;

6. For any other lawful purposes, to the extent of two-thirds
of the amount by which the State's outstanding
indebtedness shall have been reduced during the next
preceding biennium.

E. Capital Appreciation Bonds

General Obligation Bonds

Capital Improvement Bonds, Series 1989, 5-1-89, 5-24-89,
include capital appreciation bonds recorded in the amount of
$14.349 million, which represents the accreted vaue of these
bonds. The accumulated accretion for the capital appreciation
bondsis $9.93 million since May 24, 1989.

University Bonds

The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Series
1997 Utility System and the Series 1991 U. S. Environmental
Protection Agency Project bond issues include capital
appreciation bonds with an ultimate maturity value of
$84,135,000 and $25,275,000, respectively. These bonds are
recorded in the amounts of $31,486,000 and $7,133,000,
respectively, which is the accreted value at the year ended June
30, 1998. These bonds mature in the years from 2010 to 2021.

F. Demand Bonds

University Revenue Bonds

Parking System, Series 1997C

On June 19, 1997, the University of North Carolina at
Chapel Hill issued variable rate demand bonds in the amount
of $10,750,000 that have a final maturity date of May 15,
2027. The bonds are subject to mandatory sinking fund
redemption that begins on May 15, 2000. The proceeds of this
issuance are to be used for the construction of the Health
Affairs parking deck adjacent to UNC Hospitals on the campus
of the University. The bonds are subject to purchase on
demand with seven days notice and delivery to the University’s
paying agent, The Bank of New York. Smith Barney, Inc. is
the remarketing agent.

The University has arranged for a standby bond purchase
agreement with NationsBank, N. A., whereby the bank agrees
to purchase 1997C bonds when remarketing proceeds are not
available. This liquidity facility provides moneys only with
respect to the purchase price of the bonds and does not
otherwise secure payment of the bonds. The University is
required to pay an annual commitment fee for the liquidity
facility of .10% of the stated amount of the bonds then
currently outstanding.

The University has agreed to pay interest on each
liquidity bond at LIBOR (London Interbank Offering Rate)
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plus .50% on each scheduled bond interest payment date. At
June 30, 1998, no bonds had been purchased under the
liquidity facility.

The University is required to purchase or cause to be
purchased any liquidity bonds purchased under the agreement
upon expiration or termination of the agreement. The term of
the agreement is automatically extended for successive 364-day
periods from the closing date, unless a notice of non-extension
by NationsBank is received 365 days prior to the expiration
date. As of June 30, 1998, the earliest such termination date is
June 30, 1999.

Kenan Stadium, Series 1996

On November 7, 1996, the University of North Carolina
at Chapel Hill issued variable rate demand bonds in the amount
of $13,800,000 that have a final maturity date of November 1,
2016. The bonds are subject to mandatory sinking fund
redemption that begins on November 1, 1998. The proceeds of
this issuance were used for certain additions and renovations to
Kenan Memoria Stadium. While bearing interest at a weekly
rate, the bonds are subject to purchase on demand with seven
days notice and delivery to the University’s remarketing agent,
NationsBank, N. A.

Under an irrevocable letter of credit issued by Wachovia
Bank, N.A., the trustee is entitled to draw amounts sufficient to
pay principal and interest on the bonds and amounts sufficient
to pay the purchase price and accrued interest on the bonds
delivered for purchase. The University is required to pay an
annual commitment fee for the letter of credit of .30% of the
amount of bonds then currently outstanding plus an amount for
accrued interest.

The University has entered into a reimbursement agree-
ment with Wachovia Bank in which it has agreed that upon the
earlier of termination of the letter of credit or one year from a
purchase draw date to repay amounts that represent purchase
drawings under the letter of credit. Interest at the rate of prime
is payable quarterly and upon draw repayment. At June 30,
1998, no purchase drawings had been made under the letter of
credit.

The letter of credit automatically extends every month so
that termination will not occur until 364 days after notice is
received from Wachovia that the letter of credit will not be
extended. As of June 30, 1998, the earliest such termination
dateis June 29, 1999.

Ambulatory Care Clinic, Series 1990

On May 15, 1990, the University of North Carolina at
Chapel Hill issued money market municipal demand bonds in
the amount of $20,000,000 that have a final maturity date of
July 1, 2012. The bonds are subject to mandatory sinking fund
redemption that began on July 1, 1993. The proceeds of this
issuance were used for financing the acquisition, construction,
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and equipping of clinical facilities at the University’s School of
Medicine and for paying the issuance costs of the 1990 bonds.
The bonds were converted from money market municipal
bonds to weekly rate bonds effective May 31, 1995. The
bonds are subject to purchase on demand with seven days
notice and delivery to the University’s paying agent, Bankers
Trust Company. Lehman Brothers, Inc. is the remarketing
agent.

The University has arranged a standby bond purchase
agreement with NationsBank, N. A., whereby the bank will
purchase bonds on a purchase date at the purchase price when
remarketing proceeds or other funds are not available. This
liquidity facility pays only the principal portion of the purchase
price and does not secure payment of the principal of or
interest on the bonds. The University is required to pay an
annual commitment fee for the liquidity facility of .10% of the
amount of bonds then currently outstanding.

The University has agreed to pay interest on each
liquidity bond at LIBOR plus .40% on each scheduled bond
interest payment date. At June 30, 1998, no bonds had been
purchased under the liquidity facility.

The University is required to purchase or cause to be
purchased any liquidity bonds purchased under the agreement
upon expiration or termination of the agreement. The term of
the agreement is automatically extended for successive 364-day
periods from the closing date, unless a notice of non-extension
by NationsBank is received 365 days prior to the expiration
date. As of June 30, 1998, the earliest such termination date is
June 30, 1999.

Ambulatory Care Clinic, Series 1992

On November 19, 1992, the University of North Carolina
a Chapel Hill issued tax-exempt adjustable mode demand
notes in the amount of $3,000,000 that have a final maturity
date of October 1, 2002. The bonds are subject to mandatory
sinking fund redemption that began on October 1, 1994. The
proceeds of this issuance were used to provide equipment for
the ambulatory care building used by UNC Physicians and
Associates and to pay the issuance costs of the notes. The
notes are subject to purchase on demand with seven days notice
and delivery to the University’s remarketing agent, Wachovia
Bank, N. A.

The University has arranged a standby note purchase
agreement with Wachovia Bank, N. A., whereby Wachovia
will purchase notes tendered or deemed tendered for purchase
on any purchase date at the purchase price plus accrued interest
when remarketing proceeds or other funds are not available.
The University is required to pay an annual commitment fee
for the liquidity facility of .30% of the amount of notes then
currently outstanding plus an amount for accrued interest.
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Notes held by Wachovia under this liquidity facility are
subject to mandatory redemption 180 days after the date of
purchase by Wachovia at an amount equal to the principa plus
accrued interest at the Adjusted Euro-Dollar rate. At June 30,
1998, no notes had been purchased under the liquidity facility.

The liquidity facility terminates not earlier than 180 days
following delivery of atermination notice by Wachovia. As of
June 30, 1998, the earliest such termination date is December
27,1998.

CaralinaInn, Series 1994

On September 27, 1994, the University of North Carolina
at Chapel Hill issued taxable flexible term demand bonds in the
amount of $13,475,000 that have a final maturity date of
November 15, 2019. The bonds are subject to mandatory
sinking fund redemption that begins on November 15, 1998.
The proceeds of this issuance were used to renovate and
expand the Carolina Inn and to pay the costs incurred in
connection with the issuance of the bonds. The bonds are
subject to purchase on each interest payment date and on
delivery to the University’s paying agent, The Bank of New
York.

The University has arranged a standby bond purchase
agreement with NationsBank, N. A., whereby NationsBank will
purchase bonds on a purchase date at the stated amount of
principal plus accrued interest when remarketing proceeds or
other funds are not available. The University isrequired to pay
an annual standby fee for the liquidity facility of .10% of the
amount of bonds then currently outstanding plus an amount for
accrued interest.

The University has agreed to pay interest on each
liquidity bond at LIBOR plus .50% on each scheduled bond
interest payment date. At June 30, 1998, no bonds had been
purchased under the liquidity facility.

The University is required to purchase or cause to be
purchased any liquidity bonds purchased under the agreement
upon expiration or termination of the agreement. The term of
this agreement is automatically extended for successive 364-

day periods from the closing date, unless a notice of non-
extension by NationsBank is received 365 days prior to the
expiration date. As of June 30, 1998, the earliest such
termination date is June 30, 1999.

School of Dentistry, Series 1995

On June 28, 1995, the University of North Carolina at
Chapel Hill issued tax-exempt adjustable mode demand bonds
in the amount of $4,000,000 that have a final maturity date of
September 1, 2010. The bonds are subject to mandatory
sinking fund redemption that begins on September 1, 1999.
The proceeds of this issuance are for the construction of a
building called Tarrson Hall to house the majority of the
School of Dentistry’s patient care and clinical teaching
facilities. The bonds are subject to purchase on demand with
seven days notice and delivery to the University’s remarketing
agent, Wachovia Bank, N. A.

Under an irrevocable letter of credit issued by Wachovia
Bank, N. A., the trustee is entitled to draw amounts sufficient
to pay principa and interest on the bonds and amounts
sufficient to pay the purchase price and accrued interest on
bonds delivered for purchase. The University is required to
pay an annual commitment fee of .35% of the amount of the
bonds then currently outstanding plus an amount for accrued
interest.

The University has entered into a reimbursement
agreement with Wachovia Bank in which it has agreed upon
termination of the letter of credit to repay all amounts that are
drawn under the letter of credit. Interest at the rate of prime for
the first 90 days and prime plus 1.5% thereafter is payable
quarterly and upon termination. At June 30, 1998, no drawings
had been made under the letter of credit.

The letter of credit automatically extends every month so
that termination will not occur until 13 months after notice is
received from Wachovia that the letter of credit will not be
extended. As of June 30, 1998, the earliest such termination
dateis July 5, 1999.




78 State of North Carolina
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 7: L ONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (continued)

G. Debt Service Requirements

Bonds Payable and Notes Payable
The following schedule shows the annual debt service requirements to pay principal and interest on general obligation bonds

and revenue bonds, as well as on notes payable, outstanding at June 30, 1998 (dollars in thousands). Current and long-term
principal requirements are disclosed for the enterprise and proprietary component unit funds.

Bonds Payable Notes Payable
Primary Primary
_Government Component Units Government Component Units
General General
Long-Term Proprietary Long-Term
Obligations N. C. Other Obligations College and
Fiscal Account Housing Proprietary  University Account Enterprise Proprietary  University
Year Group Finance Funds Funds Group Funds Funds Funds
1999 $ 227646 $ 74322 $ 20718 $ 71021 $ 2,269 $ 40 $ 85697 $ 4,700
2000 221,490 77,206 20,781 72,497 2,257 40 1,350 29,470
2001 215,851 76,755 20,760 74,355 40 4,135 3,079
2002 209,821 76,490 23,803 74,263 — 10 778 2,126
2003 203,736 76,417 23,733 74,023 — — 639 1,864
2004-2008 930,958 367,837 192,941 351,429 — — 539 6,482
2009-2013 775,768 366,260 84,959 302,507 — — — 1,501
2014-2018 294,170 377,027 206,643 233,695 — — — 528
2019-2023 — 342,870 15,865 148,804 — — — 422
2024-2028 — 250,334 34,356 57,828 — — — —
2029-2033 — 35.961 — 9,009 — — — —
Total requirements 3,079,440 2,121,479 644,559 1,469,431 4,526 130 93,138 50,172
Less:
Interest requirements (948,825) (1,144,513) (273,619) (616,302) (360) — (1,116) (6,310)
Unamortized discount (6,671) — — (13,404) — — — (342)
Deferred charges — (19,270) — (275) — — — —
Underwriters fees = = — (457) — — — —
Total principal
requirements $ 2123944 $ 957696 $ 370940 $ 838993 $ 4166 $ 130 $ 92022 $ 43520
Current portion $ 74322 $ 4,066 $ 40 $ 85525

Long-term portion $ 883374 $ 366,874 $ 90 % 6,497
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H. Arbitrage Rebate Payable

The State and universities have incurred an arbitrage
rebate liability in connection with general obligation and
university revenue bonds sold in previous years. Arbitrage
rebates payable at June 30, 1998, have been recorded (dollars
in thousands) in the following funds:

Capital projects funds............cc........ $ 33
University funds.........cccccceeieiinnnnnn. 2,754
Total e $ 2,787

The State has fourteen general obligation bond issues cur-
rently outstanding that are subject to the arbitrage rebate
provisions, thirteen of which may require future rebate
payments. All bond proceeds and investment earnings for the
$75,000,000 Capital Improvement Bonds, Series A, have been
expended. Therefore, no future rebate payments must be made
for that bond.

. Bond Defeasances

University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill

On October 30, 1997, the University of North Carolina at
Chapel Hill issued $7,210,000 in Housing System Revenue
Refunding Bonds, Series 1997B with an average interest rate of
4.61%. The refunding component of this bond issue was used
to advance refund (defease) $6,630,000 of outstanding
Housing System Revenue Bonds, Series 1991 with a combined
average interest rate of 6.26%. Net proceeds of $7,078,516
resulted from the bond sale. Of the net proceeds amount,
$7,076,396 was used to purchase U.S. government securities.
The purchased securities were placed in an irrevocable trust
with an escrow agent to provide for all future debt service
payments on the defeased bonds. For financial reporting
purposes, the trust account assets and the liability for the
defeased bonds are not included in the balance sheet. The
University reduced its debt service requirements by $354,031
over the next 14 years and obtained an economic gain of
$254,541. At June 30, 1998, the outstanding balance was
$6,630,000 for the defeased Housing System Revenue Bonds,
Series 1991.

On October 30, 1997, the University of North Carolina at
Chapel Hill issued $3,545,000 in Sudent Fee Revenue
Refunding Bonds, Series 1997 with an average interest rate of
4.67%. The refunding component of this bond issue was used
to advance refund (defease) $3,140,000 of outstanding Student
Fee Revenue Bonds, Series 1991 with a combined average
interest rate of 6.86%. Net proceeds of $3,492,744 resulted
from the bond sale. Of the net proceeds amount, $3,490,497
was used to purchase U.S. Government securities. The
purchased securities were placed in an irrevocable trust with an
escrow agent to provide for all future debt service payments on
the defeased bonds. For financia reporting purposes, the trust
account assets and the liability for the defeased bonds are not

included in the balance sheet. The University reduced its debt
service requirements by $250,369 over the next 14 years and
obtained an economic gain of $188,255. At June 30, 1998, the
outstanding balance was $3,140,000 for the defeased Student
Fee Revenue Bonds, Series 1991.

On October 30, 1997, the University of North Carolina at
Chapel Hill issued $30,379,142 in Utilities Systems Revenue
Refunding Bonds, Series 1997 with an average interest rate of
5.42%. The refunding component of this bond issue was used
to advance refund (defease) $19,337,370 of outstanding
Utilities System Revenue Bonds, Series 1992 with a combined
average interest rate of 6.74%. Net proceeds of $30,025,663
resulted from the bond sadle. Of the net proceeds amount,
$30,024,168 was used to purchase U.S. Government securities.
The purchased securities were placed in an irrevocable trust
with an escrow agent to provide for all future debt service
payments on the defeased bonds. For financial reporting
purposes, the trust account assets and the liability for the
defeased bonds are not included in the balance sheet. The
University reduced its debt service requirements by
$13,365,000 over the next 24 years and obtained an economic
gain of $4,824,859. At June 30, 1998, the outstanding balance
was $19,337,370 for the defeased Utilities System Revenue
Bonds, Series 1992.

University of North Carolina at Asheville

On September 17, 1997, the University of North Carolina
at Asheville issued $7,600,000 in Dormitory and Dining Hall
System Revenue Bonds, Series C, with a true interest cost of
5.17%. The refunding component of this bond issue was used
to currently refund (defease) $3,470,000 of outstanding
Dormitory and Dining Hall System Revenue Bonds, Series A,
with a combined average interest rate of 6.5%. Net proceeds
of $3,618,907 resulted from the bond sale. The University
reduced its debt service requirements by $511,765 over the
next 15 years and obtained an economic gain of $378,593.

Appalachian State University

On May 12, 1998, Appaachian State University issued
$27,535,000 in Utility System Revenue Refunding Bonds,
Series 1998 with an average interest rate of 5.29%. The
refunding component of this bond issue was used to advance
refund (defease) $25,050,000 of outstanding Utility System
Revenue Bonds, Series 1994 with a combined interest rate of
6.21%. Net proceeds of $26,820,994 resulted from the bond
sale. Of the net proceeds amount, $26,539,300 was used to
purchase U.S. Government securities. The purchased
securities were placed in an irrevocable trust with an escrow
agent to provide for al future debt service payments on the
defeased bonds. For financia reporting purposes, the trust
account assets and the liability for the defeased bonds are not
included in the balance sheet. The University reduced its debt
service requirements by $1,565,283 over the next 26 years and
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obtained an economic gain of $869,089. At June 30, 1998, the
outstanding balance was $25,050,000 for the defeased Utility
System Revenue Bonds, Series 1994.

On May 12, 1998, Appalachian State University issued
$8,050,000 in Student Fee Revenue Refunding Bonds (Student
Union Building), Series 1998 with an average interest rate of
4.87%. The refunding component of this bond issue was used
to advance refund (defease) $7,570,000 of outstanding Student
Union Revenue Bonds, Series 1992 (Sudent Union Building)
with a combined average interest rate of 6.12%. Net proceeds
of $8,047,682 resulted from the bond sale. Of the net proceeds
amount, $7,982,300 was used to purchase U.S. Government
Securities. The purchased securities were placed in an
irrevocable trust with an escrow agent to provide for al future
debt service payments on the defeased bonds. For financial
reporting purposes, the trust account assets and the liability for
the defeased bonds are not included in the balance sheet. The
University reduced its debt service requirements by $221,067
over the next 14 years and obtained an economic gain of
$167,247. At June 30, 1998, the outstanding balance was
$7,570,000 for the defeased Sudent Union Revenue Bonds,
Series 1992.

North Carolina Housing Finance Agency

On May 21, 1998, the North Carolina Housing Finance Agency
issued $11,805,000 in Multifamily Revenue Bonds (1984
Resolution), Series J with an average interest rate of 5.09%, the
proceeds of which were used to optionaly redeem the
Multifamily Revenue Bonds (1984 Resolution), Series E. This
refunding resulted in a deferred loss of approximately
$719,000, of which $365,000 was unamortized bond issuance
costs for the refunded issue. The refunding resulted in a

L ONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (continued)

decrease in total debt service payments of $6,616,000 and an
economic gain of $2,136,000. At June 30, 1998, the amount of
outstanding defeased Multifamily Revenue Bonds (1984
Resolution), Series E was $9,577,000.

Prior Year Defeasances

During prior years, the State and certain component units
defeased certain general obligation and other bonds. For those
defeasances involving advance refundings, the proceeds and
any securities purchased with the proceeds were placed in an
irrevocable trust with an escrow agent in an amount sufficient
to provide for al future debt service payments on the refunded
bonds. Since adequate funds have been placed with atrustee to
pay fully the principa and interest on these bonds, the
liahilities are not recorded in these financial statements. At
June 30, 1998, the outstanding balance of current and prior
year defeased bonds was $59.6 million for the primary
government and $119.8 million for the component units.

J. Bond Redemptions

Provisions of bond series resolutions for the North
Carolina Housing Finance Agency provide for various methods
of redemption. Bonds are redeemed at par from prepayments
of mortgage loans securing the issues or from unexpended
bond proceeds of the issues along with the related decreases in
the respective debt service reserve requirements. In addition,
various bond issues are redeemable at the option of the Agency
at premiums ranging up to 10% during periods from 10 to 16
years after the date of issuance.
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INTERFUND RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES

Interfund receivables and payables as of June 30, 1998 are as follows (dollars in thousands):

Primary Government
General:
General Fund.........cooovvvvviiiiii,

Special Revenue:
State Highway Fund...........cccccoeeviiinennn.
Highway Trust Fund.............cccoeeeeviinnnnnn.
Employment Security

Commission FUNds.........ccccceeevvvvireeenn.
Employment and Training

Administration Fund...........cc..cocvvveennnns
Highway Patrol Fund..............cccceeeennn.
Community Colleges

Special Programs Fund............ccccccce.e.
Wildlife Resources Commission Fund.....
Other FUNds........cccovcviieiiiiiiiiceec
Total Special Revenue Funds

Capital Projects:
Capital Projects Fund................
Total Capital Projects Funds

Enterprise:
Public School Insurance............cccccceeeueee
N.C. State Fair........cccccooeevvvvveeenne

Total Enterprise Funds

Internal Service:
State Health Plan..........c.ccocoeeiiiiiiiens
State Property Fire Insurance
Prison Enterprises........cccccovevveeeenn.
Motor Fleet Management.......
Courier Service.........ccceeeeeunns
Temporary Solutions...........
N.C. Information Highway
Centralized Computing Services.............
State Telecommunications

SEIVICES. ... eviieee ettt e
Application Development Services..........
Decentralized Computing Services.........
SUrplus Property......ccccoecvveeeeeiniieeeeeennnns
Total Internal Service...........ccccovcviveiieeens

Interfund

Receivables

Interfund
Pavables

$ 126,278 $ 28,217
32,116 15,420
— 21,684

— 50

— 11
515 43
— 46,140
240 3,456
2,994 1,938
35.865 88.742
3,250 291
3,250 291
— 1

— 8

— 9

— 2

— 396
5,340 26
3,642 429
4 45

27 1

6 79
7,614 1,251
7,365 97
415 36
409 —
— 538
24,822 2,900
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Included in the category of interfund receivables are "Due from other funds," "Due from component units," "Due from
primary government," and "Advance to component units." Included in the category of interfund payables are "Due to other funds,”
Interfund receivables

INTERFUND RECEIVABLES AND

Primary Government
(continued)

Expendable Trust:
Unemployment Compensation

Recreation and Natural Heritage

Trust FUNd......ccoooviiiiiii e,
Other FUNdS........oouiiieiieeeeeeee e
Total Expendable Trust..............cccvvvee..

Pension Trust Funds:
Firemen's and Rescue Squad Workers'
Pension Fund...........cccoeiiiiiiniicnneee,

Agency:
Local Sales Tax Collections....................
Clerks of Court.........covvveeeeiiiieiiiiieeeeeeeeea,

Departmental.........cccccoovvviieeeee e,
Total AQENCY...eeviiiiiiiiiieee e

Component Units
Proprietary:
N.C. Housing Finance Agency................
N.C. Global TransPark Authority.............
N.C. Low Level

Radioactive Waste

State Education

Assistance Authority..........cccccooecvveeee...
Rural Economic Development Center.....
Total Proprietary Funds............cccccoeeunenee

College and University:
University Funds.........ccccccooiiiiiiinineiinnns
Community Colleges Funds....................
Total University and

Community College.......ccccceevvvvrvienneennn.

Subtotal....cccoeeeiiiiiiie e,

Timing difference — N.C. Railroad Co....

PAYABLES (continued)

Interfund Interfund
Receivables Payables
50 —
25,000 13,299
187 —
474 26
25711 13,325
— 1
4,254 —
321 1,878
63 9,484
4,638 11,362
— 14
— 25,003
— 49,879
195 —
13,299 113
— 1
13,494 75,010
72,992 68,958
46,686 3.005
119.678 71,963
353,736 $ 291,820
— 61,916
353,736 $ 353,736

"Due to component units," "Due to primary government,” and "Advance from primary government.”

exceeded interfund payables in the amount of the General Fund’'s $61 million advance (plus accrued interest of $916 thousand) to
the North Carolina Railroad Company (Railroad), a discretely presented component unit. This difference is the result of different
fiscal years of the State and the Railroad. The Railroad’ s financial statements are as of and for the fiscal year ended December 31,

1997.
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NOTE 9: RETIREMENT PLANS

The State administers six defined benefit public employee
retirement plans which are included in the State's financial
statements as pension trust funds. Although the assets of the
plans are commingled for investment purposes, each plan's
assets may be used only for payment of benefits to the members
of that plan and for administrative costs, in accordance with the
terms of the plan. Separate reports are not issued for the plans
described below. The State also provides an optional retirement
plan for certain university employees and a specia separation
allowance for eligible sworn law enforcement officers.

A. Plan Descriptionsand Contribution
I nfor mation

1. TEACHERS' AND STATE EMPLOYEES
RETIREMENT SYSTEM

This plan is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined
benefit plan established by the State of North Carolina to
provide pension benefits for employees of the State, its
component units, and local boards of education not in the
reporting entity. Membership is comprised of employees of
state agencies and institutions, local boards of education,
universities and community colleges and certain proprietary
component units. At June 30, 1998, the number of participating
local boards of education and component unit employers was
196 as shown below:

Local boards of education................. 117
Community colleges.........ccccceveeeenn. 58
University of North Carolina system 17
Proprietary component units............. 4

Benefits and administrative expenses are funded by mem-
ber contributions of 6% of compensation and by employer con-
tributions of 7.78% of covered payroll for the period July 1,
1997 through June 30, 1998, in addition to investment income.
Benefit and actuarially based contribution provisions are
established by G.S. 135-5 and 135-8 and may be amended only
by the North Carolina General Assembly.

The plan does not provide for automatic post-retirement
benefit increases. Increases are contingent upon actuarial gains
of the plan.

2. CONSOLIDATED JUDICIAL RETIREMENT SYSTEM

This plan is a single-employer defined benefit plan
established by the State of North Carolina to provide pension
benefits for employees of the State Judicial System.
Membership is comprised of judges, district attorneys and
clerks of court. The plan provides retirement, disability and
death benefits. Benefits and administrative expenses are funded
by member contributions of 6% of compensation and employer
contributions of 20.65% of covered payroll, for the period July
1, 1997 through June 30, 1998, in addition to investment
income. Benefit and the actuarially based contribution pro-
visions are established by G.S. 135-57, 135-58, 135-68 and
135-69 and may be amended only by the North Carolina
General Assembly.

The plan does not provide for automatic post-retirement
benefit increases. Increases are contingent upon actuarial gains
of the plan.

3. LEGISLATIVE RETIREMENT SYSTEM

This plan is a single-employer defined benefit plan
established by the State of North Carolina to provide retirement
and disability benefits for members of the General Assembly.

The benefit will not be payable while the member is
employed in a position making him eligible to participate in
either the Teachers' and State Employees Retirement System,
Consolidated Judicia Retirement System or the Loca
Governmental Employees Retirement System. The plan’s
benefits and administrative expenses are funded by member
contributions of 7% of compensation and employer contri-
butions of 22.58% of covered payroll for the period July 1,
1997 to June 30, 1998, in addition to investment income.
Benefit and actuarially based contribution provisions are
established by G.S. 120-4.21, 120-4.19 and 120-4.20 and may
be amended only by the North Carolina General Assembly.

The plan does not provide for automatic post-retirement
benefit increases. Increases are contingent upon actuaria gains
of the plan.
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NOTE 9:

OTHER STATE ADMINISTERED SYSTEMS

The State also administers the following pension and
retirement plans for persons who are not considered employees
of the State or its component units.

4. FIREMEN'S AND RESCUE SQUAD WORKERS
PENSION FUND

This plan is a defined benefit pension plan established by
the State of North Carolina to provide pension benefits for all
eligible firemen and rescue squad workers. Membership is
composed of both volunteer and locally employed firemen and
emergency medical personnel who elect membership. At June
30, 1998, there were 1,432 participating fire and rescue units.
This is a specia funding situation in that the State is not the
employer but islegally obligated to contribute to the plan.

Benefits and administrative expenses are funded by a $10
monthly contribution by the member, investment income and an
actuarially based state appropriation. Benefit and contribution
provisions are established by G.S. 58-86 and may be amended
only by the North Carolina General Assembly.

5. NATIONAL GUARD PENSON FUND

This plan is a defined benefit plan established by the State
of North Carolina to provide pension benefits for members of
the North Carolina national guard. Thisis also a special funding
situation because the State is not the employer, but is legaly
obligated to contribute to the plan.

Benefits and administrative expenses are funded by an
actuarialy based state appropriation and investment income.
Benefit and contribution provisions are established by G.S.
127(a)-40 and may be amended only by the North Carolina
Genera Assembly.

RETIREMENT PLANS (continued)

6. LocAL GOVERNMENTAL EMPLOYEES

RETIREMENT SYSTEM

This plan is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined
benefit plan established by the State of North Carolina for
employees of local governments. Membership is comprised of
general employees and local law enforcement officers of
participating local governmental entities.

At June 30, 1998, the number of participating loca
governments was 844, as shown below:

CtIES vt 388
COUNLIES ..eveveeeeiiiieeee e 100
Special districts .......cveevviiiiiieeieennne 356

The plan provides retirement benefits nearly identical to
the benefits that accrue to members of the Teachers and State
Employees Retirement System. This plan also provides
disability benefits for members who become totally and
permanently disabled from performing their usual job. Benefits
and administrative expenses are funded by employee
contributions of 6% and actuarially based employer contribu-
tions. Employers contribute 5.10% of covered payroll for law
enforcement officers and 4.63% for genera employees and
firemen for normal costs and an unfunded liability rate, which
is established when the government initially enters the system.
The State's responsibility is administrative only. Benefit and
contribution provisions are established by G.S. 128-27 and 128-
30 and may be amended only by the North Carolina General
Assembly.

The plan does not provide for automatic post-retirement
benefit increases. Increases are contingent upon actuarial gains.

The following table summarizes membership information by plan at the actuarial valuation date:

Teachers'
and State Firemen'’s, National Local
Employees' Judicial Legislative Rescue Guard Governmental
Employee Groups
Retirees and beneficiaries currently
receiving benefitS.......ccccceecviiee i 92,236 327 178 7,061 1,702 25,456
Terminated employees entitled to benefits but
not yet receiving them-............cccccoviiieeennnne 32,436 41 96 130 4,662 9,013
Active plan members .........ccccooiiiiiiieeeenniieeeen 271,128 456 167 25,928 7,659 106,802
Total. oo 395,800 824 441 33,119 14,023 141,271
Date of Valuation.........c.cceeviiiieniiiiciieccee 12-31-97 12-31-97 12-31-97 6-30-97 12-31-97 12-31-97
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B. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES AND PLAN ASSET MATTERS

BAS'S OF ACCOUNTING

The financial statements of these plans are prepared using
the accrual basis of accounting. Plan member contributions are
recognized in the period in which the contributions are due.
Employer contributions are recognized when due and the
employer has made a formal commitment to provide the
contributions. Benefits and refunds are recognized when due
and payable in accordance with the terms of each plan.

INVESTMENTS

Pursuant to North Carolina General Statutes, the State
Treasurer is the custodian and administrator of the retirement
systems. The State Treasurer maintains an investment pool in
which the systems participate. The investment balance of each
system represents its share of the fair value of the net assets of
various portfolios within the pool. Additionally, the investment
balance also includes assets occurring from securities lending
transactions resulting from the systems' participation in the

pool. Theinvestments of the State Treasurer are fully discussed
in Note 4.

No retirement system has investments in any single
commercia or industrial organization whose fair value would
amount to more than five percent of the system’'s net assets
available for benefits.

C. Actuarial Methods and Assumptions

The latest actuarial valuations are dated December 31,
1997, (June 30,1997, for Firemen's and Rescue Squad
Workers Fund ). The actuarial accrued liability and the
schedule of funding progress are presented by system in the
required supplementary section of this report. The actuarial
value of assets for al systems is based on a five-year
smoothed market value. Under this method, realized and
unrealized gains and losses on investments are smoothed
over five years. Below are listed the various actuaria
methods and significant assumptions for these valuations that
will be used to determine future annua required
contributions.

Actuarial Assumptions

Actuarial Remaining Asset Investment Projected
Valuation Cost Amortization Amortization Period Valuation Rate Salary
Retirement System Date Method Method Period Open/Closed Method of Return Increase
Teachers' and
State Employees’ 12/31/97 Entry age Level dollar 4 years Open 5 year smoothed 7.25% 5.45-12.08%
Consolidated Projected Level
Judicial 12/31/97 unit credit percentage 40 years Open 5 year smoothed 7.25% 5.63-12.58%
Projected
Legislative 12/31/97 unit credit Level dollar None Open 5 year smoothed 7.50% 7.50%
Firemen's, Rescue
Squad Workers' 6/30/97 Entry age Level dollar 4 years Open 5 year smoothed 7.50% N/A
National Guard 12/31/97 Entry age Level dollar 7 years Open 5 year smoothed 7.25% N/A
Local Governmental Frozen Level
Employees' 12/31/97 entry age percentage Various Closed 5 year smoothed 7.25% 5.45-12.08%

N/A-Not applicable
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NOTE 9:

The valuation for the Local Governmental Employees
system includes a .01% increase in the retirement formula
enacted by the General Assembly effective July 1, 1998. The
valuations also reflect legislation that authorized a 2.5% cost of
living increase (also effective July 1, 1998) for retirees in al
systems with projected salary increases. The projected
investment returns for al systems, except the Legislative and
Firemen's, include a 3.75% inflationary factor within the
actuarial assumption. For Firemen’s, the inflationary factor is
4%. The assumption for the Legidative system does not
identify an inflationary factor.

CURRENT FISCAL YEAR ASSUMPTIONS

The annual required contributions for the fiscal year
ended June 30, 1998, were developed from various prior year
valuations. The Teachers and State Employees, Local
Governmental Employees’, Consolidated Judicial, and National
Guard systems’ valuations were as of December 31, 1995, the
Legidlative system was valued at December 31, 1996, and the
Firemen's and Rescue Squad Worker's Fund was valued at
June 30, 1996. These prior actuarial valuations used actua
cost to value investment assets and had remaining amortization

RETIREMENT PLANS (continued)

periods of 9 years for Teachers' and State Employees’, 9 years
for Consolidated Judicial, 9 years for National Guard and 6
years for the Firemen's and Rescue Squad Worker's Fund.
Prior valuations of the Local Governmental Employees system
used the aggregate actuarial cost method and consequently had
various amortization periods. The above-mentioned valuations
assumed an investment return rate of 7.5% and projected salary
increases significantly the same as the most current valuations.

Unless otherwise noted in this footnote or in the required
supplementary schedules, the actuarial values, methods and
significant assumptions for the current year’'s required
contributions are the same as those presented in the table
shown on the prior page. The Teachers and State Employees,
Local Governmental Employees’, and Consolidated Judicial
systems were amended effective July 1, 1997, to provide a
4.0% post-retirement benefit increase. Additional benefit
enhancements increased the benefit accrual rate in the
Teachers' and State Employees system from 1.75% to 1.80%
and in the Local Governmental Employees’ system from 1.72%
to 1.76%. Theliabilities for these enhancements were reflected
in the December 31, 1996, individual systems' valuations.

D. Annual Pension Cost and Net Pension Obligation

The annual pension costs and net pension obligations for the State’ s single-employer and special funding defined benefit plans for

the current fiscal year are asfollows:

Firemen's
and North
Rescue Carolina
Consolidated Squad National
Judicial Legislative Workers' Guard
Retirement Retirement Pension Pension
System System Fund Fund

Annual required contribution............ccccccevveieenieennen. $ 8,485,133 $ 741,161 $ 11,735,187 $2,533,000

Interest on net pension obligation..............c.ccccecue.. — (40,020) — —
Adjustment to annual required contribution............. — 131,754 — —
Annual pension COSt..........occiiiiiieie e 8,485,133 832,895 11,735,187 2,533,000
Contributions made..........c.cccooveviiiiiciicicneeen 8,485,133 800,737 11,735,187 _ 2,533,000
Increase (decrease) in net pension obligation......... 32,158

Net pension (asset) obligation beginning of year.... — (533.605) — —

Net pension (asset) obligation end of year.............. $ — 3 (501.,447) $ — 3 —
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The following table presents the required three year trend of pension costs for the State’ s single-employer and specia funding defined
benefit plans and the required contributions the State made to the Teachers' and State Employees’ Retirement System (the System), a
cost-sharing, multiple-employer plan. The State's contribution equals its pension expense/expenditures for the System. The State does

not make any contributions to the Local Governmental Employees System; therefore, it does not have any related pension cost. The
dollar amounts are expressed in thousands.

State of North Carolina's Annual Pension Cost (APC)
and Annual Required Contributions (ARC) as an Employer
For the Years Ended June 30, 1996 through June 30, 1998 (in thousands)

Teachers'
and State Firemen's, National
Employees' Judicial Legislative Rescue Guard
Primary Government:
1998 $ 172,530 $ 8,485 $ 833 $ 11,735 $ 2,533
1997 170,342 7,976 840 11,735 2,303
1996 161,225 7,536 837 11,735 2,283
Component units:
Universities:
1998 $ 79,572
1997 79,168
1996 75,883
Community Colleges:
1998 $ 28,953
1997 28,432
1996 27,055
Proprietary Funds:
1998 $ 1,038
1997 1,141
1996 1,087

Total Primary Government
and Component Units:

1998 $ 282,093 $ 8,485 $ 833 $ 11,735 $ 2,533
1997 279,083 7,976 840 11,735 2,303
1996 265,250 7,536 837 11,735 2,283
Percentage of APC Contributed:
1998 100% 96% 100% 100%
1997 100% 95% 100% 100%
1996 100% 90% 100% 100%
Percentage of ARC Contributed:
1998 100%
1997 100%
1996 100%
Net Pension (Asset) Obligation:
1998 $ — (501) $ — $ —
1997 — (534) — —
1996 — (572) — —

The pension liabilities for the transition year (1997) were determined in accordance with GASB 27. The prior year pension liability and current pension liability

for all systems, except Legidative, are zero. Each year's APC and Net Pension Asset for the Legislative System were cal culated in accordance with GASB 27 back
to 1993 and contain the cumulative effect of applying this statement.
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NOTE 9: RETIREMENT PLANS (continued)

E. Optional Retirement Plan

The Optional Retirement Program (Program) is a defined
contribution retirement plan which provides retirement benefits
with options for payments to beneficiaries in the event of the
participant's death.  Faculty and administrators with faculty
rank in universities of the UNC system may join the Program
instead of the Teachers and State Employees Retirement
System. At June 30, 1998, the Plan had 7,359 participants.

Benefits are provided by means of contracts issued and
administered by the privately-operated Teachers' Insurance and
Annuity Association and the College Retirement Equities Fund
(TIAA/CREF), Vdic, and Lincoln Nationa Life Insurance
Company. Participants'  digibility and  contributory
requirements are established in G.S. 135-5.1. Participants
contribute 6% of compensation and the university contributes
6.84%. Thereisno liability other than the universities required
contributions. The universities contributed $35,665,924 for the
1997-98 fiscal year. Annua covered payroll was $521,431,644
and employer contributions expressed as a percentage of annual
covered payroll was 6.84% for the fiscal year ended June 30,
1998. Employee contributions expressed as a percentage of
annual covered payroll were 6%, with an actual employee
contribution of $31,285,898 for the 1997-98 fiscal year.

Participants are vested after five years of service, but the
company must return the value of the universities' contributions
to the State if termination occurs prior to five years of service.
The participant chooses hisher own investment products with
the company of choice.

F. Special Separation Allowance

The State provides a specia separation allowance (SSA),
an agent multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan, for
sworn law enforcement officers as defined by G.S. 135-1(11b)
or G.S. 143-166.30(a)(4) that were employed by State agencies
and component units and have retired on a basic service
retirement under the provisions of G.S. 135-5(a). To qualify for
the allowance, each retired officer must: (1) have completed 30
or more years of creditable service or have attained 55 years of
age and completed five or more years of creditable service; and
(2) not have attained 62 years of age; and (3) have completed at
least five years of continuous service as a law enforcement
officer immediately preceding a service retirement. Each
eligible officer is paid an annual separation allowance equal to
.85% of the officer's most recent base rate of compensation for
each year of creditable service. For the fiscal year ended June
30, 1998, the State and its component units paid $6,430,510 for
587 retired law enforcement officers. These benefits are funded
on a pay-as-you-go basis with each employer (the State or
component unit) responsible for the benefits to their former
employees. There is no statewide administration of the SSA
and there is no actuarial valuation performed. Funds for this
allowance are appropriated annually in the budget of each state
agency or paid from the component unit’s operations for those
employers who have dligible, retired law enforcement officers.
These benefits are established in G.S. 143-166.41 and may be
amended only by the General Assembly.

NOTE 10:

DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLANS

IRC Section 457 Plan - The State of North Carolina offers
its permanent employees, university employees, and employees of
certain other component units, a deferred compensation plan
created in accordance with Internal Revenue Code Section 457.
The plan permits each participating employee to defer a portion of
his or her salary until future years by having the funds invested in
various instruments that make up the North Carolina Public
Employee Deferred Compensation Trust Fund. This fund is held
for the exclusive benefit of employees of the State and their
beneficiaries.  The deferred compensation is available to
employees upon separation from service, death, disability, and
retirement or due to financial hardships if approved by the Board
of Trustees of the plan. The plan is administered by a third party
and is reported in the CAFR as an expendable trust fund. Prior to
the 1997-98 fiscal year the plan was reported as an agency fund,
but during the 1997-98 fiscal year, the State implemented GASB
Statement No. 32, Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Internal Revenue Code Section 457 Deferred Compensation Plans
which required this reclassification. All costs of administering
and funding the plan are the responsibility of the plan participants.

IRC Section 401(k) Plan - Effective January 1, 1985, Chap-
ter 135, Article 5 of the North Carolina Genera Statutes
authorized the creation of the Supplemental Retirement Income
Plan of North Carolina (the Plan) in accordance with Internal
Revenue Code Section 401(k). All members of the Teachers and
State Employees Retirement System, Consolidated Judicial
Retirement System, Legidative Retirement System, Loca
Governmental Employees Retirement System and University
Optional Retirement Program are eligible to enroll in this plan and
may contribute up to 14% (limited to $9,500 in 1997) of their
compensation during the plan fiscal year. Members of the Plan
may receive their benefits upon retirement, disability, termination,
hardship, or death. All contributions and costs of administering
the Plan are the responsibility of the participants.

The Plan is a defined contribution pension plan that is
administered by athird party. The administrator prepares financial
statements based on the plan fiscal year. The audited statements
for the year ended December 31, 1997, are presented in this
financial report as an expendable trust fund. In a defined contri-
bution plan, benefits depend solely on amounts contributed to the
plan plus investment earnings. The Plan’sfinancial statements are
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prepared using the accrua basis of accounting. Investments are
reported at fair value. Securities and mutual funds are based on
published quotations while bank investment contracts are stated at
contract value. Participant loans are reported at outstanding
principal balances. The plan is administered by the Branch
Banking and Trust Company (BB&T) and the Plan’s financial
statements are available by contacting the N.C. 401(k) Plan, P.O.
Box 29541, Raleigh, NC 27626.

In addition to the voluntary contribution criteria above, G.S.
143-166.30 requires state contributions to the Plan to provide
benefits for al law enforcement officers employed by the State
and its component units. G.S. 143-166.50 requires local
governmental units with law enforcement officers to also
contribute at least as much as the State. Participation begins at the
date of employment. State agencies and component units are
required to contribute monthly to the individua accounts of
participants an amount equal to 5% of each officer's monthly
salary. The State is also required to contribute to the individual
accounts of all officers on a per capita basis in equal shares, $.50
for each court cost assessed and collected under G.S. 7A-304 goes
to state law enforcement officers, while $1.25 of each assessment
goes to local law enforcement officers. General Statutes allow
law enforcement officers to voluntarily contribute up to 10% of
their compensation within any calendar year, but current Internal
Revenue Code restrictions limit the actual voluntary contribution
to 9% of the officers compensation. All contributions are
immediately vested in the name of each participant. At December
31, 1997, 196 state agencies and component units along with 916
local governmental units were contributing to the Plan.

At December 31, 1997, the Plan disclosed the following
investments (at fair value) exceeding five percent of the Plan net
assets:

BB&T Money Rate Savings Accounts.................. $ 139,280,000

BB&T Bank Investment Contracts.............cccoue... 301,182,000
Fidelity Equity-Income Fund...........coccouvveeieennnnnns 242,654,000
Fidelity Magellan Fund...........cccccceeviiiiiiinee e 561,109,000
Fidelity Spartan U.S. EQUItY ........cccooviiiiiiiieennnns 91,287,000
Participant LOans ...........ccovvvvviniieeiniiic e 81,154,000

The Plan aso reported tota member contributions of
$101,892,000. The payrolls for law enforcement officers, on
which the required contributions were based for the year ended
December 31, 1997, amounted to $112,069,544 for the State,
$10,545,180 for universities, and $796,978 for the other
miscellaneous component units. The required 5% employer’s
contribution was made by the State for $5,603,477, by universities
for $527,259, and by the remaining component units for $39,849.
In addition, the State contributed $517,592 for the required court
cost assessments.

IRC Section 403(b) Plans - Employees of the UNC system
and community colleges can participate in tax-sheltered annuity
contracts and custodial accounts created under Internal Revenue
Code (IRC) Section 403(b). Generally all employees are dligible,
but the IRC does alow the establishment of a minimum
contribution of $200 and the exclusion from participation of
certain classes of employees. Each institution may exclude one or
more of these classes if every employee within the institution
meeting the class criteria is excluded from participation. The
employees digible contributions, made through salary reduction
agreements, are exempt from federal and state income taxes until
the accumulated balances are received or the contributions are
withdrawn. Effective January 1, 1989, contributions may be
withdrawn by employees only upon separation from service,
death, disability, reaching age 59 1/2 or age 55 with qualifying re-
tirement, or due to certain financial hardships. Currently, thereis
no restriction on the withdrawal of the value of annuity contracts.
Custodial accounts established as of December 31, 1988 can be
withdrawn only in respect to hardship established as of December
31, 1988. These plans are exclusively for employees of public
educational organizations and certain charitable and other non-
profit institutions as defined by the IRC. Since all contributions
are made voluntarily by employees, al costs are borne by the
plans participants. No direct costs are incurred by the State.
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NoTE 11:

OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

A. Health Care for Long-Term Disability
Beneficiaries and Retirees

The State Health Plan provides postemployment health
insurance to former employees of the State, the University of
North Carolina system, community colleges, certain
participating proprietary component units, and Local Education
Agencies (LEAS) which are not part of the reporting entity.
Those former employees who are digible to receive health care
as an other postemployment benefit are long-term disability
beneficiaries of the Disability Income Plan of North Carolina
(DIPNC) and retirees of the Teachers and State Employees
Retirement System (TSERS), the Consolidated Judicial
Retirement System (CJRS), the Legidative Retirement System
(LRS), and the University Employees Optional Retirement
Program (UEORP), with five or more years of contributory
membership service in the Retirement System prior to
disability or retirement. For the fiscal year ended June 30,
1998, the number of participants currently eligible to receive
health care as an other postemployment benefit are 38,893
TSERS and DIPNC members (excluding LEA members), 220
CIRS members, 124 LRS members, and 380 UEORP
members. The health insurance plan is the same as for active
employees as described in Note 12, except that the coverage
becomes secondary when former employees become dligible
for Medicare. These former employees are eligible to
participate in either the self-funded Comprehensive Major
Medical Plan (Plan) or one of the heath maintenance
organization (HMO) plans.

The funding for the heath care benefit for long-term
disability beneficiaries and retirees is financed on a pay-as-
you-go basis. These hedth care benefits are funded by
employer contributions that are established in the
Appropriation Bill by the Genera Assembly. The State,
participating component units, and LEAs contributed a
monthly amount equal to 2.0% of active employees salaries to
the Generad Fund's Reserve for Retirees Heath Premium
Account (Reserve). The Reserve pays the full cost of coverage
for long-term disability beneficiaries and retirees enrolled in
the Plan and makes similar contributions for long-term
disahility beneficiaries and retirees enrolled in the HMO plans.
Long-term disability beneficiaries and retirees pay for the
additional cost of HMO coverage in excess of the Reserve's
contribution and for the entire cost of coverage for their
spouses and dependents. For the fiscal year ended June 30,
1998, the Reserve paid $1,320.96 for each Medicare-eligible
long-term disability beneficiary and retiree and $1,735.20 for
each non-Medicare-éligible long-term disability beneficiary
and retiree. At June 30, 1998, the Reserve had net assets at fair
value of $253,499,702. The net assets are available for future

benefit payments. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 1998,
contributions on behalf of former employees of the reporting
entity were made to the Reserve as follows:

Primary government...........cccooocuiieerieeniinnnnes $45,244,840
University of North Carolina system.............. 31,475,511
Community colleges........cccccveeeiiiiiiieeniaeeene 7,442,876
Certain participating proprietary

COMPONENt UNItS...c.oeeiiiiiiiiiieeeeiiieeeea e 266,966
Total contributions..........cccovvvvevieeniie e $84,430,193

These benefits are established by Chapter 135, Article 3,
Part 3, of the General Statutes and may be amended only by the
North Carolina General Assembly.

B. Disability Income

As discussed in Note 12, short-term and long-term
disability benefits are provided to the eligible members of the
Teachers and State Employees Retirement System and the
University Employees' Optional Retirement Program through
the Disability Income Plan of North Carolina (DIPNC), an
internal service fund. Long-term disability benefits are payable
as an other postemployment benefit from DIPNC after the
conclusion of the short-term disability period or after salary
continuation payments cease, whichever is later, for as long as
an employee is disabled. An employee is digible to receive
long-term disability benefits provided the following
requirements are met: (1) the employee has five or more years
of contributing membership service in the Teachers and State
Employees Retirement System of North Carolina (Retirement
System) or the University Employees Optiona Retirement
Program, earned within ninety-six months prior to the end of
the short-term disability period or cessation of saary
continuation payments, whichever is later; (2) the employee
must make application to receive long-term benefits within 180
days after the conclusion of the short-term disability period or
after salary continuation payments cease or after monthly
payments for Workers Compensation cease (excluding
monthly payments for permanent partial benefits), whichever is
later; (3) the employee must be certified by the Medical Board
to be mentally or physicaly disabled for the further
performance of his’her usual occupation; (4) the disability must
have been continuous, likely to be permanent, and incurred at
the time of active employment; (5) the employee must not be
eigible to receive an unreduced retirement benefit from the
Retirement System; and (6) the employee must terminate
employment as a permanent, full-time employee. An employee
is eligible to receive an unreduced retirement benefit from the
Retirement System after (1) reaching the age of 65 and
completing five years of creditable service, or (2) reaching the
age of 60 and completing 25 years of creditable service, or (3)
completing 30 years of creditable service, at any age.
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The monthly long-term disability benefit is equal to 65%
of onetwelfth of an employee's annual base rate of
compensation last payable to the participant or beneficiary
prior to the beginning of the short-term disability period, plus
the like percentage of one twelfth of the annual longevity
payment to which the participant or beneficiary would be
eligible. The monthly benefits are subject to a maximum of
$3,900 per month reduced by any primary Social Security
disability benefits and by monthly payments for Workers
Compensation to which the participant or beneficiary may be
entitled, but the benefits payable shall be no less than $10 a
month. When an employee qualifies for an unreduced service
retirement allowance from the Retirement System, the benefits
payable from DIPNC will cease, and the employee will
commence retirement under the Teachers and State
Employees Retirement System or the University Employees
Optional Retirement Program.

Long-term disability income benefits are advance-funded
on an actuarially determined basis using the one-year term cost
method. Disability income benefits are funded by employer
contributions that are established in the Appropriations Bill by
the General Assembly. For the calendar year ended December
31, 1997, the State, the University of North Carolina system,
community colleges, and certain participating proprietary
component units, and LEAs contributed .52% of active
employees sdaries to fund the disability benefits. The
contributions cannot be separated between the amounts that
relate to other postemployment benefits and employment
benefits for active employees.

At December 31, 1997, DIPNC had 2,608 members,
excluding LEA members, who were currently eligible to
receive disability benefits as an other postemployment benefit
out of a total of 237,945 active plan participants. Those
individuals who are receiving extended short-term disability
benefit payments cannot be separated from the number of
members currently eligible to receive disability benefits as an
other postemployment benefit.

The basis for estimating the liabilities for unpaid claimsis
discussed in Note 12. The market related actuarial value of the
assets of DIPNC at December 31, 1997, was $163,296,023,
creating a deficit of $68,995,580. The fair value of the assets
for DIPNC at December 31, 1997 was $177,327,727. The
assets are available for future other postemployment benefits
and benefits for eligible active employees.
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Actuarial Assumptions for the calendar year ended
December 31, 1997:
DISCOUNL AL ...eeeeiiiiiiieie e 7.25%
Rate of return on investments assumption................... 7.25%
Projected salary increase assumption.............ccccceee..n. 5.75%
Projected social security benefits

INCrease assSUMPLION .........oouviieieeiaiiiiee e 3.75%

Social security assumption ..........ccccoceeeerniecnnieeeninnennn 75%

Actuarially required contribution .............ccccceiiiiinins $20,979,702
Actual contribution made by:

Primary GOVEINMENt..........ccceeviiiiiiiiie e e $11,220,533
University of North Carolina system...........c.ccccvvveeeenn. 7,802,925
Community Colleges.........ccoouriiiiiiiiieiiiiiiieeee e 1,882,326

Certain participating proprietary
COMPONENE UNILS ..eeeiiiiiiiiieee et e et e e
Total actual contribution made

These benefits are established by Chapter 135, Article 6,
of the General Statutes and may be amended only by the North
Carolina General Assembly.
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NOTE 12: RISk MANAGEMENT AND | NSURANCE

A. Public Entity Risk Pools

1. Public School I nsurance Fund

The Public School Insurance Fund (the Fund) is a public
entity risk pool reported within the enterprise funds. In
accordance with Chapter 115C, Article 38, of the General
Statutes, the purpose of the Fund is to insure the Local
Education Agencies (LEAS), which are not a part of the
reporting entity.  The community colleges, which are
component units, can also acquire insurance through the Fund
as stated in G.S. 115D-58.11(c). The board of each LEA and
the board of trustees of each community college are required to
carry extended coverage againgt fire and lightning damage to
the extent of not less than seventy-five percent (75%) of the
current insurable value for each insurable building. The boards
also are to insure adequately the equipment and contents of
said building. The Fund is financed by premiums collected
from the LEAs and the community colleges and interest earned
on the Fund's cash balance. Each board has to give notice of
its election to insure in the Fund at least 30 days prior to such
insurance becoming effective and shall furnish to the State
Board of Education a full and complete list of all outstanding
fire insurance policies. While the said insurance policies
remain in effect, the Fund shall act as coinsurer of the
properties covered by such insurance. The Fund currently
insures 105 out of 117 LEAs and 21 out of 58 community
colleges.

Claim liabilities are based on estimates of the ultimate
cost of claims that have been reported but not settled, and of
clams that have been incurred but not reported. For the
current fiscal year, the Fund has amended the calculation of the
incurred but not reported claims, and this change is reflected in
the liability for unpaid claims at year end. There are no
salvage claims anticipated since any salvage is adjusted in the
clam settlement. There are no subrogation claims pending.
Since claims are reviewed by adjusters and the actual loss
projection is computed in a short time after the claim is
reported, the claim adjustment expense associated with the
unpaid claim liability will be reflected in the current period.
The Fund does consider investment income in determining if a
premium deficiency exists.

The only acquisition costs are related to proposal costs
and inspection costs for new insurance. Since the Fund can
only insure the LEAs and the community colleges, new
contracts are immaterial. Since existing contracts are renewed
once a year, the Fund's costs are for policy maintenance.
Therefore, acquisition costs do not need to be amortized.

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 1997, the State
suffered significant damage from two hurricanes, Bertha and
Fran, which greatly increased the claims submitted to the Fund
for that year.

The following schedule shows the changes in the reported
liahility for the past two years (dollars in thousands):

Fiscal Year
1998 1997

Unpaid claims at beginning of year ...... $ 4904 $ 1,436
Incurred claims:
Provision for insured events

of the current year ..........ccccceeevnneen. 5,510 15,060
Increases (decreases) in provision

for insured events of prior years ....... (644) (192)
Total incurred claims ...........cccoccveieennen. 4,866 14,868
Payments:
Claims attributable to insured

events of the current year ................. 2,044 9,595
Claims attributable to insured

events of the prior years ................... 3,560 1,805
Total payments ........ccocveevieeniieeiineen, 5,604 11,400
Total unpaid claims at end

of the year ......ccccccvevveceesie e $ 4,166 $ 4,904

With the collection of premiums from the insured
educational units, payment of valid clams becomes the
responsibility of the Fund. All claims greater than $10 million
per occurrence (up to $30 million per location) are covered by
reinsurance policies. Total payments by the Fund over $20
million ayear (March 20, 1997 - March 20, 1998) are also paid
by the reinsurers. Maximum recoverable from the reinsurers
for any one catastrophe is $1 hillion per occurrence, or a $300
million maximum on a flood or earthquake. Incurred losses are
reduced by estimated amounts recoverable under the Fund's
reinsurance policies. Currently there are claims recoverable
from the reinsurers for an estimated $700,000 due to Hurricane
Fran.
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2. Workers Compensation Fund

The Workers' Compensation Fund (the Fund) is a public
entity risk pool reported within the enterprise funds. The Fund
is created in the Department of Insurance (the Department) and
is administered by the State Fire and Rescue Commission (the
Commission) through a service contract with a third-party
administrator. In accordance with Chapter 58, Article 87, of
the General Statutes, the purpose of the Fund is to provide
workers' compensation benefits to members of “€ligible units,”
which consist of volunteer fire departments or volunteer
rescue/EMS units that are not part of a unit of loca
government and are exempt from State income tax under G.S.
105-130.11. These dligible units are not part of the reporting
entity. Benefits are payable for compensable injuries or deaths
which occurred on or after July 1, 1996. The Fund is financed
by appropriations made to the Department for this purpose and
by per capita fixed dollar amounts for each member of a
participating eligible unit’'s roster. The per capita fixed dollar
amount is set annually by the Commission and is paid by the
eligible units to the Commission on or before July 1 of each
year for credit to the Fund. If payment is not received by July
1, the €ligible unit shall not receive workers compensation
coverage for that fiscal year. The appropriation for the fiscal
year ended June 30, 1998 was $4,500,000. As of June 30,
1998, the Fund consisted of 1,128 eligible units representing
approximately 34,950 members.

The liability for unpaid claims is based on an actuaria
determination and represents a reasonable estimate of the
ultimate cost of open claims and claim settlement expenses that
are unpaid as of the fiscal year end, including incurred but not
reported losses. The liability for unpaid claims is continually
reviewed, and as adjustments become necessary such
adjustments are included in current operations. The Fund
considers anticipated investment income in determining if a
premium deficiency exists. The Fund recognizes subrogation
from third parties as a reduction to claim and claim settlement
expenses incurred. As of June 30, 1998, there was no reduction
for subrogation.

Acquisition costs consist of commission payments to
independent insurance agents for marketing, promotional and
administrative assistance with policy maintenance to eligible
units. As coverage is renewed annually, acquisition costs are
not amortized.

The following schedule shows the changes in the reported
liability for the past two years (dollars in thousands):
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Fiscal Year
1998 1997

Unpaid claims at beginning of year ...... $ 2,962 % —
Incurred claims:
Provision for insured events

of the currentyear ..........cccceveveeenen. 2,982 3,659
Increases (decreases) in provision

for insured events of prior years ....... 162 —
Total incurred claims .........ccccevceiieene 3,144 3,659
Payments:
Claims attributable to insured

events of the currentyear ................. 485 697
Claims attributable to insured

events of the prior years ................... 763 —
Total payments .........cccceveereenieeeieenn. 1,248 697
Total unpaid claims at end

of the year .......ccocveiieviiiieeceee, $ 4858 $ 2,962

The Fund maintains both specific excess of loss and
aggregate reinsurance coverage. The specific excess of loss
coverage provides for statutory limits above the Fund's
retention of $500,000 per occurrence and a $1,000,000 limit
for employer’s liability above the Fund's retention of $500,000
per occurrence. The aggregate reinsurance provides for
$3,000,000 of coverage above aggregate Fund losses of
$5,012,375 for any one accident year. Incurred losses are
reduced by estimated amounts recoverable under the Fund's
excess of loss and aggregate reinsurance policies. As of June
30, 1998, there are claims recoverable from reinsurers in the
amount of $829,967.
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NOTE 12:

B. Employee Benefit Plans

1. State Health Plan

In accordance with Chapter 135, Article 3, Part 3, of the
General Statutes, the State provides comprehensive major
medical care for employees and retirees of the State and its
participating component units, as well as their dependents.
This care is aso extended to employees and retirees of the
Local Education Agencies (LEAS), which are not part of the
State's reporting  entity. Coverage is self-funded by
contributions to the State Health Plan (the Plan), an internal
service fund of the State. Contributions for employee and
retiree coverage are made by the State, its participating
component units, and LEAs. Contributions for dependent
coverage are made by employees and retirees. Asdescribed in
Note 11, coverage is also extended to certain individuals as an
other postemployment benefit. The Plan is administered by a
third party who is responsible for the processing of claims and
administration of cost containment. Health care is also made
available through contractual agreements with health
maintenance organizations (HMO). Monthly premium
payments transfer the risk for health coverage to the Plan. The
Plan does not assume risk for HMO contracts.

The Plan pays most expenses that are medically necessary
and €ligible for coverage based on usual, customary and
reasonable allowances. Claims are subject to specified annual
deductible and copayment requirements. The Plan disallows
claimsin excess of alifetime maximum of $2,000,000.

Clam liabilities are based on estimates of the ultimate
cost of claims that have been incurred (both reported and
unreported). Changes in the Plan's aggregate liabilities for
claims for the past two fiscal years are as follows (dollars in
thousands):

Current-Year
Beginning of Claims and Balance
Fiscal Year Changes in Claim at Fiscal
Liability Estimates Payments Year-End
1996-97 ¢ 117,137 $ 573,514 $ 579317 $ 111,334
1997-98 111,334 643,915 643,544 111,705

2. Death Benefit Plan of North Carolina

Term life insurance (death benefits) is provided through
the Death Benefit Plan, an internal service fund, to all members
of the Teachers and State Employees’ Retirement System who
have completed at least one full calendar year of membership
in the System. Membership includes employees of the State,
the University of North Carolina system, community colleges,
and certain participating proprietary component units and
Local Education Agencies (LEAS) which are not part of the
reporting entity. The benefit payment is equal to the greater of
(1) the compensation on which contributions were made by the

Risk MANAGEMENT AND |NSURANCE (continued)

member during the calendar year preceding the year in which
his/her death occurs or (2) the member's highest twelve month's
sdlary in a row during the twenty-four months prior to hisher
death. The benefit is subject to a minimum of $25,000 and to a
maximum of $50,000.

Death benefits are funded by actuarially based employer
contributions that are established in the Appropriation Bill by
the General Assembly. The State, the University of North
Caralina system, community colleges, and certain participating
proprietary component units and LEAs contributed .16% of
active employees' salaries to fund the Death Benefit Plan for
the calendar year ended December 31, 1997.

These benefits are established by Chapter 135, Section
5(1), of the General Statutes and may be amended only by the
North Carolina General Assembly. Claims liabilities are based
on estimates of the ultimate cost of clams that have been
incurred (both reported and unreported). Changes in the
aggregate liabilities for claims for the past two fiscal years are
as follows (dollars in thousands):

Current-Year

Beginning of Claims and Balance

Fiscal Year Changes in Claim at Fiscal

Liability Estimates Payments Year-End
1996-97 $ 2,422 % 20,624 $ 20,626 $ 2,420
1997-98 2,420 22,301 22,441 2,280

3. Disability Income Plan of North Carolina

Short-term and long-term disability benefits are provided
to the eligible members of the Teachers and State Employees
Retirement System which includes employees of the State, the
University of North Carolina system, community colleges,
certain participating proprietary component units, and Local
Education Agencies (LEAS) which are not part of the reporting
entity, and the University Employees Optional Retirement
Program through the Disability Income Plan of North Carolina
(DIPNC), an interna service fund. Short-term benefits are
payable after a waiting period of 60 continuous calendar days
from the onset of disability, which is determined as the last
actual day of service or the day succeeding at least 365
calendar days after the commencement of service, whichever is
later. Short-term benefits are provided to currently active
employees and the related liability is not measurable. As
discussed in Note 11, long-term disability benefits are payable
as an other postemployment benefit from DIPNC after the
conclusion of the short-term disability period or after salary
continuation payments cease, whichever is later, for as long as
an employee is disabled. These benefits are established by
Chapter 135, Article 6, of the General Statutes and may be
amended only by the North Carolina General Assembly.

Claim liabilities for long-term disability benefits are
actuarially estimated using the one-year term cost method.
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These liabilities represent the present value of future claim
payments obligated to members who have become disabled.
The claim liabilities are separated into the following two
classifications: (1) approved claim liabilities are for long-term
disabilities that have occurred, have been approved, and are in
long-term payment status, and (2) incurred but not reported
(IBNR) liabilities are for disabilities that have occurred but are
not in payment status. The IBNR liabilities are estimated
based on the historical claims experience of DIPNC.

Significant actuarial assumptions used to estimate claim
liabilities are presented in Note 11. Changes in the aggregate
liabilities for claims for the past two fiscal years are as follows
(dollarsin thousands):

Current-Year

Beginning of Claims and Balance
Fiscal Year Changes in Claim at Fiscal
Liability Estimates Payments Year-End
1996-97 $ 172971 $ 83,509 $ 45,098 $ 211,382

1997-98 211,382 65,244 44,334 232,292
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NOTE 12:

C. Other Risks

1. Fire and Other Property Losses

The State Property Fire Insurance Fund (the Fund), an
internal service fund of the State, was created by Chapter 58,
Article 31, of the General Statutes. The Fund insures State
owned buildings and contents for fire, extended coverage, and
other property losses. Coverage for fire losses is free for al
operations that are supported by the State's General Fund.
Those operations that are not supported by the State's General
Fund are charged for fire coverage. Agencies of the State can
purchase extended coverage and other property coverage such
as sprinkler leakage, business interruption, vandalism, theft,
and "all risk" for buildings and contents through the Fund. For
those that elect to receive any of this other coverage, the Fund
charges premiums discounted from industry manual rates. The
Fund insures fire losses up to $1.1 million per occurrence and
extended coverage losses up to $100,000 per building and
$500,000 per occurrence, except for wind losses by named
storms in designated coastal counties, which are covered up to
1% of the value for each location up to a maximum of $2
million per occurrence. All losses covered by the Fund are
subject to a $500 per occurrence deductible except for theft,
which carries a $1,000 per occurrence deductible.

The Fund purchases excess insurance from a private
insurer to cover losses over the amounts insured by the Fund.
If aggregate uninsured extended coverage losses sustained by
the Fund, other than wind losses by named storms, reach $2
million in any one annual period, the Fund is responsible for
subsequent losses as follows: a $50,000 per occurrence
deductible for wind losses other than by named storms, and a
$10,000 per occurrence deductible for other extended coverage
losses. If aggregate uninsured fire and other property losses
sustained by the Fund reach $5 million in any one annual
period, the Fund is responsible for a $50,000 per occurrence
deductible for subsequent losses. Settled claims have not
exceeded coverage in any of the past three fiscal years.

Risk MANAGEMENT AND |NSURANCE (continued)

Claims are paid when the Council of State approves the
request for payment. Claims costs are recognized when they
are approved by the Council of State and are outstanding for
payment; when known estimates of losses are waiting to be
submitted to the Council of State for approval; or when a loss
occurs and can be reasonably estimated. Claims payable at
June 30, 1998 are disclosed on the balance sheet as a
combination of claims payable of $344,820 and due to other
funds of $275,200. Changes in the baances of clams
liabilities during the current and prior fiscal years are as
follows (dollars in thousands):

Current-Year

Beginning of Claims and Balance at
Fiscal Year Changes in Claim Fiscal
Liability Estimates Payments Year-End
1996-97 $ 2,129 $ 4316 $ 3894 $ 2,551
1997-98 2,551 324 2,255 620

2. Medical Malpractice Protection

a. Professional Liability Insurance for State Medical

Personnel

All agencies of the State and participating component
units are insured for tort claims up to $150,000 under the
authority of the State Tort Claims Act, Chapter 143, Article 31,
of the General Statutes. Organizations within the reporting
entity carry excess commercia liability insurance to
supplement the coverage provided by the State Torts Act;
however, claims involving medical malpractice are generally
excluded from this coverage. All universities except for the
University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill Medical School
(UNC-CH Medical School) and UNC Hospitals purchase
commercial liability insurance. The UNC-CH Medical School
and UNC Hospitals are self-insured through the Liability
Insurance Trust Fund, which is described in detail below.
Chapter 443, Section 11.32, of the 1997 Session Laws of North
Carolina authorized the Department of Health and Human
Services, the Department of Environment and Natural
Resources, and the Department of Correction to provide
medical liability coverage on behalf of employees licensed to
practice medicine or dentistry; all licensed physicians who are
faculty members of the University of North Carolina who work
on contract for the Division of Mental Health, Developmental
Disabilities, and Substance Abuse Services for incidents that
occur in Division programs; and on behalf of medical residents
from the University of North Carolina who are in training at
ingtitutions operated by the Department of Health and Human
Services. The extent of coverage is a maximum of $1 million
for each individual incident and does not affect current
coverage under the State Tort Claims Act. The Department of
Health and Human Services, the Department of Environment
and Natural Resources, and the Department of Correction
purchase commercial professional liability insurance for their
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medical staff. Settled claims have not exceeded coverage in
any of the past three fiscal years.

Insurance coverage varies depending upon the amount of
coverage and the type of policy. Typicaly the amount of
primary coverage for medica liability is $1 million per
individual, claim, or incidence, and $3 million total or
aggregate. Many departments and institutions maintain excess
policies to provide additional coverage above that provided by
the primary policy for medical liability. The policies are
written on a claims made or occurrence basis, with the majority
of the policies being claims made. The claims liabilities are
not measurable.

b. Self-Insurance through the Liability | nsurance Trust
Fund

The Liability Insurance Trust Fund (Trust Fund) was
created by Chapter 116, Article 26, of the General Statutes and
the University of North Carolina Board of Governors
Resolution of June 9, 1978 to provide medica malpractice
protection for program participants and individual health care
practitioners working as employees, agents, or officers of the
program participants. The program participants are University
of North Carolina Hospitals at Chapel Hill and the University
of North Carolina at Chapel Hill Physicians and Associates,
both of whom are a part of the University of North Carolina
system, which is a component unit of the reporting entity.
Coverage is sdlf-funded by contributions from participants and
investment income. Contributions are based on the actuarially
determined funding level for agiven plan year.

Coverage is provided on an occurrence basis. The Trust
Fund limits the coverage per occurrence to $5 million with no
limitation in the aggregate. In the event the Trust Fund has
insufficient funds to pay existing and future claims, it has the
authority to borrow necessary amounts up to $30 million. Any
such borrowing would be repaid from the assets and revenues
of program participants. No borrowings have been made under
this authority to date.

The Trust Fund establishes claim liabilities based on
estimates of the ultimate cost of al losses and loss adjustment
expenses, including losses and loss adjustment expenses
incurred but not yet reported, which are unpaid at the balance
sheet date. The claims liability of $30,868,020 and
$35,850,822 is the present value of the aggregate actuarially
determined claims liability of $33,099,157 and $37,980,302,
discounted at rates ranging from 6% to 7%, at June 30, 1997
and 1998, respectively. These estimates are reviewed annually,
and as adjustments become necessary, such adjustments are
reflected in current operations. Claims against participants are
paid from the corpus of the Trust Fund. Changes in the Trust
Fund's aggregate liabilities for claims for the past two fiscal
years are as follows (dollars in thousands):
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Current-Year
Beginning of Claims and Balance
Fiscal Year Changes in Claim at Fiscal
Liability Estimates Payments Year-End
1996-97 $ 28,964 $ 7,038 $ 5134 $ 30,868
1997-98 30,868 8,911 3,928 35,851

3. Automobile Liability Insurance

The State is required by Chapter 58, Article 31, Part 50,
of the General Statutes to provide liability insurance on every
state-owned motor vehicle, which includes vehicles held by the
State's participating component units. The State is self-insured
for the first $250,000 of any loss through a retrospective rated
plan. The plan purchases excess insurance through a private
insurer to cover losses greater than $250,000. The liability
limits for losses incurring in-state are $150,000 per claimant
and $5 million per occurrence. For losses incurring out-of-
state, the limits are $1 million per claimant and $5 million per
occurrence. Covered losses include those that occur with
vehicles that are not on a stationary track or rail, and federal
vehicles when the Governor calls out the National Guard.

Agencies of the State and participating component units
using state cars are charged premiums to cover the cost of the
excess insurance and to pay for those losses faling under the
self-insured retention. Premiums charged are also based on the
projected losses to be incurred. The private insurer processes
al claims and sets up areserve for amounts expected to be paid
for claims. Claims are paid by the private insurer after they are
approved by the Attorney General's Office. Settled claims
have not exceeded coverage in any of the past three fiscal
years.

4. Public Officers and Employees Liability
Insurance

In accordance with Chapter 58, Article 32, Part 15, of the
General Statutes, public officers and employees liability
insurance is provided by private insurers for al employees of
the State and participating component units except for doctors
and dentists. The policy provides $11 million excess insurance
over the $150,000 statutory limit payable for any one claim
under the Tort Claims Act. Since each state agency or
component unit is responsible for funding any tort claims of
$150,000 or less from their budget, total claims liabilities are
not measurable. Employers are charged a premium for the
excess insurance based on a composite rate.  The employers
pay the premiums directly to the private insurer. Settled claims
have not exceeded coverage in any of the past three fiscal
years.
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5. Workers Compensation Program

The Workers' Compensation Program (the Program) was
created by Chapter 97, Article 1, of the General Statutes to
provide benefits to workers injured on the job. All employees
of the State and its component units are included in the
Program. Aninjury is covered under workers compensation if
it is caused by an accident that arose out of and in the course of
employment. Also, certain occupational diseases specifically
designated in the North Carolina Workers Compensation Act
are compensable. Losses payable by the Program include
medical claims, loss of wages, disability, and death benefits.
Payments of all medical benefits are subject to approval based
on a fee schedule established by the North Carolina Industrial
Commission (NCIC). Loss of wages and disability benefits are
payable based on 66 2/3% of an employee's average weekly
salary subject to a statutory compensation rate minimum and
maximum established annually by the NCIC. Death benefits
are payable for 400 weeks at 66 2/3% of an employee's average
weekly salary. In certain instances, death benefits may be
extended beyond the 400 weeks.

The responsibility for claiming compensation is on the
injured employee. If the injured employee or his representative
does not notify the employer within 30 days from the date of
injury, the employer can refuse compensation. A claim must
be filed with the NCIC by either the employee or the employer
within two years from the date of knowledge thereof; otherwise
the claim is barred by law and no further compensation is
allowable. When an employee is injured, the employer's
primary responsibility is to arrange for and provide the
necessary treatment for any work-related injury. The employer
tries to provide the best possible medical care for injured
employees to help them reach maximum medical improvement
and return to work as soon as possible.

On April 1, 1996, the Workers Compensation Cost
Containment Pilot Project was developed by the Office of State
Budget and Management and the Office of State Personnel by
authority of Chapter 507, Section 11.1 of the 1995 Session
Laws. Seventeen state agencies and universities volunteered to
participate in the Project. A third-party administrator was
selected in a bidding process to administer workers
compensation clams for these seventeen agencies and
universities. The seventeen agencies and universities
contribute to a fund set up in the Office of the State Controller,
which is administered by the Office of State Personnel, to
cover their workers compensation claims. The administrator
draws from this fund on a daily basis to make medical and
indemnity payments on behalf of the State. An administrative
fee based on a percentage of cost savings also is drawn from
the fund by the administrator. The workers' compensation cost
of the seventeen project agencies is included in the schedule
below. For the other non-participating agencies and
universities, each employer accepts or denies liability for the
reporting entity and is responsible for monitoring and
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processing the claims. The employer is responsible for paying
medical benefits and compensation in accordance with the
North Carolina Workers Compensation Act.

The State and its component units are self-insured for
workers' compensation. Each state agency and participating
component unit is responsible for paying claims out of its
individual budget. Budgets for workers compensation for
most state agencies and participating component units are
based on the prior year's loss experience. Since the related
liability is not measurable, claim costs are recognized when
paid. The Department of Transportation is the only state
agency or component unit that sets up areserve for claims. For
the year ended June 30, 1998, workers compensation costs
were recognized as follows (dollars in thousands):

Primary government ............ccccccvveeennee. $ 35,917
University of North Carolina system ..... 3,295
All other component units .................... 72
TOLAL e $ 39,284




State of North Carolina

99

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 13: SEGMENT INFORMATION FOR ENTERPRISE FUNDS

Segment information for the State's enterprise funds for the year ended June 30, 1998 is presented below (dollars in thousands).

uss
North Indian
Public N.C. Carolina Agricultural Cultural
School State Battleship Farmers Workers' Tourist Other
Insurance Fair Commission Market Comp. Center Funds Total
[1] [2] [3] [4] [5] [6] [71

Operating revenues.............. $9,080 $7,081 $2,111 $ 854 $ 3,320 $3 $1,269 $ 23,718
Depreciation/amortization..... — 636 158 623 — 9 32 1,458
Operating income (loss).. (1,355) (227) 218 (685) (941) (6) (106) (3,102)
Operating transfers in...... . — — — 121 — — 169 290
Operating transfers (out)....... — (125) — ) — — — (127)
Net income (I0SS).................. (1,355) (246) 381 (551) (941) (6) 113 (2,605)
Current capital contribution... — — — — 4,500 — 1,849 6,349
Fixed assets:

Additions..........ccceiiiinee — (607) (76) (614) — — 1,815 518

Deletions..... . — — 51 — — — — 51
Current assets.... 54,723 4,670 1,605 716 12,013 28 442 74,197
Current liabilities.... . 22,447 632 138 86 6,037 — 61 29,401
Net working capital............... 32,276 4,038 1,467 630 5,976 28 381 44,796
Total assets........ccevveeueennen. 54,723 13,413 4,506 10,785 12,013 507 2,256 98,203
Total equity (deficit).............. 32,276 12,781 4,278 10,699 5,976 507 2,195 68,712

Principal enterprisefund activities:

[1] The Public School Insurance fund provides
fire, theft and vandalism insurance for public school
buildings and contents and offers risk management
services.

[2] TheN.C. State Fair in Raeigh provides
annual competitive exhibition of North Carolina
agricultural products as well asrural arts and crafts.

[3] TheUSSNorth Carolina Battleship
Commission in Wilmington is open for public
exhibition al year. The Commission administersthe
maintenance and exhibition costs of the battleship.
[4] TheAgricultural Farmers Market in Raleigh
provides a site where state farmers can sell fresh
produce and other agricultural products directly to the
public.

[5] TheWorkers Compensation Fund, provides
benefits to volunteer safety workers for workers
compensation. This fund is administered by the N.C.
Department of Insurance.

[6] Thelndian Cultural Tourist Center, located
in Robeson County, is to promote and preserve the
culture of the Indian people.

[7] Other Governmental Enterprise Funds have
been organized to operate concession stands,
bookstores, and vending and sales desks.
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NOTE 14: COMPONENT UNITS— CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Condensed financial statements for the component unit funds as of and for the fiscal year ended June 30, 1998 are presented below
(dollars in thousands).

Condensed Balance Sheet
Component Units - Proprietary Funds

N.C. Low
N.C. State N.C. North Level Radio- N.C. Total
Housing Education State Carolina  Active Waste Global Other Proprietary
Finance Assistance Ports Centennial Railroad  Management TransPark Component Component
Agency Authority Authority Authority Company _ __Authority Authority MCNC Units Units
Current assets
Due from primary government..... $ — $ 13299 $ — — — 3 — 3 — 8 195 $ — 8 13,494
Other....cciiiieiieee e 39,103 463,732 35,615 146,963 6,412 632 28,529 8,635 70,446 800,067
Non-current assets 1,089,767 424,390 48 — — — — 167 7,960 1,522,332
Fixed assets 431 631 116,975 38,551 7.843 — 4,209 9,934 9.800 188,374
Total ASSetS.......ccocvvviiiiiiiiiiins $ 1129301 $ 902052 $ 152638 $ 185514 $ 14255 $ 632 $ 32738 $ 18931 $ 88206 $ 2524267
Current liabilities
Due to primary government. $ 14 $ — 8 — — 3 — 13 3 3 — 8 18 19
Other... 112,887 202,312 3,784 50,634 380 317 5,607 7,228 18,021 401,170
Long-term liabilities
Due to primary government......... — — — — — 16,824 — — — 16,824
Advance from primary
gOVErNMENt......cccviuviiiiiieiieienne — — — — — 33,054 25,000 — — 58,054
Bonds payable.... 883,374 294,114 12,870 59,890 — — — — — 1,250,248
— — 672 — — — — 794 6,421 7,887
Fund equity.......cceeereevrciicriicns 133.026 405,626 135312 74,990 13.875 (49.564) 2128 10.909 63,763 790,065

Total liabilities and fund equity...... $ 1129301 $ 902052 $ 152638 $ 185514 $ 14255 $ 632 $ 32738 $ 18931 $ 88206 $ 2524267

Condensed Statement of Revenues. Exnenses and Chanaes in Fund Eauitv
Component Units - Proprietary Funds

N.C. Low
N.C. State N.C. North Level Radio- N.C. Total
Housing Education State Carolina  Active Waste Global Other Proprietary
Finance Assistance Ports Centennial Railroad Management  TransPark Component Component
Authority Authority Authority company Authority Authority  ___MCNC Units Units
Operating revenues... $ 83,986 $ 62,094 $ 27,404 3 — 8 3232 $ — 3 — $ 32,749 % 3171 $ 212,636
Operating expenses
Depreciation/amortization 136 394 7,205 — 9 — 38 9,570 818 18,170
All other. 71.833 42,146 22,010 390 2471 — 1.458 32,263 9,068 182.539
Operating income... 12,017 19,554 (1,811) (390) 752 — (1,496) (9,084) (7,615) 11,927
Operating transfers from
component UNits.............cccceeee. — 9,531 — — — — — — — 9,531
Operating transfers from
primary government................... 2,314 13,299 — — — — 922 4,500 92,586 113,621
Operating transfers to
primary government................... (50) — (1) — — — — — — (51)
Other nonoperating
revenues (expenses) — 36 379 4,255 4,339 (3.575) 507 (11.534) (60.677) (66.270)
Net income (l0SS).........ccocueeicnns 14,281 42,420 (1,433) 3,865 5,091 (3,575) (67) (16,118) 24,294 68,758
Excess of revenues over
(under) expenditures from
governmental operations.... (1,086) — — — — — — — — (1,086)
Fund equity - July 1.... 126,206 363,206 120,502 65,943 8,784 (45,578) 2,201 25,723 40,933 707,920
Other changes in equity. (6.375) — 16.243 5.182 — (411) (6) 1.304 (1.464) 14473

Fund equity - June 30....

$ 133026 $ 405626 $ 135312 $ 74990 $ 13875 $ (49564) $ 2128 $ 10909 $ 63763 $ 790,065
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Condensed Balance Sheet
Component Units - College and University Funds

Community Total College
University Colleges and University
Funds Funds Funds
Assets
Due from other fuNdS........c.coeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiee e $ 66,091 $ 546 $ 66,637
Due from COMPONENT UNIES......ccueiiiiiieiiiieiiie e 1,753 — 1,753
Due from primary government.. 5,148 46,140 51,288
Fixed assets. 4,637,257 1,135,533 5,772,790
Other......... . 4,355,285 236,478 4,591,763
TOLAl ASSELS. ...ieiueiieiiiie ettt $ 9065534 $ 1,418,697 $ 10,484,231
Liabilities
Due to other funds $ 66,091 $ 546 $ 66,637
Due to component units.. 1,640 — 1,640
Due to primary government 1,227 2,459 3,686
Bonds payable.... 838,993 — 838,993
Notes payable.... 42,315 1,205 43,520
1,591,513 88,804 1,680,317
Total liabilities 2,541,779 93,014 2,634,793
Fund equity
Total fund equity. 6,523,755 1,325,683 7,849,438

Total liabilities and fund equity $ 9065534 $ 1,418,697 $ 10,484,231

Condensed Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Equity
Component Units - College and University Funds

Community Total College
University Colleges and University
Funds Funds Funds

Revenues $ 3197818 $ 459,410 $ 3,657,228
Expenditures 4,242,889 986,806 5,229,695
Operating transfers from primary government. 1,654,249 619,626 2,273,875
Operating transfers to primary government (16,572) — (16,572)
Operating transfers to COMPONeNt UNItS...........ccovevveriiviiieriieneenns (9,531) — (9,531)
Net increase in fund equity.................. 583,075 92,230 675,305
Fund equity - July 1........... . 5,946,656 1,231,804 7,178,460
Other changes in equity. (5,976) 1,649 (4,327)

Fund equity - June 30

$ 6523755 $ 1325683 $ 7,849,438

Condensed Statement of Current Funds Revenues, Expenditures, and Transfers
Component Units - College and University Funds

Community Total College
University Colleges and University
Funds Funds Funds

Revenues
Expenditures
Transfers and Additions (Deductions):

Excess of restricted receipts over transfers to revenues.............. 13,618 2,250 15,868

$ 2,019,398 $ 242,435 $ 2,261,833
3,311,096 807,900 4,118,996

Refunded to grantors (856) — (856)
Mandatory transfers (61,171) 2) (61,173)
Non-mandatory transfers...........ccooeiieiicnic e (10,896) (3,074) (13,970)
Interinstitutional transfers. (4,323) — (4,323)
Operating transfers from primary government... 1,430,423 568,296 1,998,719
Operating transfers to primary government (1,336) — (1,336)
Operating transfers to component units (9,531) — (9,531)
Net increase in fund equity $ 64,230 $ 2,005 $ 66,235
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NOTE 15 RESERVED FUND BALANCES

The State and its component units' reserved fund balances represent those portions of fund balance that are (1) not available
for appropriation or expenditure, which includes loans receivable and long-term portion of advances to other funds, or (2) fund
balances that are legally segregated for a specific use.

The primary government's reserved fund balances at June 30, 1998, are (dollars in thousands):

Governmental Fund Types Eiduciary Funds
Non-
Special Capital Expendable expendable Pension Investment Fiduciary
— General  _ Revenue _ Projects Trust Trust Trust Totals

Inventories... $ 48,997 $ 25630 $ — 8 1,132 $ — 8 - $ — 8 1,132
Reserved for sp

eNCUMDBIaNCES..........ccovviiiiiiicciiecne 260,663 10,094 — — — —
Retirees' health premiums... 253,500 — — — — — — —
Energy conservation.... 31,102 — — 1,872 — 1,872
Investments.......... 43 — — — — — — —
Other reserves..... 32,431 2,557 — 610 — — — 610
Medicaid programs...... . 146,756 — — — — — — —
Advances to component unit... 94,054 — — 25,000 — — — 25,000
Repairs and renovations, 174,190 — — —
Clean Water Management

Trust Fund 47,398 — — — — — — —
Intangible tax refunds.. 9,260 — — — — — — —
Federal retirees' refund account.. 10,714 — — — — — — —
DPI allocation................... 55,028 — — — — — — —
Disproportionate share 35,447 — — — — — — —
Work First........cccc.... 19,541 — — — — — — —
Vacation, sick leave. — 32,599 — — — — — —
Notes receivable 497 112,371 — — 255,487 — — 255,487
Public School Building

Capital Needs — 28,107 — — — — — —
Critical School Facility Needs.. — 5,010 — — — — — —
Prepaid items.........cccceeune — 1,290 — — — — — —
Capital projects . . — — 88,871 — — — — —
Claims and benefits............ccocooevviiiiiiinnnns — — — 1,968,548 — — — 1,968,548
Loan and grant commitments.. — 722,646 — — 49,498 — — 49,498
Abandoned property. — — — 180,127 — — — 180,127
Political parties..... — — — 125 — — — 125
Wildlife endowment.. — — — — 41,183 — — 41,183
Investment pool participants . — — — — — — 306,610 306,610
Employees' pension benefits — — — — — 49334679 — 49.334.679
Total Fund Balances

Reserved.........cooiiiiiinicciicecccee $ 1219621 $ 940304 $ 88871 $ 2177414 $ 346168 $ 49334679 $ 306610 $ 52164871

The component units' reserved fund balances at June 30, 1998, are (dollars in thousands):

Total
College and
Restricted Funds Community University
University Colleges Funds
LOANS. ..ot $ 96,222 $ 1,042 $ 97,264
ENdOWmENtS.......ccoeeevieeeciiecciieeeeeeeee 695,449 14,845 710,294
Revenue bonds...........cccoeeeeeeiiiiiiiiiieennn, 69,046 — 69,046
Restricted funds..........cccccvveeiiiiiiiiieenns 550.471 133.754 684,225

Total Fund Balances Reserved............... $ 1411188 $ 149641 $ 1560829
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NOTE 16:

FUND EQUITY RECLASSIFICATIONS AND RESTATEMENTS

As a result of review during the current reporting
period, certain funds were reclassified from their June 30,
1997 presentation to more appropriate fund types. The
effects of these reclassifications appear in the "Entity
Changes/Fund Reclassification” column. Some fund equity
balances as of July 1, 1997, are restated for certain
accounting changes or adjusted for the correction of errorsin
the reported balances of the fiscal year ended June 30, 1997.
These changes are shown in the "Prior Y ear Adjustments and
Restatements' column. The following table summarizes the
above changes as they appear in the accompanying financial
statements (dollarsin thousands).

As referred to in Note 1, Summary of Sgnificant
Accounting Policies, the State implemented GASB
Statement No. 31, Accounting and Financial Reporting for

Certain Investments and for External Investment Pools, and
GASB Statement No. 32, Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Internal Revenue Code Section 457 Deferred
Compensation Plans, for the fiscal year ended June 30,
1998.

On April 1, 1998, the State loaned $61 million to the
North Carolina Railroad Company (Railroad), a for-profit
corporation, for the purpose of acquiring the non-State
owned outstanding common stock shares of the Railroad.
This transaction resulted in the State owning 100% of the
outstanding common stock shares of the Railroad. Based on
the application of the criteria related to financial
accountability and benefit/burden found in GASB Statement
No. 14, The Financial Reporting Entity, the Railroad is now
classified as a proprietary component unit of the State.

June 30, 1997 Entity July 1, 1997 July 1, 1997
Fund Changes/ Fund Fund
Equity GASB 31 GASB 32 Fund Equity Prior Year Equity
as Previously Implemen- Implemen- Reclass- as Adjustments/ as
Reported tation tation ification Reported Restatements Restated

General Fund.........cccoovviiiiiiciinee $ 1,703,901 $ 3,643 — $ (126) $ 1,707,418 $ 384 3% 1,707,802
Special Revenue.... 1,937,374 84 — (1,000) 1,936,458 (210) 1,936,248
Capital Projects...... 280,444 — — — 280,444 — 280,444
Enterprise............... 63,970 872 — 126 64,968 — 64,968
Internal Service............... 639,849 21,573 — — 661,422 573 661,995
Expendable Trust Funds...... 2,911,845 11,844 425,514 — 3,349,203 1) 3,349,202
Nonexpendable Trust Funds 354,802 2,935 — 1,000 358,737 (20) 358,717
Pension Trust Funds............ 41,649,289 — — — 41,649,289 — 41,649,289
Investment Trust Fund......... — 285.380 — — 285.380 — 285.380
Total Primary Government................. 49,541,474 326,331 425514 = 50,293,319 726 50,294,045
Component Units
Proprietary Funds...........cccoevveeininininn 691,620 7,516 — 8,784 707,920 (7,452) 700,468
College and University:

university funds..........cocoeeeevvcinnenene 5,890,171 56,485 — — 5,946,656 (5,922) 5,940,734

Community colleges funds. 1.230.854 950 — — 1.231.804 1.649 1,233,453
Total Component Units.........ccccceeenee. 7.812.645 64951 = 8.784 7.886.380 (11.725) 7.874.655
Total Reporting Entity.......ccccocevvenne. $ 57,354,119 $ 391,282 $ 425514 $ 8784 $ 58179699 $ (10999) $ 58,168,700

NOTE 17:

RESIDUAL EQUITY TRANSFERS

Residual equity transfers out exceed residual equity transfersin
by $31.21 million due to the following transactions; (1) $9.943
million transferred out from the State Highway Fund to the
North Carolina Railroad Company (proprietary component
unit, fiscal year ended December 31, 1997). Thistransfer is not
reflected on the State’s component unit financial statements for
the fiscal year ended June 30, 1998. (2) $11.384 million
transferred out from the Capital Projects Fund and $4.859
million transferred out from the General Fund to the State Ports
Authority (proprietary component unit), recorded by the
Authority as an increase in contributed capital. (3) $4.5 million
transferred out from the General Fund to the Workers
Compensation Fund (Enterprise Fund), recorded by the

Workers Compensation Fund as an increase in contributed
capital. (4) $500 thousand transferred out from the General
Fund to the N.C. Agricultural Finance Authority (proprietary
component unit), recorded by the Authority as an increase in
contributed capital. (5) $90 thousand deficit transferred out of
the General Fund to the Enterprise Funds - Other recorded in
the Enterprise Funds - Other as a decrease in contributed
capital. $114 thousand transferred out from the Expendable
Trust Funds - Other recorded in the Enterprise Funds - Other
asanincreasein contributed capital.
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NOTE 18: COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

A. No Commitment Debt

The State, by action of the General Assembly, created the
North Carolina Medical Care Commission which is authorized
to issue tax-exempt bonds and notes to finance construction
and equipment projects for nonprofit and public hospitals,
nursing homes, continuing care facilities for the elderly and
related facilities. The bonds are not an indebtedness of the
State and, accordingly, are not reflected in the accompanying
financial statements. Each issue is payable solely from the
revenues of the facility financed by that issue and any other
credit support provided. Therefore, each issue is separately
secured and is separate and independent from all other issues
as to source of payment and security. The indebtedness of
each entity is serviced and administered by a trustee inde-
pendent of the State. Maturing serially to calendar year 2028,
the outstanding principal of such bonds and notes as of June
30, 1998, was $2.497 hillion with interest rates varying from
2.30 % t0 8.75 %.

The State, by action of the General Assembly, created the
North Carolina Educational Facilities Finance Agency which is
authorized to issue tax-exempt bonds and notes to finance
facilities and structures at private institutions of higher learn-
ing. The bonds are not an indebtedness of the State and, ac-
cordingly, are not reflected in the accompanying financial
statements. Each issue is payable solely from the revenues of
the facility financed by that issue and any other credit support
provided. Therefore, each issue is separately secured and is
separate and independent from all other issues as to source of
payment and security. The indebtedness of each issue is
serviced and administered by a trustee independent of the
State. Maturing serially to calendar year 2028, the outstanding
principal of such bonds and notes as of June 30, 1998, was
$539.9 million with variable interest rates.

The State, by action of the General Assembly, created the
North Carolina Industrial Facilities and Pollution Control Fi-
nancing Authority which is authorized to issue tax-exempt
bonds and notes to provide funds to be loaned by the Authority
to finance industrial and manufacturing facilities, pollution
control facilities for industry (in connection with manufactur-
ing) where there is a favorable impact on employment or pol-
lution control commensurate with the size and cost of the fa-
cilities. The bonds are not an indebtedness of the State and,
accordingly, are not reflected in the accompanying financial
statements. Each issue is payable solely from the revenues of
the facility financed by that issue and any other credit support
provided. Therefore, each issue is separately secured and is
separate and independent from all other issues as to source of
payment and security. The indebtedness of each issue is
serviced and administered by a trustee independent of the
State. Maturing serially to calendar year 2009, the outstanding

principal of such bonds and notes as of June 30, 1998, was
$8.8 million with variable interest rates.

B. Litigation

Bailey v. State and Patton v. State -- State Income Tax
Refundsfor Retired State and Federal Workers. Baileyisa
class action involving the claim that the General Assembly
acted uncongtitutionally in 1989 when it repealed the full
exemption from State income tax for the pensions of retired
state and local government employees. This action was taken
in response to the United States Supreme Court decision in
Davis v. Michigan Department of Treasury that the
intergovernmental tax immunity doctrine prohibits states from
taxing pensions of state and federal retirees differently. Patton
is a class action involving the claim that the General
Assembly’s 1989 legislation did not cure the defects in the
State' s taxation of the pensions of state and federal retirees.

The State defended Bailey on the grounds that the people of
the State in enacting Article V, Sec. 1 of the State Constitution
(“The power of taxation shall . . . never be surrendered,
suspended or contracted away”) vested in the General
Assembly the full discretion to change tax exemptions as
conditions warranted. On May 8, 1997, the North Carolina
Supreme Court chose not to apply Article V, Sec. 1 of the State
Congtitution and held that the General Assembly acted
unconstitutionally when it repealed the full tax exemption for
state and local government retirees who had “vested” interests
in their pensions. Overturning a long line of prior decisions,
the Court further held that the State was liable to make full
refunds of all state income taxes paid by these retirees since
1989 regardless of whether they had followed required
procedures.

One potential result of the Bailey decision was to recreate a
difference in the treatment of the pensions of federal and state
retirees for the period since 1989, and thus make the State
liable to federal retireesin Patton. Given the Supreme Court’s
decision in Bailey and its potential impact in Patton, the
General Assembly agreed to settle all claims for refunds by all
state and federal retirees for $799 million. The North Carolina
General Assembly has reserved $400 million to pay the first
installment of the settlement. This amount has been reported in
the financia statements as a liability of the General Fund. The
remaining $399 million has been reported as a liability in the
Genera Long-term Obligations Account Group.

Faulkenbury v. Teachers and State Employees
Retirement System, Peele v. Teachers and State Employees
Retirement System and Woodard v. Local Government
Employees Retirement System. Plaintiffs are disability
retirees who brought class actions in state court challenging
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changes in the formula for payment of disability retirement
benefits and claiming impairment of contract rights, breach of
fiduciary duty, violation of other federal constitutional rights,
and the violation of state constitutional and statutory rights.
Their claims were heard in the Superior Court of Wake County
in May, 1995. The trial court ruled in plaintiffs favor, and the
State appealed to the North Carolina Supreme Court. The
Supreme Court affirmed the judgment of the trial court in favor
of the plaintiffs on April 11, 1997. The court concluded that at
the time plaintiffs’ rights to pensions became vested, the law
provided that they would have disability retirement benefits
calculated in a certain way; and that these were contractual
rights that plaintiffs earned and that could not be taken away by
the Legidlature. Thetria court is how supervising the payment
of back benefits to class members. The estimated amount of
back benefits due class members is $126 million. This amount
has been reported in the financial statements as aliability of the
Teachers and State Employees Retirement System. As of
September 20, 1998, approximately one-half of this amount has
been paid and the remainder is expected to be paid no later
than June 30, 1999.

Leandro et al v. State of North Carolina and State Board
of Education. On May 25, 1994, students and boards of
education in five counties in the State filed suit in Superior
Court requesting a declaration that the State’ s public education
system does not meet standards established by the State
Congtitution.  In January, 1995, the tria court refused to
dismiss the suit and the State appealed. Subsequently, the
North Carolina Court of Appeals reversed the trial court and
dismissed the suit. On July 24, 1997, the North Carolina
Supreme Court reversed the Court of Appeals. The Court
concluded that the North Carolina Congtitution guarantees
“every child of this state an opportunity to receive a sound
basic education,” and remanded that issue to the trial court for
further proceedings.

The Attorney General’s Office believes that there are sound
legal arguments to support the State’'s position on remand that
plaintiffs are receiving an opportunity to obtain a sound basic
education.

Smith v. State — Intangibles tax refunds to non-
protesting taxpayers. On February 21, 1996, the U.S.
Supreme Court declared North Carolina's intangibles tax
uncongtitutional.  Subsequently, the State made refunds of
intangible taxes paid by all persons who had complied with the
provisions of G.S. 105-267 for obtaining refunds of
unconstitutional taxes. The Smith case is an action aimed
principally at recovering intangibles tax refunds for taxpayers
who failed to comply with the provisions of G.S. 105-267.
Prior to the N.C. Supreme Court’s 1997 decision in Bailey, it
was firmly established that compliance with G.S. 105-267 was
necessary to obtain a refund and on that basis the trial court in
Smith had denied the claims of non-protesting taxpayers for
refunds. As noted above, however, the 1997 Bailey decision

overturned the long line of cases on which the trial court had
relied. On December 4, 1998, the Supreme Court ruled that
North Carolina will have to pay refunds to non-protesters who
paid intangibles taxes. Refunds to non-protesters will total
approximately $233 million plus interest of approximately
$100 million. The total liability has been reported in the
financial statements in the General Long-term Obligations
Account Group.

Other Litigation. The State isinvolved in numerous other
claims and legal proceedings, many of which normally recur in
governmental operations. A review of the status of outstanding
lawsuits involving the State by the North Carolina Attorney
General did not disclose other proceedings that are expected to
have a material adverse effect on the financial position of the
State.

C. Federal Grants

Under the terms of federal grants, periodic audits are re-
quired and certain costs may be questioned as not being ap-
propriate expenditures under the terms of the grants. Such
audits could lead to reimbursement to the grantor agencies,
although it is believed that disallowances, if any, will be im-
material.

D. Highway Construction

The State may be liable for approximately $63.7 million to
contractors for highway construction claims that the State has
contested. The State may also be liable for an additional $38.9
million in contested rights-of-way acquisition costs to property
owners in condemnation proceedings. These costs have not
been included in project-to-date costs. Also, the State is
contingently liable for outstanding contractors claims in the
amount of $9.7 million.

E. USDA-Donated Commodities

The State has custodial responsibility for $1.937 million
of U.S. Department of Agriculture donated food commodities
for which the Stateis liable in the event of loss.

F. Construction and Other Commitments

At June 30, 1998, the State had commitments of $1,186.0
million for construction of highway facilities. Of this amount,
$954 million relates to the Highway Fund, and $232 million
relates to the Highway Trust Fund. The other commitments for
construction and improvements of state government facilities
totaled $196.7 million (including $121.2 million for the
Department of Environment and Natural Resources and $35.8
million for the Department of Administration).
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NOTE 18:

At June 30, 1998, the University of North Carolina system
(component unit) had outstanding construction commitments of
$301.8 million (including $100.0 million for UNC Hospitals,
$50.2 million for University of North Carolina - Chapel Hill, and
$32.2 million for Appalachian State University).

At June 30, 1998, community colleges (component units)
had outstanding construction commitments of $49.6 million

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued)

(including $8.8 million for Isothermal Community College, $5.1
million for Richmond Community College, and $4.7 million for
Guilford Technical Community College).

At June 30, 1998, proprietary component units had
outstanding commitments of $7.7 million (including $4.0 million
for North Carolina State Ports Authority and $3.0 million for
Globa TransPark).

NOTE 19: SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

State Education Assistance Authority. On September
23, 1998, the Authority issued $240 million taxable
Guaranteed Student Loan Revenue Bonds (equal amounts of
Series F1 and F2) with an initial interest rate of 5.6%. Since
these are auctioned rate bonds and are auctioned monthly, the
rate will fluctuate as market conditions change.

North Carolina State University. On July 24, 1998, the
University signed a commitment letter with NationsBank, N.A.
in the amount of $14 million to interim finance the cost of
construction of the Partners 111 Building and a parking deck on
Centennial Campus. To date, the loan documents have not
been signed.

On September 11, 1998, the University of North Carolina
Board of Governor’sratified the issuance of bonds for a system
wide tax exempt bond financing. The University intends to
borrow approximately $29.4 million through the financing.

On September 30, 1998, the Board of Trustees of the
University ratified the commitment the Chancellor made on
September 21, 1998 to fund an additional $6 million to
Centennial Authority for the construction of the Entertainment
and Sports Arena. The University will fund the commitment
from aloan to be repaid from revenue earned at Arena events.

Statewide Bond Referendum. On November 3, 1998,
North Carolina voters approved $800 million of new debt to
finance grants and loans to local government units for water
supply systems, wastewater collection systems, wastewater
treatment works, and water conservation and water reuse
projects; and an additional $200 million of new debt to finance
grants, loans, or other financing to public or private entities for
construction of natural gas facilities.

NOTE 20: EVENTSSUBSEQUENT TO THE | SSUANCE OF THE ORIGINAL | NDEPENDENT

AUDITOR’SREPORT

GASB Technical Bulletin 99-1. On March 29, 1999, the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) issued
Technical Bulletin (TB) 99-1, Disclosures about Year 2000
Issues—an amendment of Technical Bulletin 98-1. The
amendment, among other things, provides that required year
2000 disclosures may be reported as required supplementary
information. Retroactive application of TB 99-1 is permitted.
The State of North Carolina has elected to apply TB 99-1
retroactively for its 1998 general-purpose financial statements,
and to present the year 2000 disclosures as required
supplementary information on pages 108 and 109.

Tobacco Settlement. On November 16, 1998, nine states
Attorneys General and the major tobacco companies signed a
proposed settlement that reimburses states for smoking-related
medical expenses paid through Medicaid and other health care
programs. North Carolina could receive $4.6 billion over the

next 25 years. On March 16, 1999, the General Assembly
established a foundation, to comply with a court consent
decree, to help communities in North Carolina hurt by the
decline of tobacco. The court must review the law for
compliance with the intent outlined in the consent decree. The
foundation would receive 50 percent of the settlement. A trust
fund for tobacco farmers and quota holders, and a second trust
fund for health programs, would each get a quarter of the
settlement.

Statewide Bond Issues. The State sold $450 million of
general obligation school construction bonds on March 17,
1999. Additionaly, the State sold $25.905 million of Clean
Water Refunding Bonds on March 17, 1999. The refunding
bonds provided funds for refunding $24 million of Clean
Water Bonds, Series 1994A.
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YEAR 2000 |SSUES

The Year 2000 issue is the result of shortcomingsin many
electronic data processing systems and other egquipment that
may adversely affect operations in the year 1999 and beyond.
For many years, programmers eliminated the first two digits
from a year when writing programs. For example,
programmers would designate January 1, 1965 as “01/01/65”
instead of “01/01/1965.” On January 1, 2000 at 12:00:01 a.m.,
the internal clock in computers and other equipment will roll
over from “12/31/99” to “01/01/00.” Unfortunately, many
programs (if not corrected) will not be able to distinguish
between the Y ear 2000 and the year 1900. This may cause the
programs to process data inaccurately or to stop processing
data altogether. Another factor that may cause problems in
programs is the leap year calculation. Some programs are
unable to detect the Y ear 2000 as aleap year.

All information systems in North Carolina that use dates
to generate data will be affected by the new millennium: for
example, kindergarten registration and blood supply could be
affected. In addition, non-information systems such as forms
need to be evaluated because they provide input to software
applications. Mail processing equipment may need to be
modified to handle the new millennium. Other areas such as
elevators, security systems, and vaults will be affected by the
Y ear 2000.

In early 1997, the Year 2000 Project Team (including a
statewide Steering Committee and agency co-ordinators) was
formed to manage the Year 2000 project from a statewide
perspective. The Year 2000 Project Team is responsible for
prioritizing systems statewide, developing and maintaining
statewide conversion schedules, analyzing third-party product
compliance, maintaining a statewide Year 2000 repository,
defining the overal conversion approach and milestones,
reporting the status of statewide conversion projects, providing
statewide communications and coordination, reporting the
status of statewide Year 2000 funding and use, reporting the
status of statewide quality assurance, developing and
maintaining a statewide risk management plan, coordinating
the Year 2000 budget process, maintaining an evolving cost
estimate, and analyzing the automated tool offerings.

The executive departments, universities, university
hospitals, and community colleges are responsible for
completing the Year 2000 conversion efforts in their areas.
They will work within the framework set forth by the Year
2000 Steering Committee and carried through by the Statewide
Y ear 2000 Project Team.

As of year-end, the State has contracted with several
vendors for assistance in addressing the year 2000 issues
relating to its computer systems and other electronic

equipment. The amount of those commitments is

approximately $36.7 million.

The following stages have been identified as necessary to
address the Y ear 2000 issue.

Awareness Stage—Encompasses establishing a budget
and project plan (for example, a timeline or chart noting
major tasks and due dates) for dealing with the Y ear 2000
issue.

Assessment Stage—When the organization begins the
actual process of identifying all of its systems (preparing
an inventory) and individual components of the systems.
An organization may decide to review al system
components or, through a risk analysis, identify only
mission-critical systems and equipment systems and
equipment critical to conducting operations.

Remediation Stage—When the organization actualy
makes changes to systems and equipment. This stage
deals primarily with the technical issues of converting
existing systems, or switching to compliant systems.
During this stage, decisions are made on how to make the
systems or equipment issues, and the required system
changes are made.

Validation/Testing Stage—When the organization
validates and tests the changes made during the conversion
process. The development of test data and test scripts, the
running of test scripts, and the review of test results are
crucia for this stage of the conversion process to be
successful. If the testing results show anomalies, the tested
area needs to be corrected and retested.

As of year-end, the Y ear 2000 Project Team reported 174
computer systems in the assessment stage, 121 computer
systems in the remediation stage and 140 computer systems in
the validation/testing stage. These systems have been grouped
by function in the table below.
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Validation/

General government .................. 13 13 10
Education .........cccoeeiriiiiiiinnnn. 9 8 6
Health and human services ....... 17 13 8
Economic development ............. 1 8 11
Environment and

natural resources ...........cccocue... 1 21 3

Public safety, corrections,

and regulation ..........ccccceeveenee. 9 23 5
Transportation .... 9 16 15
Agriculture ........... 2 — 7
UNiversities ........cccceenevicnne, 113 19 75

Total oo 174 121 140

The assessment process for computer systems is continuous
and ongoing. The Year 2000 Project Team has just begun an
assessment of other electronic equipment that may require
replacement or adjustment.

Because of the unprecedented nature of the year 2000
issue, its effects and the success of related remediation efforts
will not be fully determinable until the year 2000 and
thereafter. Management cannot assure that the State and its
component units are or will be year 2000 ready, that the State's
and its component units' remediation efforts will be successful
in whole or in part, or that parties with whom the State and its
component units do business will be year 2000 ready. In
addition, the completion of these stages is not a guarantee that
systems and equipment will be Y ear 2000-compliant.
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SCHEDULES OF FUNDING PROGRESS
ALL PENSION TRUST FUNDS

June 30, 1998

(Expressed in Thousands)

Unfunded UAAL as a

Actuarial Actuarial AAL Funded Annual Percentage of
Valuation Value of Accrued (UAAL) Ratio Covered Covered Payroll

Retirement System Date Assets Liability (AAL) (b) - (a) (a) / (b) Payroll ((b-a)/c)

(a) (b) NOTE 1 (c)

Teachers' and 12-31-97 $ 27,765,057 $ 28,071,156 $ 306,099 98.9% $ 7,373,713 4.2%
State Employees' 12-31-96 # 25,357,460 25,478,193 120,733 99.5% 6,845,185 1.8%
12-31-95 22,178,592 22,663,750 485,158 97.9% 6,595,618 7.4%
12-31-94 20,394,957 20,908,734 513,777 97.5% 6,323,410 8.1%
12-31-93 18,695,663 19,274,394 578,731 97.0% 5,975,648 9.7%
12-31-92 17,039,908 17,608,007 568,099 96.8% 5,695,451 10.0%
Consolidated 12-31-97  $ 207,706 $ 199,204 $ (8,502) 104.3% $ 39,698 (21.4)%
Judicial 12-31-96 # 188,722 183,442 (5,280) 102.9% 36,608 (14.4)%
12-31-95 164,358 175,126 10,768 93.9% 35,665 30.2%
12-31-94 151,366 161,732 10,366 93.6% 34,114 30.4%
12-31-93 138,419 148,495 10,076 93.2% 29,832 33.8%
12-31-92 125,804 138,835 13,031 90.6% 29,335 44.4%
Legislative 12-31-97  $ 16,186 $ 14,761 $ (1,425) 109.7% $ 3,605 (39.5)%
12-31-96 # 14,563 13,715 (848) 106.2% 3,573 (23.7)%
12-31-95 12,883 12,685 (298) 101.6% 3,616 (5.5)%
12-31-94 11,281 11,137 (144) 101.3% 3,309 (4.4)%
12-31-93 9,611 8,854 (757) 108.5% 2,264 (33.4)%
12-31-92 8,476 8,005 (471) 105.9% 2,171 (21.7)%
Firemen's, Rescue 6-30-97 * $ 142,169 $ 173,030 $ 30,861 82.2% N/A N/A
Squad Workers' 6-30-96 123,265 160,233 36,968 76.9% N/A N/A
6-30-95 110,196 157,644 47,448 69.9% N/A N/A
6-30-94 101,563 123,691 22,128 82.1% N/A N/A
6-30-93 94,542 110,204 15,662 85.8% N/A N/A
6-30-92 87,265 106,055 18,790 82.3% N/A N/A
National Guard 12-31-97  $ 30,274 % 42,766 $ 12,492 70.8% N/A N/A
12-31-96 # 26,648 39,421 12,773 67.6% N/A N/A
12-31-95 22,643 37,559 14,916 60.3% N/A N/A
12-31-94 20,159 34,817 14,658 57.9% N/A N/A
12-31-93 17,874 33,037 15,163 54.1% N/A N/A
12-31-92 15,636 30,301 14,665 51.6% N/A N/A
Local Governmental 12-31-97  $ 6,928,217 $ 6,991,702 $ 63,485 99.1% $ 2,742,504 2.3%
12-31-96 # 6,258,674 6,321,622 62,948 99.0% 2,593,671 2.4%
12-31-95 5,411,167 5,472,970 61,803 98.9% 2,429,402 2.5%
12-31-94 4,911,161 4,971,957 60,796 98.8% 2,280,714 2.7%
12-31-93 4,436,587 4,517,945 81,358 98.2% 2,142,313 3.8%
12-31-92 3,986,769 4,071,883 85,114 97.5% 2,030,472 4.2%

NOTE 1 a negative UAAL denotes excess actuarial assets
N/A - - Not applicable
A - Actuarial value of assets was revised from cost to 5-year smoothed market

The information presented in these required supplementary schedules was determined as part of the actuarial valuations
at the dates indicated. Additional information for the latest actuarial valuations is presented on page 85.
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SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONSFROM THE EMPLOYERSAND OTHER CONTRIBUTING ENTITIES

ALL PENSION TRUST FUNDS
For the Six-Year Period 1993 to 1998 (July 1 to June 30)

(Expressed in Thousands)

State Annual
Fiscal Required Percentage
Retirement System Year Contribution Contributed
Teachers' and 1998 $ 610,377 100%
State Employees' 1997 593,481 100%
1996 559,980 100%
1995 564,336 100%
1994 526,332 100%
1993 499,525 100%
Consolidated 1998 $ 8,485 100%
Judicial 1997 7,976 100%
1996 7,536 100%
1995 7,371 100%
1994 6,991 100%
1993 7,035 100%
Legislative 1998 $ 741 108%
1997 742 108%
1996 725 104%
1995 739 156%
1994 586 142%
1993 598 109%
Firemen's, Rescue 1998 $ 11,735 100%
Squad Workers' 1997 11,735 100%
1996 11,735 100%
1995 7,449 100%
1994 5,247 100%
1993 5,199 100%
National Guard 1998 $ 2,533 100%
1997 2,303 100%
1996 2,283 100%
1995 2,189 100%
1994 2,189 100%
1993 2,123 100%
Local Governmental 1998 $ 149,058 100%
Employees’ 1997 142,952 100%
1996 136,390 100%
1995 129,915 100%
1994 123,260 100%
1993 116,387 100%

The information presented in these required supplementary schedules was determined as part of the actuarial valuations

at the dates indicated. Additional information for the latest actuarial valuations is presented on page 85.
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SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

The special revenue funds are maintained to account for those financial resources
which are restricted by legal, regulatory or administrative action to finance particular
functions or activities of the State.

The following are included in specia revenue funds:

State Highway Fund

Highway Trust Fund

Public School Building Capital Fund

Public School Bond Fund

Educational Materials and School Buses Fund
Employment Security Commission Funds
Employment and Training Administration Fund
Highway Patrol Fund

Clean Water Bonds L oan Fund

Leaking Petroleum Underground Storage Tank Cleanup Fund
Community Colleges Special Programs Fund
Wildlife Resources Commission Fund

Other Funds
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SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
June 30, 1998

(Dollars in Thousands)

Public Educational
Public School Materials, Employment
State Highway School Building School Security Highway
Highway Trust Bond Capital Buses Commission Patrol
Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Funds Fund
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents.... $ 74507 $ 952,638 $ 695556 $ 112,523 $ 25,059 $ 7594 % 6,455
INVESTMENLS.......eeiiiiieiiiie e 112,910 624,824 — 74,933 — — 1,128
Receivables:
Taxes receivable...........c.cccccoune. 73,735 27,279 — — — — —
Accounts receivable. 2,317 1 — 3 13 380 412
Intergovernmental receivables...... 87,082 — — — 43 3,039 —
Interest receivable......................... 815 4,667 — 604 — — —
Other receivables.........c..cccoeuneee. 6,962 — — — — — —
Due from other funds.... 32,116 — — — — — 515
Notes receivable....... . — — — — — — —
Inventories............. . 60,568 — — — 15,868 443 3,146
Prepaid items.........ccceeviiiiiiiiieees 892 — — — 1 62 —
SUFEtIES...coiiie e 7,701 — — — — — —
Total ASSetS......ovvvivieiiiiiiieeeiieees $ 459,605 $1,609,409 $ 695556 $ 188,063 $ 40,984 $ 11,518 $ 11,656
LIABILITIES AND
FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities:
Accounts payable...............ccceenien. $ 29,723 3% 8,770 $ — 3 — $ 34484 % 2,468 $ 1,872
Accrued payroll..........cccccoeiieeeene 20,197 — — — — 400 757
Intergovernmental payables.......... 83,078 42,311 — — 4 — 2
Obligations under securities lending.. 112,910 624,824 — 74,933 — — 1,128
Due to other funds............coccveeeennns 14,576 21,684 — — — 50 43
Due to component units.................... 844 — — — — — —
Claims payable.........ccccooeuieieenninnnn. — — — — — 55 —
Deposits payable..........ccccoviieeiennnns 68,313 324 — — — — —
Deferred revenue... 3,728 — — — — — 285
Total LiabilitieS........ccccvevreiinieeennn. 333,369 697,913 — 74,933 34,488 2,973 4,087
Fund Balances:
Reserved for:
Reserved for specific
encumbrances..........cocoeeevveeennns 10,094 — — — — — —
INVeNtOries. ......coovvveiniiiiiieecieee 4,311 — — — 15,868 443 3,146
Vacation, sick leave...................... 32,599 — — — — — —
Notes receivable...........ccccevinenne — — — — — — —
Public school building
capital needs..........ccocvvverieeennnnn. — — — 28,107 — — —
Critical school facility needs.......... — — — — — — —
Prepaid items.........cccocveeviieeiinenn. 892 — — — 1 62 —
Loan and grant commitments........ — — 659,641 — — — —
Other purposes..........cccceeveveeennnee. 1,193 — — — — — —
Unreserved:
Undesignated...........cccoevvevieeennnen. 77,147 911,496 35,915 85,023 (9,373) 8,040 4,423
Total Fund Balances...........c.ccceen.e. 126,236 911,496 695,556 113,130 6,496 8,545 7,569

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances... $ 459,605 $1,609,409 $ 695556 $ 188,063 $ 40,984 $ 11,518 $ 11,656
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Employment Leaking Community
and Petroleum Colleges Wildlife
Training Clean Water Underground Special Resources
Administration Bonds Loan Storage Tank Programs Commission Other
Fund Fund Cleanup Fund Fund Fund Funds Totals

$ 758 $ 4,616 $ 15947  $ 52,647 $ 14,280 $ 446,773 $ 2,409,353
— 60 10,014 — 6,011 215,016 1,044,896
— — 1,457 — — 662 103,133
4 — 2,946 — 3 5,306 11,385
7 — — — 77 2,518 92,766
— 726 68 — 46 1,874 8,800
— — — — — — 6,962
— — — — 240 2,994 35,865
— 88,577 1,464 — — 22,330 112,371
— — — — 1,443 419 81,887
— — — — — 335 1,290
— — — — — 25,101 32,802
$ 769 $ 93,979 $ 31,896 $ 52,647 $ 22,100 $ 723,328 $ 3,941,510
$ 4 3 —  $ 905 $ —  $ 461 $ 6,399 $ 85,086
— — — — 138 309 21,801
— — 60 — — 694 126,149
— 60 10,014 — 6,011 192,854 1,022,734
11 — — — 3,456 1,938 41,758
— — — 46,140 — — 46,984
— — — — — — 55
— — — — — 25,200 93,837
19 — — — — 14,501 18,533
34 60 10,979 46,140 10,066 241,895 1,456,937
— — — — — — 10,094
— — — — 1,443 419 25,630
— — — — — — 32,599
— 88,577 1,464 — — 22,330 112,371
— — — — — — 28,107
— — — — — 5,010 5,010
— — — — — 335 1,290
— 1,543 — — — 61,462 722,646
— — — — — 1,364 2,557
735 3,799 19,453 6,507 10,591 390,513 1,544,269
735 93,919 20,917 6,507 12,034 481,433 2,484,573

$ 769 % 93,979 $ 31,896 $ 52,647 $ 22,100

38941510
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COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1998

(Dollars in Thousands)

Public Educational
Public School Materials, Employment
State Highway School Building School Security Highway
Highway Trust Bond Capital Buses Commission Patrol

Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Funds Fund
Revenues:
TAXES..eeeiveiteetee e $ 767,059 $710,228 $ — $ 56,585 $ — 3 — 8 —
Federal funds.........cccceeeiiiiiiiiciieceee 602,590 — — — — 89,009 —
Local funds........cccoovvriiieneiiiiesiese e 12,951 423 — — 1,028 8,209 —
Investment earnings..........cccovecvveeeeeninenenn. 18,467 62,825 5,865 11,298 — — 88
Interest earnings on loans............cccceeeennnee — — — — — — —
Sales and ServiCes........ccccveeviiiieeeeiniiieeeennn 6,818 — — — 1,271 — 748
Sale, rental and lease of property................ 11,794 1,348 — — 1,408 — 3,817
Fees, licenses and fines...........cccoocvieeeennne 350,198 87,263 — — 86 1,837 1,274
Contributions, gifts and grants..................... — — — — — 5,139 588
Miscellan@ous..........ccuvvveeiiniiiiiie e 9,051 145 — — — 1,244 49
Total revVeNUES.........coccveerierieiieecse 1,778,928 862,232 5,865 67,883 3,793 105,438 6,564
Expenditures:
Current:

General government..........ccoccceeveeieeenenen — — — — — — —

Education...........cocoeviiiiienie e — — 193,813 57,346 92,371 — —

Health and human services..................... — — — — — — —

Economic development..............ccccvueenne — — — — — 115,686 —

Environment and

natural reSOUrCES..........ccveveerverneennans — — — — — — —
Public safety, corrections,
and regulation.........cccceevvveeeeviiiineeees — — — — — — 126,377

Transportation..........ccccceevveeneeeniee e, 1,942,846 441,609 — — — — —

AGrCUIEUIE...ccee i — — — — — — —
Debt service:

Bond interest.........occoviviiiiicniieee — 5,225 — — — — —
Total expenditures............cceevevveiieieennene 1,942,846 446,834 193,813 57,346 92,371 115,686 126,377
Excess revenues over

(under) expenditures...........ccccevevreeereennn. (163,918) 415,398  (187,948) 10,537 (88,578) (10,248) (119,813)
Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Operating transfers in.........c.ccoeeeeeniiineeene 292,214 38,000 — — 85,312 9,605 122,400
Operating transfers from component units.. — — — — — — —
Operating transfers out............ccoccueeeerninnen. (212,978)  (446,623) — (2,841) (880) (32) (567)
Operating transfers to component units....... (1,063) — — — — — —
Proceeds from bond sale.............ccccceeenne — 250,000 450,000 — — — —
Total other financing sources (uses)........... 78,173 (158,623) 450,000 (2,841) 84,432 9,573 121,833
Excess revenues and

other sources over (under)

expenditures and other uses.................. (85,745) 256,775 262,052 7,696 (4,146) (675) 2,020
Fund balances — July 1........cccocvvviiiieennnne 220,617 654,721 433,504 105,434 7,332 9,254 5,881
Restatements...........ccceveeee . — — — — — — —
Residual equity transfers in.... . — — — — — — —
Residual equity transfers out.............cccc...... (9,943) — — — — — —
Increase (decrease) in

reserve for related assets...........cccceeeeees 1,307 — — — 3,310 (34) (332)
Fund balances — June 30.........c...cccocvenen. $ 126,236 $911,496 $695,556 $113,130 $ 6,496 $ 8545 $ 7,569
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Employment Leaking Community
and Petroleum Colleges Wildlife
Training Clean Water Underground Special Resources
Administration Bonds Loan Storage Tank Programs Commission Other
Fund Fund Cleanup Fund Fund Fund Funds Totals
$ — 3 — % 16,022 $ — 3 10,140 $ 47,896 $ 1,607,930
44,710 — — — 7,116 58,550 801,975
89 — — — 265 3,550 26,515
— 150 1,363 — 879 27,297 128,232
— 4,942 48 — — 686 5,676
— — — — 1,508 5,692 16,037
4 — — — 240 1,404 20,015
— — 12,763 — 18,315 110,081 581,817
— — — — 4,100 19,367 29,194
48 — — — 81 808 11,426
44,851 5,092 30,196 — 42,644 275,331 3,228,817
— — — — — 36,715 36,715
— — — — — 55,266 398,796
— — — — — 44,914 44,914
48,044 — — — — 35,851 199,581
— 52 29,768 — 40,935 55,103 125,858
— — — — — 49,332 175,709
— — — — — — 2,384,455
— — — — — 284 284
— — — — — — 5,225
48,044 52 29,768 — 40,935 277,465 3,371,537
(3,193) 5,040 428 — 1,709 (2,134) (142,720)
2,400 — 6,021 800 4,158 195,399 756,309
— — — — — 724 724
— (9,630) (3,198) — (4,875)  (63,643) (745,267)
— — — (14,113) — (14) (15,190)
— — — — — — 700,000
2,400 (9,630) 2,823 (13,313) (717) 132,466 696,576
(793) (4,590) 3,251 (13,313) 992 130,332 553,856
1,528 98,509 17,666 19,820 10,901 351,291 1,936,458
— — — — — (210) (210)
— — — — — 37 37
— — — — — — (9,943)
— — — — 141 (17) 4,375
$ 735 $ 93,919 $ 20,917 $ 6,507 $ 12,034 $481,433 $ 2,484,573
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SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

COMBINING SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN UNRESERVED
FUND BALANCES— BUDGET AND ACTUAL (BUDGETARY BASIS— NON-GAAP)

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1998

(Dollars in Thousands)

Revenues:

Departmental:
Federal funds.........cccoovieeiiiiiiiiiee
Local funds........coocoveeiiiieiiiiiee e
Inter-agency grants and allocations............
Intra-governmental transactions.................
Sales and ServiCes........cccovvvieviieee e
Sale, rental and lease of property...............
Fees, licenses and fines............ccccceviiieene
Contributions, gifts and grants....................
Miscellaneous............covveeeiiiiiiiiiiiceieeee

UNIVEISIIES. ..eeeeeiiiiie et

Total FEVENUES......uvvveiieeiiiiiiiee e e
Expenditures:
Current:

General government........cccceeveveeeereereennnee

Health and human services..........c.cccceenn....

Environment and

natural reSOUICES...........eevvvvvveeeveeeeeeeeennns

Economic development............ccccooeiuenneeen.

Public safety and corrections......................
UNIVEISITIES.....cvvvieeeeeeeeeeeee e
Total expenditures.........cccceeviiiiieeereeeniiiieeen.
Excess revenues over (under) expenditures.....
Unreserved fund balances (budgetary

basis) at July 1, 1997........cccccveviieeiiiiinenn.
Unreserved fund balances (budgetary

basis) at June 30, 1998..........cccccvveeeeiiinns

Employment and Training
Administration Fund

Employment Security
Commission Funds

Variance Variance

Favorable Favorable

Budget Actual (Unfavorable) Budget Actual (Unfavorable)
$ 72317 $ 45140 $ (27,177) $ 89,246 $ 88,353 % (893)
— 80 80 8,300 8,200 (100)

— — — 5,222 5,202 (20)
2,602 2,542 (60) 25,649 25,222 (427)
60 — (60) — — —

— 2 2 — — —

— 42 42 1,100 1,095 (5)
74,979 47,806 (27,173) 129,517 128,072 (1,445)
76,452 48,524 27,928 129,517 128,058 1,459
76,452 48,524 27,928 129,517 128,058 1,459
(1,473) (718) 755 — 14 14
1,473 1,473 — 1,026 1,026 —
—  $ 755 % 755 $ 1026 $ 1040 $ 14
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Highway Patrol Fund Wildlife Resources Commission Fund Other Funds

Variance Variance Variance

Favorable Favorable Favorable
Budget Actual (Unfavorable) Budget Actual (Unfavorable) Budget Actual (Unfavorable)

$ 552 $ — $ (552) $ 7309 $ 7,210 $ (99) $ 124483 $ 87,237 $ (37,246)
— — — 168 265 97 4,742 3,374 (1,368)

— — — 68 107 39 18,492 12,360 (6,132)
130,829 122,911 (7,918) 35,418 38,425 3,007 230,867 217,773 (13,094)
1,544 947 (597) 1,384 1,509 125 8,798 10,329 1,531
1,976 3,308 1,332 123 240 117 62 109 47

372 382 10 18,382 18,321 (61) 71,165 78,484 7,319

100 100 — 50 257 207 1,377 1,112 (265)

1 50 49 137 657 520 13,686 9,039 (4,647)

— — — — — — 87,449 87,801 352
135,374 127,698 (7,676) 63,039 66,991 3,952 561,121 507,618 (53,503)
— — — — — — 154,603 77,972 76,631

— — — — — — 74,134 63,530 10,604

— — — 66,882 62,821 4,061 90,763 70,575 20,188

— — — — — — 74,973 38,664 36,309
135,374 128,368 7,006 — — — 124,779 104,755 20,024
— — — — — — 124,492 88,975 35,517
135,374 128,368 7,006 66,882 62,821 4,061 643,744 444,471 199,273
— (670) (670) (3,843) 4,170 8,013 (82,623) 63,147 145,770

5,425 5,425 — 10,110 10,110 — 174,464 174,464 —

$ 5425 $ 4755 3 (670) $ 6,267 $ 14280 $ 8,013 $ 91841 $ 237,611  $ 145,770
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SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS
COMBINING SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN UNRESERVED

FUND BALANCES— BUDGET AND ACTUAL (BUDGETARY BASIS— NON-GAAP)
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1998 Exhibit B-3

(Dollars in Thousands)

Totals -
Budgeted Special Revenue Funds
Variance
Favorable
Budget Actual (Unfavorable)
Revenues:
Departmental:
Federal fuNdS......cocveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeens $ 293,907 $227,940 $ (65,967)
Local fundsS.......coooiveiiiiiiiieiieeeee e, 13,210 11,919 (1,291)
Inter-agency grants and allocations............ 23,782 17,669 (6,113)
Intra-governmental transactions................. 425,365 406,873 (18,492)
Sales and SErviCeS........coovvvveieiivieeeieeeeeennn, 11,786 12,785 999
Sale, rental and lease of property............... 2,161 3,659 1,498
Fees, licenses and fines..........cccccvvvvvvennnns 89,919 97,187 7,268
Contributions, gifts and grants.................... 1,527 1,469 (58)
Miscellaneous...........cooueiviviiiiiiieeeiie s 14,924 10,883 (4,041)
UNIVEISITIES.....ceviiiiee e 87,449 87,801 352
Total FEVENUES......uvvieieeeiiiiiiiee e 964,030 878,185 (85,845)
Expenditures:
Current:
General government.........cccceeeevvciviieeeeenn. 154,603 77,972 76,631
Health and human services.............ccceenee 74,134 63,530 10,604
Environment and
natural reSOUrCeS.........ccuvvvveeriieeeeiiieeen 157,645 133,396 24,249
Economic development............ccccceeecvvnneenn. 280,942 215,246 65,696
Public safety and corrections...................... 260,153 233,123 27,030
UNIVEISIIES. ..eeeeeiiiiie et 124,492 88,975 35,517
Total expenditures.........ccceeeeveivieieee e 1,051,969 812,242 239,727
Excess revenues over (under) expenditures..... (87,939) 65,943 153,882
Unreserved fund balances (budgetary
basis) at July 1, 1997........cccccvevieeeiiiiinenn. 192,498 192,498 —

Unreserved fund balances (budgetary
basis) at June 30, 1998.............cccccvvveeennen. $ 104,559 $258,441 $ 153,882
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CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS

The Capital Projects funds are maintained to account for those financial resources
received and used for the acquisition, construction or improvement of major
governmental general fixed assets which are financed principally by transfers from
the General Fund or general obligation bonds.

The following activities are included in the capital projects funds:

Capital Projects Fund

State Capital Facilities Legislative Bond Fund of 1991
State Prison and Y outh Services Facilities Bond Fund
State Parks Bond Fund
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CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET

June 30, 1998

Exhibit C-1

(Dollars in Thousands)

State State
Capital Prison
Facilities and Youth
Capital Legislative  Services
Projects Bond Fund Facilities  State Parks
Fund of 1991 Bond Fund Bond Fund Totals

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents..............c.cccocv.. $ 266,395 $ 516 $ 4,990 $ 10,994 $ 282,895
Receivables:

Accounts receivable...........ccccoeeeeeeiiiennnnnn.. 203 — — — 203

Intergovernmental receivables.................. 176 — — — 176
Due from other funds........ccccooovveeiiiiiiiiiinee. 3,250 — — — 3,250
Total ASSELS.....oeiiiiieeceiiiee e $ 270,024 $ 516 $ 4,990 $ 10,994 $ 286,524
LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities:

Accounts payable..........c.cccoveevieeiirieiineens $ 18,817 $ — % — % 794 $ 19,611

Intergovernmental payables...................... 305 — — — 305

Arbitrage rebate payable...............ccveeee.. — 33 — — 33
Due to other funds........ccccceveeiiiiiiiiiiieec s 70 — — — 70
Due to component UnitS.........cccceevevvvvveeeeennn. 221 — — — 221
Deposits payable..........ccccceveiiiiiiiiiiiiee s 6,990 — 127 583 7,700
Total Liabilities.......cccccceeeeiiiiiiiieee e, 26,403 33 127 1,377 27,940
Fund Balances:
Reserved for capital projects..........ccccceeernens 83,071 51 160 5,589 88,871
Unreserved:

Undesignated...........cceeeeveiieeiiiieeesiieeeenes 160,550 432 4,703 4,028 169,713
Total Fund Balances..........cccccccvvvvevieeiiiiennnnns 243,621 483 4,863 9,617 258,584
Total Liabilities and Fund Balances............... $ 270,024 $ 516 $ 4,990 $ 10,994 $ 286,524
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CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1998

Exhibit C-2

(Dollars in Thousands)

State State
Capital Prison
Facilities  and Youth
Capital Legislative  Services
Projects Bond Fund Facilities  State Parks
Fund of 1991 Bond Fund Bond Fund Totals

Revenues:
Federal fuNAS.........oeeeeeeeeeeeeee e $ 6622 $ — $ — % — $ 6,622
Local funds......cccooeeeviiiiiii 17 — — — 17
Sales and SErVICES........ccccvuuiuininiiiennns 517 — — — 517
Sale, rental and lease of property................. 240 — — — 240
Contributions, gifts and grants...................... 18,789 — — — 18,789
Miscellaneous...........cccceeeveeii e, 929 — — — 99
Total rEVENUES........eeeeeeeeeeeee e, 26,284 — — — 26,284
Expenditures:
Capital outlay........ccoovviiiiniiiiiiee e, 189,376 12 132 14,085 203,605
Total expenditures.........cccceeeevecviveereeeseeiinns 189,376 12 132 14,085 203,605
Excess revenues (under) expenditures........ (163,092) (12) (132) (14,085) (177,321)
Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Operating transfers in...........ccccocceeeeiniiinnes 166,827 71 — 1,121 168,019
Operating transfers from component units... 1,207 — — — 1,207
Operating transfers out...........ccocccvveeeeeennn. (1,625) — — (405) (2,030)
Operating transfers to component units........ (350) — — — (350)
Total other financing sources (uses)............. 166,059 71 — 716 166,846
Excess revenues and other sources over

(under) expenditures and other uses........ 2,967 59 (132) (13,369) (10,475)
Fund balances—July L...........cccoovvvieiieeennnnn. 252,038 425 4,995 22,986 280,444
Residual equity transfers out........................ (11,384) Q) — — (11,385)
Fund balances—June 30.........cccccccvvvvveennen. $ 243,621 $ 483 $ 4,863 $ 9,617 $ 258,584
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ENTERPRISE FUNDS

The enterprise funds are maintained to account for the operations of State
government that provide goods or services to the general public in a manner similar
to private business enterprises. The costs of providing these goods or services are
financed through user charges.

The following activities are included in the enterprise funds. See Note 13 in the Notes to the Financial Statements for a description
of the goods and services offered by these activities.

Governmental Enterprise Funds
Public School Insurance
North Carolina State Fair
USS North Carolina Battleship Commission
Agricultural Farmers Market
Indian Cultural Tourist Center
Workers Compensation
Other Enterprise Funds:
Cultural Resources Historic Site Sales
Services for the Blind

125
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ENTERPRISE FUNDS

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
June 30, 1998 Exhibit D-1
(Dollars in Thousands)

USS North Indian
Public N.C. Carolina  Agricultural Cultural
School State Battleship  Farmers  Tourist Workers' Other
Insurance Fair Commission  Market Center Compensation  Funds Totals

ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents................... $21,667 $ 4,532 $ 157 $ 697 $ 28 % 1,658 $ 384 $29,123
INVEStMENTS......oiieieiiieieeee e 30,219 — 1,114 — — 9,518 — 40,851
Receivables:

Accounts receivable......................... 700 77 3 — — 830 12 1,622

Interest receivable.........ccooeeeeiiiiiennnn. 109 — — — — 7 — 116

Premiums receivable............ccccccouee. 812 — — — — — — 812
INVENTOTIES....covvvveieiereierereeereeeeeeeeeeererennns — 61 260 19 — — 46 386
Prepaid items.......cccccveeeiiiiiiiiiieee e 1,216 — 71 — — — — 1,287
Total current assets........c.ccevevevvvevvveennnns 54,723 4,670 1,605 716 28 12,013 442 74,197
Noncurrent Assets:
Investments..........cccoeeeeiiiiiiiece e, — — 781 — — — — 781
Total noncurrent assets..........ccccceeeeeeee. — — 781 — — — — 781
Fixed Assets:
Land.....uuueeeeiniiiii e — 1,379 97 1,087 292 — — 2,855
BuildingsS........ooooviiieiieee e, — 13,131 1,115 9,217 280 — 1,826 25,569
Other structures and improvements...... — 3,148 412 3,508 — — — 7,068
Machinery and equipment..................... — 839 1,281 285 27 — 20 2,452
Construction in progress............cccuvve.... — — 774 — — — — 774
Accumulated depreciation..................... — (9,754) (1,559) (4,028) (120) — (32) (15,493)
Total fixed asSSetsS.........cevvvvvevvvvvvevvvennnnns — 8,743 2,120 10,069 479 — 1,814 23,225
Total ASSetS. ..., $54,723  $13,413 $ 4,506 $10,785 $ 507 $ 12,013 $2,256 $98,203
LIABILITIES AND FUND EQUITY
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities:

Accounts payable...........c.ccccuveeeveennne $ 9 % 68 $ 36 $ 18 $ — $ 75 $ 20 $ 226

Accrued payroll........ccccceeevviiiiiinnnn.n. 3 14 20 3 — — 1 41
Obligations under securities lending..... 16,339 — — — — 1,104 — 17,443
Due to other funds..........ccceevvvvvvvvvvvennnnns 1 8 — — — — — 9
Notes payable.........cccccooveviviieiieiiiiiins — — 40 — — — — 40
Claims payable........ccccccceeeeiiiiiiiiiienee. 4,166 — — — — 4,858 — 9,024
Accrued vacation leave................ooe...... 49 116 42 65 — — 28 300
Deferred revenue............eevvvvvvvevevevevennns 1,880 426 — — — — 12 2,318
Total current liabilities........................... 22,447 632 138 86 — 6,037 61 29,401
Noncurrent Liabilities:
Notes payable.........cccccooveviviiiiieiiiiiins — — 90 — — — — 90
Total noncurrent liabilities..................... — — 90 — — — — 90
Total Liabilities..........ccveeeeeeiiiiiiiiieeeeen 22,447 632 228 86 — 6,037 61 29,491
Fund Equity:
Contributed capital...........cccceceeveinnnneen.. — 10,705 313 13,899 599 9,000 1,849 36,365
Retained earnings.........cccccceeeeeveivvnnenn. 32,276 2,076 3,965 (3,200) (92) (3,024) 346 32,347
Total Fund EQUItY.......coeeeviiiiiiiieneeeiiis 32,276 12,781 4,278 10,699 507 5,976 2,195 68,712

Total Liabilities and Fund Equity........... $54,723 $13,413 $ 4506 $10,785 $507 $ 12,013 $2,256 $ 98,203
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ENTERPRISE FUNDS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES

AND CHANGES IN FUND EQUITY

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1998 Exhibit D-2

(Dollars in Thousands)

USS North Indian
Public N.C. Carolina  Agricultural Cultural
School State Battleship  Farmers Tourist Workers' Other
Insurance Fair Commission  Market Center  Compensation Funds Totals

Operating Revenues:
Sales and ServiCes........ccveeeunn.... $ — $ 363 $ 694 $ 36 $ — 3 — 3 163 $ 1,256
Investment earnings.................... 4,423 — — — — 1,264 — 5,687
Rental and lease earnings........... — 2,562 — 395 3 — 606 3,566
Fees, licenses and fines.............. — 4,156 1,395 423 — — 500 6,474
Insurance premiums.................... 4,657 — — — — 2,056 — 6,713
Miscellaneous...........cccccceeeeennnnns — — 22 — — — — 22
Total operating revenues............. 9,080 7,081 2,111 854 3 3,320 1,269 23,718
Operating Expenses:
Personal services.........cccccoveuveee. 516 3,112 740 647 — — 532 5,547
Supplies and materials................ 4 403 13 39 — — 75 534
SEIVICES...coiiiiiiiiiiiee e 106 2,280 545 184 — 684 376 4,175
INtEreSt....ovveeeeiiiieee e 725 — — — — 122 — 847
Cost of goods sold................ee..... — — 341 — — — 124 465
Depreciation/amortization............ — 636 158 623 9 — 32 1,458
ClaimS....cocveeeiieieeeeee 7,004 3 — — — 3,144 1 10,152
Insurance and bonding................ 2,041 108 55 32 — 311 32 2,579
Other....ccoooviiiiicee e 39 766 41 14 — — 203 1,063
Total operating expenses............ 10,435 7,308 1,893 1,539 9 4,261 1,375 26,820
Operating income (loss).............. (1,355) (227) 218 (685) (6) (941) (106) (3,102)
Nonoperating Revenues

(Expenses):
Gain (loss) on

sale of equipment...................... — 16 3 — — — — 19
Investment earnings.................... — — 216 — — — — 216
DOoNations..........cceveeeeeiiiiieieeaeennn — 72 45 6 — — 49 172
Interest expense.........cccceeeeeeeenn. — — (12) — — — — (12)
Miscellaneous...........ccccccveeeeennnnne — 18 (90) 9 — — 1 (62)
Total nonoperating

revenues (EXPenses)................. — 106 163 15 — — 50 334
Income (loss) before

operating transfers................... (1,355) (121) 381 (670) (6) (941) (56) (2,768)
Operating Transfers:
Transfers in......ccccccceviiiiinen. — — — 121 — — 169 290
Transfers out..........ccceeveeeiiiinines — (125) — (2) — — — (127)
Total operating transfers in (out). — (125) — 119 — — 169 163
Net income (l0SS).....ccccecvvvvrnnnnn.. (1,355) (246) 381 (551) (6) (941) 113 (2,605)
Fund equity — July 1..........c.ce.... 33,631 13,027 3,897 11,250 513 2,417 233 64,968

Increase (decrease)
in contributed capital................. — — 4,500 1,849 6,349

Fund equity — June 30............... $32276  $12781 $ 4,278 $10699 $ 507 $ 5976 $ 2,195 $ 68,712



130 State of North Carolina

ENTERPRISE FUNDS
COMBINING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1998

(Dollars in Thousands)

USS North Indian
Public N.C. Carolina Agricultural ~ Cultural
School State Battleship Farmers Tourist Workers' Other
Insurance Fair Commission Market Center  Compensation  Funds Totals
Cash Provided From (Used For)
Operations:
Operating iNCOme (I0SS)...........ceveveeruererirnenns $(1,355) $ (227) $ 218 05 (685 $ (6) $ (941) $(106) $(3,102)
Adjustments to reconcile operating income
to net cash flows from operating activities:
Depreciation/amortization................ccccvenee. — 636 158 623 9 — 32 1,458
INvestment earnings...........ccoceeeeerereeseenea. (4,423) — — — — (1,264) — (5,687)
Securities lending fees..........ccocevvevieiieennnnn 725 — — — — 122 — 847
Restatements and adjustments to cash....... — — — — — — 35 35
Nonoperating miscellaneous
INCOME/EXPENSE. .....onveeeeiieniaiiaiesieieians — 18 (90) 9 — — 1 (62)
(Increases) decreases in assets:
RECEIVADIES. ......ecieieieiieieeec e 5,987 (32) ) — — (475) (20) 5,468
INVENEOTIES ... vttt eeeeeie e — 5 19 (4) — — (5) 15
Prepaid items.......c.ccovvevieiieeiee e 353 — — — — — — 353
Increases (decreases) in liabilities:
Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities.........ccoceeeveereeace 7 3) 5 (6) — 25 20 48
Due to other funds 2) 1 — — — — — (2)
Claims payable...........cccceevevieieieeieee e (738) — — — — 1,896 — 1,158
Accrued vacation leave..............ccoccoeeeeiennne 2 (2) 1o 7 — — 27 35
Deferred revenue..........coeeeeeenenceeenie e 158 104 — — — — 12 274
Total cash provided from
(used for) operations...........cccccoveereereeenne 714 500 309 (56) 3 (637) 6 839
Cash Provided From (Used For)
Noncapital Financing Activities:
Operating transfers in..........cccccovcvveveverenesnennn — — — 121 — — 169 290
Operating transfers out...........c.coevveerieieeenenas — (10) — (2) — — — (12)
Increase in contributed capital — — — — — 4,500 114 4,614
Nonoperating cash donations.............ccccceveruenne. — 72 45 6 — — 49 172
Total cash provided from (used for)
noncapital financing activities..............cc.cvevee. — 62 45 125 — 4,500 332 5,064
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ENTERPRISE FUNDS
COMBINING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1998 Exhibit D-3
(Dollars in Thousands)
USS North Indian
Public N.C. Carolina Agricultural ~ Cultural
School State Battleship Farmers Tourist Workers' Other
Insurance Fair Commission Market Center  Compensation  Funds Totals

Cash Provided From (Used For)

Capital Financing Activities:
Acquisition of fixed assets...........ccceevveriieiireannnns — (29) (33) 9) — — (20) (91)
Proceeds from the sale of fixed assets.............. — 16 30 — — — — 19
Operating transfers out — (115) — — — — — (115)
Repayment of bond/note principal...................... — — (40) — — — — (40)
Interest payments on bonds and notes.............. — — (11) — — — — (11)
Total cash provided from (used for)

capital financing activities..............ccccccveevenee. — (128) (81) (9) — — (20) (238)
Cash Provided From (Used For)

Investment Activities:
Proceeds from the sale/maturities

of non-State Treasurer investments............... — — 542 — — — — 542
Purchase of non-State

Treasurer iNVeStMeNtS...........ccceeevevvervennnnn — — (811) — — — — (811)
Purchase into State Treasurer

Long-Term Investment PoOl............c.ccceeunenne. — — — — — (7,500) — (7,500)
Investment earnings........ccccvveeevvvveeeeiiiiveeeee s 1,145 — 56 — — 246 — 1,447
Total cash provided from (used for)

investment activitieS..........cccccveveereeriescieenen, 1,145 — (213) — — (7,254) — (6,322)
Net increase (decrease) in

cash and cash equivalents.............ccccccevvenen. 1,859 434 60 60 3 (3,391) 318 (657)
Cash and cash equivalents at July 1.................. 19,808 4,098 97 0 637 25 5,049 66 29,780
Cash and cash equivalents at June 30............... $21,667 $4532 $ 157 697 $ 28 $ 1658 $ 384 $ 29,123

Noncash Investing, Capital, and
Financing Activities:
Noncash distributions from the State
Treasurer Long-Term Investment Pool........... $ 2,488
Increase in contributed capital
Decrease in contributed capital..............ccceenee. —
Assets acquired through the assumption
of aliability.....cccceeeeiiiiiiee e

- $ — 3 913 $ — $ 3,401
— — — 1826 1,826
— — — (91) (91)
— — 1,104 — 17,443
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INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS

The internal service funds are maintained to account for the operations of State
agencies that provide services to other State agencies, component units, or other
governmental units on a cost reimbursement basis.

The following activities areincluded in the internal service funds:

State Health Plan State Telecommunications
Applications Development Services
Disability Income Plan of North Carolina Decentralized Computing Services
Death Benefit Plan of North Carolina Other Funds:
Clerk of Supreme Court:

State Property Fire Insurance Fund Printing Department

Self-insurance fund for State agencies and certain

component units Cherry Hospital:

Auxiliary Services (laundry)
Central Governmental Services:

Department of Correction: John Umstead Hospital:
Prison Enterprises Auxiliary Services
Department of Administration: Department of Administration:
Motor Fleet Management Administration of State and Federal Surplus Property

Courier Service
Temporary Solutions

Department of Commerce:
North Carolina Information Highway
Centralized Computing Services
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INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET

June 30, 1998
(Dollars in Thousands)

Disability Death State
State Income Benefit Property Motor
Health Plan Plan Fire Prison Fleet Courier Temporary
Plan of N.C. of N.C. Insurance Enterprises Management Service Solutions
ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents................ $334,140 $ 2525 $ 2262 $ 6,098 $ 21,077 $ 6,132 $ 380 $ 1,248
INVESIMENLS....ccveeieeiie e 236,565 204,818 196,109 33,232 — — — —
Receivables:
Accounts receivable......................... 2,550 2,196 46 — 3,255 1,935 207 715
Intergovernmental receivables......... — — — — 547 — — —
Interest receivable...........cccccoeuveeee.n. 1,884 18 10 27 — — — —
Premiums receivable 483 — — 14 — — — —
Contributions.............. — 3,755 1,289 — — — — —
Due from other funds........... — — — — 5,318 3,212 4 27
Due from component units................. — — — — 22 430 — —
INVENLOMIES...cvveveeeiesireie e — — — — 13,229 105 — —
Prepaid items.........cceeeeiiiiiiieeeeees — — — — — — — —
Total current assets........cccceevverveennen. 575,622 213,312 199,716 39,371 43,448 11,814 591 1,990
Noncurrent Assets:
Accounts receivable................ccoceee. — — — — — — — —
Total noncurrent assets...........c..o....... — — — — — — — —
Fixed Assets:
(0= o o PO PSRRI — — — — 250 406 — —
BUIlAINGS....covveeveecieeceeceee e — — — — 21,375 1,162 — —
Other structures and improvements... — — — — 1,631 377 — —
Machinery and equipment 19 — — — 20,652 122,017 47 7
Construction in progress...... — — — — 5,038 — — —
Accumulated depreciation.................. (13) — — — (19,574) (38,828) (29) —
Total fixed assets......c.cccevererververnenn 6 — — — 29,372 85,134 18 7

$ 72820 $ 96,948 $ 609 $ 1,997

Total Assets

LIABILITIES AND FUND EQUITY
Liabilities:

Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities:

Accounts payable............ccccoo....... $ 468 $ — 3 138 $ — $ 4,107 % 1,226 $ 6 $ 8
Accrued payroll........cccceeevrvereennn. — — — — 40 — 28 439
Obligations under securities lending... 236,565 27,715 26,506 8,985 — — — —
Due to other funds..........cccccoveeveernnenn. 2 — — 396 26 429 45 1
Claims and benefits payable.............. 111,705 232,292 2,280 345 — — — —

Deposits payable...........ccccoceveriineenns — — — — — — — _

Accrued vacation leave 45 — — — 1,011 84 62 11
Deferred revenue..........ccocveeververeerenn. 664 — — 2,789 89 — — —
Total current liabilities..........cc.ccccvene. 353,667 260,007 28,924 12,515 5,273 1,739 141 459
Total Liabilities........ccccovevvererreireerennn. 353,667 260,007 28,924 12,515 5,273 1,739 141 459
Fund Equity:

Contributed capital...........ccccoveveernrene — — — — 19,288 16,402 — —
Retained earnings...........cccceevevevenenn. 221,961 (46,695) 170,792 26,856 48,259 78,807 468 1,538
Total Fund EQUItY......cccoocveivererieciennen 221,961 (46,695) 170,792 26,856 67,547 95,209 468 1,538

Total Liabilities and Fund Equity........ $575,628 $213,312 $199,716 $ 39371 $ 72820 $ 96948 $ 609 $ 1,997
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Exhibit E-1
Clerk of John
State Decen- Supreme Cherry Umstead
N. C. Centralized Telecommu- Applications tralized Court Hospital Hospital
Information Computing nications Development Computing Printing Auxiliary Auxiliary Surplus
Highway Services Services Services Services Department Services Services Property Totals
$ 13 $ 19,092 $ 18,140 $ 397 $ 2158 $ 291 $ 173 $ 2,441 $3,874 $ 420,441
— — — — — 300 — — — 671,024
715 5,537 1,225 813 86 50 22 156 42 19,550
— — — — — — — — — 547
— — — — — 3 — — — 1,942
— — — — — — — — — 497
— — — — — — — — — 5,044
6 7,482 6,683 415 409 — — — — 23,556
— 132 682 — — — — — — 1,266
— 22 — — — 55 42 331 — 13,784
— 470 — — 12 — — — — 482
734 32,735 26,730 1,625 2,665 699 237 2,928 3,916 1,158,133
— 1 — — — — — — — 1
— 1 — — — — — — — 1
— 2,861 — — — — — — 19 3,536
— 9,013 — — — — 2,349 2,284 263 36,446
— 34 — — — — — 10,145 36 12,223
946 79,300 17,655 377 1,014 47 1,465 1,325 470 245,341
— — — — — — — — — 5,038
(280)  (54,347) (13,676) (377) (553) (47) (2,525) (6,037)  (620)  (136,906)
666 36,861 3,979 — 461 — 1,289 7,717 168 165,678

$ 1400 $ 69597 $ 30,709 $ 1,625 $ 3,126 $ 699 $ 1,526 $10,645 $4,084 $1,323,812

$ — $ 751 $ 638 $ 255 $ — % 11 $ 10 $ 128 $1065 $ 13,029
— 25 30 8 — — — 4 — 574
— — — — — — — — — 299,771
79 1,251 97 36 — — — — 538 2,900
— — — — — — — — — 346,622
— — — — — — — 63 — 63
50 693 261 364 — 5 90 135 65 2,876
— — — — — — — 2 — 3,544

129 2,720 1,026 663 — 16 100 332 1,668 669,379
129 2,720 1,026 663 — 16 100 332 1,668 669,379
— 5,927 1,275 15 6 — 3,284 12,338 315 58,850
1,271 60,950 28,408 947 3,120 683  (1,858) (2,025) 2,101 595,583
1,271 66,877 29,683 962 3,126 683 1426 10,313 2,416 654,433

$ 1400 $ 69597 $ 30,709 $ 1625 $ 3,126 $ 699 $ 1,526 $10,645 $4,084 $1,323,812
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INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES
AND CHANGES IN FUND EQUITY

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1998

(Dollars in Thousands)

Disability Death State

State Income Benefit Property Motor

Health Plan Plan Fire Prison Fleet Courier  Temporary

Plan of N.C. of N.C. Insurance Enterprises Management Service Solutions
Operating Revenues:
Sales and SerViCeS.......covovvevevevevererererrnennn. $ 16,915 $ — % — 3 — $ 74,116 $ 34,626 $2,181 $ 6,912
Investment earnings.........cccccveeveeeeeeveenne. 36,964 23,238 21,976 3,150 — — — —
Rental and lease earnings...........c..cccvveenne — — — — — — — —
Fees, licenses and fines.........ccccoecvevenennn. — — 1,020 — — — — —
CoNtriBULIONS.....veveieieie e — 43,394 22,065 — — — — —
INSUranNce Premiums.......c.eeeeeeevenreeeeereens 567,805 — — 13,808 — — — —
Miscellaneous:

(@131 ORI 1 — — 1,150 616 388 75 —
Total operating revenues..........ccocveveeenenne 621,685 66,632 45,061 18,108 74,732 35,014 2,256 6,912
Operating Expenses:

Personal SEerviCes..........oooevvuvveeiiiiieeeeeienns 592 — 192 1,091 16,482 1,519 1,293 6,606
Supplies and materials............ccccevvervennnnnn 24 — — 9 4,447 7,488 56 16
SEIVICES...evieuieitecteeiecre ettt ste e eaean 16,380 318 154 113 3,473 639 574 11
INEEIESL....c.veiveeiecteeeecte et 12,812 1,259 1,184 438 — — — —
Cost of goods Sold........ccceeveverieiieiieeieens — — — — 38,100 883 — —
DEPreciation.........cccuevueevueeseesiesreerieesinenns 2 — — — 2,055 12,111 9 —
Claims and benefits... e —— 643,739 65,244 22,301 324 — — — —
Insurance and bonding..........cccccceeveeruenne. — — — 8,320 337 2,015 — —
OtheT...ccueiieceeece et 43 — — 107 1,965 17 5 2
Total operating EXpenses.........ccccvevveenneens 673,592 66,821 23,831 10,402 66,859 24,672 1,937 6,635
Operating income (I0SS)...........ccceveeervenens (51,907) (189) 21,230 7,706 7,873 10,342 319 277
Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses):
Gain (loss) on sale of

property and equipment............c.c.co.v... — — — — (30) (62) — —
INvestment earnings.......ccocveveveriereseaenns — — — — — — — —
MiSCEllANEOUS. ... .oveiveeriereieieeee e — — — — 159 — — —
Total nonoperating revenues (expenses)... — — — — 129 (62) — —
Income (loss) before operating transfers....  (51,907) (189) 21,230 7,706 8,002 10,280 319 277
Operating Transfers:
Transfers iN........cococeeve e — — — — 202 — — —
Transfers OUt.......c.ccooeveienieene e — — — — (1,635) — — —
Total operating transfers in (out)................ — — — — (1,433) — — —
Net income (I0SS)......ccccvevverveieererieieeanens (51,907) (189) 21,230 7,706 6,569 10,280 319 277
Fund equity — July L....ccoooviieieieireeeiene 273,868 (46,506) 149,562 18,541 60,978 84,919 149 1,261
RESIAtEMENTS....c.veiieeieiieieie e — — — 609 — 10 — —

Increases (decreases) in
contributed capital...........ccoceevveeiiiieennn. — — — — — — — —

Fund equity — June 30.........cccccveirenennnn $221,961 $ (46,695) $170,792 $ 26,856 $ 67,547 $ 95209 $ 468 $ 1,538
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Exhibit E-2
Clerk of John
State Decen- Supreme Cherry Umstead
N. C. Centralized Telecommu- Applications tralized Court Hospital Hospital
Information  Computing nications  Development Computing Printing Auxiliary Auxiliary Surplus
Highway Services Services Services Services  Department  Services Services Property Totals

$ 6,483 $53,019 $55218 $ 6,042 $ 6257 $ 436 $ 1,473 $ 3,166 $ 1,466 $ 268,310

— — — — — — — — — 85,328
— 3 — — — — — — 8 11
— 14 — — — — — 9 — 1,043
— — — — — — — — — 65,459
— — — — — — — — — 581,613
— 4 169 — — 10 — 1 91 2,505

6,483 53,040 55,387 6,042 6,257 446 1,473 3,176 1,565 1,004,269

556 5,683 5,582 4,066 3,177 172 1,254 1,515 842 50,622
1 662 64 2 6 40 130 545 58 13,548

6,418 8,629 39,032 2,218 1,844 25 273 678 558 81,337
— — — — — — — — — 15,693
— — — — — — — — — 38,083

156 12,149 1,690 3 242 15 83 569 47 29,131
— — — — — — — — — 731,608
1 169 39 2 3 1 2 10 17 10,916

26 17,440 5,581 68 411 126 5 223 5 26,024
7158 44732 51,988 6,359 5,683 379 1,747 3,540 1,527 997,862
(675) 8,308 3,399 (317) 574 67 (274) (364) 38 6,407
— — (5) — — — — — 5 (92)
— — — — — 29 — — — 29
— 7 2 1 — — — — — 169
— 7 3) 1 — 29 — — 5 106
(675) 8,315 3,396 (316) 574 96 (274) (364) 43 6,513
617 1,803 — — — — — 200 — 2,822
—  (11,002)  (4,002) 1) — — — (301) — (16,941)
617  (9,199)  (4,002) 1) — — — (101) — (14,119)
(58) (884) (606) (317) 574 96 (274) (465) 43 (7,606)

1,329 67,769 30,237 1,279 2,552 587 1,700 10,824 2,373 661,422
— — — — — — — (46) — 573
— (8) 52 — — — — — — 44

$ 1,271 $66,877 $29,683 $ 962 $ 3,126 $ 683 $ 1,426 $10,313 $ 2,416 $ 654,433
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INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS
COMBINING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1998
(Dollars in Thousands)

Disability Death State
State Income Benefit Property Motor
Health Plan Plan Fire Prison Fleet Courier Temporary
Plan of N.C. of N.C. Insurance Enterprises Management Service Solutions
Cash Provided From (Used For)
Operations:
Operating income (I0SS).......ccccververeernanne $ (51,907) $ (189) $21,230 $ 7,706 $ 7873 $ 10,342 $ 319 $ 277
Adjustments to reconcile operating income
to net cash flows from operating activities:
Depreciation......... 2 — — — 2,055 12,111 9 —
Investment earnings (36,964)  (23,238) (21,976) (3,150) — — — —
Securities lending fees.........ccccveevuneee. 12,812 1,259 1,183 438 — — — —
Restatements and
adjustments to cash............ccceeveeenns — — — 609 — — — —
Nonoperating miscellaneous income........ — — — — 159 — — —
(Increases) decreases in assets:
Receivables.........ccccceevviciiieee e 295 (227) 33 37 (527) 491 (52) (114)
Due from other funds — — — — 627 (801) (4) —
Due from component units.................. — — — — 30 (156) — —
Inventories — — — — (1,767) (20) — —
Prepaid items — — — — — — — —
Increases (decreases) in liabilities:
Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities.........cccccccoevvveeenn. 15 — 138 — 1,894 435 (8) 48
Due to other funds..........cccccevvveveennnes 1) — — (202) 14 (90) 2 —
Due to component units...................... — — — (2,197) — — — —
Claims and benefits payable 371 20,910 (140) (124) — — — —
Deposits payable...........ccccoovveriiennnn — — — — — — — —
Accrued vacation leave....................... 4 — — — (23) 5 (6) 2
Deferred revenue..........ccccooceeeneeennnne. 233 — — 220 38 — — —
Total cash provided from (used for)
OPEratioNS......ueeeee e (75,140) (1,485) 468 3,437 10,373 22,327 260 213
Cash Provided From (Used For)
Noncapital Financing Activities:
Operating transfers in..........cccccoceevieeennn. — — — — 202 — — —
Operating transfers out...........c.ccoovveiieeene — — — — (1,635) — — —
Total cash provided from (used for)
noncapital financing activities................ — — — — (1,433) — — —
Cash Provided From (Used For)
Capital Financing Activities:
Acquisition of fixed assets...........c.ccocuuueenn. — — — — (3,476) (23,298) — (7
Proceeds from the sale of fixed assets..... — — — — 7 2,805 — —

Total cash provided from (used for)
capital financing activities..................... — — — — (3,469) (20,493) — (7)
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Exhibit E-3
Clerk of John
State Decen- Supreme Cherry Umstead
N. C. Centralized Telecommu- Applications tralized Court Hospital Hospital
Information Computing nications Development Computing Printing Auxiliary Auxiliary Surplus
Highway Services Services Services Services Department Services Services Property Totals
$ (675) $ 8,308 $ 3,399 $ (317) $ 574 67 $ 274) $ (364) 38 $ 6,407
156 12,149 1,690 3 242 15 83 569 47 29,131
— — — — — — — — — (85,328)
— — — — — — — — — 15,692
— — — — — — — — — 609
— 7 1 — — — — — — 167
(295) (4,872) 1,570 (526) 37 23 8 7 14 (4,028)
—_ (876) (3,515) 89 26 — — — — (4,454)
— (109) 203 — — — — — — (32)
. 59 e e e 2 12 (43) . (2,747)
— (310) 1 4 26 — — — — (279)
1) 317 174 120 (34) 2 10 57 (329) 2,838
77 (74) 32 30 (57) — — — 321 152
— — — — — — — — — (2,197)
— — — — — — — — — 21,017
—_ —_ —_ —_ —_ —_ —_ 2 —_ 2
7 193 (14) 140 (117) 1 2) 2 5 197
— — — — — — (11) 2 . 482
(731) 14,792 3,541 (457) 697 110 (174) 302 96 (21,371)
617 1,803 e e e — — 200 . 2,822
— (11,002) (4,002) e e — — (301) . (16,940)
617 (9,199) (4,002) o o — — (101) — (14,118)
(786) (8,621) (2,220) — (274) — — a7) (49) (38,748)
— — — — — — — — 5 2,817
(786) (8,621) (2,220) — (274) — — (17) (44) (35,931)

Continued
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INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS
COMBINING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1998

(Dollars in Thousands)

Disability Death State
State Income Benefit Property Motor
Health Plan Plan Fire Prison Fleet Courier Temporary
Plan of N.C. of N.C. Insurance Enterprises Management Service Solutions
Cash Provided From (Used For)
Investment Activities:
Redemptions from the State Treasurer
Long-Term Investment Pool.................. — 2,000 — — — — — —
Purchase into State Treasurer
Long-Term Investment Pool.................. — — (2,600) (6,000) — — — —
Investment earnings.........ccccceeveevvveeeesnnns 24,356 202 181 465 — — — —
Total cash provided from (used for)
investment activities............ccccoccvveeeene 24,356 2,202 (2,419) (5,535) — — — —
Net increase (decrease) in cash
and cash equivalents............cccccceoennee. (50,784) 717 (1,951) (2,098) 5,471 1,834 260 206
Cash and cash equivalents at July 1......... 384,924 1,808 4,213 8,196 15,606 4,298 120 1,042
Cash and cash equivalents at June 30..... $334,140 $ 2,525 $ 2,262 $ 6,098 $ 21,077 $ 6,132 $ 380 $ 1,248

Noncash Investing, Capital,

and Financing Activities:
Noncash distributions from the State

Treasurer Long-Term

Investment POOL..........cccccoererenieencne. $ — $ 21,777 $20,612 $ 2,247 $ — 8 — $ — 3 —
Increase in contributed capital.................. — — — — — — — —
Decrease in contributed capital................. — — — — — — — —
Assets acquired through the

assumption of a liability.............cccceeeenne 236,565 27,715 26,506 8,985 — — — —
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Exhibit E-3
State Decen- Supreme Cherry Umstead
N. C. Centralized Telecommu- Applications tralized Court Hospital Hospital
Information Computing nications Development Computing Printing Auxiliary Auxiliary Surplus
Highway Services Services Services Services Department Services Services Property Totals
e e e e e — — — . 2,000
e e e e e — — — . (8,600)
— — — — — 25 — — — 25,229
— — — — — 25 — — — 18,629
(900) (3,028) (2,681) (457) 423 135 (174) 184 52 (52,791)
913 22,120 20,821 854 1,735 156 347 2,257 3,822 473,232
$ 13 $ 19,092 $ 18,140 $ 397 $ 2,158 $ 291 $ 173 $ 2441 $ 3,874 $ 420,441
$ — 3 — 3 — 3 — 3 — 3 — 3 — 3 — % — $ 44,636
—_ — 52 e e — — — . 52
— ® — — — — — — — ®)

— — — — — — — — — 299,771
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TRUST AND AGENCY FUNDS

The trust and agency funds are maintained to account for assets held by the State in

the capacity of a trustee or agent.
nonexpendable trusts, pension trusts and agency funds.

These funds include expendable trusts,

The following activities are included in the trust and agency funds:

Expendable Trusts

Expendable trust funds consist of
various trust funds administered by
the State, including significant funds
for unemployment compensation, the
Escheat Fund, the 401(k)
Supplemental  Retirement  Income
Fund, the Employee Deferred
Compensation Plan, the Recreation
and Natural Heritage Trust Fund, and
numerous departmental trusts. These
funds are accounted for using the
modified accrual basis of accounting.

Nonexpendable Trusts
Nonexpendable trust funds consist
of various trust funds that are
administered by the State and
primarily relate to educational loan
programs, the Wildlife Endowment

Program and the Clean Water
Revolving Loan and Grant Fund.
These funds are accounted for using
the accrual basis of accounting.

Pension Trusts

The pension trust funds reflect the
activities of the six retirement systems
administered by the State. These
funds are accounted for using the
accrual basis of accounting.

Investment Trust Fund

The investment trust fund
accounts for the external portion of
the Investment Pool sponsored by the
State Treasurer. The external portion
is comprised primarily of balances
from local education agencies.

Agency Funds

Agency funds consist of numerous
departmental funds for which the
State acts solely in a custodia
capacity. The State retains no equity
in these funds, and assets equal
liabilities. These funds are accounted
for using the modified accrual basis of
accounting.
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TRUST AND AGENCY FUNDS
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET

June 30, 1998 Exhibit F-1
(Dollars in Thousands)
Non-
Expendable expendable Pension Investment
Trust Trust Trust Trust Agency
Funds Funds Funds Fund Funds Totals

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents............c..ccccceeueen. $ 409,311 $ 107,733  $ 99,517 $ 3959 $ 604,175 $ 1,224,695
INVESIMENTS.....oiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieee e 2,128,250 120,709 52,846,005 509,527 83,376 55,687,867
Deposit with Federal government................... 1,285,741 — — — — 1,285,741
Receivables:

Taxes receivable..........cccoceeviiiiiiiiicennnn. 106,293 — — — 96,967 203,260

Accounts receivable 12,896 24 414 — 1,821 15,155

Intergovernmental receivables.................... 1,552 2 — — 6,238 7,792

Interest receivable............cccceoviiiiiiiinnn. 1,722 1,578 781 4,063 3 8,147

Contributions receivable. 9,882 — 117,965 — — 127,847
Due from other funds..........cccccooviiiiieiiniiinenn. 711 — — — 4,638 5,349
Advance to component UnitS.............ccocveenee. 25,000 — — — — 25,000
Notes receivable..........cccoooiiiiiiiiiiiiieee, 81,154 256,142 — — — 337,296
INVENLOTIES. ... 1,132 — — — 301 1,433
Sureties........ . — — — — 508,872 508,872
Total Assets $ 4,063,644 $ 486,188 $ 53,064,682 $ 517,549 $ 1,306,391 $ 59,438,454
LIABILITIES AND

FUND BALANCES

Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities:

Accounts payable.........ccccceveveeieeiieniennnnn $ 5651 $ 54 % —  $ — 3 215 % 5,920

Accrued payroll.......cccoceeeiieiniiineeee 52 5 — — — 57

Intergovernmental payables....................... 982 8 — — 531,074 532,064
Obligations under securities lending... . 200,575 74,069 3,603,628 209,485 16,294 4,104,051
Due to other funds..........cccooviiiiiieiiniiiecee 26 — 1 — 11,362 11,389
Due to component UNitS..........cocveerveeerineeennns 13,299 — — — — 13,299
Claims and benefits payable...........cc.cccceee. 23,242 — 126,374 — 13,976 163,592
Deposits payable..........ccccoooviiiiiiiiiiiiic 3 — — — 733,470 733,473
Distributions payable...........ccccooeieiiiiiiieennns — — — 1,454 — 1,454
Deferred revenue...........ccoovcvveniieeiiec i 66,865 — — — — 66,865
Total Liabilities...........ccooiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeee, 310,695 74,136 3,730,003 210,939 1,306,391 5,632,164
Fund Balances:
Reserved for:

INVENLOTIES. ...t 1,132 — — — — 1,132

Advances to component units.................... 25,000 — — — — 25,000

Claims and benefits.........c.ccoceiiiinncnns 1,968,548 — — — — 1,968,548

Notes receivable...................... — 255,487 — — — 255,487

Loan and grant commitments... . — 49,498 — — — 49,498

Abandoned property.........cccceeeerieeeeieninnnn. 180,127 — — — — 180,127

Political parties.........ccccocvveiieiiiieeiiieee 125 — — — — 125

Wildlife endowment...........occcveeeiiniiiinneenn. — 41,183 — — — 41,183

Employees' pension benefits..............c....... — — 49,334,679 — — 49,334,679

Energy conservation............. 1,872 — — — — 1,872

Investment pool participants. — — — 306,610 — 306,610

Other PUIPOSES.....cceeiiiiiiieeeeeiiieee e 610 — — — — 610
Unreserved:

undesignated...........occveeeeeiiiiiiieeeniiiieeeene 1,575,535 65,884 — — — 1,641,419
Total Fund Balances............c.cccoeviiieieennenn 3,752,949 412,052 49,334,679 306,610 — 53,806,290
Total Liabilities and

Fund Balances..........cccoocuvieeeiiniiiiiieeeiins 4,063,644 $ 486,188 $ 53,064,682

$ 517,549

3 1306391

$ 59,438,454
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EXPENDABLE TRUST FUNDS
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
June 30, 1998 Exhibit F-2

(Dollars in Thousands)

401(k) Recreation
Unemployment Supplemental Deferred and Natural
Compensation Escheat Retirement Compensation Heritage Other
Funds Fund Income Plan Plan Trust Fund Funds Totals

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents........... $ 214,823 $ 15,840 $ 142,409 $ 7 $ 11,923 $ 24,309 $ 409,311
INVESIMENTS.....veivieieeiecieeie e 142,881 227,684 1,239,190 489,255 7,962 21,278 2,128,250
Deposit with Federal government.. 1,285,741 — — — — — 1,285,741
Receivables:

Taxes receivable...........cccoee.... 106,293 — — — — — 106,293

Accounts receivable 12,424 — — — — 472 12,896

Intergovernmental receivables.. 1,552 — — — — — 1,552

Interest receivable..................... 1,091 69 363 4 116 79 1,722

Contributions receivable............ — — 8,893 845 — 144 9,882
Due from other funds.................... 50 — — — 187 474 711
Advance to component units......... — 25,000 — — — — 25,000
Notes receivable..........cc.ceeveriennnne — — 81,154 — — — 81,154
INVENLOMIES...c.veveeeveie e — — — — — 1,132 1,132
Total ASSEtS......ccccvevvevieeieerecieene, $ 1,764,855 $ 268,593 $ 1,472,009 $ 490,111 $ 20,188 $ 47,888 $ 4,063,644
LIABILITIES AND

FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:
Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 2,407 $ — $ 2,239 $ — $ 6 $ 999 $ 5,651

Accrued payroll...........cocvevenenne — — — — — 52 52

Intergovernmental payables...... 614 — — — — 368 982
Obligations under

securities lending............c..c........ 142,881 38,497 — — 7,962 11,235 200,575

Due to other funds...........cecveverenne — — — — — 26 26
Due to component units................ — 13,299 — — — — 13,299
Claims and benefits payable......... 12,321 10,921 — — — — 23,242
Deposits payable..........ccccovevrvernnne — — — — — 3 3
Deferred revenue............ccooveveneene 65,992 749 — — — 124 66,865
Total LiabilitieS.......ccvrverrererrarenns 224,215 63,466 2,239 — 7,968 12,807 310,695
Fund Balances:
Reserved for:

INVENLONIES......ccveveeieeeeciieeen — — — — — 1,132 1,132

Advances to component units... — 25,000 — — — — 25,000

Claims and benefits................... — — 1,469,770 490,111 — 8,667 1,968,548

Abandoned property — 180,127 — — — — 180,127

Political parties.............. — — — — — 125 125

Energy conservation — — — — — 1,872 1,872

Other purposes.........cccveevererens — — — — — 610 610
Unreserved:

Undesignated...........c.ccceeveeueennn. 1,540,640 — — — 12,220 22,675 1,575,535
Total Fund Balances..................... 1,540,640 205,127 1,469,770 490,111 12,220 35,081 3,752,949

Total Liabilities
and Fund Balances..................... $ 1,764,855 $ 268,593 $ 1,472,009 $ 490,111 $ 20,188 $ 47,888 $ 4,063,644
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EXPENDABLE TRUST FUNDS
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1998 Exhibit F-3
(Dollars in Thousands)
401(k) Recreation
Unemployment Supplemental Deferred and Natural
Compensation Escheat Retirement Compensation Heritage Other
Funds Fund Income Plan Plan Trust Fund Funds Totals
Revenues:
TAXES..cuieiveeteereete et $ 278,586 $ — % — 3 — % 6,950 $ 236 $ 285,772
Federal funds........c.ccccoovvevieeeeieirennen. 9,342 — — — — — 9,342
Local funds.........ccovvueeeeiiieciiieceeiieees — — — — — 273 273
Investment earnings 107,480 26,630 208,403 63,189 1,724 2,018 409,444
Interest earnings on loans.................. — — 6,640 — — — 6,640
Sales and ServiCes........occceeveeveereeenne — 1 — — — 29,198 29,199
Sale, rental and lease of property....... — — — — — 502 502
Fees, licenses and fines..................... — — 1,823 — 1,921 5,127 8,871
Contributions..........ccccceevennens 2,042 — 161,703 27,540 — 2,235 193,520
Funds escheated — 18,866 — — — — 18,866
Miscellaneous...........ccccveeecveeeeveeenen. — — — — — 413 413
Total reVENUES.......cceeveevecreeieiieeieeieans 397,450 45,497 378,569 90,729 10,595 40,002 962,842
Expenditures:
Current:
General government.............c......... — 3,390 6,687 1,723 — 886 12,686
Education — — — — — 19,287 19,287
Health and human services............ — — — — — 1,923 1,923
Environment and
natural reSoUrCes.........cevverueruenens — — — — 8,656 330 8,986
Public safety and corrections.......... — — — — — 29,451 29,451
AGHCUIUIE......veecvvecieecieece e, — — — — — 4,901 4,901
Claims and beneéfits..........ccocvrvrnnen. 392,235 — 55,226 24,409 — 1,483 473,353
Total eXpenditures..........coeveiververuennns 392,235 3,390 61,913 26,132 8,656 58,261 550,587
Excess revenues over expenditures... 5,215 42,107 316,656 64,597 1,939 (18,259) 412,255
Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Operating transfers in.............cccee..e. 279 — — — — 20,302 20,581
Operating transfers out....................... (13,161) — — — — (2,578) (15,739)
Operating transfers to
COMPONENL UNILS....vevirrereiveiiierenans — (13,299) — — — — (13,299)
Total other financing sources (uses)... (12,882) (13,299) — — — 17,724 (8,457)
Excess of revenues and
other expenditures and other uses. (7,667) 28,808 316,656 64,597 1,939 (535) 403,798
Fund balances—July 1..........ccccveuenen. 1,548,307 176,319 1,153,114 425,514 10,281 35,668 3,349,203
Restatements..........cccceveeververieeeneennn. — — — — — (2) Q)
Residual equity transfers out.............. — — — — — (151) (151)
Increase (decrease) in
reserve for inventories............cc.o..... — — — — — 100 100
Fund balances—June 30.................... $ 1,540,640 $205,127 $ 1,469,770 $ 490,111 $ 12,220 $35,081 $3,752,949
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NONEXPENDABLE TRUST FUNDS
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET

June 30, 1998 Exhibit F-4
(Dollars in Thousands)
Clean
Water
Public Community Revolving
Education Colleges Wwildlife Loan
Loan Loans and Endowment and Grant Other
Funds Scholarships  Program Fund Funds Totals
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents......................... $ 3,229 $ 11 $ 41  $ 101,381 $3,071 $ 107,733
INVESIMENTS.....oiiiiiieeiiiee e 2,150 6,166 47,231 63,948 1,214 120,709
Receivables:
Accounts receivable.............................. — — — 24 — 24
Intergovernmental receivable................ — — — — 2 2
Interest receivable..........c.oooeevivivninnnnen. 34 27 1 1,513 3 1,578
Notes receivable.............cccceeeiii . 538 15 — 255,487 102 256,142
Total ASSELS....cciiiiiiieiiiiiee e $ 5,951 $ 6,219 $ 47,273 $ 422,353 $4,392 $ 486,188
LIABILITIES AND
FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities:
Accounts payable............c.ccocoveveeeenennn.n. $ — $ — $ — $ 54 $ — $ 54
Accrued payroll.........cccceiiiiiiiies — — — 5 — 5
Intergovernmental payables.................... — — — 8 — 8
Obligations under securities lending............ 2,150 709 6,048 63,948 1,214 74,069
Total Liabilities........cceovvieeiiiieieieee e 2,150 709 6,048 64,015 1,214 74,136
Fund Balances:
Reserved for:
Notes receivable..........cocceevieeiiiiicennnn, — — — 255,487 — 255,487
Loan and grant commitments.................. 3,801 5,510 — 38,778 1,409 49,498
Wildlife endowment..........ccccoovvveeeeninnenn. — — 41,183 — — 41,183
Unreserved:
Undesignated.........c.cccooecvvvvieeeeeeieiiiinenn, — — 42 64,073 1,769 65,884
Total Fund Balances.........c.cccevvvvvvvvvvvvvvennnnns 3,801 5,510 41,225 358,338 3,178 412,052
Total Liabilities and Fund Balances............. $ 5,951 $ 6,219 $ 47,273  $ 422,353 $4,392 $ 486,188
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NONEXPENDABLE TRUST FUNDS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1998 Exhibit F-5
(Dollars in Thousands)
Clean
Water
Public Community Revolving
Education Colleges Wildlife Loan
Loan Loans and Endowment and Grant Other
Funds Scholarships  Program Fund Funds Totals
Operating Revenues:
Sales and Services...........ocvvvvevveeeeenne. $ — $ — $ 91 $ 332 $ — $ 423
Federal funds.........ccoooeivviiiiiiiiiiiieeeeennn, — — — 25,273 — 25,273
Investment earnings...........ccoceeeeeeeeenne 274 702 5,544 7,075 66 13,661
Interest earnings on loans................... 41 — — 7,230 — 7,271
Fees, licenses and fines — — 1,301 — 13 1,314
Contributions.......cccoeevveiiiii, — — 4 — — 4
Miscellaneous...........ccccceeeeeeeeeee, 218 — 1 — — 219
Total operating revenues...................... 533 702 6,941 39,910 79 48,165
Operating Expenses:
Personal Services.........coccevvveeeiiiineeenn. — — — 14 — 14
Supplies and materials................cccuee — — — 5 — 5
Services — 6 — 3 — 9
INEEIEST...eviieiiie i 94 33 283 2,452 25 2,887
Grants to local governments................. — — — 2,782 6 2,788
Other expenses:
Scholarships........ccoccovvieiiiiiiiciie, — 397 — — — 397
Other....cooiiiiii i — — — 48 — 48
Total operating eXpenses.............ccuue... 94 436 283 5,304 31 6,148
Operating income (10SS).......cccccceeeeenn. 439 266 6,658 34,606 48 42,017
Operating Transfers:
Transfers iNu.....e e, — — — 13,224 1,275 14,499
Transfers OUt........ooccvveeeeeeeiniiiiiieeeeeee — — (2,921) (260) — (3,181)
Total operating transfers in (out).......... — — (2,921) 12,964 1,275 11,318
Net income (I0SS)......cccvvervveeeeriiieennnne, 439 266 3,737 47,570 1,323 53,335
Fund balances — July 1..........c............ 3,362 5,244 37,488 310,768 1,875 358,737
Restatements..........ccccuveieeeeeniiiiiiieeen. — — — — (20) (20)
Fund balances — June 30.............cc..... $ 3,801 $ 5510 $ 41,225 $ 358,338 $ 3,178 $ 412,052
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NONEXPENDABLE TRUST FUNDS
COMBINING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1998 Exhibit F-6
(Dollars in Thousands)
Clean
Water
Public Community Revolving
Education Colleges Wildlife Loan
Loan Loans and Endowment and Grant Other
Funds Scholarships Program Fund Funds Totals
Cash Provided From (Used For)
Operations:
Operating iNCOME (I0SS).....ccceervriivierieeiieesieesieeeen $ 439 $ 266 $ 6,658 $ 34,606 $ 48 $ 42,017
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to
net cash flows from operating activities:
Investment earnings. ........ccccoeerveeereenieesneennens (274) (702) (5,544) (7,075) (66) (13,661)
Securities lending fees.........ccccveiviiiiciinnnns 94 33 283 2,452 25 2,887
Mortgage/loan/note principal repayments......... 208 — — 15,201 12 15,421
Mortgages/loans/notes issued............... — — — (39,064) — (39,064)
Restatements and adjustments to cash — — — 67 — 67
(Increases) decreases in assets:
Receivables.........cccoiiiiiniice 7 — 3 (43) (2) (34)
Increases (decreases) in liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities..... — — (1) (261) — (262)
Total cash provided from (used for)
OPEIALIONS. ..ceuveeieeeiteeieeeiee ettt eeeens 474 (403) 1,399 5,883 18 7,371
Cash Provided From (Used For)
Noncapital Financing Activities:
Operating transfers iN..........ccoccceeveeeviiee s — — — 13,224 1,275 14,499
Operating transfers Out...........ccccveevieevieeenieee e — — (2,921) (260) — (3,181)
Total cash provided from (used for)
noncapital financing activities..........c.ccccceecveeennns — — (2,921) 12,964 1,275 11,318
Cash Provided From (Used For)
Investment Activities:
Proceeds from the sale/maturities of
non-State Treasurer investments....................... — 137 — — — 137
Redemptions from the State Treasurer
Long-Term Investment PoOL............ccccceveueeneennns — 330 2,921 — — 3,251
Purchase of non-State Treasurer
INVESIMENES.....oiiiiiiiiiieee e — (126) — — — (126)
Purchase into State Treasurer
Long-Term Investment PoOL.............cccevuerieennns — — (2,470) — — (2,470)
INVEStMENt EarNINGS. .....coivieiieiie e 169 52 10 4,473 40 4,744
Total cash provided from (used for)
investment activities............ccoceveiieieniiieieie 169 393 1,461 4,473 40 6,536
Net increase (decrease) in
cash and cash equivalents............cccccooeeenieninne 643 (20) (61) 23,320 1,333 25,225
Cash and cash equivalents at July 1...................... 2,586 21 102 78,061 1,738 82,508
Cash and cash equivalents at June 30 $ 3,229 $ 11 $ 41 $ 101,381 $ 3,071 $ 107,733
Noncash Investing, Capital, and
Financing Activites:
Noncash distributions from the State
Treasurer Long-Term Investment Pool............... $ — $ 616 $ 5,253 $ — $ — $ 5,869
Assets acquired through the assumption
of @ liability........ccovereinicirc 2,150 709 6,048 63,948 1,214 74,069
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AGENCY FUNDS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1998

(Dollars in Thousands)

Local Sales Tax Collections

ASSETS
Cash and cash eqUIVAIENTS............cceevvereesieesiesireeieens
INVESTMENES......uviiiiiiii et
Recelvables:

TaxXes reCeIVADIE........c.ceccvieeciiee e
Due from other tunds....
TOtaAl ASSELS..uuuiiieeiiiiiiiie e et

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities:
Intergovernmental payables...........ccccovrivrvraernnennn.

Obligations under securities lending...

Total LiabilitieS..........vvvieeeiiiiiie e

Deposits of Insurance Carriers Fund

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
INVESTMENES......uviiiiiiii et
Receivables:

Interest receivable...........ccccevvveeeiiie e
Sureties
TOtaAl ASSELS..uuuiiieeiiiiiiiie e et e e e

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities:

Obligations under securities 1ending............cccceevveeenenen.
Deposits payable
Total LiabilitieS.........coooeeeiiiii e

Clerks of Court

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
INVESTMENES.......viiiiiii ettt
Receivables:

ACCOUNLS rECRIVADIE........cccuviieiiieeciiee e
Due from other funds............cooveiiiieeiiiee e
SUIBLIES. ...ttt ettt e et a e
TOtaAl ASSELS..uuiiiieeiiiiiiiie e eeee e e

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities:
Intergovernmental payabIes...........c.cccueeverveeneeeenn.

Due to other funds....................

DEPOSItS PAYADIE. .....ccvreeieiiieeiieeiiesieeeieeeveetee e saae e

Total LiabilitieS........c.vvvveeeiiiiiie e

Balance, Balance,

July 1, 1997 Additions Deductions June 30, 1998
$ 345,592 $ 1,804,994 $ 1,773,906 $ 376,680

213,098 — 213,098 —

85,241 221,167 209,441 96,967

3,071 7,324 6,141 4,254

3 647,002 $ 2,033,485 $ 2,202,586 3 477,901
$ 433,904 $ 2,029,361 $ 1,985,364 $ 477,901

213,098 — 213,098 —

3 647,002 $ 2,029,361 $ 2,198,462 $ 477,901
$ 157 $ 4,868 $ 4,800 $ 225
98 52 150

1 1 2 —

463,673 45,251 26,425 482,499

$ 463,929 $ 50,172 $ 31,227 $ 482,874
$ 98 $ 52 $ — $ 150
463,831 44,485 25,592 482,724

$ 463,929 $ 44,537 $ 25,592 $ 482,874
$ 134,695 $ 1,424,927 $ 1,408,635 $ 150,987
67,936 33,933 35,335 66,534

218 1,398 1,216 400

406 5,204 5,289 321

22,830 18,631 16,542 24,919

$ 226,085 $ 1,484,093 $ 1,467,017 3 243,161
$ 3,911 $ 83,860 $ 83,443 $ 4,328
2,821 157,622 158,565 1,878

219,353 960,807 943,205 236,955

3 226,085 $ 1,202,289 $ 1,185,213 $ 243,161
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Exhibit F-7
Balance, Balance,
July 1, 1997 Additions Deductions June 30, 1998

Departmental Agency Funds
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 82,684 $ 3,230,056 $ 3,236,457 $ 76,283
Investments.............ocevvveennn. . 24,291 10 7,609 16,692
Receivables:

ACCOUNLS rECEIVADIE........cevviiiiiiiiiiiii s 9,215 45,151 52,945 1,421

Intergovernmental receivables.. 6,290 6,238 6,290 6,238

Interest receivable.................... . 27 5 29 3
Due from other funds............coccceviiiiiiiiiiiiii — 503 440 63
INVENEOTIES. ...ttt 301 — — 301
Sureties.......... . 1,307 1,454 1,307 1,454
Total Assets $ 124,115 $ 3,283,417 $ 3,305,077 $ 102,455
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities:

Accounts payable.............ooooiiiiiiii e $ 661 $ 48,461 $ 48,907 $ 215

Intergovernmental payables... . 54,130 668,271 673,556 48,845
Obligations under securities 1ending............ooeeeeveevennnnee 23,753 — 7,609 16,144
Due to other funds..........cccoccviiiiiiniiiin e, 10,907 690,979 692,402 9,484
Claims and benefits payable............ccccceveiiiiiiiiiiiiinnnnnnn. 19,520 660,673 666,217 13,976
Deposits payable...... ... 15,144 26,327 27,680 13,791
Total Liabilities.......oooveiieiiiicieeceeee e 3 124,115 $ 2,094,711 $ 2,116,371 $ 102,455
Total Agency Funds
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents...........ccccccovvveereinnineneenene $ 563,128 $ 6,464,845 $ 6,423,798 $ 604,175
INVESTMENTS.....oiiiiiiiiiiiii s 305,423 33,995 256,042 83,376
Receivables:

Taxes receivable...........ccoovvviiiiiiiniiiciiiiii e 85,241 221,167 209,441 96,967

Accounts receivable............... 9,433 46,549 54,161 1,821

Intergovernmental receivables.. 6,290 6,238 6,290 6,238

Interest receivable.................... 28 6 31 3
Due from other funds.. . 3,477 13,031 11,870 4,638
Inventories............... . 301 — — 301
Sureties.......... . 487,810 65,336 44,274 508,872
TOtal ASSELS......vieiieiiieee e 3 1,461,131 $ 6,851,167 $ 7,005,907 3 1,306,391
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities:

Accounts payable.............ooooiiiiiiiiie $ 661 $ 48,461 $ 48,907 $ 215

Intergovernmental payables...............ccccoeiviiiininnnn. 491,945 2,781,492 2,742,363 531,074
Obligations under securities 1ending............ooeeeeveeeennnnee 236,949 52 220,707 16,294
Due to other funds..........cccccviiiiiiniiiin e, 13,728 848,601 850,967 11,362
Claims and benefits payable............ccccceveiiiiiviiiiiiiiiennnn. 19,520 660,673 666,217 13,976
Deposits payable...........cccceocviiiiiiiiiiicin 698,328 1,031,619 996,477 733,470

Total Liabilities.........coovviiiiiiiiii e $ 1,461,131 $ 5,370,898 $ 5,525,638 $ 1,306,391
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GENERAL FIXED ASSETS ACCOUNT GROUP

The general fixed assets account group is maintained to account for fixed assets
acquired for general governmental purposes except for those assets accounted for in

proprietary funds.

General fixed assets purchased by the State are valued at cost
where historic records are available; otherwise, they are valued
at estimated historic cost where no historical records exist.
Donated fixed assets are valued at their estimated fair market
value on the date received by the State.

Infrastructures, which include highways, bridges and rights-
of-way, are not capitalized. Depreciation expense is not
recognized in the general fixed assets account group.
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SCHEDULE OF GENERAL FIXED ASSETS

BY FUNCTION
June 30, 1998 Exhibit G-1
(Dollars in Thousands)
Other Art,
Structures Machinery  Literature Construction
and and and in
Land Buildings Improvements  Equipment  Artifacts Progress Totals
BY FUNCTION
General government.............. $ 28,833 $ 144,412 $ 26,710 $ 32471 $ 35,118 $ 214593 $ 482,137
Education..........ccccceeeeiiininnns 1,348 51,387 70 8,494 1,003 8,164 70,466
Health and human services... 3,181 266,283 43,013 77,033 1,467 63,794 454,771
Economic development......... 705 22,830 50 12,553 — — 36,138
Environment and
natural resources............... 157,503 89,473 16,471 87,195 147 20,642 371,431
Public safety, corrections,
and regulation................... 22,259 640,289 54,036 196,944 1,040 40,513 955,081
Transportation...........cccc.ece... 22,732 122,513 — 529,522 — 17,778 692,545
Agriculture.........ccooeveiieeneenn. 21,858 49,315 692 23,833 133 20,149 115,980

Total general fixed assets...... $ 258,419 $ 1,386,502 $ 141,042 $ 968,045 $ 38,908 $ 385,633 $ 3,178,549
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SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN GENERAL FIXED ASSETS

BY FUNCTION
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1998 Exhibit G-2
(Dollars in Thousands)
Transfers
Balance Prior (To) From Balance
July 1, Year Other June 30,
1997 Adjustments Funds Additions Deletions 1998
BY FUNCTION
General government............. $ 420,794 $ (1,467) $ (12,692) $ 76,666 $ 1,164 $ 482,137
Education.........ccceeevenennnnnnnn. 69,187 (1,690) — 3,984 1,015 70,466
Health and human services.. 419,780 6,246 11,418 25,314 7,987 454,771
Economic development........ 29,465 2,881 — 4,581 789 36,138
Environment and
natural resources.............. 332,423 (5,312) (11,158) 57,899 2,421 371,431
Public safety, corrections, and
regulation...........cccceevueeenn 905,510 (1,871) 15,597 45,775 9,930 955,081
Transportation...............c....... 643,501 136 (75) 73,541 24,558 692,545
Agriculture.........cccoeeeevevineenn. 108,937 — (2,944) 10,953 966 115,980

Total general fixed assets..... $ 2,929,597 $ (1,077) $ 146 $ 298,713 $ 48,830 $ 3,178,549
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GENERAL LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS ACCOUNT GROUP

The general long-term obligations account group is maintained to account for the

outstanding principal balances of the State's long-term obligations not otherwise
reported in proprietary funds.
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STATEMENT OF GENERAL LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS
June 30, 1998

Exhibit H-1

(Dollars in Thousands)

AMOUNT AVAILABLE AND TO BE PROVIDED
FOR THE PAYMENT OF LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS

Amounts Available In Other Funds:
IN GENEIAI FUN... ..ottt e e e e e e e eeees
In Special RevenUe FUNAS. ........coiiiiiiiii e

Amount to be Provided for Retirement

of General Long-Term Obligations:
By General FUNG..........ooiiiiiii et e e
By Special ReVENUE FUNAS.........ccuiiiiiiie e
By Expendable Trust FUNAS...........ueiiiiiiiiiiiee e
By Nonexpendable Trust FUNAS..........c.uuiiiiiiiiiieece e

Total available and to be provided...............coooiiiiiiii e

GENERAL LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS

Bonds Payable:
General obligation bonds payable.............ccoo

Other Payables:

Retiree tax judgements payable...........oocueiiiiioiiiii e
NOLES PAYADIE. ...
Deferred death benefit payable.............ccooi
Obligations for workers' CoOmpensation.............cccovviiiiiiiiiieeei e
Capital leases payable............ooo e
Accrued Vacation IEAVE...........ociiieiiiiieie et

Total general long-term obligations............c.ueiiiiiiiiii e

$ 2,726,093
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SCHEDULE OF GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS PAYABLE
June 30, 1998

(Dollars in Thousands)

Payable from General Fund Revenues

Public Capital Capital
Public Improve- Improve- Improve-
Total School Clean ment ment ment
General Total Facility Water Bonds Bonds Bonds
Obligation General Series C Series C 1979 Series 1989 Series A
Bonds Fund 6-1-76 6-1-76 11-1-79 5-1-89 3-1-91
4.0 - 6.0% 4.0 - 6.0% 55-7.5% 6.5-6.9% 5.75 - 6.0%
Bonds Authorized [*]
and Issued:
Ch. 909, 1971 session law..... $ 53000 $ 53,000 % — $ 25000 $ 28,000 $ — % —
Ch. 657, 1973 session law..... 68,750 68,750 50,000 — 18,750 — —
Ch. 677, 1977 session law..... 20,500 20,500 — — 20,500 — —
Ch. 1048, 1987 session law.... 20,499 20,499 — — — 20,499 —
Ch. 933, 1989 session law..... 75,000 75,000 — — — — 75,000
Ch. 935, 1989 session law..... 200,000 200,000 — — — — —
Ch. 760, 1991 session law..... 45,000 45,000 — — — — —
Ch. 542, 1993 session law..... 740,000 740,000 — — — — —
Ch. 631, 1995 session law..... 900,000 900,000 — — — — —
General Statute Ch. 142......... 144,545 144,545 — — — — —
Ch. 590, 1995 session law..... 250,000 — — — — — —
Total bonds authorized
and issued 2,517,294 2,267,294 50,000 25,000 67,250 20,499 75,000
Accretion........cccceeeeeeeiien, 9,930 9,930 — — — 9,930 —
Bonds retired..........cccceveeiinnn 343,680 343,680 48,000 24,000 62,250 16,080 41,900
Partial defeasances................ 59,600 59,600 — — — — —
Bonds outstanding—
June 30, 1998................ $2,123944 $1873944 $ 2000 $ 1000 $ 5000 $ 14,349 $ 33,100
Bond Maturity
As Follows:
1998-99......ciiiiiiiiiiieeees $ 124248 $ 107573 $ 2,000 $ 1,000 $ 5000 $ 1,788 $ 8,300
1999-00......cuuvmvirnririnirineenns 124,028 107,353 — — — 1,673 8,300
2000-01.....cceeevieiiiiiis 123,930 107,255 — — — 1,565 8,300
2001-02....cccevviiiiiiiiiiies 123,907 107,232 — — — 1,462 8,200
2002-03....cccoeiiiiiiiiiee 123,842 107,167 — — — 1,367 —
2003-04......ccoevieiiiiiie 123,640 106,965 — — — 1,275 —
2004-05.....cccceiiviiiiiiies 123,952 107,277 — — — 1,192 —
2005-06.......ccccevevviiiiiiinns 123,760 107,085 — — — 1,110 —
2006-07...cccceeevieiiiiiiiinns 123,572 106,897 — — — 1,037 —
2007-08......cceevvviiiiiiiiins 123,587 106,912 — — — 972 —
2008-09......cceevieiiiiiiis 123,403 106,728 — — — 908 —
2009-10.....ccceeiieiiiiiiiies 123,175 106,500 — — — — —
2010-12..ccciiiiiiieiie 123,175 106,500 — — — — —
2011-12.ciiiiiiiiiie 123,175 106,500 — — — — —
2012-13..iiiie 123,050 106,500 — — — — —
2013-14..ccciiiiiiiiie 106,500 106,500 — — — — —
2014-15.....ciiiiiiiie 106,500 106,500 — — — — —
2015-16...cccceeiiiiiiiiiis 53,500 53,500 — — — — —
2016-17.cccceiiiiiiiiiiiie 3,000 3,000 — — — — —
Total Bonds Outstanding........ $2,123944 $1873944 $ 2000 $ 1000 $ 5000 $ 14,349 $ 33,100
[*] Capital

Appreciation
Bonds
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Exhibit H-2
Payable from General Fund Revenues
Prison and

Capital Prison and Prison and Public Youth Capital
Improve- Youth Youth Improve- Clean Services Improve- Clean Clean Clean
ment Services Services ment Water Facilities ment Water Water Water
Bonds Facilities Facilities Refunding Refunding Refunding Bonds Series Series Series
Series 1991 Series A Series B Series 1993 Series 1993 Series C Series 1994A 1994A 1994B 1995A
10-1-91 3-1-92 10-1-93 10-1-93 10-1-93 10-15-93 2-1-94 10-1-94 11-1-94 6-1-95

5.3-5.6% 5.9-6.2% 2.5-4.5% 2.4-5.5% 3.0-5.0% 4.2-4.8% 46-475% 57-58% 4.7-50% 5.0-525%

$ — $ — $ — $ — $ — % — $ — $ — $ — % —
— 112,500 87,500 — — — — — — —

45,000 — — — — — — — — —

— — — — — — 400,000 40,000 20,000 60,000

— — — 61,025 16,045 67,475 — — — —

45,000 112,500 87,500 61,025 16,045 67,475 400,000 40,000 20,000 60,000
20,100 17,700 11,000 21,440 5,420 2,790 28,000 4,000 12,000 3,000

— 59,600 — — — — — — — —

$ 24900 $ 35200 $ 76,5500 $ 39585 $ 10,625 $ 64,685 $ 372,000 $36,000 $ 8000 $ 57,000

$ 6200 $ 8800 $ 3600 $ 17665 $ 4,130 $ 590 $ 7,500 $ 2,000 $ 4,000 $ 3,000

6,200 8,800 6,800 21,920 4,045 615 8,000 2,000 4,000 3,000
6,200 8,800 8,800 — 2,450 640 28,000 2,000 — 3,000
6,300 8,800 8,800 — — 670 28,000 2,000 — 3,000
— — 8,800 — — 9,500 28,000 2,000 — 3,000
— — 8,800 — — 9,390 28,000 2,000 — 3,000
— — 8,800 — — 9,285 28,000 2,000 — 3,000
— — 8,800 — — 9,175 28,000 2,000 — 3,000
— — 8,800 — — 9,060 28,000 2,000 — 3,000
— — 4,500 — — 8,940 28,000 2,000 — 3,000
— — — — — 6,820 28,000 2,000 — 3,000
— — — — — — 28,000 2,000 — 3,000
— — — — — — 28,000 2,000 — 3,000
— — — — — — 28,000 2,000 — 3,000
— — — — — — 20,500 2,000 — 3,000
— — — — — — — 2,000 — 3,000
— — — — — — — 2,000 — 3,000
— — — — — — — 2,000 — 3,000
— — — — — — — — — 3,000

$ 24900 $ 35200 $ 76,500 $ 39,585 $ 10,625 $ 64,685 $ 372,000 $36,000 $ 8,000 $ 57,000

Continued
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SCHEDULE OF GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS PAYABLE (continued)
June 30, 1998 Exhibit H-2

(Dollars in Thousands)
Payable from

Highway
Trust Fund
Payable from General Fund Revenues Revenues
Capital
Clean Improve- Public Public
Water ment School School
Series Bonds Building Building Highway
1995B Series 1997 Series 1997A Series 1998A Series 1997A
7-1-95 1-1-97 3-1-97 4/1/98 11/1/97
4.25-4.3% 4.8-5.1% 5.1-5.2% 4.75-5.0% 4.5-5.0%
Bonds Authorized
and Issued:
Ch. 909, 1971 session law......... $ — $ — $ — $ — $ —
Ch. 657, 1973 session law......... — — — — —
Ch. 677, 1977 session law......... — — — — —
Ch. 1048, 1987 session law....... — — — — —
Ch. 933, 1989 session law......... — — — — —
Ch. 935, 1989 session law......... — — — — —
Ch. 760, 1991 session law......... — — — — —
Ch. 542, 1993 session law......... 25,000 195,000 — — —
Ch. 631, 1995 session law......... — — 450,000 450,000 —
General Statute Ch. 142............ — — — — —
Ch. 590, 1995 session law......... — — — — 250,000
Total bonds authorized
and issued 25,000 195,000 450,000 450,000 250,000
Accretion........ccccveveeiii, — — — — —
Bonds retired.........ccccceeeeivvnnennn. 15,000 3,000 8,000 — —
Partial defeasances................... — — — — —
Bonds outstanding—
June 30, 1998.......c.ccceuees $ 10,000 $ 192,000 $ 442,000 $ 450,000 $ 250,000
Bond Maturity
As Follows:
1998-99.....cciiieiiiiee e $ 5,000 $ 3,000 $ 8,000 $ 16,000 $ 16,675
1999-00.....ccvveeiiiirireeeeiinreeennn 5,000 3,000 8,000 16,000 16,675
2000-01....ccviiieeeeeiiiere e — 12,000 9,500 16,000 16,675
2001-02....cccviiieeeeciieree e — 12,000 12,000 16,000 16,675
2002-03.....cccviiieeeeeiieree e — 12,000 26,500 16,000 16,675
2003-04....cccvviveeeeeiieeee e — 12,000 26,500 16,000 16,675
2004-05.....ccviiieeeeeiieeee e — 12,000 27,000 16,000 16,675
2005-06.......cccvvveeeeiiiiireeeeiiinns — 12,000 27,000 16,000 16,675
2006-07...cccvvvireeeeciiiieee e — 12,000 27,000 16,000 16,675
2007-08......c.cevvvveeeeiiiieee e — 12,000 31,500 16,000 16,675
2008-09......c.ccvvvieeeeiiiieree e — 12,000 32,000 22,000 16,675
2009-10....ccciiireeeeciiieree e — 12,000 32,000 29,500 16,675
2010-11 e — 12,000 32,000 29,500 16,675
2012-12. e — 12,000 32,000 29,500 16,675
2012-13..ceieeeeeeee s — 12,000 32,000 37,000 16,550
2013-14.ccoiieeeeeeee e — 12,000 32,000 57,500 —
2014-15. e — 12,000 32,000 57,500 —
2015-16...cccciiiieeeecieee e — 6,000 15,000 27,500 —
2016-17..ccoiiiiiieeeeeiieee e — — — — —

Total Bonds Outstanding............ $ 10,000 $ 192,000 $ 442,000 $ 450,000 $ 250,000
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162 State of North Carolina

COMPONENT UNITS:
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
COLLEGE AND UNIVERSITY FUNDS

The component units funds include the University of North Carolina system, the
community colleges, and the component unit proprietary funds. These component
units are legally separate entities for which the State is financially accountable.
Accountability is defined as the State's substantive appointment of a majority of the
component unit's governing board. Furthermore, the State must be able to impose its
will upon the component unit or there must be a possibility that the component unit
may provide specific benefits to, or impose specific financial burdens on, the State.
The State has applied the criteria outlined in GASB Statement No. 14, The Financial
Reporting Entity, in determining financial accountability. The component units are
included in the financial reporting entity because of the significance of their
operational or financial relationships with the State.
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Component units are comprised of the following entities:

University of North Carolina System
University of North Carolina -
General Administration
Appalachian State University
East Carolina University
Elizabeth City State University
Fayetteville State University
North Carolina Agricultural and Technical
State University
North Carolina Central University
North Carolina School of the Arts
North Carolina State University
University of North Carolina - Asheville
University of North Carolina - Chapel Hill
University of North Carolina - Charlotte
University of North Carolina - Greensboro
University of North Carolina - Pembroke
University of North Carolina - Wilmington
Western Carolina University
Winston-Salem State University
UNC Hospitals

Proprietary Funds

North Carolina Housing Finance Agency

State Education Assistance Authority

North Carolina State Ports Authority

Centennial Authority

North Carolina Railroad Company

North Carolina Low Level Radioactive Waste
Management Authority

North Carolina Global TransPark Authority

MCNC

North Carolina Biotechnology Center

North Carolina Rural Economic Development
Center, Inc.

Other proprietary component units:

North Carolina Agricultural Finance Authority
North Carolina Partnership for Children, Inc.
North Carolina Ports Railway Commission

North Carolina Regional Economic Development

Commissions:

Northeastern North Carolina Regional Economic

Development Commission

Southeastern North Carolina Regional Economic

Development Commission

Western North Carolina Regional Economic

Development Commission

North Carolina Rural Rehabilitation Corporation

Community Colleges
Alamance Comm. College
Anson Comm. College
Asheville-Buncombe Technical Comm. College
Beaufort County Comm. College
Bladen Community College
Blue Ridge Comm. College
Brunswick Comm. College
Caldwell Comm. College and Technical Institute
Cape Fear Comm. College
Carteret Comm. College
Catawba Valley Comm. College
Central Carolina Comm. College
Central Piedmont Comm. College
Cleveland Comm. College
Coastal Carolina Comm. College
College of The Albemarle
Craven Comm. College
Davidson County Comm. College
Durham Technical Comm. College
Edgecombe Comm. College
Fayetteville Technical Comm. College
Forsyth Technical Comm. College
Gaston College
Guilford Technical Comm. College
Halifax Comm. College
Haywood Comm. College
Isothermal Comm. College
James Sprunt Comm. College
Johnston Comm. College

Lenoir Comm. College

Martin Comm. College

Mayland Comm. College
McDowell Technical Comm. College
Mitchell Comm. College
Montgomery Comm. College
Nash Comm. College

Pamlico Comm. College
Piedmont Comm. College

Pitt Comm. College

Randolph Comm. College
Richmond Comm. College
Roanoke-Chowan Comm. College
Robeson Comm. College
Rockingham Comm. College
Rowan-Cabarrus Comm. College
Sampson Comm. College
Sandhills Comm. College
Southeastern Comm. College
Southwestern Comm. College
Stanly Comm. College

Surry Comm. College

Tri-County Comm. College
Vance-Granville Comm. College
Wake Technical Comm. College
Wayne Comm. College

Western Piedmont Comm. College
Wilkes Comm. College

Wilson Technical Comm. College
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COMPONENT UNITS— PROPRIETARY FUNDS
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
June 30, 1998

(Dollars in Thousands)

N.C. Low Level
N.C. State N.C. North Radioactive
Housing Education State Carolina Waste
Finance Assistance Ports Centennial Railroad Management
Agency Authority Authority Authority Company Authority
ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 19564 $ 157,877 $ 12,410 $ 27 $ 61 $ 378
INVESTMENES......viiiiiiieciec e 8,221 251,345 17,102 144,610 6,164 252
Receivables:
Accounts receivable............ccoeiiiiiiiiiennn. 348 35 4,683 — 126 —
Intergovernmental receivables....................... 117 7,834 — — 47 —
Interest receivable................... 10,853 9,173 187 319 — 2
Due from primary government... — 13,299 — — — —
Notes receivable....................... — 37,217 — — — —
Inventories............. — 5 792 — — —
Prepaid itemMS........coovviiiiiiieie e — 246 441 2,007 14 —
Total current assets........cocveviveeeiieinniee e 39,103 477,031 35,615 146,963 6,412 632
Noncurrent Assets:
INVESTMENTS...ccviiiiiieeci s 259,598 — — — — —
Accounts receivable.................ccccei i, — — — — — —
Notes receivable............cccccceeiiiiiiiiiiiiiecc, 830,169 421,948 — — — —
Prepaid items........cevveiiiiiiii e — 2,442 48 — — —
Total noncurrent assets..........ccccecvvvvvvvereieeeeennns 1,089,767 424,390 48 — — —
Fixed Assets:
LaNd.... it — — 12,561 — — —
BUIlAINGS.....cvviieeeeiiiee e — — 103,129 — — —
Other structures and improvements.................. — — 28,394 — 7,969 —
Machinery and equipment...........cccceeveeeiieeennns 1,170 1,066 47,354 — 45 15
CoNstruction in Progress........ccovveeerveesneeenienens — — 13,395 38,551 146 —
Accumulated depreciation...........cccccveerieeennnen. (739) (435) (87,858) — (317) (15)
Total fixed aSSetS.......ccovvevriiieiiiieiee e 431 631 116,975 38,551 7,843 —

Total ASSELS......coiiiiiiiiiicc $ 1,129,301 $ 902,052 $ 152,638 $ 185514 $ 14255 $ 632
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Exhibit -1

N.C. Rural
Global N.C. Economic
TransPark Biotechnology Development
Authority MCNC Center Center Other Totals
$ 1499 $ — $ 750 % 412 $ 12540 $ 205,518
26,631 3,046 22,753 14,786 8,082 502,992
383 5,074 105 57 2,941 13,752
— — — 137 — 8,135
16 — 172 23 201 20,946
— 195 — — — 13,494
— 200 — 369 7,074 44,860
— — — — 5 802
— 315 — 10 29 3,062
28,529 8,830 23,780 15,794 30,872 813,561
— — — — — 259,598
— 167 — — 4,060 4,227
— — 3,900 — — 1,256,017
— — — — — 2,490
— 167 3,900 — 4,060 1,522,332
2,471 — — — 749 15,781
122 47,272 7,271 1,638 252 159,684
— 16,912 — — 160 53,435
538 — 1,591 281 2,172 54,232
1,588 — — — 127 53,807
(510) (54,250) (2,894) (274) (1,273) (148,565)
4,209 9,934 5,968 1,645 2,187 188,374
$ 32,738 $ 18,931 $ 33,648 3 17,439 $ 37,119 3 2,524,267

Continued
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COMPONENT UNITS— PROPRIETARY FUNDS
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET (continued)

June 30, 1998

(Dollars in Thousands)

N.C. Low Level
N.C. State N.C. North Radioactive
Housing Education State Carolina Waste
Finance Assistance Ports Centennial Railroad Management
Agency Authority Authority Authority Company Authority
LIABILITIES AND FUND EQUITY:
Liabilities:
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities:
Accounts payable.........ccccceerveiieiieeiee e $ 13,296 $ 564 $ 842 % 7,401 380 $ 35
Accrued payroll..........cccoooiiiiiiiniie s — 58 175 — — —
Intergovernmental payable..............cccceeennee 23 — — — — —
Obligations under securities lending.................. 8,221 114,041 — 40,200 — 252
Due to component UnitS..........ceeeeveiiieeeeenninnnn. — 113 — — — —
Due to primary government...........cccoeevveeeeennnes 14 — — — — 1
Contracts payable...........ccooeeiiiiiiiieeee — — — — — —
Notes payable..........ccooiiiiiiiiiiee e — 84,825 57 — — —
Claims payable.........cccccooiiiiiiiiiiieee e — — — — — —
Capital leases payable............ccccoiiiiiiiniinnnen. — — — — — —
Bonds payable..........ccccoiiiiiiiin 74,322 — 1,095 2,971 — —
Interest payable...........ccoiiiii 16,862 2,643 96 — — —
Deposits payable.........cccceeiiiiiiiiiiiiee s — — — 62 — —
Accrued vacation leave.............coccceeviiiniieenen, 163 68 876 — — 30
Deferred revenue...........cccooceeiviiiiiiic e — — 643 — — —
Total current liabilities............cccccvveriiiiiiecn, 112,901 202,312 3,784 50,634 380 318
Noncurrent Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities:
Due to primary government..........ccccoeecveeeeeennnes — — — — — 16,824
Advance from primary government.................... — — — — — 33,054
Contracts payable...........ccoooeiiiniiiiieee — — — — — —
Notes payable..... — — 672 — — —
Bonds payable 883,374 294,114 12,870 59,890 — —
Total noncurrent liabilities.............cccceeeeeeeeenennnnn, 883,374 294,114 13,542 59,890 — 49,878
Total Liabilities.........ocovvvveiiiiieccceee 996,275 496,426 17,326 110,524 380 50,196
Fund Equity:
Contributed capital............cccoovvevieiiiiiiiiiecies 11,000 — 117,771 67,325 5,730 —
Retained earnings..........cccocvvvvviieiieniicnienens 122,026 405,626 17,541 7,665 8,145 (49,564)
Total Fund Equity 133,026 405,626 135,312 74,990 13,875 (49,564)
Total Liabilities and Fund Equity............ccceeeene $ 1,129,301 $ 902,052 $ 152,638 $ 185,514 14,255 $ 632
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Exhibit I-1
N.C. Rural
Global N.C. Economic
TransPark Biotechnology Development
Authority MCNC Center Center Other Totals

$ 549 $ 3620 $ 148 3 272 $ 228 % 27,335
— — — — 4 237
— — — — 442 465
4,687 — — — 3,005 170,406
— — — — — 113
3 — — 1 — 19
— — 6,005 — — 6,005
— 331 237 — 75 85,525
— — — — 16 16
— 3,277 — — — 3,277
— — — — — 78,388
325 — — 12 — 19,938
— — — — — 62
46 — — 62 255 1,500
— — 1,434 — 5,826 7,903
5,610 7,228 7,824 347 9,851 401,189
— — — — — 16,824
25,000 — — — — 58,054
— — 1,390 — — 1,390
— 794 2,763 2,176 92 6,497
_ — — — — 1,250,248
25,000 794 4,153 2,176 92 1,333,013
30,610 8,022 11,977 2,523 9,943 1,734,202
— — — — 1,670 203,496
2,128 10,909 21,671 14,916 25,506 586,569
2,128 10,909 21,671 14,916 27,176 790,065

$ 32,738 $ 18931 $ 33,648 $ 17,439 $ 37,119 $ 2,524,267
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COMPONENT UNITS— PROPRIETARY FUNDS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND EQUITY
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1998

(Dollars in Thousands)

N.C. Low Level
N.C. State N.C. North Radioactive
Housing Education State Carolina Waste
Finance Assistance Ports Centennial Railroad Management
Agency Authority Authority Authority Company Authority
Operating Revenues:
Sales and SerViCeS........cceeevueeeervesreereenens $ — 8 — $ 25543 3 - 8 — 8 —
Investment earnings........... 17,359 27,155 — — — —
Interest earnings on loans.. 63,195 33,883 — — — —
Rental and lease earnings.. — — 1,861 — 3,232 —
Fees, licenses and fines..... — — — — — —
Miscellaneous.................. 3,432 1,056 — — — —
Total operating revenues..............ccceveeenne 83,986 62,094 27,404 — 3,232 —
Operating Expenses:
Personal Services..........cccovvvvriieieennenn, 3,435 1,264 13,869 241 428 —
Supplies and materials..........c.ccoccveeeennnns 265 41 1,857 — — —
Services 5,832 8,251 4,947 130 1,506 —
Interest........cvevevevevevenennns 61,855 23,164 — — — —
Depreciation/amortization...............ccccc.e.... 136 394 7,205 — 9 —
Claims and benefits.........ccocceeiviiiiieeennns — 631 — — — —
Insurance and bonding.... 61 — 1,002 12 400 —
Other . e 385 8,795 335 7 137 —
Total operating eXpenses...........cccevcvveenee. 71,969 42,540 29,215 390 2,480 —
Operating income (l0SS).......c.cuveeriivieeeennns 12,017 19,554 (1,811) (390) 752 —
Nonoperating Revenues
(Expenses):
Gain (loss) on sale of equipment............... — — 20 — — —
Gain (loss) on sale of real estate............... — — — — 4,095 —
Investment earnings — — 1,000 7,435 261 86
Compact fees — — — — — 6,260
Donations — — — — — —
Interest expense — — (641) (4,075) — (2,900)
GrantS......coovvviiiiiiii — 2,575 — — — —
Grants, aid and subsidies...... — (2,539) — — — —
Development stage expense.. — — — — — (7,021)
Miscellaneous............ccooovvveeciicniiieieee — — — 895 (17) —
Total nonoperating revenues
(EXPENSES). ..t — 36 379 4,255 4,339 (3,575)
Income (loss) before
operating transfers..........c.coccevveiiecennnen, 12,017 19,590 (1,432) 3,865 5,091 (3,575)
Operating Transfers:
Transfers from component units................ — 9,631 — — — —
Transfers from primary government 2,314 13,299 — — — —
Transfers to primary government............... (50) — (1) — — —
Total operating transfers in (out)................ 2,264 22,830 (1) — — —
Net income (I0SS)......ccovveerveerienieeiieriienns 14,281 42,420 (1,433) 3,865 5,091 (3,575)
Excess of revenues over
(under) expenditures from
governmental operations..............c.ccc..... (1,086) — — — — —
Fund equity — July L.....ccooeniiiiiniciien, 126,206 363,206 120,502 65,943 8,784 (45,578)
Restatements (6,375) — — — — (411)
Increase (decrease) in
contributed capital.........c.ccceeiiiiriieennnen. — — 16,243 5,182 — —

Fund equity— June 30............cccooviniinnns $ 133026 $ 405626 $ 135312 $ 74990 $ 13875 $ (49,564)
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Exhibit I-2
N.C. Rural
Global N.C. Economic
TransPark Biotechnology Development
Authority MCNC Center Center Other Totals

$ — $ 31,184 $ 634 $ — $ 55 $ 57,416
— — — — 429 44,943

— — 130 572 513 98,293

— — — — 463 5,556

_ 182 — — 1 183

— 1,383 374 — — 6,245

— 32,749 1,138 572 1,461 212,636
370 15,271 1,977 417 2,811 40,083

9 9,158 69 7 282 11,688

985 6,457 90 117 1,958 30,273

— — — 17 128 85,164

38 9,570 362 76 380 18,170

— — — — — 631

— — 28 8 18 1,529

94 1,377 1,086 43 912 13,171
1,496 41,833 3,612 685 6,489 200,709
(1,496) (9,084) (2,474) (113) (5,028) 11,927
— (10,528) — — 1) (10,509)

— — — — — 4,095
2,195 — 1,040 202 346 12,565
— — — — — 6,260

— — — 810 2,889 3,699
(2,313) (429) — — (20) (10,368)
620 — 71 523 229 4,018
— (577) (5,420) (5,376) (56,202) (70,114)

— — — — — (7,021)

5 — — 84 138 1,105

507 (11,534) (4,309) (3,757) (52,611) (66,270)
(989) (20,618) (6,783) (3,870) (57,639) (54,343)
— — — — — 9,531
922 4,500 16,164 7,269 69,153 113,621
— — — — — (51)
922 4,500 16,164 7,269 69,153 123,101
(67) (16,118) 9,381 3,399 11,514 68,758
— — — — — (2,086)
2,201 25,723 12,630 11,517 16,786 707,920
(6) 1,304 (340) — (1,624) (7,452)

— — — — 500 21,925

$ 2128 $ 10,909 $ 21,671 $ 14,916 $ 27,176 $ 790,065
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COMPONENT UNITS— PROPRIETARY FUNDS
COMBINING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1998

(Dollars in Thousands)

Cash Provided From (Used For)
Operations:

Operating iNCOMe (I0SS)......uvveiiriiiiiieiiiie e

Adjustments to reconcile operating income

to net cash flows from operating activities:

Depreciation/amortization...........ccccooccveeeeiniieeeeennne
Investment earnings.........ccocovvvvereenii e
Securities lending fees.................
Construction projects expensed................
Mortgage/loan/note principal repayments................
L0@N SAIES.......ccviiiiiiiee e
Mortgages/loans/notes iSSued..........cceeeeeeiireeeennnnes
Mortgages/loans/note cancellation and writeoff.......
Allowances and uncollectible accounts...................
Restatements and adjustments to cash..................
INterest eXPeNSe. ........cccvvvvverereieieeieeeeeens
Development stage expense
Nonoperating miscellaneous income (expense)......

(Increases) decreases in assets:
Receivables. ..........uviiiiiii e
Due from primary government...........ccoceeevveeriieeene
Inventories
Prepaid iteMS.......cccoiiiiiii e

Increases (decreases) in liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities.................
Due to component units...........cccovevveennen.
Due to primary government...........cccovvevvenveneeieenne
Contracts payable...............
Deposits payable..........
Accrued vacation leave.... .
Deferred revenue...........ocoooveiieiie i

Total cash provided from (used for) operations.............

Cash Provided From (Used For)

Noncapital Financing Activities:
Proceeds from sale of bonds/notes.............ccccceeeinnen.
Repayment of bond/note principal..........c.cccovvievinennne.
Interest payments on bonds and notes..
BONd iSSUANCE COSL......ccviiiiiiiiiiiciee e

Grants, aid and subsidies.............ccccceviiniiiiniiicee,
Operating transfers from component units....................
Operating transfers from primary government...............
Operating transfers to primary government .
Advance from primary government............ccccoocveeviieeenns
Long term contract PAYMENTS...........covvervrrveriieenieeneenns
Increase in contributed capital..
Decrease in contributed capital
Nonoperating cash donations..............cccevvveenieciineennns

Total cash provided from (used for)
noncapital financing activities..............ccccovveerieeenn.

N.C. Low Level
N.C. State N.C. North Radioactive
Housing Education State Carolina Waste
Finance Assistance Ports Centennial Railroad Management
Agency Authority Authority Authority Company Authority
$ 12,017 $ 19554 $ (1,811) $ (390) $ 752 $ —
136 394 7,205 — 9 —
(17,359) (27,155) — — — —
684 4,845 — — — —
_ _ 5 _ _ _
76,963 33,141 — — — —
(148,348) (155,377) — — — —
— 6,441 — — — —
— 2,078 — — — —
(2,605) — — — — —
61,171 (5,336) — — — —
— — — — — (2,969)
— — — 895 a7 —
47 (4,909) (1,101) — (173) —
— (1,536) 1,455 — — —
— @ (46) — — —
— — (89) — (14) —
(374) 1,183 (117) 659 (83) —
— 113 — — — —
3 — (23) — — —
— — — (259) — —
(13) 1 11 — — —
(17,678) (126,565) 5,499 905 474 (2,969)
208,920 118,480 — — — —
(94,250) (8,790) — — — —
(61,159) — — — — —
(2,482) (305) — - — _
— 2,575 — — — —
— (2,539) — — — —
— 9,531 — — — —
2,314 13,299 — — — —
(50) — (@) — — —
— — — — — 2,427
— — — — (3,898) —
53,293 132,251 (1) — (3,898) 2,427
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Exhibit 1-3

N.C. Rural
Global N.C. Economic
TransPark Biotechnology Development
Authority MCNC Center Center Other Totals

$ (1,496) $ (9,084) $ (2,474) $ (113) $ (5,028) 11,927
38 9,570 362 76 380 18,170

— — — — (429) (44,943)

— — — — 128 5,657

— — — — — 5

— 100 364 401 883 111,852

— — — — 1,140 1,140

— (200) (502) (259) (4,204) (308,890)

— — 473 70 — 6,984

— — (134) — — 1,944

— (1,304) (340) — (1,624) (5,873)

— — — — — 55,835

— — — — — (2,969)

5 — — 84 138 1,105
(271) (1,180) 13 259 (1,417) (8,732)
— 64 — — 125 108

— — — — — (48)

— (228) — 5) 13 (323)
185 529 15 (25) 38 2,010
— — (171) — — (58)

— — — — — (10)

— — 4,652 — — 4,652

— — — — — (259)

4 — — 4 159 166

— — 139 — (499) (360)
(1,535) (1,733) 2,397 492 (10,197) (150,910)
— — — — — 327,400

— — — — — (103,040)

— — — — — (61,159)

— — — — — (2,787)

— — 71 523 229 3,398

— (577) (5,420) (5,376) (56,202) (70,114)

— — — — — 9,531
922 4,500 16,164 7,269 69,153 113,621
— — — — — (51)

— — — — — 2,427
— — (4,115) — — (4,115)

— — — — 500 500
— — — — — (3,898)

— — — 810 2,889 3,699
922 3,923 6,700 3,226 16,569 215,412

Continued
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COMPONENT UNITS— PROPRIETARY FUNDS
COMBINING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1998

(Dollars in Thousands)

N.C. Low Level
N.C. State N.C. North Radioactive
Housing Education State Carolina Waste
Finance Assistance Ports Centennial Railroad Management
Agency Authority Authority Authority Company Authority
Cash Provided From (Used For)
Capital Financing Activities:
Acquisition of fixed assets.........ccccceeriiiiiieiiniiiie s (212) (74) (15,453) (25,931) (26) —
Proceeds from the sale of fixed assets...........cccceeenunne — — 124 — 4,095 —
Proceeds from the sale of notes............ — — 500 — — —
Proceeds from the sale of bonds..... — — — 62,860 — —
Repayment of bond/note principal...... — — (4,092) (50) — —
Principal payment on capital leases — — — — — —
Interest payments on bonds, notes and capital leases.. — — (655) (2,309) — —
BONd iSSUANCE COSL.......eeeiiiiiiiiiiieee it — — — (1,898) — —
Capital grants............ . — — 16,070 5,182 — —
Dredging costs.... — — (337) — — —
Total cash provided from (used for)
capital financing activities...........cccceeriiiiieee e, (212) (74) (3,843) 37,854 4,069 —
Cash Provided From (Used For)
Investment Activities:
Proceeds from the sale/maturities of
non-State Treasurer iNVestments............cccceeeeveeeen. 398,740 25,310 31,743 — — —
Purchase of non-State Treasurer investments.............. (451,889) (26,756) (29,038) (44,042) (877) —
Purchase into State Treasurer
Long Term Investment POOL.........ccccccovcvvvveeeiiiinnenn, — — — (442) — —
INVEStMENt @arNiNGS. ......ccuvviiieiiiiiee e 15,813 9,312 1,070 5,601 261 89
Total cash provided from (used for)
investment actiVities..........cccevveuveiieeeiiieiee e (37,336) 7,866 3,775 (38,883) (616) 89
Net increase (decrease) in cash
and cash equivalents...........ccccooeiiiii i (2,933) 13,478 5,430 (124) 29 (453)
Deficit from governmental operations.... 1,086 — — — — —
Cash and cash equivalents at July 1............cccceeeennnnen. 20,411 144,399 6,980 151 32 831
Cash and cash equivalents at June 30...........c.ccceueene.n $ 19,564 $ 157,877 $ 12,410 27 $ 61 $ 378
Noncash Investing, Capital,
and Financing Activities:
Interest expense on advance
from primary government..........c.cccceeveeeerievieseenenens $ —  $ — 3 — — $ — $ 2,900
Noncash distributions from the State Treasurer
Long-Term Investment POOL.............cccceeiiiiiieneininns — 7,181 — — — —
Assets acquired through the assumption of a liability.... 8,221 4,845 — 40,200 — 252
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Exhibit 1-3

N.C. Rural
Global N.C. Economic
TransPark Biotechnology Development
Authority MCNC Center Center Other Totals
(1,572) (1,573) (61) (30) (274) (45,206)
— — 1 — — 4,220
— — — — — 500
— — — — — 62,860
— (249) — (21) (71) (4,483)
— (3,730) — — — (3,730)
(80) (429) — — (10) (3,483)
— — — — — (1,898)
620 — — — — 21,872
— — — — — (337)
(1,032) (5,981) (60) (51) (355) 30,315
286 — 49,110 — 2,427 507,616
— (2,391) (59,147) (4,509) (2,973) (621,622)
_ — — - — (442)
150 — 1,074 240 629 34,239
436 (2,391) (8,963) (4,269) 83 (80,209)
(2,209) (6,182) 74 (602) 6,100 14,608
— — — — — 1,086
2,708 6,182 676 1,014 6,440 189,824
$ 1,499 —  $ 750 $ 412 12,540 205,518
$ 2,066 — % —  $ — — 4,966
— — — — — 7,181
4,687 — — — 3,005 61,210
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COMPONENT UNITS— COLLEGE AND UNIVERSITY FUNDS

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
June 30, 1998

Exhibit I-4

(Dollars in Thousands)

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents............cccoieeiieeiiiiiiiiiieeeeee
INVESTMENTS. ...
Receivables:

Accounts receivable...........occiiii

Intergovernmental receivables............cccoeeeeeiiiiiiiiinnes

Interest receivable............oooiiiiiiini
Due from other funds...........ccoviieiiiiiiii e
Due from component UNits..........cccceeeviiiiiiiieneeeneiiiiieeeen
Due from primary government
Notes receivable
INVENTOMIES. ...t
Prepaid iteMS........coiii i
FIXEA @SSELS....iiiiiiiiiiiieii e

TOtAl ASSEES. . iiiiiii e

LIABILITIES AND FUND EQUITY
Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities:
Accounts payable.........oociiiiiiieie e
Accrued payroll.........o e
Intergovernmental payables...........cccoeiiieiiiiiiiiinenen.
Arbitrage rebate payable
Obligations under securities lending..........cccccceeeeiiinneee.
Due to other funds.........coccoveiiieie e
Due t0 COMPONENT UNILS....cuviiiirieiiieiieeriiie e
Due to primary govVernMEeNt........ccccvueerveerueeriueesieesineenns
Obligations under reverse repurchase agreements........
Notes payable. ...
Claims and benefits payable
Capital leases payable..........cccccoriiii
Bonds payable............oooiiiiii e
Interest payable............cccceeeeen.
Deposits payable
Accrued vacation leave...........ccocvveeiieee e
Deferred reVENUE.........ccooiieviiiee e
Total Liabilities.........ccooiiiiii e
Fund Equity:
Investment in fixed assets........c.ccocvevviiniicncicniiccee,
Fund balances:
Restricted for:

Unrestricted:
QuAaSi-eNdOWMENL.........ccocvviiieee e
Undesignated
Total FuNd EQUILY.......ccvviiiiiiiiiiieee e

Total Liabilities and Fund EQUItY...........ccoccuiiieieiiniiinnns

Community
University Colleges

Funds Funds Totals
$ 1,469,990 $ 81,590 $ 1,551,580
2,505,798 55,533 2,561,331
192,205 11,888 204,093
44,268 74,573 118,841
11,258 289 11,547
66,091 546 66,637
1,753 — 1,753
5,148 46,140 51,288
83,461 666 84,127
41,005 11,495 52,500
7,300 444 7,744
4,637,257 1,135,533 5,772,790
$ 9,065,534 $ 1,418,697 $10,484,231
$ 87,474 $ 18,539 $ 106,013
59,943 5,130 65,073
14,188 639 14,827
2,754 — 2,754
690,740 36,008 726,748
66,091 546 66,637
1,640 — 1,640
1,227 2,459 3,686
161,152 — 161,152
42,315 1,205 43,520
39,014 — 39,014
64 432 496
838,993 — 838,993
12,409 — 12,409
391,344 5,103 396,447
106,507 22,915 129,422
25,924 38 25,962
2,541,779 93,014 2,634,793
3,843,393 1,134,213 4,977,606
96,222 1,042 97,264
695,449 14,845 710,294
69,046 — 69,046
550,471 133,754 684,225
1,411,188 149,641 1,560,829
96,316 1,713 98,029
1,172,858 40,116 1,212,974
6,523,755 1,325,683 7,849,438
$ 9,065,534 $ 1,418,697 $10,484,231
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COMPONENT UNITS— COLLEGE AND UNIVERSITY FUNDS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FUND EQUITY
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 1998

Exhibit I-5

(Dollars in Thousands)

Community
University Colleges
Funds Funds Totals

Revenues and Other Additions:
TUItION AN TEES....ce e e e $ 391,294 $ 12,778 $ 404,072
Federal appropriations. ...........coooiuiieeieeeieiiiiieeeea e 21,937 — 21,937
County appropriations...........cceeeeeeiiciieeeeeeeeeeriieeeeee e — 112,378 112,378
Federal contracts and grantS..........ccooecvveiieeeeeniiciiineenn. 524,917 75,483 600,400
State contracts and grants..........ccccceeveiciiiieeieee e 75,802 2,429 78,231
Local contracts and grants...........ccccceeeenieieeieneees e 6,052 39,056 45,108
Private gifts, contracts and grants............cccccooecvieieeeeenn. 278,447 20,458 298,905
ENdowment iNCOME.........ouuiiiiiieeeeeee e 20,585 467 21,052
SaleS AN SEIVICES......covee i 774,751 47,088 821,839
INVESTMENt EArNINGS.....coi it 167,593 7,499 175,092
Expended for plant facilities 322,411 137,605 460,016
Retirement of indebtedness 25,270 980 26,250
Proceeds of refunding debt............ccccoiiiiiiiiiiiiiee 75,113 — 75,113
Income from hospital operations.............ccccccceeeiiiiiinnee. 470,579 — 470,579
Other revenues and additions............cccoeeeveiiiiveeeieeneeeen, 43,067 3,189 46,256
Total revenues and other additions............ccccvvvvvvvvinnnnnn. 3,197,818 459,410 3,657,228
Expenditures and Other Deductions:
Educational and general............ccccccooevviiiiiieeie e, 2,629,166 761,402 3,390,568
Auxiliary enterpriSes........uuuviiiiviiiiiiiiieee e e 429,793 44,500 474,293
INtEINAl SEIVICE......uviiiiiie et 31,992 1,999 33,991
Independent Operations..........cccccvveeeeeeiciiiiieee e 12,060 — 12,060
Professional clinical ServiCes.........ccccccvvvviviiieeeeeiiiiiiins 208,085 — 208,085
Indirect Cost recovered.........cooccvveeiiiiiiiiiiiee e 85,331 719 86,050
Refunded to grantors...........ccccveeveeeeiecciiiiiiee e 856 10 866
Administrative and collection costs,

loan cancellation and bad debts............ccccceeeeiiiinnnnn 2,457 — 2,457
Expended for plant facilities...........ccccceeeviiiiiiiiie e, 246,322 161,446 407,768
Retirement of indebtedness 25,747 101 25,848
Payment to @SCrow agent.........cccceeeeviieiiiiiiiieeeeeeeee, 75,125 — 75,125
Interest on indebtedness...... 36,284 14 36,298
Disposal of plant facilities.... 45,237 15,484 60,721
Loss on refunding of debt...........cccvveeiieiiiiiiiie s 4,822 — 4,822
Hospital Operations...........ccoeecuvvveiieee e 405,958 — 405,958
Other expenditures and deductions...............ccccvvveenennn. 3,654 1,131 4,785
Total expenditures and other deductions........................ 4,242,889 986,806 5,229,695
Transfers - Additions (Deductions):
Operating transfers from primary government................ 1,654,249 619,626 2,273,875
Operating transfers to primary government.................... (16,572) — (16,572)
Operating transfers to component units.................c........ (9,531) — (9,531)
NEt traNSTEIS.....uviiiii e 1,628,146 619,626 2,247,772
Net increase in fund equity............cccceeeeiiiiiiiienie e 583,075 92,230 675,305
Fund equity — JUIY 1....ooiiiiiiee e 5,946,656 1,231,804 7,178,460
ReStateMENtS. ....coiiiiiiiee e (5,922) 1,649 (4,273)
Residual equity transfers in............occcoeeiiiniiiiiieeneee 739 — 739

Residual equity transfers out...........cccccoiiiiiiiiieniiiiinns (793) —
Fund equity — June 30.......cccuiiiiiiieieieeee e 6,523,755 $ 1,325,683

(793)
7,849,438
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COMPONENT UNITS— COLLEGE AND UNIVERSITY FUNDS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF CURRENT FUNDS

REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND TRANSFERS
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1998

Exhibit 1-6

(Dollars in Thousands)

Community
University Colleges
Funds Funds Totals

Revenues:
TUItION AN TEES....ce et $ 389,391 $ 12,764 $ 402,155
Federal appropriations. ...........coooiuiieeiieeeiiiiieeeee e 21,937 — 21,937
County appropriations...........cceeeeerieruieeeeeee e eriieeeeee e — 90,734 90,734
Federal contracts and grantS.........ccooecvieeieeeeeniiciiineenn. 441,592 74,292 515,884
State contracts and grants..........ccccceeevieiiiieeieee e 69,982 145 70,127
Local contracts and grants............cccceeeeenieiieieneeee e 4,737 1,120 5,857
Private gifts, contracts and grants............cccccoeecvieieeneenn. 202,508 8,599 211,107
ENdowment iNCOME.........cuuiiiiieeeeeeeeeee e 21,584 283 21,867
SaleS AN SEIVICES......coveeiiiei et 774,827 47,089 821,916
INVESTMENt EArNINGS.....coi it 61,355 4,816 66,171
OthEr TEVENUES......ccvtieee ettt 31,485 2,593 34,078
Total CUrrent rEeVENUES..........eeveeeeeeeeiieeeeeeeeeeee e 2,019,398 242,435 2,261,833
Expenditures:
Educational and general:

INSEIUCHION. ....eiiiiiiie e 1,070,646 444,797 1,515,443

Organized research..........cccccvvveeiieiiciiiic e, 368,829 — 368,829

PUDIIC SEIVICE. ....oiiiiiiiieiiiiiceee e 233,928 3,350 237,278

AcademiC SUPPOI.....ccceeeiiiiiiiiiee e 218,605 19,669 238,274

StUAENE SEIVICES......ooiiiiiiiiiiiee e 71,727 52,197 123,924

Institutional SUPPOIt..........cvvieiiiiiiiiiiee e 252,773 110,524 363,297

Physical plant operations............cccccvvviiveeeiiiciiiiiineeeen 199,487 69,046 268,533

Student financial aid...........ccoocvieiiiiie 213,171 61,818 274,989

Total educational and general.............cc.ccccoevvvvnenn.. 2,629,166 761,401 3,390,567

Auxiliary enterpriSes.......ccuvviiiiiiiiiiiiieee e 429,793 44,500 474,293
INternal SEIVICE........cciiiiiieiii e 31,992 1,999 33,991
Independent Operations..........cccccvveeeeeeviiiiieeee e 12,060 — 12,060
Professional clinical Services...........cccocvveinieeeiniiieeennns 208,085 — 208,085
Total eXPENItUrES.......vvviiieiiiiiiiee e 3,311,096 807,900 4,118,996
Transfers and Additions (Deductions):
Excess of restricted receipts over (under)

transfers t0 rEVENUES............evviveieeeie e 13,618 2,250 15,868
Refunded to grantors...........ccouueeeieee i (856) — (856)
Mandatory transfers............iioiiiiiieee e (61,171) 2) (61,173)
Non-mandatory transfers..........ccccooiiiiiiiiiiieeeeen (10,896) (3,074) (13,970)
Interinstitutional transfers...........ccocccoeiiiiis (4,323) — (4,323)
Operating transfers from primary government................ 1,430,423 568,296 1,998,719
Operating transfers to primary government.................... (1,336) — (1,336)
Operating transfers to component units................cc........ (9,531) — (9,531)
Net increase in fund equity...........ccccvveeeeiiiiiiiiiee e $ 64,230 $ 2,005 $ 66,235




STATISTICAL
SECTION



178 State of North Carolina

REVENUES BY SOURCE AND EXPENDITURES BY FUNCTION
ALL GOVERNMENTAL FUND TYPES

GAAP BASIS

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

(Dollars in Thousands)

1998 1997 1996 1995 1994
Revenues — By Source
TAXES. vttt eaees [2] $ 13,287,609 $ 12,177,605 $ 11,390,198 $ 10,773,352 $ 10,084,671
Federal funds..........cccoooviiiiiiiie e 5,983,003 5,857,680 5,192,921 4,458,959 4,243,091
Local funds................. 462,879 427,306 469,023 325,613 299,297
Investment earnings.......... . [1][4] 575,901 454,678 290,536 245,388 183,574
Interest earnings on loans...........ccoccvveeeeiiineenn. 5,676 4,280 1,361 121 38
Sales and ServiCes.........cccoovvvieiiinienieceeeen 84,087 76,130 82,511 46,686 74,210
Sale, rental and lease of property............cccco..... 26,321 24,738 23,641 13,888 9,396
Fees, licenses and fines...........ccccoeevvieiininnnne 826,491 814,690 793,622 749,277 713,941
Contributions, gifts and grants.............ccccceeevnee 61,189 31,805 21,512 38,012 28,135
Miscellaneous............ccoeeieiiiiiiiiicce e 148,794 182,247 141,647 169,276 141,421
Total rEVENUES........oeviiiiiiiiieeeiiee e $ 21,461,950 $ 20,051,159 $ 18,406,972 $ 16,820,572 $ 15,777,774
Expenditures — By Function
Current:
General government.........ocveceereereeneeseennns [1] $ 1,115,763 $ 921,406 $ 769,518 $ 787,164 $ 735,973
Education..........cccoiiiiiiiii e [1] 5,416,486 4,775,741 4,499,257 4,441,966 4,144,633
Health and human services.............cccceovenee. [1] [3] 7,300,262 6,822,624 6,244,976 5,211,388 4,519,194
Economic development............ccccceeviiinnenn. [1] 321,613 294,787 261,340 273,101 261,623
Environment and natural resources............... [1] [3] 332,803 668,402 576,272 591,007 538,574
Public safety, corrections, and regulation...... [1] 1,578,985 1,613,757 1,331,964 1,209,576 1,099,081
Transportation...........cccocevevvioeereeneeseee e [1] 2,384,455 2,205,494 1,908,076 1,871,233 1,724,551
AGrICUIUIE...ceeiiiiiiiee e [1] 68,573 65,421 63,174 62,257 59,552
Retiree tax judgements..........cccceevivvveeeevinns 400,000 — — — —
Capital outlay..................... e 203,605 147,194 173,118 167,249 127,275
DeDt SEIVICE.......oooviiiiiiiice e 170,039 131,249 150,471 141,031 123,376
Total expenditures............ccocvevieenieneisieeeeee $ 19,292,584 $ 17,646,075 $ 15,978,166 $ 14,755,972 $ 13,333,832

All governmental fund types consist of the General Fund, special revenue funds, debt service funds and capital projects funds.

Major Revenues by Source

1989 - 1998
| $inBillions |
1989 1990 1991 1992 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998
22 | | | | | | | |
$22 : : : : : : : ‘ B All other revenue
$20
iig OFees, licenses
$14
$12 M Investment
$10 earnings
$8 : ! OFederal funds
$6 -
$4
$2 D Taxes
$0
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Table 1

1993 1992 1991 1990 1989
$ 9,347,575 $ 8,703,484 $ 7,730,054 $ 7,543,587 $ 6,691,258 GFiscal years prior to 1997 doh
3,757,961 3,382,683 2,940,213 2,463,686 2,141,659 reflect the implementation of GASB
269,545 234,428 203,171 167,093 138,713 Statement 28, Accounting and Financial
145,771 120,891 144,823 179,575 198,774 Reporting for Securities Lending
— — — — — Transactions. The impact of GASB
32,195 33,263 54,197 63,785 52,758 Statement 28 is to gross-up investment
7.467 6,787 6,817 5,473 5,057 earnings by the amount of fees charged
662,007 621,241 529,746 518,000 425,963 for securities lending and to increase
155.488 266.435 143.434 10.421 8 458 current expenditures in the amount of
' ' ' ' ' fees charged.
118,755 69,389 52,808 44,033 44,132
$ 14,496,764 $ 13,438,601  $ 11,805,263 $ 10,995,653 $ 9,706,772 [2] Fiscal years prior to 1995 do not
Statement No. 22, Accounting for
Taxpayer-Assessed Tax Revenues in
$ 825507 $ 786729 $ 755810 $ 472,543 $ 372,266 Governmental Funds .
4,429,381 4,188,854 4,135,288 3,920,038 3,547,507 [3] In fiscal years prior to 1998, health
4,090,775 3,824,635 3,311,811 2,631,963 2,311,578 expenditures were included in the
261,142 242,870 244,198 242,541 73,554 environment, health and natural
458,041 391,342 355,282 333,151 502,093 resources expenditure function. In the
973,708 903,543 868,227 834,110 715,462 1998 fiscal year, health expenditures
1,569,932 1,449,123 1,401,607 1,290,250 1,128,706 were shifted and are now reflected in
59,997 57,316 56,472 55,272 52,503 the health and human services function.
77,528 119,343 131,565 108,867 77,080 | [4] Fiscal years prior to 1998 do not
124,314 114,928 106,692 110,396 110,080 | 'efiect the implementation of GASB
- - - - - Statement No. 31, Accounting and
$ 12,870,325 $ 12,078,683 $ 11,366,952 $ 9,999,131 $ 8,891,729 Financial Reporting for  Certain
Investments and for External
Q&stment Pools. )
Major Expenditures by Function
1989 - 1998
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1989 1990 1991 1992 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998
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SCHEDULE OF REVENUES BY SOURCE — GENERAL FUND
GAAP BASIS
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS
(Dollars in Thousands)
1998 1997 1996 1995
TAX REVENUES
Individual INCOME TaX.......veeiiiriiiieeee et [2] $ 6,124,709 $ 5,454,571 $ 4,975,387 $ 4,617,197
COrporate iNCOME taX.....cccuvriirreeiiiieeiiee e [2] 999,759 869,717 878,028 833,135
Individual and corporate iNCOMe taxes.........cccvveeriveerieeinneenns 7,124,468 6,324,288 5,853,415 5,450,332
Sales and use tax.. e [2] 3,272,774 3,134,877 2,947,537 2,701,114
Franchise taX........ccocveiieiii i 567,869 534,622 495,008 457,952
Beverage tax... 155,352 151,064 138,653 170,033
Insurance tax..... 283,828 259,286 242,188 235,455
Intangibles tax.... 217 — 11,509 128,608
INNETMIEANCE tX.. .. iiieiciicce e 144,203 132,195 113,416 109,883
SOt AFINK T8X .+ eeeveeiiecreeee e 22,338 30,980 39,619 36,176
TODACCO PrOAUCES TAX....uvvieiiiieiiiieiiiee et 47,304 46,797 46,394 44,936
License tax 38,209 41,280 44,962 53,431
Real estate CONVEYANCE taX......ccuveeeeririreeeiiiiieeeesineeee s 894 1,064 19,510 16,349
L EBX 1ottt 20,722 12,566 11,043 8,592
Other taxes . 1,501 1,516 1,388 1,421
Total taX TEVENUES......ccueiiiiieiiieitieiie ettt 11,679,679 10,670,535 9,964,642 9,414,282
NON-TAX REVENUES
Federal Funds:
Departmental FeVENUES. ........oocuuiiiei e e e 5,174,406 5,169,286 4,613,915 3,780,032
Local Funds:
Departmental FEVENUES...........coiuiiiriiieiiie e 436,347 403,145 445,443 299,156
Investment Earnings:
Income from General Fund investments.............ccccceeeeiiineenn. [3] 252,162 224,260 202,277 163,783
Railroad dividends............ccccoviiiieiiciee e — — — 96
Departmental FeVENUES.........oocuuiiiie et [1] 195,370 115,979 11,070 7,923
Other investment @arnings.........ccoovvvveeeeiiiirieeeesiieeeee e sieeeens 137 241 249 221
447,669 340,480 213,596 172,023
Sales and Services:
Departmental FeVENUES.........oocuuiiiie et 67,214 58,744 63,345 24,414
Other NON-tax FEVENUES.........coovuieiieirieiie e 319 — — —
67,533 58,744 63,345 24,414
Sale, Rental and Lease of Property:
Proceeds from sale, rental and lease of property.................... 1,811 1,342 1,265 499
Departmental FEVENUES...........coiuiiiriiieiiie e 4,255 4,651 4,404 7,288
6,066 5,993 5,669 7,787
Fees, Licenses and Fines:
Court fines and feesS..........euiiii i 93,252 99,819 90,456 88,023
Secretary of State Service fees........cocvvvveiviiiiee i 19,257 17,344 14,838 12,911
Banking and investment fees..........ccccooiiieiiiiiiiiiee e 3,031 3,337 3,432 3,760
Self insurer fees (Industrial Commission). 3,556 3,460 3,038 2,768
Gasoline and oil iNSpection fees..........occvvveiiiiiiiiiieiiiieeeees — — — —
Environment and Natural Resources - use fees...................... — — — —
Probation supervision fees 11,778 10,859 10,002 9,690
Elections filing fEeS.........uviiiiiiiiie e 276 19 287 17
Department of Insurance fees..........ccceveeiiiiiiiie i, 1,096 6,001 961 936
DWI service and restoration fees... 6,050 5,949 5,426 5,342
Departmental revenues............... 103,296 104,002 101,364 106,360
Other NON-taXx FEVENUES.........coovuviiieirieiee e 3,082 4,056 5,005 5,415
244,674 254,846 234,809 235,222
Contributions, Gifts and Grants:
Departmental revenues 13,205 14,145 8,574 4,065
Other non-tax revenues 1 — — —
13,206 14,145 8,574 4,065
Miscellaneous:
Local sales and use tax administration..............cccoceeevveieennnnne 10,060 9,178 8,661 6,669
Sales tax refunds..........ccoceeiiiiiiiieiinns . 10,936 13,301 11,585 14,217
Departmental rEVENUES...........coiuiiiriiieriee e 115,529 151,906 112,430 129,224
Other NON-TaX FEVENUE. .......cciiuiiiieeeiiiiee et 744 455 471 1,534
137,269 174,840 133,147 151,644
Total NON-taX FEVENUES.........cccee i 6,527,170 6,421,479 5,718,498 4,674,343
TOtal REVENUES. ..ottt $ 18,206,849 $ 17,092,014 $ 15,683,140 $ 14,088,625
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Table 2

GFiscal years prior to 1997)

not reflect the implementation of
GASB Statement 28, Accounting
and Financial Reporting for
Securities Lending Transactions.
The impact of GASB Statement 28
is to gross-up investment earnings
by the amount of fees charged for
securities lending and to increase
current expenditures in the amount
of fees charged. Prior to 1997,
securities lending fees are netted
against securities lending income.
For 1997, these fees totaled $105
million for the General Fund.

[2] Fiscal years prior to 1995 do
not reflect the implementation of
GASB Statement No. 22,
Accounting for Taxpayer-
Assessed Tax Revenues in
Governmental Funds.

[3] Fiscal years prior to 1998 do
not reflect the implementation of
GASB  Statement No. 31,
Accounting and Financial

1994 1993 1992 1991 1990 1989

$ 4,289,162 $ 3,992538 $ 3,650,313 $ 3,508,173 N/A N/A

737,125 710,665 643,901 493,448 N/A N/A
5,026,287 4,703,203 4,294,214 4,001,621  $ 3,957,643 $ 3,685,617
2,585,642 2,363,745 2,215,318 1,680,758 1,767,692 1,689,572
438,779 423,623 407,362 374,017 262,822 236,306
161,578 159,049 159,116 152,938 145,761 127,632
219,847 211,110 191,531 193,241 176,715 187,072
127,088 120,599 112,168 92,500 97,258 84,864
106,530 89,626 87,674 76,781 72,875 67,151
38,124 35,087 32,289 30,099 28,987 27,912
39,700 43,373 41,392 15,238 15,315 7,949
50,975 27,641 29,932 31,131 28,225 24,929
18,046 15,742 10,952 8,247 9,307 —
13,150 13,555 7,248 7,675 10,122 4,593
955 856 1,288 1,141 765 14,053
8,826,701 8,207,209 7,590,484 6,665,387 6,573,487 6,157,650
3,595,033 3,206,169 2,902,873 2,511,804 2,022,667 1,778,720
270,873 237,329 204,414 179,887 143,991 121,324
121,776 77,911 56,900 75,171 116,304 140,709
96 9 96 128 9 166
7,214 11,080 9,676 6,008 6,739 5,619
70 61 94 221 — —
129,156 89,148 66,766 81,528 123,139 146,494
44,503 2,276 48,771 48,361 59,675 49,034
44,503 2,276 48,771 48,361 59,675 49,034
7 190 38 214 100 313
6,880 6,671 6,209 6,019 5,154 4,482
6,887 6,861 6,047 6,233 5,254 4,795
81,529 76,601 71,430 63,149 59,689 48,814
11,209 9,720 8,338 7,293 7,236 7,500
3,513 3,234 2,960 2,821 2,389 2,431
2,785 2,894 2,398 2,538 2,547 2,379
1,251 1,176 1,357 1,427 1,021 1,239
— — 1,521 656 — —
8,604 8,770 8,412 7,524 6,331 5,904
252 13 218 14 221 10
14,834 11,173 6,987 5,336 3,502 —
4,818 4,597 4,582 4,588 3,668 —
99,502 109,902 98,896 72,572 66,043 53,607
7,265 4,002 2,297 1,592 1,223 7,116
235,562 232,082 209,396 169,510 153,870 129,000
3,319 129,430 238,350 50,550 1,479 1,303
3,319 129,430 238,350 50,550 1,479 1,303
5,623 5,920 6,243 5,819 5,425 5,342
12,166 10,811 11,193 — — —
104,072 75,074 22,359 24,241 18,445 16,504
598 1,313 2,445 387 741 3,170
122,459 93,118 42,240 30,447 24,611 25,016
4,407,792 3,996,413 3,719,057 3,078,320 2,534,686 2,255,686

$ 13,234,493  $ 12,203,622 $ 11,309,541

$ 9.743,707_

$ 9108173

3 8413336

Reporting for Certain Investments
@ for External Investment Pooly
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GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS DEBT RATIOS
For the Fiscal Years 1989-1998 Table 3
Ratio of
General Obligation Debt Per Capita Annual Debt Service To General Expenditures
Fiscal
Year General G.O. Debt Debt Service Total
Ended N.C. Obligation Bonds per (Principal and General
June 30 Population Outstanding Citizen Interest) Expenditures Ratio
1998 7,544,360 $2,123,944,000 $ 281.53 $ 170,039,000 $ 19,292,584,000 0.88%
1997 7,431,161 $1,514,477,000 $ 203.80 $ 131,249,000 $ 17,646,075,000 0.74%
1996 7,309,514 $ 951,082,000 $ 130.12 $ 150,741,000 $ 15,978,166,000 0.94%
1995 7,186,663 $1,025,167,000 $ 142.65 $ 141,031,000 $ 14,755,972,000 0.96%
1994 7,061,823 $ 996,365,000 $ 141.09 $ 123,376,000 $ 13,333,832,000 0.93%
1993 6,947,724 $ 584,905,000 $ 84.19 $ 124,314,000 $12,870,325,000 0.97%
1992 6,832,621 $ 670,380,000 $ 98.11 $ 114,928,000 $ 12,078,683,000 0.95%
1991 6,747,962 $ 590,014,000 $ 87.44 $ 106,692,000 $ 11,366,952,000 0.94%
1990 6,632,448 $ 588,004,000 $ 88.66 $ 110,396,000 $ 9,999,131,000 1.10%
1989 6,568,810 $ 660,429,000 $ 100.54 $ 110,980,000 $ 8,891,729,000 1.25%

Total General Obligation Debt
and Long-Term Debt Per Capita

/Total Debt - Millions $

Per Capita Debt I

$ 2,450

$ 2,350

$ 2,250

$ 2,150

$ 2,050

$ 1,950

$1,850

$ 1,750

$ 1,650

$ 1,550

$ 1,450

$ 1,350

$1,250

$1,150

$ 1,050

$ 950

$ 850

$ 750

$ 650

$ 550

$ 450

1989 1990 1991 1992 1993 1994 1995 1996

EEZEE) G.O. Bonds Outstanding === G.O. Debt Per Citizen I

1997

1998

r $280.00
+ $260.00

$300.00

S

Source:

N.C. Office of Sate Budget and Management

Population - U.S Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census, and
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REVENUE BOND COVERAGE

For the Fiscal Years 1989-1998

(Dollars in Thousands)

Fiscal Net Revenue
Year Direct Available Debt Service Requirements

Ended Gross Operating for Debt

June 30 Revenues Expenses Service Principal Interest Total Coverage

[1] [1] [2]
PRIMARY GOVERNMENT:
General Long-Term Obligations Account Group
1998 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — — —
1997 — — — — — — —
1996 — — — — — — —
1995 — — — — — — —
1994 [3] — — — — — — —
1993 371 — 371 750 72 822 .45
1992 380 — 380 750 143 893 .43
1991 365 — 365 650 203 853 .43
1990 755 — 755 650 261 911 .83
1989 379 — 379 550 311 861 44
Enterprise Funds

1998 — — — — — — —
1997 — — — — — — —
1996 [4] — — — — — — —
1995 1,963 1,981 (18) 111 — 111 (.16)
1994 1,947 1,845 102 104 14 118 .86
1993 1,856 1,759 97 96 21 117 .83
1992 1,923 1,799 124 88 34 122 1.02
1991 1,884 1,611 273 81 44 125 2.18
1990 1,718 1,637 81 69 52 121 .67
1989 1,709 1,506 203 64 47 111 1.83

[ 1]- Represents actual fund receipts and disbursements securing the applicable bonds.
[2] - Ideally, the coverage number would be 1.00 or higher, indicating that Net Revenues Available exceeds

Debt Service Requirements.
[ 3] - These bonds were paid in full in 1993.
[4]- These bonds were paid in full in 1996.
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Table 4
Fiscal Net Revenue
Year Direct Available Debt Service Requirements
Ended Gross Operating for Debt
June 30 Revenues Expenses Service Principal Interest Total Coverage
[1] [1] [2]
COMPONENT UNITS:
Proprietary Funds
1998 $ 186,851 $12,414 $174,437 $11,910 $73,743 $ 85,653 2.04
1997 105,826 10,624 95,202 10,696 69,182 79,878 1.19
1996 79,683 3,293 76,390 20,520 52,347 72,867 1.05
1995 78,248 3,972 74,276 12,487 53,662 66,149 1.12
1994 94,369 4,355 90,014 17,692 61,772 79,464 1.13
1993 103,150 7,979 95,171 19,967 66,133 86,100 1.11
1992 110,774 8,416 102,358 18,010 68,499 86,509 1.18
1991 115,880 6,542 109,338 18,481 70,796 89,277 1.22
1990 103,093 8,692 94,401 19,078 70,502 89,580 1.05
1989 107,764 8,889 98,875 17,874 79,762 97,636 1.01
University Funds

1998 925,006 682,629 242,377 25,468 40,689 66,157 3.66
1997 832,060 646,514 185,546 23,521 40,515 64,036 2.90
1996 810,405 614,180 196,225 21,148 33,071 54,219 3.62
1995 771,291 583,295 187,996 17,414 34,453 51,867 3.62
1994 690,984 555,903 135,081 14,029 28,075 42,104 3.21
1993 625,097 514,644 110,453 13,314 29,503 42,817 2.58
1992 263,866 210,126 53,740 8,361 22,205 30,566 1.76
1991 244,610 201,762 42,848 6,905 19,797 26,702 1.60
1990 226,101 183,334 42,767 6,076 18,972 25,048 1.71

1989 155,692 117,700 37,992 5,115 15,968 21,083 1.80
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STATEWIDE ASSESSED PROPERTY VALUES
REAL PROPERTY, TANGIBLE PERSONAL PROPERTY AND

PUBLIC SERVICE COMPANIES

For the Fiscal Years 1989-1998 Table 5
Assessed Value at January 1
For the Real Personal Public Service
Years Property Property Companies Total
1998 $ 291,205,137,584 $ 91,392,925,590 $ 20,442,713,966 $ 403,040,777,140
1997 271,764,063,900 80,698,570,134 20,194,521,863 372,657,155,897
1996 255,260,809,402 74,021,864,531 19,847,155,764 349,129,829,697
1995 240,636,714,460 68,881,737,558 19,193,111,331 328,711,563,349
1994 228,535,500,422 55,446,883,320 18,847,015,529 302,829,399,271
1993 214,688,830,054 55,808,723,703 18,210,749,564 288,708,303,321
1992 197,102,056,813 55,347,001,285 17,272,796,848 269,721,854,946
1991 179,691,593,712 51,895,857,703 16,651,387,521 248,238,838,936
1990 166,750,735,800 48,368,087,887 16,472,361,742 231,591,185,429
1989 154,815,470,266 44,173,378,142 15,923,293,458 214,912,141,866
Statewide Assessed Property Values
Ten-Year Comparison
" (Billions 3 R
$350
$300 —
$250 — |
$200 — H
$150 [ | |
$100 |
$50
1989 1990 1991 1992 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998
B Public Service Property Bl Tangible Personal Property OReal Property ‘

J

Source: Compiled by the Department of Revenue from reports submitted by counties and municipalities.
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SCHEDULE OF BANK AND SAVINGS AND LOAN DEPOSITS
OF FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS LOCATED IN NORTH CAROLINA

For the Years 1989-1998 Table 6

(Dollars in Thousands)

Banks Savings and Loan Associations
As of Chartered Total As of Chartered Total
June 30 State National Deposits Dec. 31 State Federal Deposits

1998 $42,834,645  $319,721,396 [1] $ 362,556,041 1997 $ 3,440,310 $ 2,663,747 $ 6,104,057
1997 40,258,721 178,556,322 [1] 218,815,043 1996 3,459,159 2,636,338 6,095,497
1996 37,637,624 75,499,983 113,137,607 1995 3,949,870 2,898,852 6,848,722
1995 34,336,993 52,883,449 87,220,442 1994 4,910,234 2,827,642 7,737,876
1994 26,087,820 47,009,485 73,097,305 1993 5,633,380 3,584,274 9,217,654
1993 23,310,981 41,231,385 64,542,366 1992 5,670,725 7,788,016 13,458,741
1992 21,213,128 37,261,674 58,474,802 1991 4,878,921 10,253,169 15,132,090
1991 19,561,303 36,969,025 56,530,328 1990 5,327,335 11,822,779 17,150,114
1990 16,496,940 36,025,376 52,522,316 1989 5,884,060 12,042,337 17,926,397
1989 13,741,263 36,977,970 50,719,233 1988 5,720,556 11,793,232 17,513,788

Deposits in N.C. Banks and Savings and Loan Associations
Last Ten Years

4 (Billions $ ) )

$400.00
$380.00
$360.00
$340.00
$320.00
$300.00
$280.00
$260.00
$240.00
$220.00
$200.00
$180.00
$160.00
$140.00
$120.00

—
$100.00 —
r |
$60.00
$40.00
$20.00
$0.00

$80.00
1989 1990 1991 1992 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998

B Banks OSavings and Loans I

< S

[1] The large increases in deposits in national banks are due to the consolidation of separate out-of-state charters of North Carolina banks into
one charter in North Carolina due to a change in Federal law, and the acquisition and consolidation of banks and individual branches in other
states by North Carolina banks.

Source:  North Carolina Department of Commerce
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CASH RECEIPTS FROM FARMING
BY COMMODITIES

For the Calendar Years 1988-1997 Table 7
(Dollars in Millions)
Livestock and Related Products Crops Total
Other Total All
Poultry Livestock Livestock Livestock
and Dairy and and Other Total and
Year Eggs Products  Hogs Cattle Products Products Tobacco Soybeans Corn Crops Crops Crops
1997 $2,209.5 $187.1 $2,016.6 $218.5 $61.9 $4,693.6 $1,193.2 $255.7 $177.3 $1,982.0 $3,608.2 $8,301.8
1996 2,2499 2118 1,752.8 153.8 63.1 4,431.4 1,021.5 2293 298.0 1,916.8 3,465.6 7,897.0
1995 2,053.9 189.7 11,2744 146.9 61.1 3,726.0 11,0485 1574 165.7 11,7941 3,165.7 6,891.7
1994 19115 2105 982.8 166.7 57.5 3,329.0 9429 217.3 149.0 11,8046 3,113.8 6,442.8
1993 11,8221 211.2 930.0 172.0 54.6 13,1899 11,0299 1955 139.2 1,486.6 2,851.2 6,041.1
1992 1,612.3 218.8 730.8 168.6 53.7 2,784.2 11,0495 2035 178.0 1,346.3 2,777.3 5,561.5
1991 1,516.9 204.2 665.3 177.7 53.1 2,617.2 1,054.7 1934 166.3 924.2 2,338.6 4,955.8
1990 1,577.3 234.8 615.1 178.7 529 2,658.8 1,051.6 205.0 193.2 853.9 2,303.7 4,962.5
1989 1,5745 223.8 508.8 148.4 54.7 2,510.2 946.1 231.2 189.2 7446 2,111.1 4,621.3
1988 11,3165 219.7 4479 1529 50.6 2,187.6 859.0 235.7 170.7 699.3 1,964.7 4,152.3
CASH RECEIPTS FROM FARMING
4 )
[ Calendar Year ] Pout
1097 Tobacco 0 oultry,
14.4% Corn 2.1% Eggs
Soybeans 26.6%
3.1%
Dairy
Other Crop 2.3%
& Products
24.6% Hogs
Cattle
2 6% 24.3%
N\ J
\
L ast s $9
Ten % $8
Years ) =
= %7
m
$6
C—TLive-
stock
EEHEH Crops
== Total
Farming
1988 1989 1990 1991 1992 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997
N\ J

Source: North Carolina Crop and Livestock Reporting Service (Data for 1998 is not available.)




State of North Carolina 189

MAJOR PRIVATE EMPLOYERS IN NORTH CAROLINA

Table 8

The State's largest major private employers, ranked in order according to first quarter 1997 preliminary employment averages,
arelisted:

Source: North Carolina Employment Security Commission

1998
Rank Employer Type of Business
1 Food Lion, Inc. Supermarket chain
2 Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. Discount store chain
3 IBM Corporation Computers, telecommunications
4 Duke University Private university, medical center
5 Sara Lee Corporation Hosiery, baked goods, apparel
6 K-Mart Corporation Discount store chain
7 Winn-Dixie Stores, Inc. Supermarket chain
8 Us Air, Inc. Airline
9 Lowes Companies, Inc. Hardware chain
10 Duke Power Co., Inc. Electric utility
11 First Union National Bank Banking and financial services
12 Harris Teeter, Inc. Supermarket chain
13 Burlington Industries, Inc. Textiles
14 United Parcel Service, Inc. Delivery services
15 Northern Telecom Inc. Telecommunications
16 Sears, Roebuck and Company Department store chain
17 RJR Nabisco, Inc. Tobacco, food products
18 Fieldcrest Cannon, Inc. Textiles
19 Broyhill Furniture Industries Furniture manufacturing
20 NationsBank Banking and financial services
21 Collins and Aikman Group, Inc. Textiles
22 Glaxo Wellcome Inc. Pharmaceuticals
23 Manpower Temporary Services Temporary employment agency
24 Branch Banking & Trust Banking and financial services
25 Carolina Power & Light Company Electric utility
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SCHEDULE OF DEMOGRAPHIC DATA

For the Years 1950, 1960, 1970, 1980, 1989-1998

Population [1]
U.S. N.C.

United Increase North Increase

States from Prior Carolina from Prior
Year Population Period Population Period
1998 270,029,000 [B] 0.89% 7,544,360 [C] 1.52%
1997 267,636,000 [B] 0.93% 7,431,161 [D] 1.66%
1996 265,179,000 [B] 0.92% 7,309,514 [D] 1.71%
1995 262,761,000 [B] 0.95% 7,186,663 [D] 1.77%
1994 260,292,000 [B] 0.99% 7,061,823 [D] 1.64%
1993 257,753,000 [B] 1.08% 6,947,724 [D] 1.68%
1992 255,002,000 [B] 1.14% 6,832,621 [D] 1.25%
1991 252,124,000 [B] 1.37% 6,747,962 [D] 1.74%
1990 248,718,000 [A] 0.77% 6,632,448 [A] 0.97%
1989 246,819,000 [B] 0.95% 6,568,810 1.32%
1980 226,546,000 [A] 11.13% 5,880,095 [A] 15.65%
1970 203,849,000 [A] 13.26% 5,084,411 [A] 11.59%
1960 179,979,000 [A] 18.51% 4,556,155 [A] 12.17%
1950 151,868,000 [A] 4,061,929 [A]

[ A] - U.S Census count - April 1 (1950 - 1990)

[ B] - U.S Census estimates - July 1 (1989 - 1998)

[ C] - N.C. Office of Sate Planning projection -
July 1, 1998, based on April, 1990, census

population of 6,632,448

Per Capita Income
North Carolina Compared to United States

1989 to 1998

Per Capita Income

[2]

N.C.
asa
United North Percentage

States Carolina of U.S.
$ 26,259 [E] $24,055 [F] 91.61%
25,298 23,174 91.60%
24,169 22,054 91.25%
23,063 20,994 91.03%
22,056 19,919 90.31%
21,220 19,140 90.20%
20,631 18,299 88.70%
19,687 17,165 87.19%
19,188 16,674 86.90%
18,172 15,841 87.17%
10,062 8,090 80.40%
4,072 3,255 79.94%
2,254 1,615 71.65%
1,496 1,037 69.32%

[ D] - N.C. Office of Sate Planning estimate - July 1, 1991-1997, based on
April, 1990 census population of 6,632,448

[ E] - U.S Department of Commerce estimate

[ F]1-N.C.OSBM estimate

/

$28

Income — Thousands

Percent of U. S. A. \
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Sources:

[1] Population

[2] Per Capita Income

[3] Labor Force Data - As of June 30

U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census
N.C. Office of Sate Planning
U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis
N.C. Office of State Budget and Management

N.C. Employment Security Commission
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Table 9
North Carolina Civilian Labor Force Data [3] North Carolina - Other Data
[4] [5] (6]
Unemployed Public Motor Residential
Percentage School Vehicles Construction
Year Total Employed Unemployed Rate Enrollment Registered Authorized
1998 3,776,300 3,661,000 115,300 3.05% 1,208,368 6,428,104 42,449
1997 3,796,900 3,657,800 139,100 3.66% 1,183,335 6,392,269 93,609
1996 3,703,000 3,548,000 155,000 4.19% 1,156,885 6,303,969 89,485
1995 3,634,000 3,476,000 158,000 4.35% 1,131,090 6,167,660 85,215
1994 3,578,000 3,439,000 139,000 3.88% 1,108,625 5,889,588 114,468
1993 3,504,000 3,315,000 189,000 5.39% 1,093,683 5,870,252 54,788
1992 3,501,000 3,275,000 226,000 6.46% 1,080,223 5,695,022 49,482
1991 3,482,000 3,266,000 216,000 6.20% 1,070,297 5,681,199 38,743
1990 3,471,000 3,339,000 132,000 3.80% 1,065,399 5,600,050 30,471
1989 3,439,000 3,311,000 128,000 3.72% 1,068,800 5,549,129 33,032
1980 2,759,197 2,607,925 151,272 5.48% 1,191,342 5,094,814 6,730
1970 2,054,838 1,984,402 70,436 3.43% 1,217,024 3,218,292 (Data
1960 1,680,442 1,605,478 74,964 4.46% 1,105,412 1,907,988 not
1950 1,512,924 1,463,352 49,572 3.28% 893,745 1,171,228 available)
Civilian Labor Force Trends
With Unemployment Percentages
1989 to 1998
4 Workers — Millions Unemployment Rate )
3.80 10.00%
9.00%
3.60 8.00%
— ”” — 7.00%
3.40 — \\ — 6.00%
— / T — 5.00%
3.20 e e 1 4.00%
..
— 3.00%
3.00 2.00%
1.00%
2.80 0.00%
1989 1990 1991 1992 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998
‘ B8 Size of Labor Force === Unemployment Rate
e J
Sources: [4] Public School Enrollment - Final Average Daily Membership N.C. Department of Public Instruction
for the School Year September 1 to June 30
[5] Motor Vehicle Registrations - For the Fiscal Year Ending June 30 N.C. Division of Motor Vehicles
[6] Residential Housing Permits - Current Year for the Five Months Ended N.C. Department of Labor

May 31, 1998; Prior Years for the Calendar Years Ended December 31
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TEN LARGEST NON-AGRICULTURAL INDUSTRIES
BY NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES

For the Calendar Years 1988-1997 Table 10
(Expressed in Thousands of Workers)

1997 1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 1991 1990 1989 1988

Manufacturing:
Nondurable goods.............. 452.5 407.9 478.4 496.1 496.8 497.7 494.9 501.2 519.8 513.3
Durable goods.. . 387.0 435.6 379.0 372.0 357.5 341.4 337.5 343.9 350.4 353.6

Retail trade...... 671.5 652.6 643.5 610.4 585.8 564.9 549.7 554.6 557.4 519.0
Services........... .. 8259 784.0 729.0 687.6 655.4 612.7 566.6 555.5 526.0 522.3
GOoVernmMeENt.........vevvvvevevevevennns 577.3 559.5 547.8 538.5 524.1 513.8 494.4 486.9 475.6 4535
Contract construction............. 209.2 196.8 178.5 170.5 159.0 148.5 146.0 159.0 163.6 164.7
Wholesale trade..................... 191.1 182.0 185.1 177.9 168.8 168.8 166.5 167.2 168.0 159.3

Transportation, communi-
cations and public utilities..... 171.1 167.8 165.1 162.1 157.5 153.5 151.5 150.3 149.2 146.9
Finance, insurance

and real estate..................... 167.2 157.1 146.9 143.2 137.8 133.3 132.4 132.1 130.1 130.3
MiNING.....cccovriieiieniecceenen 4.0 3.8 3.7 3.6 3.4 3.4 4.9 5.1 4.8 4.8
Total Non-Agricultural

Employment........ccccoceeeneen. 3,656.8 3,547.1 3,457.0 3,361.9 3,246.1 3,138.0 3,044.4 3,055.8 3,044.9 2,967.7
Manufacturing.............ccceeeueene 839.5 843.5 857.4 868.1 854.3 839.1 832.4 845.1 870.2 866.9
Non-Manufacturing................. 2,817.3 2,703.6 2,599.6 2,493.8 2,391.8 12,2989 2,212.0 2,210.7 2,747 2,100.8

Number of Employees by Industry - 1997
(Non-Agricultural)

Services 826

I
I .
Y

Retail trade 672

Manufacturing - nondurable 453
Government

577

Manufacturing - durable 387

Wholesale trade 191

Transportation, communications

17

Construction 209

Vi
i

Finance, insurance 167

0 100 200 300 400 500 600 700 800 900
Thousands of Workers
N J

Source: North Carolina Employment Security Commission (Data for 1998 is not available.)
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REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
EIGHT-YEAR CLAIMS DEVELOPMENT INFORMATION

PUBLIC SCHOOL INSURANCE FUND
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 1991 - 1998

The table below illustrates how earned revenues (net of reinsurance) and investment income of the Public School Insurance Fund

(Fund) compare to related costs of loss (net of loss assumed by reinsurers) and other expenses assumed by the Fund for the last eight fiscal
years ended June 30. The rows of the table are defined as follows:

@
@
©)

4
®)
(6)

@)

Total of each fiscal year's earned contribution revenues, investment revenues, contribution revenues ceded to excess insurers or
reinsurers, and amount of reported revenues net of excess insurance or reinsurance.

Each fiscal year's other operating costs of the Fund, including overhead and claims expense not alocable to individual claims.

The Fund's incurred claims (both paid and accrued) as originally reported at the end of the first year in which the event that triggered
coverage under the contract occurred (before the effect of loss assumed by excess insurers or reinsurers), the loss assumed by excess
insurers or reinsurers, and total net amount of incurred claims and allocated claim adjustment expenses.

Cumulative amounts paid as of the end of successive years for each policy year.
The reestimated amount for loss assumed by excess insurers or reinsurers as of the end of the current year.

The reestimated net incurred claims and expenses based on the information available as of the end of the year. This annua
reestimation results from new information received on known claims, reevaluation of existing information on known claims, as well
as emergence of new claims not previously known.

Comparison of the latest reestimated net incurred claims amount to the amount originally established (line 3) and indication of
whether this latest estimate of claims cost is greater or less than originally thought.
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REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

EIGHT-YEAR CLAIMS DEVELOPMENT INFORMATION

PUBLIC SCHOOL INSURANCE FUND

For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 1991 — 1998 Table 11

As data for individua policy years mature, the correlation between original estimated and reestimated amounts is commonly used to
evaluate the accuracy of incurred claims currently recognized in less mature policy years. The columns in the table present data for successive

policy years. Amounts are expressed in thousands.

Fiscal Year
1991 1992 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998
1) Required contribution and investment revenue:
EAINE. ... $ 6513 $ 6386 $685 $ 653 $6749 $ 7180 $ 709 $ 834
n/a na 441 1,834 2,134 2,264 2,298 2,041
6,513 6,386 6,364 4,739 4,615 4,916 4,801 6,313
2) Unalocated expenses 1,124 1,489 1,109 2,511 2,843 2,909 2,941 2,706
3) Estimated claims and expenses, end of policy year:
Incurred 4,879 1,230 3,128 4,426 5,078 3,246 14,351 8,496
— — — — 359 — 6,862 700
NELINCUIMTEH.......ciii e 4,879 1,230 3,128 4,426 4,719 3,246 7,489 7,79
4) Pad (cumulative) as of:
ENd Of POLICY YOI ... 3,499 781 1,468 2,741 3,790 2,061 9,595 2,044
One year later 4,937 1,092 3,221 4,348 5,107 3723 13,129
Two years |ater 4,970 1,141 3,295 4,429 5,242 3,742
Threeyears later.... 4,975 1,151 3,295 4,437 5,246
Four years later 4,975 1,151 3,295 4,440
Five years later. 4,975 1,151 3,295
Six years later 4,975 1,151
SEVEN YEAS IAEEN ... 4,975
5) Reestimated ceded claims and EXPENSES...........cveeeruriieiernineniseieinenenene — — — — 359 — 6,862 700
6) Reestimated net incurred claims and expenses:
ENd Of POHCY YEAI......ovuiiiiereeee s 4,879 1,230 3,128 4,426 4,719 3,246 7,489 7,796
Oneyear later 4,997 1,219 3,524 4,445 4,943 3814 6,771
Two years later 5,000 1,152 3,460 4,445 4,927 3,789
Three yearslater 4,998 1,151 3334 4,445 4,887
Four years |l ater 4,975 1,151 3,299 4,440
Five years|ater 1,151 3,295
Six yearslater... 4,975 1,151
Seven yearslater...... s 4,975
7) Increase (decrease) in estimated net incurred
claims and expense from end of policy Year.........ccovevvrierviniicenines 9% (79) 167 14 168 543 (718) —

n/a= not available
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REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
CLAIMS DEVELOPMENT INFORMATION

WORKERS COMPENSATION FUND
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 1997 - 1998 Table 12

The table below illustrates how earned revenues and investment income of the Workers Compensation Fund (Fund)

compare to related costs of loss and other expenses assumed by the Fund for the last two fiscal years ended June 30. The rows of
the table are defined as follows:

oy

2

3)

(4)
()
(6)

(")

Total of each fiscal year's earned contribution revenues, investment revenues, contribution revenues ceded to excess
insurers or reinsurers, and amount of reported revenues net of excess insurance or reinsurance.

Each fiscal year's other operating costs of the Fund, including overhead and claims expense not allocable to individual
claims.

The Fund's incurred claims (both paid and accrued) as originally reported at the end of the first year in which the event
that triggered coverage under the contract occurred (before the effect of loss assumed by excess insurers or reinsurers),
the loss assumed by excess insurers or reinsurers, and total net amount of incurred claims and allocated claim adjustment
eXpenses.

Cumulative amounts paid as of the end of successive years for each policy year.
The reestimated amount for loss assumed by excess insurers or reinsurers as of the end of the current year.

The reestimated net incurred claims and expenses based on the information available as of the end of the year. This
annual reestimation results from new information received on known claims, reevaluation of existing information on
known claims, as well as emergence of new claims not previously known.

Comparison of the latest reestimated net incurred claims amount to the amount originally established (line 3) and indica-
tion of whether this latest estimate of claims cost is greater or less than originally thought.

Asdatafor individual policy years mature, the correlation between original estimated and reestimated amounts is commonly used
to evaluate the accuracy of incurred claims currently recognized in less mature policy years. The columns in the table present
data for successive policy years. Amounts are expressed in thousands.

Fiscal Year
1997 1998
1) Required contribution and investment revenue:
Barned......cooviieice e $ 1,749,850 $ 3,198,888
CUBH. ... e 331,100 311,454
NEL EAINMEM......c.iiiieeiiieeee e 1,418,750 2,887,434
2) Unallocated expenses 675,316 683,606
3) Estimated claims and expenses, end of policy year
[NCUITEd......oiiiieieee e 3,658,673 3,974,485
(00 0 = o 1T 354,787 829,967
NELINCUITE. ... 3,303,886 3,144,518
4) Paid (cumulative) as of:
End of poliCy YEar......cco i 696,407 484,919
(@ 0T RN G T = GRS 1,935,499
5) Reestimated ceded claims and eXpenses.........ccocvvveererennnns 494,850 829,967
6) Reestimated net incurred claims and expenses
End of poliCy Year.......coviiiiiiieieeee e 3,303,886 3,144,518
ONEYEA AN .....cee e 3,769,162

7) Increase (decrease) in estimated net incurred
claims and expenses from end of policy year..................... 465,276 —
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TOTAL NUMBER OF STATE GOVERNMENT PERMANENT
POSITIONS FUNDED IN THE STATE BUDGET BY AGENCY

For the Fiscal Years 1989-1998 Table 13
Fiscal Years Ended June 30
1998 1997 1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 1991 1990 1989

State Agency

Education:
Public education [1].. 130,018 126,453 116,235 113,123 108,649 108,539 106,847 107,077 105,244 103,223
Higher education........... 31,275 31,012 31,012 30,094 29,611 31,621 28,702 28,225 30,478 29,866
Community colleges..... 10,360 10,135 10,555 10,814 10,892 10,660 10,076 10,005 9,626 9,251
Total Education......... 171,653 167,600 157,802 154,031 149,152 150,820 145,625 145,307 145,348 142,340
% Annual growth............. 2.42% 6.21% 2.45% 3.27% (1.11)% 3.57% 0.22% (0.03)% 2.11%
% Cumulative growth...... 20.59% 17.75% 10.86% 8.21% 4.79% 5.96% 2.31% 2.08% 2.11%
All Other:
Health and human
services [2].cceeneen. 19,724 18,373 18,373 18,191 17,753 17,159 17,008 17,155 16,823 18,028
% Annual growth............. 7.35% 0.00% 1.00% 2.47% 3.46% 0.89% (0.86)% 1.97% (6.68)%
% Cumulative growth...... 9.41% 1.91% 1.91% 0.90% (1.53)%  (4.82)%  (5.66)%  (4.84)%  (6.68)%
Correction.........cc.c....... 19,774 19,099 18,879 17,890 13,592 13,336 13,176 12,426 11,209 10,044
% Annual growth............. 3.53% 1.17% 5.53% 31.62% 1.92% 1.21% 6.04% 10.86% 11.60%
% Cumulative growth...... 96.87% 90.15% 87.96% 78.12% 35.32% 32.78% 31.18% 23.72% 11.60%
Transportation............... 17,010 16,536 16,411 16,593 15451 15556 15,096 15,127 14,560 14,189
% Annual growth............. 2.87% 0.76% (1.10)% 7.39% (0.67)% 3.05% (0.20)% 3.89% 2.61%
% Cumulative growth...... 19.88% 16.54% 15.66% 16.94% 8.89% 9.63% 6.39% 6.61% 2.61%
Judicial.........coccveeiiiinnnn. 5,486 5,124 4,978 5,002 4,915 4,628 4,471 4,474 4,271 4,093
% Annual growth............. 7.06% 2.93% (0.48)% 1.77% 6.20% 3.51% (0.07)% 4.75% 4.35%
% Cumulative growth...... 34.03% 25.19% 21.62% 22.21% 20.08% 13.07% 9.24% 9.31% 4.35%
Other....cccccvveeiireeeen, 16,631 17,138 16,904 16,921 16,186 15,425 15,267 15,574 15,468 14,023
% Annual growth............. (2.96)% 1.38% (0.10)% 4.54% 4.93% 1.03% (1.97)% 0.69%  10.30%
% Cumulative growth...... 18.60% 22.21% 20.54% 20.67% 15.42% 10.00% 8.87% 11.06% 10.30%
Total Positions.............. 250,278 243,870 233,347 228,628 217,049 216,924 210,643 210,063 207,679 202,717
[ 1] This figure includes local educational agencies receiving funding by State appropriation for elementary
and secondary school teachers.
[ 2] Due to a departmental reorganization, the positions for health services in the 1998 fiscal year are included
In the "Health and human services" category. In fiscal years prior to 1998, the positions tor health services
are included in the "Other” category.
Source: North Carolina Office of State Budget and Management
N.C. population (1000's) 7,544 7,431 7,310 7,187 7,062 6,948 6,833 6,748 6,632 6,569
Annual growth 1.52% 1.66% 1.71% 1.77% 1.64% 1.68% 1.26% 1.75% 0.96%

Cumulative growth 14.84% 13.12% 11.28% 9.41% 7.50% 5.77% 4.02% 2.72% 0.96%
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SCHEDULE OF MISCELLANEOUS STATISTICS

As of June 30, 1998

Table 14

Adoption of State CoNSLItULION...........ceceiieeiieiesee e
FOrm of QOVEIMNMENL..........coee e e s

Land area:

MilES Of NIGNWEY......cviieiiiece e

State police protection:
NUMDEr Of SLAETONS.......eitiieiieeeierie et e e e
Number of State POLICE.......eccuieeeeeece e

Higher Education:
Community colleges
NUMDEr Of CAMPUSES........ocieieeee e e e
Number of students [average annual full time equivalent (FTE) ].......
Number of curriculum instructors (budgeted)...........cccoeevievieiieiieninnns

Sate universities
NUMDEr Of CAMPUSES........oceeieeii e s
Number of regular term students (FTE).......cccooeveeveveececececieeee
Number of regular term teaching positions (FTE)........ccccceeeveeceeneee
Recreation:
Number of State parks and other recreational areas............cccceevvevvevennne.

Area Of State Parks (ACIES).......ccueieeie ettt
Area Of State fOrestS (ACrES).....covviieiiiiiiee e

SOUICES. LANA GIE8L........eeeeeieteie ettt e s et e s st e e s s bt e e s sebaesssssnessarbeeeas

Miles Of hiGNWAYS.......ccci e e e

Sate PoliCe ProteCLiON.......cc.ccviiecee et eeas

Higher education — community COlIEQES.........coveveriecieriee e

Higher education — state UNiVErSItieS........cccevveieeveice s

(R o €7z L) SRR

1776, 1868, 1971

Executive, Legislative, Judicial

50,000
31,999,760

77,856

61
1,380

58
137,868
6,204

16
132,317
9,311

50
147,693
313,550

Department of Environment
and Natural Resources

Department of Transportation

Department of Crime Control
and Public Safety

Department of Community Colleges
Office of Sate Budget and Management

Office of State Budget and Management

Department of Environment
and Natural Resources
Department of Agriculture
Department of Correction
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